





Copyright © 2022 by Morgana Bevan

All rights reserved.

Married Blind is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and inciare all products of the authors imagination and are used fictitiously. Ar resemblance to actual events, locals or persons, living or dead, is entire

coincidental.

No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electron mechanical means, including information storage and retrieval systems without written permission from the author, except for the use of brief quotations in a book review.

Cover Design by: Pretty Little Design Co.

Editing by Dayna Hart

ISBN: 978-1-9196091-7-1

Copyright © 2022 by Morgana Bevan

All rights reserved.

Married Blind is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents are all products of the authors imagination and are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to actual events, locals or persons, living or dead, is entirely coincidental.

No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means, including information storage and retrieval systems, without written permission from the author, except for the use of brief quotations in a book review.

Cover Design by: Pretty Little Design Co.

Editing by Dayna Hart

ISBN: 978-1-9196091-7-1

CONTENTS

Disclaimer

Also by Morgana Bevan

Prologue

Interview I

Chapter 1

Chapter 2

Chapter 3

Interview II

Chapter 4

Chapter 5

Interview III

Chapter 6

Chapter 7

Chapter 8

Interview IV

Chapter 9

Chapter 10

Interview V

Chapter 11

Chapter 12

Interview VI

Chapter 13

Chapter 14

Interview VII

Chapter 15

Chapter 16

Chapter 17

Interview VIII

Chapter 18

Chapter 19

Chapter 20

Chapter 21

Chapter 22

Chapter 23

Chapter 24

Interview IX

Chapter 25

Chapter 26

Chapter 27

Chapter 28

Interview X

Chapter 29

Chapter 30

Interview XI

Chapter 31

Chapter 32

Chapter 33

Chapter 34

Chapter 35

Epilogue

Acting Counsel

Acknowledgments

Also by Morgana Bevan

About Morgana

Interview XI

Chapter 31

Chapter 32

Chapter 33

Chapter 34

Chapter 35

Epilogue

Acting Counsel

Acknowledgments

Also by Morgana Bevan

About Morgana

DISCLAIMER

Although *Married Blind* was inspired by an existing reality TV sho entirely fictional. I work in television when my characters allow, so that certain portrayals within *Married Blind* are over the top and woul take place in the real world. That's the beauty of fiction: we can mar concepts, characters, settings and situations into something totally unic

I am a British author, and the concept of this book is British and the Irish. Therefore, you'll find British English ahead. For my Am readers, that means there will be s's where you expect z's and an ex certain words. All vocabulary used by Abi is however Americanised to upbringing and experiences.

DISCLAIMER

Although *Married Blind* was inspired by an existing reality TV show, it is entirely fictional. I work in television when my characters allow, so I know that certain portrayals within *Married Blind* are over the top and would never take place in the real world. That's the beauty of fiction: we can manipulate concepts, characters, settings and situations into something totally unique.

I am a British author, and the concept of this book is British and the hero is Irish. Therefore, you'll find British English ahead. For my Americans readers, that means there will be s's where you expect z's and an extra u in certain words. All vocabulary used by Abi is however Americanised to fit her upbringing and experiences.

ABOUT THIS BOOK

Will it be love at first sight, or are they fated to hate?

Abi

Some people go for dinner or coffee for their first date.

I got married.

Time and opportunities to meet Mr Right are slim, since I'm working to jobs. It's ridiculous to think a reality-TV husband might be the one... but will mean a break from my regularly scheduled life.

And what if he *is*?

Finn

To rehab my image — one I've cultivated for years, thank you very mu my agent has given me the hardest role I'll ever have to play. A 24-hou loving husband, on reality TV.

It's just 3 months. I can handle that. That's all it will take for my latest sexcapade to be forgiven and forgotten, and instead of finding myself of D-List, I might salvage my career.

I just have to stay strong and not fall for the perfect woman they've che for me.

That's the problem with reality TV. It's so hard to know when it's TV a when it's real.

Married Blind is a standalone marriage-of-convenience Hollywood ro

set in the Kings of Screen world.

hree

ut

ıch —

ır

on the

osen

nd

mance

set in the Kings of Screen world.

ALSO BY MORGANA BEVAN

True Platinum Series (Rock Star Romance) (Rhiannon)

<u>Chasing Alys</u> – Ryan (Resistant to Love)

<u>Charming Daphne</u> – Matt (Force Proximity)

Winning Nia – James (Second Chance)

Enticing Mel – Dan (Secret Baby)

Needing Emily – Emily (Accidental Marriage/Runaway Bride)

<u>Defying Ella</u> - Jared (Close Proximity / Snowed-In)

(The Brightside)

Braving Lily - Lily (Feb 2023) (Opposites Attract)

Daring Ceri - Alex (August 2023) (Second Chance)

Kings of Screen Series (Hollywood Romance)

Between Takes (Enemies to Lovers)

Married Blind (Marriage of Convenience)

Acting Counsel (2023) (Close Proximity, Forbidden)

Sign up for Morgana Bevan's mailing list:

https://morganabevan.com/mailing-list/

ALSO BY MORGANA BEVAN

True Platinum Series (Rock Star Romance) (Rhiannon)

<u>Chasing Alys</u> – Ryan (Resistant to Love)

<u>Charming Daphne</u> – Matt (Force Proximity)

Winning Nia – James (Second Chance)

Enticing Mel – Dan (Secret Baby)

Needing Emily – Emily (Accidental Marriage/Runaway Bride)

<u>Defying Ella</u> - Jared (Close Proximity / Snowed-In)

(The Brightside)

Braving Lily - Lily (Feb 2023) (Opposites Attract)

Daring Ceri - Alex (August 2023) (Second Chance)

Kings of Screen Series (Hollywood Romance)

Between Takes (Enemies to Lovers)

Married Blind (Marriage of Convenience)

Acting Counsel (2023) (Close Proximity, Forbidden)

Sign up for Morgana Bevan's mailing list:

https://morganabevan.com/mailing-list/

To my determined editor, Dayna. Thanks for battling Word and helpi meet my deadline.

To my determined editor, Dayna. Thanks for battling Word and helping me meet my deadline.

PROLOGUE

FINN

" mon, Charlie. You can't be serious."

"I'm sorry, Finn, but you knew the consequences." My sighed on the other end of the phone. "I don't enjoy playing the bar Honestly, I don't."

"Then don't."

Ordinarily, I would work to keep the slightest hint of desperation my voice, but all bets were off in this situation. I needed out, Otherwise, I'd be putting a ring on a stranger for America's reality-TV masses in just two weeks.

Finn McCarthy didn't do reality TV.

Finn McCarthy had multiple awards under his belt, and he didn't s cheesy gimmicks.

He also didn't talk about himself in the third person.

Jesus. I'm losing it.

"You knew the deal, Finn. I warned you the last time, and you sti

hushed voice cut him off, and I sank deeper into my sofa while he with his assistant.

"Take your time, Charlie. It's not like you've tied my life to a bomb or anything."

He sighed again. "How long have I looked after your best interests town?"

"Five years, but clearly you've lost your damn mind. Making me I gold-digging stranger and broadcasting it to millions is not looking a best interests."

My heart pounded and sweat beaded on my forehead. The longer situation spiral, the more it made me panic. How could a TV show agentyou to legally marry someone? The entire industry had gone insan ad guy-alongside my agent.

"Seriously, Charlie, what if they pair me up with a right eejit, a tries to fight the prenup?"

Not to toot my horn, but multi-award-winning actors raked in the c ASAP.

When they weren't caught in the bathroom with the studio head's '-loving' year-old daughter.

Okay, so I'd fucked up royally, but did that mean they should pur with potentially life-alternating consequences because a pretty stoop to offered herself to me?

Hell no.

"Next time you decide to make an ass of yourself in public, remember the next three months," Charlie said. If his voice held so mull—" Agrain of remorse, he hid it well. "I'm doing everything I can to make so

arguedhave a long career, Finn. How about you get on board and help me?"

"Okay." I blew out a breath, a small fizzle of hope springing to life ticking of me. "What about one of those survivalist shows? That's got to be be my rep than this."

s in this Charlie chuckled. "I like the image, bud, but the world already kno as the macho man."

marry a I'd even eat a spider if that would help me get out of tux fittings a fter myshopping.

"It's not good for a well-rounded career actor." Charlie let those I let thedrop like the dagger they were. "You told me you wanted to be the nex require Reynolds. Is that still true?"

e, right I chewed my lip and wished I hadn't picked Charlie for a second. I have picked a ruthless American. Someone born in LA. Hell, keep and sheBritish agent might have worked more to my favour. Instead, I wei Canadian transplant.

ash. The second passed fast, unfortunately.

twenty- "Yes," I grumbled.

"Then trust me to do what's good for you."

ish me I dragged a hand through my hair, biting back the desperate 'no' si woman the tip of my tongue. I did trust him. Usually.

The thought of marrying someone for damage control put a sour my mouth. Add cameras, producers, and undoubtedly awkward questyou'llthe mix, and I would turn feral.

I'd seen the original of this show. After working extra hard to k ure youpersonal life as personal as possible in this business, I did not want it

all over billboards.

e inside "I hate talking to reporters, Charlie. How am I meant to han etter forproducers?"

My best friends were taking bets on how fast I tanked the whole was youhonestly, they weren't wrong. I'll be standing at the altar, feet tappi my eyes on the wrong door while I worked out my fifth exit strategy.

and ring The point is, it made me feel dirty, and I was not in the business of things that aligned me with the lowest tier of Hollywood scum.

words "Like you do everything else, Finn." Charlie's faith in me rang lou kt Ryanwords. Given my knee's uncontrollable bouncing or shaky hands, I deserve his misplaced faith. "It's a role."

should Everything froze: my breath, my frazzled thoughts, my hands. "S ing myagain."

"You're an incredible actor. Just pick a persona and give the There's no reason they have to see you unless you want them to."

Pick a persona.

Just another job.

"Let's say, hypothetically, I can do that," I whispered, a temporal itting atflowing through my body.

"There's that confident Irish attitude I expect from you."

taste in I snorted. "And there's that full of Canadian bullshit I expect fror tions to Shaking my head, I collapsed back against the sofa cushions. The whined beneath me. "There's really nothing I can say to talk you out o eep my "You'd need a time machine, my friend. Suck it up and tak painted punishment, McCarthy," Charlie said, a thread of steel in his tone. "Ne

a pretty woman comes on to you, you might think better of fucking l dle thevery public bathroom."

"What if my new wife is one of those pretty women?"

e thing; Charlie's heavy sigh rattled the phone.

ing and

ABI

f doing New Email.

d in his Subject: The solution to ALL your problems.

I snorted. Solutions to my problems wouldn't fit in an email. I not time-turner and a fourth job to help my sister clear her medical debt. I matter how many pretty vintage garments I flipped or how much company that I made as a travel agent; we needed a miracle.

Despite my doubts, I clicked on the email, a tiny grain of hope w m that.

its way to the forefront.

id I mention the solution came with a total hottie attached?

Click the link and thank me later... with all the details.

Ros x

n you." frowned at the glaring neon blue web link. Why did Ros think Productions could help me? A small thread of common sense a leather at me for even thinking about clicking on a strange link in an email.

Maybe someone had hijacked Roseline's account... although she your communicated in links and memes.

her in a Throwing caution to the wind, I hit the link. The page loaded a head cocked to the side, considering the brightly coloured advert befor

TV SHOW SEEKING BRIDES FOR A BRAND-NEW MARI EXPERIMENT.

She can't be serious.

I had my cell in hand in a blink. What the hell are they after?

"Abi! Did you get my email? Omigod, isn't it amazing?" Roselii her words merging into one excited whoosh of breath.

"Uh, possibly, but Ros, I don't know what I'm reading." I chewed eeded a scanning the limited details again. "What is it?" t didn't

mission "You know that TV show, *Married Blind*? I used to force you to before I moved out."

orming "Yes..."

usually

"They're making a celebrity edition." She paused, expecting a awe, I imagined. We'd been best friends since college. We were pred to each other at this point. "And they want perfectly normal people to them with..." She waited again, and this time I smirked, sensi frustration. "Get a little excited, Abi. They'll pay you to marry a celebrate take part in the show for three months. It's perfect."

"What's the catch?"

Infinity Dealise and SNI and I

Roseline snorted. "No catch beyond the obvious, honey."

"The obvious being what? Spell it out for me."

"Well, for starters, you'd be marrying a stranger."

"Got that part." I brushed it aside as if she could see. "Next?"

"They're celebs, so you'll probably have to move for the duration

and myshow."

e me. I swallowed hard at that.

RIAGE Sure, Eva had been back on her feet for nearly a year now. She returned to her job, and her gorgeous red hair had grown back. S happy, almost like before the diagnosis and chemo, but did that stopped worrying?

ne said, Of course not. I'd nearly lost my sister and my best friend. The tho leaving her now, of vanishing to the other side of the country, even pay off her substantial medical bills... How could I? my lip,

"Stop the internal debate," Ros said. All the excitement drained fr voice. "You can talk to your sister, Abi. She'll understand. Heck, watch she'll beg you to go."

"You don't know that."

"Hmm..."

gasp of

dictable "You already talked to her."

match "Maybe..."

ing her Maybe? "Ros!"

leb and "Alright! She sent *me* the link."

I gasped. Every eye in the travel shop shot toward me, custom colleagues alike. Roseline always had the worst timing. My boss's broin question, genuine concern flickering across her face. I shook my her and pushed back from my desk.

"Why wouldn't she talk to me herself?" I hissed as I rushed backroom and away from curious ears. "Why are you the messenger?"

1 of the "How should I know?" Her attempt at innocence fell flat, and she

"Fine! Eva thought you'd feel pressured into saying yes if she asked."

I rolled my eyes. "That's not true."

'd even "Isn't it?"

he was "No."

mean I

Ros sighed again, her exasperation exploding in my ear. "Think after a second, Abs. I'm telling you about a fun thing, an exciting expansion."

ught of Bonus, it just comes with a nice paycheque."

to help "What's your point?" My brows furrowed.

I sank into an uncomfortable plastic chair, my mind spinning enough to mher I didn't really feel the pinch of the seat. We only really used the back I think store our coats and bags, but the bosses had set it up with chairs, a fridge and a microwave. With the lack of windows, none of us ever was spend too much time inside with the door shut. Far too depressing.

"Imagine how you would have taken my pitch if Eva asked."

I would have filled out the form already.

I dragged a shaking hand through my hair.

"So, now that you've listened to the specifics, are you going to The excitement returned threefold.

ers and I blew out a breath, indecision a heavy weight in my chest. "How ws rosemoney are we talking about?"

head at "I don't know. You'd have to fill in the form and hope you get pi find out."

to the I nodded, even though she couldn't see me.

Right at this moment, the decision had to be about me. Could I I sighed stranger? Did I want to leave my family and friends for three months?

It had been a tough couple of years, and as much as I hated to a New York didn't have the same happy hold on me anymore. Too mathings had happened within the city, including my sister's battle with Working three jobs also robbed any of the joy from my life.

Even if I had the hours to fall in love with the city again, c about it exhaustion didn't allow for much. erience.

Maybe a brief break from the city and my normal life would rev somehow. I could get in some excitement and shake off the shadow hopefully earning enough to pay off my sister's debt for good.

Igh that

How could I say no to that kind of opportunity? The answer was si couldn't.

table, a "I'll do it."

do it?"

v much

cked to

narry a

It had been a tough couple of years, and as much as I hated to admit it, New York didn't have the same happy hold on me anymore. Too many bad things had happened within the city, including my sister's battle with cancer. Working three jobs also robbed any of the joy from my life.

Even if I had the hours to fall in love with the city again, constant exhaustion didn't allow for much.

Maybe a brief break from the city and my normal life would revive me somehow. I could get in some excitement and shake off the shadows while hopefully earning enough to pay off my sister's debt for good.

How could I say no to that kind of opportunity? The answer was simple. I couldn't.

"I'll do it."

INTERVIEW I

Question: How would you define your type?

Finn: I don't have a type.

Interviewer: Are you sure about that?

Finn: I wouldn't have said it if it weren't true.

Interviewer: So if I googled your red carpet company, they wouldn't

tall, blonde, and leggy?

Finn: Maybe. I don't remember.

Interviewer (handing over papers): So you didn't date these women?

Finn: Why did you print pictures? Jesus, man, that's creepy... Yes, the all blonde supermodels. Don't you understand what image control is?

Interviewer: Does that mean none of your past companions were you

Finn: They were gorgeous, but I dated none of them. My agent picked all for whatever publicity stunt he had planned.

Interviewer: So, what is your type, Finn McCarthy?

Finn: Do we really have to do this? Can't you just pick someone and s this entire ordeal along?

Interviewer: I'm not interested in furthering your acting career, Mr

McCarthy. I'm here to find your perfect match.

Finn: You don't really mean that. C'mon, it's all a farce. We'll all diverthree months.

Interviewer: I can't say I agree. Now, how about you try to get on boa with the process, so I can do my job?

Finn: Fine. If you trap me with a starry-eyed fan, I swear I'll make you hell. Find me a redhead with fire in her eyes and an interesting story.

Interviewer: That I can do.

all be

ey're

1 type?

them

peed

McCarthy. I'm here to find your perfect match.

Finn: You don't really mean that. C'mon, it's all a farce. We'll all divorce in three months.

Interviewer: I can't say I agree. Now, how about you try to get on board with the process, so I can do my job?

Finn: Fine. If you trap me with a starry-eyed fan, I swear I'll make your life hell. Find me a redhead with fire in her eyes and an interesting story.

Interviewer: That I can do.

CHAPTER ONE

ABI

-Day had arrived, and nerves had claimed me as their bitch. Ad unbearable heat of Los Angeles, the cameraman and producer hin the corner adjusting their equipment, the assistant setting up lighti I'd be lucky if I didn't collapse.

Just getting married to a total stranger for TV. No pressure at all.

Eva and Ros gave me awkward thumbs-ups from the doorway. I them grinned at me, excitement dancing in their eyes. Side by sid looked like night and day dressed to match, Eva with her bobbed aubi and Ros with her raven pixie cut, in pink, Grecian-inspired brid dresses — Ros's claimed they'd be the next trend. The true angel an on my shoulder. Punk-rocker Ros had not been unimpressed will producer handed her it.

I tried to return their excitement, revel in their support, but it f Right along with my hair.

The hairdresser had spent a good hour fighting my curls. She'd sta sunny and welcoming. All of that had morphed fairly quickly. Now, I' her glaring at a fizzing chunk.

"How does an updo sound?" she asked, forcing a smile back to her

Her southern accent came through stronger than it had before. I twitched at her frustration before I schooled myself for the incommeaction. Just because her efforts would cause this nerve-racking train speed didn't mean I should be unkind.

"I'm good with that."

"Is that air conditioning unit for show?" she snapped at an assistan

He skittered away, muttering promises to fix it. She shoved her back with the back of her hand, grimacing at the sweat transfer.

overing "If you expect her hair to stay put, someone should fix the heang, and shouted, glaring at the producer.

My lips twitched again, and she smirked at me.

"Nothing happens if you don't light a fire under them."

Each of "Is that an inside tip?" I asked. A genuine smile claimed my lips le, theyfirst time since I'd set foot in the building.

urn hair When we'd arrived outside the bland white hotel, Eva, Ros, an lesmaidlooked at each other in absolute confusion. AA TV show with cel ud devilcould have sprung for a hell of a lot more.

And then the producer, Tyler, whisked us through a back door a the most opulent hallway I've ever seen. Colourful art déco mell flat outfitted every corner of the ceiling. Intricate pillars lined the hallway.

Then he opened the door to a team of beauticians who plucked and urted allus to the nth degree while they briefed us on the day's events. To say d catchdistracting would have been an understatement.

The Élysee Atelier lace mermaid dress I'd picked out weeks ago lips. the corner, taunting my sweaty face with its beauty. I worried for all My lips minutes back in New York when I tried the dress on that it would siderate delicate and the train too long.

to gain What if it came across as over the top? What if all the other bridfor neck-to-toe lace, too? Was the plunging neckline too reveal national television?

t. Thankfully, Eva quickly slapped the camera-shy insecurities out

She'd reminded me, in no uncertain terms, that everything above experience needed to be my choice, including my clothing, hair, and n So I chose the dress I loved and quit worrying about it.

"Oh, aren't you an angel?" the hairdresser gushed as a runner set unnext to me.

I blinked at her sudden change in mood, but then I spotted an eye is her backhanded Southern charm made sense. I needed to spend mo for the outside of New York.

Tyler clapped his hands when my hair finally took shape and od I hadcaressed my glistening skin. Then there was a camera in my face again ebrities "How's everything going here?" He smiled wide, working over

put me at ease. Seated as I was, he towered over me, even though he o nd into a couple of inches on me normally. He pushed his floppy brown ha ouldingfrom his face, grimacing. "I really should have gotten my hair cut

Bora Bora. We'll both be suffering in the heat soon enough." He flas waxedan amused smile. "Mind if I grab a couple of thoughts before you he it wasmakeup?"

He'd done everything he could to help me chill out. Unfortunate

hung inonly thing that would put me at ease was a shot of bourbon of fiveunderstandably frowned on that kind of thing at 11 AM.

"Sure." I tried for sunny, but the word came out as more of a croak "Some water?" Tyler asked. His gaze already scoured the room, se es wentfor an assistant. "Ethan, grab Abi a bottle of water from the fridge."

ing for the settled down on a shair agrees from me leaning forward.

He settled down on a chair across from me, leaning forward notebook clutched in his hands and an eager gleam in his eyof me.lightweight black suit creased in the wrong places, but he didn't care.

"Liam here will shadow you until the ceremony." He nodded towanakeup. dark-haired guy hidden behind the camera. "But you won't need to tal

camera, anymore. Act naturally, and talk to your family and friends. If up a fanexcited or nervous, don't be afraid to experience it."

"Sure."

The word tripped off my tongue, but did I truly mean it? No mate re time much he briefed me, or how patient they were, it still felt weird to call flashing red dot of the camera from the corner of my eye.

cool air You'll get used to it. Chill.

"Once we're done, I'm going to slip out and check in on your g time to His brows danced, eyes shining with mischief. "Make sure he's I nly had handsome for you."

I chuckled, and he grinned, nodding at me encouragingly. Some before tension drained from my body for the first time since they had whis hed me into the bridal suite.

"Ready for some quick questions?"

ely, the "Fire away." I nodded, shifting in my seat and tightening the tie

. Theyrobe.

"Okay, remember what I said, answer in full sentences and coun before you respond."

arching Satisfied, Tyler glanced at the cameraman, lifting his chin. The reflicked on and Liam nodded.

with a "Okay, Abi, are you excited to meet your groom?" Tyler ask es. Hissmiled encouragingly as I hesitated.

"I—"

ards the "Take your time if you need to think about the answer."

Was I excited? My hands shook, and a lump kept trying to form you're throat. But was that excitement or terror?

The same cycle of doubts had run through my head for weeks went through the process of joining the show. Yet, despite the reter how questions about my sanity, I hadn't pulled out. Could I thank my drive atch the my sister for that? The answer should have been an immediate yes, but

"I'm nervous to meet my groom," I said, focusing on Tyler rather t camera lens. "This might be the riskiest thing I've ever done. I'd be a groom." wreck if I didn't have my best friend and sister with me." I swallowed lookingmy focus shifted to their smiling faces, urging me on.

"You got this," Eva mouthed. She leaned her head against the doo
of themoisture forming in her blue eyes — identical to mine.

ked me I returned my attention to Tyler, and he nodded. Between the them, I somehow found a strength I sorely needed.

"But I am excited. Excited to meet him, excited for a couple of mo on mynew experiences and a break from my normal." My smile turned shy resisted the urge to cover my face. "I'm hoping it'll be a refreshing to ten from what I've gotten used to in New York."

"Perfect." Tyler flicked through his notebook, scanning a list of qued light I could barely read. The man had terrible handwriting. "How do y about your sister walking you down the aisle?"

ted. He I sucked in a breath. I knew the question would come. They'd war plenty of times. Yet it still hit me hard in the gut. I'd naively hoped wait a couple of weeks before making me talk about the painful things

"I'm so grateful to my sister for agreeing to walk me down the today." That lump threatened to choke me again, and I paused, remaining myself to say the hard words that usually turned me into a puffy-eyed.

I'd argued with Tyler for weeks about leaving my parents out of while I sad stories make for great TV. In the end, I'd had to concede defeat. epeated

"When I was a kid, I always thought, when the day came, it would to help dad..." I glanced down at my fists twisting the material of the robe. I deep breath and I refocused on Tyler. "But our parents died in a car han the few years ago. A drunk driver ran a red light at a busy intersection shaking caused a massive pile-up. Eva and I lost them both in one night, and we hard as the other has had ever since. We'd do anything for each other." In embarrassing ourselves on national television. "I'm not sure I could

"Excellent, Abi. Okay, one more and I'll leave you to finish two of ready." When I nodded, he jumped straight in. "Why do you want to I

onths of My eyes widened. Talk about starting with the hard questions. M , and I raced at the wildly incorrect assumptions people could make from my

celebrity like this?"

change— from my participation in the show. How the hell did I answer a q like that without sounding like a gold digger?

iestions "I don't know who I'm marrying today, but I can't wait to meet ou feelMy mind raced as I scrambled for more.

You've got this, sugarplum, a small voice whispered at the back ned memind.

they'd It sounded suspiciously like my mother, the last words she said before she died, encouragement on my first day at a new job.

ne aisle Despite the pang of sadness the reminder sent through me, it set eadying too.

"It doesn't matter to me they're famous. I'm looking for a ¿ it, but person. Some chemistry would be nice, but above all, I hope we get al glanced at Eva, desperate for some validation that I hadn't just made a I be mymyself. She waved her hand at me, urging me to keep going. "I work AnotherNew York. Three jobs, just to keep the bills paid. Opportunities to n crash aRight have dwindled. I might be naïve to hope for a real connection andthat's what I want more than anything."

re're all I probably shouldn't have admitted that part, opening myself cludingrejection and all that. But I didn't want to lie. The prospect of do this someone to truly get *me* filled me with tingles of delight. Gimmic show or not, I wanted this to work, so I'd give it my all.

getting "That was brilliant, Abi." Tyler clapped, his hazel eyes sparkling v marry aexcitement. "I've got all I need for now. You relax, finish getting read stood, glancing around the room as if searching for someone. "Ethan y pulsehere if you need anything at all. He'll even pop the bubbly in the other answerfor you."

uestion "How did I miss a bottle of booze?" Ros muttered before vanishir the doorway.

them." Tyler left quickly, while Ethan scrambled into the other room after "I'm perfectly capable of popping champers, kid." Her disgruntle of mycarried, and I bit my lip, feeling marginally sorry for the assistant.

"You all good, Abs?" Eva asked. She crouched down in front of I to mebrow creased with concern. "It's not too late to get out of this if you your mind. I can figure out another way to pay down the debt."

took her hands, smiling at her instead. Staring into her almost identical genuinefelt like I was reassuring myself instead of my baby sister. Her aubulong." Iflowed down her back, framing her pale skin and striking blue eyes.

fool of With the amount of concern creasing the skin around her eyes, I'd a lot inher to be tugging at her hair by this point. Hell, I expected *mysel* neet Mrtugging at my hair. With both of us pinned up in some fashion and we on, butleast a can of hairspray, it wouldn't be advisable to give in to old hab hairdresser still lurked in the shadows, waiting for last-minute touch-up

up to "I know, but I want to do it." I squeezed her hands. "Yes, I'm n findingbut wouldn't you be if you were marrying someone you'd never met?"

Even if I have it turns into more than an arranged marriage.

Even if I hope it turns into more than an arranged marriage.

At the thought, my nerves morphed into a tremble of excitement. *w*ith his

The love of my life could be just behind those doors.

will be "I wouldn't be in this position, Abs." She frowned. "You always wer room adventurous one."

Once upon a time, maybe. Before our parents died, and I had to tal

1g frommaking sure Eva made it through college.

Back then, I'd had dreams of travelling. Spending a year in Pa Ros. Milan to continue my fashion studies. Walking in the footsteps of som d voice great designers who had left their mark on the best industry in the worl

Reality made it all impossible in the end. I couldn't exactly spen me, her as an underpaid, overworked fashion intern. I had Eva to support change lived in one of the most expensive cities in North America.

Maybe the next three months should be about me, instead of us.

gue and If I could shove the pang of guilt the thought produced into a hear I face, Ibox.

rn hair "Why the hell are you two not in here consuming champers wit Ros shouted from the other room. "We have thirty minutes before the expectup artist turns up. Do you think they'll let us drink after that?"

f to be Eva and I smirked at each other. "No," we called back in unison. aring at "Exactly. So get your asses in here!" Ros poked her head around the its. The her eyes sparkling, and the bottle dangling from her fingers. "Have yous, this expensive shit? I'm going to need to take a bath in it. It tastes that ervous, "Charlying I task Eva's efforced hand and stood. We followed By

Chuckling, I took Eva's offered hand and stood. We followed Rointo the other room.

rere the

ce over,

making sure Eva made it through college.

Back then, I'd had dreams of travelling. Spending a year in Paris and Milan to continue my fashion studies. Walking in the footsteps of some of the great designers who had left their mark on the best industry in the world.

Reality made it all impossible in the end. I couldn't exactly spend years as an underpaid, overworked fashion intern. I had Eva to support and we lived in one of the most expensive cities in North America.

Maybe the next three months should be about me, instead of us.

If I could shove the pang of guilt the thought produced into a heavy-duty box.

"Why the hell are you two not in here consuming champers with me?" Ros shouted from the other room. "We have thirty minutes before the make-up artist turns up. Do you think they'll let us drink after that?"

Eva and I smirked at each other. "No," we called back in unison.

"Exactly. So get your asses in here!" Ros poked her head around the door, her eyes sparkling, and the bottle dangling from her fingers. "Have you seen this expensive shit? I'm going to need to take a bath in it. It tastes that good."

Chuckling, I took Eva's offered hand and stood. We followed Ros back into the other room.

CHAPTER TWO

ABI

thought the nerves were bad before. I'd been wrong.

Eva and I stood before two enormous doors waiting for of from the producer. Liam hovered nearby, his camera fixed on us, while very hard not to fidget. My fingers dug into the handle of my bouquet.

"Remember what we talked about, Abs," Eva muttered, her void but coaxing. Her hands rested on my shoulders, squeezing and forcing stay upright. "Say the word and we bounce."

I nodded, but kept my mouth shut. Sure, my voice had skipped of own jolly, but that didn't mean I had to follow. No, I'd made a command I refused to break it.

"I've got this," I whispered, repeating my mother's encourage forced my shoulders back, lifted my chin and relaxed my death grip bouquet.

Eva studied me for a second before nodding. She released her g turned towards the doors. Beyond them, strings started up and my s flipped. "Then let's get this show on the road." Eva held out her arm, offer a soft smile.

"Just follow your instincts now, Abi." Tyler approached me, expression plastered across his features. He gathered the veil the shinsisted on, lifting it over my head. "Go knock him dead."

My lips felt strained, trying to hold a smile in place while butterf amok in my stomach.

Tyler leaned in, whispering in my ear. "I'm confident you can him, by the way. Don't hide that fire from him and you'll ace this."

My brows drew together at the tip. What on earth did that mean?

Before I could ask, the veil fell into place and Tyler rushed out of tour cue of the doors. Two seconds later, they swung open on silent hinges. The later beyond was bathed in white light. They had set the chairs up to fold a central altar, which looked like something out of a Greek myth, ce hard columns holding up a canopy of greenery. Arched doorways surroung me to entire space, all of them covered with flowing white sheets.

So many faces swivelled toward me, their expressions blurring b f for its the light and my frantic mind. My breath froze in my lungs, but litment, moving by sheer force of will.

"Oh my god, Abi." Eva pinched me. "He's gorgeous," she hissed.
ment. I
on the

"My body tensed up for an entirely different reason.

He stared at me, a small smile tugging at his lips. He'd restrain black hair at his neck, but rogue curls broke free from the tie, falling rip and his face and making me think of Jane Austen novels. I swallow tomach amusement fast when his piercing sapphire eyes scanned down my bo hands clenched at his sides, but otherwise, he gave nothing away.

ring me "Yeah, he is, isn't he?" I whispered back, forgetting that they'd att microphone to my dress and the producers could hear every word.

a calm A navy suit and grey waistcoat hugged his trim build while a pink ow hadon his lapel tying him into the sea of pink flowers surrounding us. N the pink rose could ruin the rugged edge that emanated from him.

lies ran "I call dibs on the blond next to him." She chuckled. "Make sure ?
Ros. She'll be pissed."

handle I grinned at her, although she couldn't see it beneath all the lace veil.

Three guys stood at his side, nearly all of them wearing matchir the waysuits and navy waistcoats. One of them paired the look with a tart le room Together, they looked like an ad for a tailor. Or a rom-com.

round a All of them were equally hot and all staring at me with open exciornate *What was that about?*

ded the Ros stood on the opposite side of the altar, rather indiscreetly tilt head towards the men. It seemed Eva already had a fight on her havetweendibs.

I kept Before I knew it, Ros took my bouquet and Eva handed me off mystery man. His hand engulfed mine, smooth but firm, and ins listening to the officiator, I stared into his eyes, daydreaming about the he could do to me with those hands.

ned his "Ms Johnson, are you okay?" The officiant asked me.

around I forced the images from my mind, grateful for the veil hiding my lived thecheeks and the glaze in my eyes. My focus jumped to the officiant, his dy. Hiswhite brows rising in question.

ached a "Yes, I'm fine. Sorry, carry on."

He nodded to my soon-to-be husband. "You may unveil your brirose satMcCarthy."

ot even McCarthy. Abigail McCarthy. I let my new name roll around my liked it.

you tell He reached for me, his hands steady and his focus unwavering on I fingers grazed my neck as he drew the veil up and over my head. I of thesuppressed the shiver just one sweep of his skin against mine generated At least you won't have to worry about attraction.

If navy His piercing eyes roamed my face as the veil settled down my back an kilt. "I'm Finn," he whispered.

Did he have a foreign accent?

tement.

I held in my squeal of delight. I'd always loved a good accent. C get enough of British TV shows. Eva had banned me from watching C ing her Thrones in our flat. Apparently, I ruined it for her.

nds for

"What's your name, *dotey*?"

"Abi," I said, my voice croaking.

i to my

tead of The corner of his lips twitched. His fingers flexed against the things pressing against my bare shoulder.

"Hi, Abi." My name *danced* off his tongue. "Are you ready married?"

burning I nodded, my ability to speak lost to the shiver of need rushing dc s bushy spine from one touch. He stepped back, glancing toward the officiant.

Besides that slip of amusement, I couldn't read the man. No matth hard I studied him, his expression didn't shift. It remained locked

expressionless mask — a pleasant one, but a mask all the same.

ide, Mr Clearly, they'd given me an actor.

Whether that would be a blessing or a curse remained to be seen.

mind. I "Mr McCarthy, have you prepared vows for your bride?"
"Yes," he said.

me. His His friend handed him a small sheet of paper. Finn cleared his barely glanced at the sheet once, and pocketed it.

d.
"I wasn't expecting to get married, much less to a stranger..."

The vows passed by in a blur while I sank into my head, my lips on autopilot. The production had provided me with vows. Had they d same for Finn? And if they did, did the lack of emotion in his eyes n didn't agree with a word of it?

ouldn't Why hadn't I realised that a show like *Married Blind* meant nothing the ofto the celebs than an ego and image boost?

Nothing serious would ever grow between us.

That shouldn't send a pang of regret through me. I just wanted the and a break from my boring life. Why did it matter to me if Finn only ne veil, me to further his ego?

Because you're a romantic at heart?

to get "Do you, Finn McCarthy, take Abigail Johnson to be your lewedded wife? To have and to hold from this day forward, for better worse, for richer or poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to cholong as you both shall live?"

"I do," Finn said, his voice deepening and his gaze fixed on me.

1 in an The officiant turned to me, and I swallowed hard.

Last chance to jump ship, Abi. Decide quick.

"Do you, Abigail Johnson, take Finn McCarthy to be your lawedded husband? To have and to hold from this day forward, for bette worse, for richer or poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to chlong as you both shall live?"

I turned, searching for Eva and Ros as if the entire room had froze throat, stood behind me, tears shimmering in their eyes. Both of them work smiles that made my heart twist painfully.

How could I turn back when they looked that happy?

moving Simple. I couldn't.

one the

"Abi?" Finn's hand grazed my arm. His fingers closed around my turning me back to him. "Are you okay?" he whispered, his face of mine while his body blocked me from most of the prying eyes audience. "If you don't want to do this, you don't have to. We can end now."

"I'm fine," I lied. I turned to the officiant and Finn backed aw money mask slipping for all of a second. His lips compressed into a thin lin wanted had no clue what that meant. "I do."

"The rings, please?" The officiant glanced between Finn's frier mine.

awfully Ros placed a thick piece of gold in my palm.

r or for erish as

"Finn, please place the ring on Abi's left ring finger and repeat afte

Finn took my hand, the ring poised at the tip of my finger as he list the Officiant list off the vows, while two cameramen circled us.

"I give you this ring, in token and pledge of my constant faith and

love." Finn paused, his lip twitching again.

awfully His friends weren't so circumspect. One covered his mouth, or or foranother outright grinned. Okay, so the words were extreme for a reerish asshow.

"With this ring, I thee wed."

n. They The ring slid onto my finger, and despite the absurdity of it, m ² soppyskipped a beat. *Yours would too if you had those eyes gazing into you* didn't think too hard about it, I could almost trick myself into believithe flicker of emotion in his eyes meant more than it did.

"Abi, please place the ring on Finn's left ring finger, and repeat aft y wrist, I followed his instructions, pausing when the producers demand close torepeating myself when needed. The entire exchange probably took to of ourlong because we kept having to stop for the cameras.

it right "Finn and Abigail, you have given and pledged your logarithfulness, each to the other, and have declared the same by joining ray, hisby virtue of the authority vested in me by the State of California, e, but Ipronounce you husband and wife." The officiant turned to Finn, a playing with the edges of his lips. "You may kiss your bride."

back to me. His lips tightened, but he stepped forward. His hands against the lace bodice of my dress, grazing my skin yet again on their me." my lower back. This time, he stood too close to miss me shiver, and lightened as he lowered his head. My hands skimmed up his chest, de ened to for some kind of support. He caught one hand, holding it still again pounding heart.

abiding

Then his lips pressed against mine. My eyes fluttered shut, and I r

the nerves coursing through my body. His trimmed beard grazed aga $_{\rm while}$ sensitive skin, focusing all of my attention on him. As if it could be an ality $_{\rm tv}^{else}$.

His fingers flexed against my back, right at the very edge of the m bridging the gap between my ass and the dress's open back.

y heart His heart jumped into overdrive as he deepened the kiss. For a se urs. If Igot lost in the sensation. The cameras and the crowd faded away. I for ing that I'd only just met this guy. We were just two people, enjoying a mind-kiss filled with possibilities.

er me." And just like that, every nerve evaporated.

led and

wice as

ve and

hands,

I now

a smirk

der and

glided

way to

his grip

esperate

inst his

eleased

the nerves coursing through my body. His trimmed beard grazed against my sensitive skin, focusing all of my attention on him. *As if it could be anywhere else*.

His fingers flexed against my back, right at the very edge of the material, bridging the gap between my ass and the dress's open back.

His heart jumped into overdrive as he deepened the kiss. For a second, I got lost in the sensation. The cameras and the crowd faded away. I forgot that I'd only just met this guy. We were just two people, enjoying a mind-blowing kiss filled with possibilities.

And just like that, every nerve evaporated.

CHAPTER THREE

FINN

should have pecked Abi on the lips and backed away. I kept scr the same thing at myself, over and over again.

Yet, I couldn't stop.

Couldn't release my grip on her soft skin, couldn't pull myself a got lost in the taste of her, in the almost timid caress of her lips agains. One soft gasp from her as I deepened the kiss, and I needed mo hesitation melting away was like catnip.

It consumed all of me. An on-camera kiss never did that. No mati it was, I always had control.

Jesus. When did I turn into this person?

Cheers and applause invaded, pushing my common sense to the for and reminding me of my surroundings. Renewed determination filled I kiss could be that off the charts when it shouldn't, the next three would be a piece of cake. I'd play the perfect husband for the cameras my career, and then divorce her and be done.

I broke the kiss and forced my mask back into place. *Nothing to se*

This Irishman isn't the slightest bit affected. Which would be a lie, but needed to know.

And then I focused on her again, and my control almost slipped.

She gazed at me, her lips swollen, her baby blue eyes glazed, a cheeks flushed. The need to make her look at me like that with her auburn hair spread out on my pillow, mussed from a good fucking, to by surprise.

Christ on a bike. What is wrong with me?

Caught in a daze of my own, I took her hand and turned us to f raucous crowd. I led Abi through them, aiming for the door.

reaming

People threw confetti over us, shouting their congratulations with their eyes. *Where did they get these people?*

Aside from Shaun, his fiancée, my friends, and my agent, no one away. I the guest list mattered to me. Charlie had better skip the reception st mine. going to murder him for inviting the studio execs. re. Her

"Are you alright?" Abi asked as we reached the door.

"Fine," I growled.

"Okay..." She hesitated, her fingers twitching in my grip. She lear me, and for a second I thought she planned to kiss me again. "
mumbling to yourself, so if you don't want them to broadcast it, zip it. orefront

The doors opened, and I did just that. I needed to remember they me. If a perpetually mic'ed. The producers would have zero concerns abou months inappropriate comments for their show if it increased the drama. 5, rehab

So, for the next three months, I needed to break a habit of a lifeti put on a full-time bloody show. 2e here.

he producers thankfully abandoned us for a couple of n unfortunately, a camera followed, hanging back in the corner vibrant room like we wouldn't notice the scrutiny.

ook me I hadn't wanted to be in the situation in the first place, but e everything felt awkward. The idea of not knowing what to say to a woman didn't sit right. It wasn't how I rolled.

ace the One look at Abi, chewing her lip, probably thinking the same thin that weird pang of need returned. I wanted to protect her from all of the seemed so innocent, and bizarrely, I wanted her to stay that way.

Hollywood had a nasty habit of gobbling up people like her and else on them out a couple of months down the line, irrevocably broken.

. I was I wouldn't let that happen to her.

But you plan to spit her out yourself, when you're done with her, j so what does it matter?

I ignored that concerning thought. For the moment.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{into} & \text{``I can get the cameraman thrown out for a couple of minutes if yo} \\ \text{`You're} \text{a second.''} & \text{The offer tripped off my tongue.} \end{array}$

"It's okay. I guess we just need to get used to it," she said, her so had mesweeping over me like the smoothest bottle of whisky.

t using Shite.

Her fingers pressed against my forearm, urging me to turn around me andgave in. The guys were going to have a field day with this bullshit. Into her eyes, searching for even a tiny sign that she wasn't the gold of

feared. Or worse, an attention whore hoping to get her five minutes of with the gossip rags. How could someone that sweet and innocentainutes, hide that kind of shallowness?

r of the Maybe she isn't hiding anything.

I almost snorted at the thought.

ven so, My gaze roamed down her lace-encased body. I hadn't been able prettymy eyes away from her when she'd walked through the doors, her vei covering the low reveal of her dress and tight fit hugging her body all tags, andto her knees before it flared out across the floor. It had been a long time is. SheI'd had to worry about getting a hard-on in public, but one glance at he lost control.

spitting *Christ, did they have to pair me with such a fine thing?*

"Are you sure you're okay? You look stressed." She chewed her that damn need sprung up again, only this time I wanted to stop horackass, torturing her lips. *Fuck*.

"I'm fine. Just a weird, high-stress situation." I shrugged. "Nothireally." My gaze flicked to the wanker with the camera pointed at us.

on need "This is weird, right?"

"Abso-bloody-lutely," I grumbled.

ft voice "So you don't make a habit of meeting women at the altar chuckled.

"Christ, no."

1, and I "So I'm your first wife?"

I stared "I should hope so."

ligger I I let her see some of my true horror at the thought. She snort

of famescrambled to cover her mouth, her eyes widening. I didn't hold my grillooking "What about you? Do you make a habit of meeting men for the fill wearing a wedding dress?"

Her expression fell.

The desire to put that bright spark back in her eyes burned hot. A to tearyears in LA and I'd avoided therapy. It might be time to get my head s l barely "I guess we should get to know each other before the producers can the wayand grill us."

"That sounds like a plan." She nodded, an odd note of relief creepi er and I her voice. "So you're from Ireland."

"Northern Ireland."

Her brow furrowed. "There's a difference?"

lip and

er from stop surprising me that Americans didn't know that Ireland was divide most of them didn't even know that England wasn't the only country ng new UK.

"Yes, a big difference, but let's not ruin our wedding day with poli "Okay, so you're Northern Irish and an actor. How did you end uj US?"

?" She "Necessity mostly. I wanted to do big things and there's more opposite." I shrugged, hoping that would be the end of it. Her gaze re fixed on me, eager for more. I sighed and continued, "I moved out soon as I graduated from drama school. Met my best friends a few yea Now, I never want to leave."

ted and Except some days, I craved something more than the fakery

n back. Something more real.

rst time "How old are you?" she asked, her gaze sweeping down my boo she could read me like a tree.

"Twenty-nine. You?"

Il these "Twenty-six." She smirked when I said nothing. "No quips hrunk. someone like me being single at my age?"

come in My brows climbed. "Do people seriously say that to you?"

"All the time." She nodded and some of the confidence wilted out ing into "Made it kind of easy to stop dating, honestly. Although I never und what they meant by someone like me."

I chuckled. "Sure you don't."

Her head tilted to the side, eying me with confusion. No way in he would she not know. It had to be an act... yet the confusion didn't clear, and the Hell, didn't comment on it again. Every woman I'd ever met would have use in the line to fish for compliments. Abi just turned away, studying the roo interest. How intriguing.

tics." "Anyway, that's pretty much my life story. Yours is probably p in the interesting."

She chuckled without turning back to me. "I'm not sure that remotely true."

mained "Well, tell me yours, and let me be the judge." I grinned as she here as She turned back to me, her brows risen in question. "We can't compairs later.unless you share."

She sighed. "You're right. Sorry." Her gaze dropped to the floor of LA.skittering over to the camera and back to me again. "I just don't norma

about it. It's not exciting."

ly as if A beautiful woman who didn't want to talk about herself. The r continued to grow. Despite my common sense, she'd piqued my intere

"I don't need it to be exciting, Abi." I flashed my classic Hol aboutsmile, the one that usually resulted in a woman wrapped around my and on her way to my bed in under a minute. "Just give me the truth."

Not that I wanted Abi in my bed...

of her. Liar.

erstood She stared at me for a while, her throat working, and her cheeks flu fought a triumphant grin. No need to scare her off or give anyour impression that I could take satisfaction in dirtying her mind.

ell does "Fine. It's not a happy story though, fair warning." She went to dand she hand through her hair but froze before she could damage whatev sed that everything in place. "I'm a travel agent, and I flip vintage pieces that I m with thrift stores on the side. I don't really have a lot of spare time in New and when I have any, I'd rather spend it in the flat with my sister and y more

I listened as she explained her jobs, the surprising characters where she work their weekends wandering around their local pharmacy where she work extra hours. I avidly devoured the sparkle in her eye as she talked ab sister and her love for fashion.

I shouldn't have cared and shouldn't have been filing the information away for some future unknown need, captivated by the sweet curl of hand the slight blush that claimed her cheeks when she talked too fast.

before
illy talk
"What did you mean it wasn't a happy story? None of that was sad

"I..." She pressed her lips together, hesitation written across her fa nystery I seriously needed to get a grip on the intrigue. The informatior st. matter, couldn't matter.

lywood "You what?" I asked, losing the battle of common sense yet again.

"I finger "Nothing." She shook her head. "Slip of the tongue."

"Okay."

There would be one benefit to this match, at least. She couldn't last was an open bloody book. Sadness and indecision flashed across her ushed. Iif lit up by a beacon.

one the "Do you have any hobbies?" she asked, a forced edge to her voice.

"I don't get a lot of free time, but I dive and surf whenever I lrag her pressed my lips together, fighting the polite need to reciprocate. "You? er held "I already mentioned fashion." She shrugged. "I used to enjoy yo find in going to concerts, but mostly I just read now."

Ros or "Do you have any favourite bands?"

"A couple. I don't get the chance to go to shows much anymorous one spent meeting of the shows much anymorous one spent meeting the shows much anymorous or spent meeting the shows and the shows meeting the shows and the shows meeting the shows any spent meeting the shows and the shows a spent meeting the shows and the shows a spent meeting the shows a spent me

'ked for A jolt of amusement hit me, testing even my control of my facial n out herShe couldn't have picked a band not fronted by one of my friends?

"So, an actor. Will I have seen anything you were in?" She breezed rmation I shrugged. "Depends if you like action films, I guess." are lips, "Ah. Not really." She grimaced.

A fucking grimace should not have been attractive. I'd well and tr " my damned mind. Maybe Shaun could recommend someone. ce. "I'm more of a romantic comedy person. Sorry."

1 didn't "Don't be." My focus moved to the cameraman camped out in the "Do we need to stay here?"

"I think so." He straightened up and shrugged. "Sorry, man."

Grand, just bloody grand.

"Then can you get a PA in here, or that gobshite Tyler?"

lie. Abi I ground my teeth as I watched him place his camera down, moving face asglacial pace. He picked up a radio, muttering his call too low for me to

"Does it bother you that much that I haven't seen one of your m Abi asked, her voice scratchy with confusion.

can." I glanced at her, working extra hard to keep my expression neutral.
"No, it doesn't make a difference to me."

oga and "Then why are you suddenly annoyed?" Her brows rose and h sharpened.

"They're dawdling and wasting our time." I crossed my arms, the e, but Isuit jacket pulling at the seams. The faster I could get the monkey-s the happier I'd be. "The less time they have to ask our friends availables. questions, the better."

I didn't want to think about the shit Shaun, Nathan, and Jackson lon. share just to wind me up. No one knew me better than the three of couldn't imagine anything more dangerous. Especially when the them knew how much I hated this situation.

Abi's face paled.

uly lost

"It's a terrifying thought, isn't it?" I smirked.

She nodded hard before making a beeline for the cameraman.

"Can we get out of here now? I really need to talk to my best frie corner. shrill of panic underlined her rushed words.

The cameraman shook his head, smiling in a bullshit attempt sympathetic. I could see right through him. There would be a process entire thing. Keep us contained, interview the family and friends, in us, then announce our entrance and get all the angles.

I might have watched an episode or two...

ing at a

hear.

No wonder they scheduled the ceremony so early in the day.

ovies?" My focus drifted while the cameraman radioed the rest of the crew trailing down her exposed back to a biteable ass contained in tight la didn't want to resist her so badly, I could have found some fucking inc ways to pass the time. I almost groaned at the mental image of my hat her.

er tone Why'd she have to choose a tight-fitting torture dress?

I'd bet my Oscar that it had been Tyler's idea. That weasel knew tailored get under my skin somehow.

"They're nearly done," the cameraman said, as if that www.wkward consolation. "And Ethan's grabbing you drinks. He should be in soon."

Abi spun to face me, outright panic blanketing her expression.

ı would

them. I "They're hardly going to sacrifice you. It'll be fine."

hree of "You haven't met Ros." The panic didn't recede. "She can speneric, normal story into something outlandish and ridiculous. I don want to imagine the crap she's going to come up with for a TV show."

A twinge of sympathy hit me hard. *Far too innocent for this busi* must have been nice to not have to worry about people lying about yo

end." Atheir five minutes of fame.

"You should probably get used to that." I shrugged and shoved me to be be into my pockets. "Whatever your friend makes up won't be anywhere to this bad as the shite some random stranger will sell to the tabloids nexitative. Anyone who remotely knew you growing up will come out of the work by the weekend and morph into your absolute best friend."

She stared at me. "How can you be so blasé about it?"

"How can I be blasé about a disgusting industry built on selling li $_{\it V}$ again, ten years of living with it first-hand?" I snorted. "Dotey, you can't ace. If I naïve."

"Did you ever think that not all people are like that?"

ands on "Christ. Where did they find you?" I dragged a hand through my hand turned away from her.

how to

as any

"

oin any

ı't even

ness. It

u to get

their five minutes of fame.

"You should probably get used to that." I shrugged and shoved my hands into my pockets. "Whatever your friend makes up won't be anywhere near as bad as the shite some random stranger will sell to the tabloids next week. Anyone who remotely knew you growing up will come out of the woodwork by the weekend and morph into your absolute best friend."

She stared at me. "How can you be so blasé about it?"

"How can I be blasé about a disgusting industry built on selling lies after ten years of living with it first-hand?" I snorted. "*Dotey*, you can't be that naïve."

"Did you ever think that not all people are like that?"

"Christ. Where did they find you?" I dragged a hand through my hair and turned away from her.

INTERVIEW II

Question: Tell me about your first impression of Abi

Finn: *snorts* We aren't doing this.

Tyler, Producer: Right now?

Finn: Ever.

Tyler, Producer: Bu - but it's a part of the show.

Finn: And?

Tyler, Producer: You can't - you have to answer our questions.

Finn: No, I don't think I do.

Tyler, Producer: Yes, you do. It's part of the show.

Finn: You said that already. Listen, *mucker*—

Tyler, Producer: Muck what?

Finn: *sighs* Listen, *pal*, I didn't agree to this fiasco, and I didn't agre have cameras shoved in my face every five minutes. Got a problem wi Take it up with my agent.

Tyler, Producer: Mr McCarthy! Wait!



Question: Tell me about your first impression of Finn

Abi: Right now?

Tyler, Producer: Please.

Abi: Okay, but can we step away from the ladies' bathroom first?

Tyler, Producer: Of course.

Tyler, Producer: So your first impression of Finn?

Abi: Finn's confusing, honestly. One minute he's lovely; the next he's snapping at people and muttering to himself. I'm not sure what to mak him.

Tyler, Producer: Are you attracted to him?

Abi: Do I have to answer that?

Tyler, Producer: No, of course not. It just gives the audience a good i where you stand. Are you happy you got Finn?

Abi: I think it's too early to say whether I'm happy about marrying Firedon't really know the man. Is he attractive? I'm not blind, so yes. Are interesting possibilities there? Sure. But do I think this will be easy? Absolutely not. I feel like I'm missing half the picture and until he trus I doubt I'm going to get far with him.

ee to

th that?

Abi: Right now?

Tyler, Producer: Please.

Abi: Okay, but can we step away from the ladies' bathroom first?

Tyler, Producer: Of course.

Tyler, Producer: So your first impression of Finn?

Abi: Finn's confusing, honestly. One minute he's lovely; the next he's snapping at people and muttering to himself. I'm not sure what to make of him.

Tyler, Producer: Are you attracted to him?

Abi: Do I have to answer that?

Tyler, Producer: No, of course not. It just gives the audience a good idea of where you stand. Are you happy you got Finn?

Abi: I think it's too early to say whether I'm happy about marrying Finn. I don't really know the man. Is he attractive? I'm not blind, so yes. Are there interesting possibilities there? Sure. But do I think this will be easy? Absolutely not. I feel like I'm missing half the picture and until he trusts me, I doubt I'm going to get far with him.

CHAPTER FOUR

ABI

"The large doors swung open for the second time today, re a completely rearranged room. The altar had vanished to be replaced dance floor surrounded by round tables, all decorated with pink and flowers and greenery. Eddison bulbs hung from the ceiling, casting over the room and stealing my breath.

"Did you pick all this?" I asked Finn, leaning into him to make heard me over the crowd cheering at us.

People swarmed in, shaking his hand and offering congratulation our marriage were real and we'd done something momentous.

"What?" He glanced at me sharply, then lowered his head. "No, plan any of it. I thought they'd handed it over to you."

My gaze cast across the room again. I revelled in the shock of find space decorated exactly to my taste. Then I spotted Eva and Ros bear me.

I wonder...

Finn led me toward them, or more toward his friends waiting sides. All three of his friends dwarfed Eva and Ros and a pink-haired tucked into one of their sides. None of us were tall. Until today considered Ros's five-foot-seven towering over mine and Eva's fiv five. Finn's friends were veritable giants. They must have been over s and lined up together, they looked like a colour wheel for Hol heartthrobs.

My face hurt from forcing a smile to my lips while strangers invapersonal space. A quick glance at Finn gave me absolutely zero insig whether he felt the same awkwardness. If I couldn't learn to see bey walls, the next three months would consist of nothing more than me ti vealing around him, unsure of every aspect of our lives.

Finally, we cleared the crowd, and our friends swarmed us. Finn r ed by a d whitehis grip on my hand just in time for Eva and Ros to tackle me.

a glow "I can't believe you did it," Eva shouted.

"Please, as if she'd quit once she saw that face." Ros chuckled, squ sure heme tight. Then she pulled back. "I can't believe you married Finn-fl McCarthy. You lucky B."

ns as if "B?" Eva asked.

"Flipping?"

I didn't We stared at her, heads tilted.

She leaned in close. "I'm trying not to swear so the producers don ling the at me."

ming at

, ,,

"You? Not swearing?" Eva snorted. "Good luck with that one."

"I know. They're crazy to even suggest it." She shrugged. "At le

at theirtry..."

woman Eva rolled her eyes but turned back to me with a massive grin taking, we'dher lips. "That kiss looked scorching hot. Was it?"

"You were gone ages," Ros whined before a devilish twinkle ente six feet, green eyes. "Please tell me you tested out the merchandise."

lywood

My face heated. "Of course not."

I glanced over my shoulder, hoping Finn hadn't heard her. Of coulded my gazes locked instantly. His expression gave nothing away. His friends other hand... ond his

"Yeah, Finn, you don't kiss someone like that and not follow the blond-haired guy with an English accent said. His hair was close-c

tidy and controlled, while his crystal blue eyes sparkled with teasing meleased

At his blank expression, his friends burst into laughter.

"Don't tell me the show's already changing you?" the shaggy-dirty blond with an intense Scottish brogue gasped. He clapped his hat iezing Finn's shoulder, whistling. "Wow, man, I'm shocked. Didn't think ipping-ever turn over your playboy ways."

Playboy?

"I call dibs on that one," Ros muttered as she pointed at the So voice almost a purr.

"Can you all shut up?" Finn hissed.

't shout

He dragged his hand through his hair, making his curls even wild they'd been before.

I'd like to say the idea of him being a playboy didn't track, but east if I remembered that practised flirty smile back in the holding room. Fin

exactly what he was doing, in life, in business, and in bed. Stupidly, ng overpart made my core ache enough that I needed to squeeze my thighs t to stop it.

"red her "Why would we do that, when we can wind you up instead?" the haired woman with a slightly weaker Scottish accent asked. She grid him, her brown eyes sparkling with the promise of more to come. fitting, considering you all messed with me at first."

rse, our

"Mona," Finn groaned. "Please don't encourage them."

"Oh Finnie-Boy, you know pleading with Shaun's missus will n rough,"you." The blond chuckled, rubbing his hands together with glee. "No rough, anything you want to know about Finn, you come to us. We'll give ropped,

411 even when this asshole's being all tight-lipped and broody."

I nodded, but every inch of me froze under their rambunctious at It was like being confronted with two and a half Roselines in one go. haired, "Finn, how about you introduce us to your wife?" Mona smiled and on watched me.

Finn hesitated, a flicker of indecision dancing across his face be locked it down.

"If he won't, I will," the blond announced, exasperation dripping f voice. "I'm Nathan. Shaggy over there is Jackson." He pointed at the blond and then slapped his hand against Shaun's chest. His dark hair back, his suit cut perfectly to his swimmer's build. "This bastard, style ler than photo shoot, is Shaun and pinkie there is his fiancée Mona."

"Christ on a bike. Bring it down a notch before you scare the lass $\ensuremath{^{t}}$ then $\ensuremath{^{I}}$ pinched the bridge of his nose.

n knew
A pang of sympathy worked through me. Eva and Ros could be

the lastmuch sometimes too, and he had four of them.

ogether They all snorted and continued ribbing him. Eva rested her chin shoulder and Ros bumped my arm.

e pink- "Pretty sure that was your cue to do introductions, Abs," Eva wh nned at in my ear.

"Seems

Did I have to?

"Fine," I sighed. "This is my sister Eva." I tilted my head to the le gestured to Ros. "Roseline, my best friend."

A chorus of greetings went around and the next thing I knew, I'd w, Abi, best friend and my sister. Nathan and Jackson whisked them away, you the me and Finn staring after them, puzzled. Well, I was puzzled. Finn dimuch as frown.

"Do I need to be worried?" I asked, watching the lot of them laughthe dance floor, tucked in tighter than strangers should be with as she alcohol in their systems. Ros's raven pixie cut clashed with Jackson' blond laid-back surfer look while Eva and Nathan almost seemed to fore hewell with their clean-cut, ready-for-business appearances.

Finn rubbed at his trimmed beard, considering it. He glanced at rom hisand Mona for help.

ne dirty "Don't bloody look at me, mate." Shaun backed away, tugging slicked with him. "Should have set some ground rules."

ed for a Right. So my sister and best friend were going to spend the night fools of themselves with two of Hollywood's hottest actors.

!" Finn "I guess it's a real wedding now."

Finn glanced down at me, the question written plain across his for a bit

once.

on my "Friends hooking up and regretting their decisions ton Although..." I trailed off, studying the lot of them. "Aren't people no lispered drunk when they make poor decisions?"

"I don't know." He eyed me, a slight smirk claiming his lips. "W drunk when you signed up for this show?"

ft, then "No," I squeaked. "Were you?"



lost my

FINN

leaving

idn't so Thank fuck Mona wasn't around to hear me say that. She'd have scome, even if Abi's shocked face entertained me on some sick level.

hing on "What? It's a fair question."

Did I wish my friends hadn't deserted me? Of course. The t s dirty-probably figured more time with my wife would convince me to just pair off with the show. As if a week in Bora Bora with her wouldn't be long to test my strength.

"No, I was perfectly sober." She turned to me, her hands falling waist. "Why did you agree to do the show?"

Mona I shrugged. "I had a gap in my schedule."

"He didn't have a choice," Jackson called as he spun Ros past u making agent forced him."

I scowled after him. "The next time you need a wingman, don't cal Jackson snorted. "As if that's a threat, Mr Groom."

He danced away, leaving me alone again with a far too intrigue

She studied me like she could pull secrets from my head througl norrow. determination. The woman had a shock coming if she thought it wo ormally that easy.

"You can keep staring. I'm not going to crack, dotey."

ere you "Why do you keep calling me that?"

I froze, realisation hitting me hard in the face. It didn't hit hard ϵ Someone needed to knock some bloody sense into me.

What did I think I was doing, using that word as an endearment thinking?

Why the hell was I using an endearment to begin with?

wled at Fuck.

My Da had used it on my mother ever since I could remember.

"It's just a word."

pastards "Yeah, but what does it mean?"

Bloody hell. I'd made a right mess of this farce of a relationship enough weren't even two hours in.

"I'd really rather not say."

; to her

She frowned. "Is it bad?"

"No, but you'll get annoyed."

The crease between her brows deepened. "If it's not bad, why we annoy me?"

I sighed. "The next three months with you are going to be a right coll me."

She crossed her arms, her face smoothing out into a look of determination I never wanted to see again.

I did wife.

h sheer "Fine, but don't say I didn't warn you!" I scratched my beard and a build bearound the room, hoping stupidly that there wouldn't be a camera pour. Which of course there fucking was. Who was I trying to kid? "It little."

"I'm five-foot-five, that's hardly little."

My breath stilled as I hoped she'd accept the explanation. She cou without up for all I cared, as long as she stopped questioning me. Thankfully, here knew the other meanings. The last thing I needed was Abi realisheen calling her adorable for an hour.

"Why do I feel like you're not telling the whole truth?" Abi towards me, stabbing her finger into my chest. "We only just me would you be insulting me?"

I caught her hand before she could repeat the action. A n Something told me I could easily get addicted to touching her. I and we craved the fire I'd kept seeing in her gaze. She wasn't as timid a originally let on... why did my brain take that as a challenge?

"It's not an insult, Abi."

"Then why are you being cagey?"

I hung my head, fighting the frustrating urge to bite at her and put rould itto the entire thing. "Because the slip embarrassed me."

Her head cocked to the side, studying me yet again. Jesus, all my y raic." acting and I let it slip on something like that? I seriously hoped she of pure my flare of genuine feeling.

"Why would that embarrass you?"

glanced "Jesus fucking Christ, woman." I dropped her hand and steppe inted at "Can you stop with the questions?"

means If I didn't have the attention of the cameras before, I'd put a bet of single one in the room being focused on me now. Every blood swivelled towards us, so why not?

hort." Shaun slung his arm across my shoulder and leaned in close. "I ld blowyou didn't want to make a flipping scene."

no one "I don't," I hissed. "But she won't stop and let tiny pissing things § sing I'd Abi chewed her lip, her gaze fixed on me. I couldn't tell if I'd I feelings or just surprised her. I'd leave my future shrink to figure out v steppedthought of hurting her feelings bothered me.

t. Why "I'm going to find my sister and let you guys catch up." She away, plastering a subpar excuse of a smile on her lips.

nistake. Nathan stopped on my other side, watching her go. He whistle already"Well, that didn't take long."

"Why do you sound surprised?" Jackson asked, joining us. "Finn do aftercare. Hell, he's barely had to sweet-talk a woman into his years. I'm shocked you lasted this long without putting your foot in it."

"Thanks for the votes of confidence. Much bloody appreciate an endwankers." I shook Shaun's grip off. "Anyone want to tell me where the bar?"

rears of They all crossed their arms, a range of serious expressions bul missedover their amusement.

"I'm not sure we should tell you," Shaun said. "Alcohol won't m situation better."

- d back. "Not, it won't, but at least I'll have something to do with my hands."
- n every Nathan frowned. "Why would you need to keep your hands busy?"
- y head I glared at him. "Because I'm mic'ed up, five cameras caught m Abi's first tiff, and you can bet they're going to make a big deal out
- thoughtscanned the nearby faces, hunting for one familiar, bearded face. "My around here somewhere."
- "I'm sure that's not…" Nathan trialled off as I cut him with a dark nurt her "Don't even bother." My jaw shifted. "I unconsciously gave her a why the flipping nickname and got slated for not telling her what it means. How for reputation rehab?"
- backed "Let me get this straight." Shaun's grim expression cracked a shoulder shook with laughter. "You wanted nothing to do with this sed low. your new wife, and you've already given her a nickname with too meaning to share?"
- doesn't He cracked up fully as my scowl deepened and the rest of the bed infollowed suit.
- "Oh man, that's too good." Shaun wiped his eyes.
- ed, you "If you care so much about how you'd come across, why didn't y to findtell her?" Nathan asked, confusion deepening his voice. "You coul avoided an outburst entirely."
- ldozing "What have you been calling her?" Jackson asked.

 I grimaced. "Dotey."
- ake the Jackson's lips twitched, Shaun snorted, and Nathan glanced betwall, brows furrowed in confusion.

bloody "What does it mean?" he asked.

"I don't know what it means, but I've heard his dad using it v mom, so..." Jackson grinned at me.

ine and "I can't with you lot right now." I stalked off, determined to find of it." Iand a bottle of whisky to drown myself in.

agent's

scowl.

1 stupid

w's that

and his

how or

o much

ie guys

7ou just

ld have

veen us

"What does it mean?" he asked.

"I don't know what it means, but I've heard his dad using it with his mom, so..." Jackson grinned at me.

"I can't with you lot right now." I stalked off, determined to find the bar and a bottle of whisky to drown myself in.

CHAPTER FIVE

ABI

" his is your suite for the night," Tyler said, his voice far too when you considered the implications of the moment.

An entire night in a room with Finn, Mr Snappy. His routinely expression wouldn't shield me from his grumpy side. Snapping at me perfectly reasonable question. Who does that? My husband apparently.

"We'll do some filming of you guys getting ready for bed and the you to yourselves for the night." His brows rose on that last part, a stomach flipped.

When he said suite, he meant an almost open-plan room with far space than the average hotel room. He led us into a sitting room that straight into a dining room that just consisted of a bench and table set glass barn doors. The massive bed beckoned me from the entryway, fe pinch of foreboding in my stomach.

They'd set a plush sofa in front of the black steel four-poster be sight of it inadvertently eased some of my nerves. Between that a leather sofa in the living room, we didn't have to share a bed. If

convince Finn...

"Your bags are in the closet back there." Tyler gestured to the be Then he glanced at Finn, his lips pinching slightly. "I hope it's t liking."

Finn snorted. "As if you care." He brushed past Tyler, tugging at "Am I allowed to get out of this suit now?"

"Actually, no," Tyler called after him.

Finn spun around, a scowl darkening his blue eyes. "Why the bloc not?"

"We need to get your reactions."

His brows rose. "To what?"

v blank "The room, of course."

e over a "Can't you do that after we get changed?"

· Tyler shook his head. "Sorry."

and myoff. He gestured to the sofa in the living room, and his grin grew who stomped back to us with a face like thunder. A surprising break from har moremask.

flowed Two cameramen set up on the opposite side and Tyler lowered t beforeinto an armchair.

eding a Once Finn and I sat down, he studied us. A glint entered his eye almost groaned.

ed. The Why was it that I could anticipate Tyler's antics from one look, be and the remained an enigma? Seriously, the man could give me whiplash wi I could fast his emotions shifted from seemingly genuine to practised.

"Can you shuffle in a little more? Need to make the audience think droom.at least slightly happy with each other."

to your Grumbling, Finn shifted towards me. There were still a couple of between us. Tyler chewed his lip, tilting his head.

his tie. "Hmm, why don't you put your arm around Abi, Finn?"

Every inch of my body froze up. Surely we didn't need to...

Finn sighed but did as asked, shuffling so close our thighs ody helltogether and his fingers grazed the back of my neck on their way shoulder. Goose bumps broke out on my skin, sending a shiver do spine. Any hope that it wasn't noticeable died with Tyler's next words

"Ethan," he yelled without taking his eyes off us. "Turn conditioning down for Abi, please." He flashed me a sympathetic "Can't have you shivering on camera, now can we?"

I pressed my lips together and kept my head straight forward. I need to see Finn's reaction. No need to make the situation mortifying.

18 Finn do that without his help.

en Finn

His fingers didn't retreat from my shoulder, but they also didn' around. If one graze sent shivers down my spine, I didn't want to kno would happen if he started toying with my skin.

himself

"Okay so, the first question," he glanced down, checking his note are you feeling about your first night together?"

e, and I

Awkwardly nervous. Can I even say that?

"Sharing space with another person is going to be a bit of an adjust the stranger of the space with another person is going to be a bit of an adjust the stranger of the stran

You'reHis fingers smoothed across my bare shoulder, robbing me of breat I'm sure we'll get there. Right, Abi?"

Finn squeezed me towards him. I glanced up at him and my mir out of control. *What's with the soft look in his eyes?* Between the g his words, and that almost intrigued gleam, he confused the ever-lovi out of me. For a couple of moments, he turned into the perfect husbance

"Absolutely," I agreed, working extra hard to stop the frown itc pressed

claim my face. I turned back to the camera. "It feels like we're on c to my
date, except we sped everything up and it's taken an extra serious t wn my
course, we're going to be awkward for a little while."

Finn squeezed me again, the movement feeling almost praising the air around. When I glanced up at him again, his eyes were on Tyler a smile.

softer expression had melted from his face.

"Next question?" Finn asked, his tone bored.

I could For thirty minutes, we ran through questions in almost a cycle. end, patterns started to emerge in Finn's mood changes.

t move "How important is it that your partner has the same tastes in m w what you?"

I blinked at Tyler. Why would anyone care about our music to s, "how snuck a peek at Finn from the corner of my eye. His expression soften he chuckled.

"If Abi's going to fill my house with hard rock screamo, we might problem." Finn glanced at me, outright grinning, his sapphire eyes twitment, "But otherwise, I don't care what music she likes. Who picked our firs g more song? Fleetwood Mac is one of my favourite bands."

I stared at him, perplexed. The second I thought I had my feet un

h. "Buthe changed entirely and made my head spin.

"My sister did," I said with absolutely no conviction.

nd spun "Remind me to thank her."

estures, We stared at each other, me unable to contain my confusion and ng crap the loving look in his eyes could not be real.

"Brilliant." Tyler snapped us from our staring contest. "Finn, yc hing to perfect. Abi, I'm going to need a little more emotion from you." our first

urn. Of Softer edges fell away from him. A lightbulb went off in my head as I put it together. My actor played it up for the cameras.

He's not my anything.

The shift went on and on as Tyler ran through a long list of ques gave up trying to predict Finn halfway through.

By the "Okay, that was perfect." Tyler shut his notebook and stood. "Ian' to stick around to get some more shots of you guys getting ready for leverything. I'll see you in the morning for the flight to Bora Bora."

Tyler left us, and I did my best to ignore the camera hovering not followed Finn into the bedroom, my brain focused on getting out of mastes? I and into a shower. I wouldn't be able to sleep with the number of pins ed, and rock-solid consistency of my hair.

He stopped dead in front of the bed, making me dodge around he have a stared at the massive thing, chewing his lip. inkling.

"You alright there?" I asked, very distracted. I turned my back quickly, making a beeline for my suitcase.

"I'll sleep on the sofa if it makes you more comfortable."

"If you want." I pulled my suitcase out of the closet and cakneeled.

"Sofa it is," he muttered.

Finn... I glanced at him over my shoulder, confused by the odd determine his voice. I found him staring at me with enough heat in his gaze to were ache free inside of me.

"What is it?" I patted my hair and my face, certain my eye ly. The deceiving me.

finally "Nothing." He shook his head. "Nothing at all. Do you want firs the shower?"

I shook my head, freeing my toiletry bag from my suitcase. "I stions. Igoing to take me forever to get my hair down, so you can go first."

I regretted those words sheer minutes later when the water turned s going my mind wandered down a path it had no business finding in the firs ped and Images of Finn naked in the next room set me aflame. I resolutely re on the floor, with my back to the camera, fussing with my suitcas though I'd found everything I needed.

How would I survive a week in Bora Bora with him and not make and the of myself?

By the time the barn door rolled back and he returned in a puff of nim. He^{my} cheeks were red and my body ached in all the places it shouldn't fake husband.

on him Then I turned around and it all got worse. He sauntered into the be chest bare, cut abs on display and sweat pants hanging low on his hi mouth went dry.

arefully "All yours," he said, oblivious to the train wreck happening ins head.

I rushed past him without a word, my pyjamas bundled close to m ation in and my focus fixed on the tile ahead.

- set an "Uh, Abi?"
 "Yeah?"
- I stopped in the doorway and reluctantly turned back to him. He his trimmed beard, a sheepish expression playing across his face.
- "Do you need any help? With your hair?" His gaze roamed my ha sister used to enter dance competitions. She always needed someone No, it's fish the last of them out."

"That would be great. Thank you." I led the way into the bathroon anddropped everything on top of the marble countertop between the two t place.hers sinks.

e, evenveined with gold patterns covered the walls. A gorgeous freestanding tub stood off to one side, surrounded by a bed of black rocks. A an assshower with more nozzles than I knew how to use took up the entitivall. The space was the size of my New York bedroom.

for myto ignore him with it. He started plucking pins from my hair, the burn body heat caressing my bare back.

droom, Focus on your hair.

ips. My I started dragging my fingers through the almost solid mass of my hair, digging for the metal pins and breaking up the smooth run of ha

ide myEvery now and again my fingers faltered as I caught Finn's blue eye on me in the mirror, or he leaned a little too close and his bare chest ly chest to my back.

"I'm sorry about earlier," he whispered, his voice low enough t cameraman probably wouldn't pick it up, since he'd taken his micr off.

A flash of his frustrated expression danced through my mind, but I rubbed dumb, raising my brows at him in the mirror.

"For snapping." His fingers caressed the nape of my neck as he sir. "My me with open regret. "I shouldn't have." else to

"No, you definitely shouldn't have." I nodded, then pursed n arguing with myself over pushing him again. "Are you going to om and why?"

Finn hesitated for all of a second before shaking his head. "I'm soi not great at this."

le slabs

soaker I waited, hopeful that maybe he'd say more. He continued double through my hair instead.

re back "So you're not going to tell me what dotey means, or why my walknow set you off?"

ability "Do you actually care?" he asked. His gaze bore into mine, hunt n of histhe truth. "Or is it just that I got defensive about it?"

I chewed my lip, considering him. He'd told me one meaning, of but I couldn't escape the feeling that he meant more by it. But if it reauburn been a slip of the tongue...

irspray. "You're not insulting me?"

es fixed His gaze roamed my face in our reflection, his edges sol pressed"Definitely not."

"Okay, why did you get flustered?"

that the "You're going to think I'm nothing more than a pompous celebrophone answer that." Amusement creased the corner of his eyes.

I turned, a small smile tugging at my lips. "Well, now I definitely $\operatorname{played}_{know}$."

"Fine," he groaned. "I'm not used to people questioning me an tared at Besides my agent and my friends, and even they can recognise wher push." He shrugged. "Apparently, it's a button for me, and you would ny lips, jabbing at it."

explain "Okay." I turned around, going right back to tugging at my hair.

"That's it?" he asked, his voice raising with incredulity.

rry. I'm "Yup. I'm not unreasonable, Finn. Just talk to me."

*

digging

FINN

nting to

I stared at the back of her head, utterly perplexed by the woman I'd n
We'd have three months together, and I already knew she would di
insane.

Especially if the producers kept forcing us close on camera. I only course, much self-control. One touch of her against me and it had started to un shouldn't have offered to help with her hair. Escaping into the livin would have been the safest bet.

Yet I didn't stop, didn't remove my hands from the soft hair

ftening.distance between us so the heat of her couldn't tease me.

When her hair fell around her shoulders, unrestrained, I forced away from her.

- rity if I "I think we've got them all." I took one last glance and then hea the door. "I'll leave you to it."
- need to "Wait! Can you undo these buttons for me?" Abi asked before escape the bathroom. I turned back, my shoulders tensing at the tho lymore. getting close to her again. "They're too small and too low for me. 1 not to Finn?"
- n't quit I almost groaned at the sound of my name falling from her lips shake my head and shut her in the bathroom alone to deal with the dr had spent the better part of the day winding me on edge?

Of course not. She'd been breath-taking before, her hair tamed an mouth-watering curve of her body hugged by that torturous dress. By with her auburn hair mussed and flowing down her back in sof framing her pale face and making her almost look Irish? Abi had effort stepped into irresistible territory.

I'm a fecking eejit.

narried. Abi presented her back to me and my fingers, the grabby be rive me reached for her without pause. She sucked in a breath as they grazed the material line. Just three buttons and she should be able to get out had so could handle three buttons.

g roomhow fast I went, I wasn't blind. Her gorgeous ass already teased me, the material loosened, revealing a white lace thong. My cock hardened or putfiftieth time today and yet again, as the image of all that auburn hair

out across my pillow hit me hard.

myself The straps slid off her shoulders, dragging my focus away from l She caught the dress with a hand to her chest before it could fall fr ded forbody, leaving her nearly naked.

Shame, a stupid voice moaned in my head.

I could I straightened up and backed away from her yet again.

ught of "Do you—" I stopped, clearing my throat. "You got it from here?"

Please,
Her cheeks were rosy and her blue eyes burned with desire I integrated ignore. She met my gaze in the mirror, nodding.

As I slid the barn door into place, reality knocked me hard in the f ess that never run from the promise of an interested woman before, but I was g spend the next three months in a world of sexually frustrated pain.

d every
ut now,
t curls,
ortlessly

We might be married, but Abi Johnson needed to remain off-limits

astards,

1 above

of it. I

matter

out then

for the

spread

out across my pillow hit me hard.

The straps slid off her shoulders, dragging my focus away from her ass. She caught the dress with a hand to her chest before it could fall from her body, leaving her nearly naked.

Shame, a stupid voice moaned in my head.

I straightened up and backed away from her yet again.

"Do you—" I stopped, clearing my throat. "You got it from here?"

Her cheeks were rosy and her blue eyes burned with desire I intended to ignore. She met my gaze in the mirror, nodding.

As I slid the barn door into place, reality knocked me hard in the face. I'd never run from the promise of an interested woman before, but I was going to spend the next three months in a world of sexually frustrated pain.

We might be married, but Abi Johnson needed to remain off-limits.

INTERVIEW III

Question: Did you have sex?

Finn: I don't see how that's any of your business.

Tyler, Producer: You're going to be married for three months. You d

think intimacy is an important part of marriage?

Finn: I didn't say that. I said it was none of *your* business.

Abi: No, we haven't had sex.

Finn: Don't give in to him. He'll think he can ask even more inapprop

questions.

Tyler, Producer: Thank you, Abi. Why didn't you have sex?

Finn: See?

Abi: If we answer, he'll go away, and we can get to the airport.

Tyler, Producer: Listen to Abi, Finn. She's clearly the logical one in

relationship.

Finn: Christ. I'm going to kill Charlie.

Abi: I wouldn't have sex on a first date. Why would I change that?

Tyler, Producer: You know, our specialists recommend getting it out way.

Finn: *splutters* Getting it out of the way?! Get out!

Tyler, Producer: Now, Finn, we need to—

Finn: I said GET. OUT.

Tyler, Producer: We'll continue this in Bora Bora.

Finn: We won't.

on't

riate

this

of the

Finn: *splutters* Getting it out of the way?! Get out!

Tyler, Producer: Now, Finn, we need to—

Finn: I said GET. OUT.

Tyler, Producer: We'll continue this in Bora Bora.

Finn: We won't.

CHAPTER SIX

ABI

y first time in First Class would have to be with a ridiculously looking actor attached to my hip. The female flight attendar staring at Finn, eating up his every move. I'd sink a little deeper i book, attempt to tune it all out, and then bam! They're back, hovering us, brushing past him, inappropriately close.

Of course, I could admit that part of my annoyance might have from a lack of sleep. Turns out not sharing a bed with Finn might have more awkward than caving to the inevitable. Every time he shifted couch, I'd feel a pang of guilt for having an entire queen-sized bed to Neither of us had looked all that fresh when we'd called it quits not looked sun rose.

Still, the longer their extreme attentiveness went on, the more I for him. Couldn't they leave the man in peace?

Then they served lunch. I'd never considered lunch to be a revolupart of my day before. Just a time with food, nothing special.

"Can I get you another whisky, Mr McCarthy? To go with your

one attendant asked, her voice hopelessly breathy.

If any of them had clocked the rings, I wasn't sure. Although I canyone could truly miss the massive emerald princess cut diamond Foundation slid onto my finger along with a classic gold wedding band. The pair of glittered no matter the light. The ring Production had given me for wasn't exactly conspicuous either. It had a spiral pattern running arcarding emerald stones that matched my engagement ring.

Maybe they didn't care.

Seeing our rings side-by-side definitely robbed me of breath at more Never in my wildest dreams would I have imagined myself in this sit y good-married to a famous actor and flying first class to some exclusive resornts kept "That would be wonderful, Gloria. Thank you, love."

nto my

He flashed the same smile at her as the one he'd used on me ng over reception last night. She tittered as she rushed away without so much a at me to see if I wanted anything. Although, I couldn't blame her. e come how potent that smile was. My anger at them fizzled out. He ence

them. If anyone deserved the full brunt of my distaste, it should have on the him.

myself.

ng after

"Had to marry a spoilt jackass," I muttered under my breath.

"What was that?" Finn asked, ducking his head towards me.

bristled I glared at him. "Nothing."

His gaze roamed my face, reading me like a book, I expected. He ${\mbox{\ensuremath{s}}}$ ${\mbox{\ensuremath{tionary}}}$ and leaned closer.

"The jealous type, are we?"

lunch," "Nope. I'm good." I turned away from him, twisting my body so

the window.

loubted "We both know that's a lie, Abi girl." Amusement curled arou inn hadwords. "I didn't realise I'd married a hellion."

of them His breath ruffled my hair. Against my better judgement, I turned for himhim and found him inches from my face. His amusement faded fast, bund it, focus dropped to my lips.

"If you want them to stop, you'll have to stake your claim," he whi "Or are you too chicken to kiss me without a camera pointed at u oments.smirked.

tuation, I slammed my lips against his before I allowed myself to think to the table table to the table to the table table to the table table to the table table

Finn's hand dove into my hair, angling my head as he took control at theill-thought-out kiss. His tongue invaded my mouth, massaging miglanceridding me of all thought. My fingers curled around his wrist, whe I knewpush him away or pull him closer, I had no clue. An electric charge buragedthrough me, building a hunger I had no hope of fulfilling at the beenthousand feet in the air.

I could get addicted to this.

A throat cleared above us, but Finn didn't pull away. The kiss § slowed until my panties were soaked through and all of my common had nose-dived off the plane.

smirked Finn released my lips. His hand fell away, and he turned to the flight attendant. A blush claimed her cheeks, but she didn't comment.

"Thank you, love." He accepted his drink, grinning at her.

I faced "Can I get you something, Ms..."

"Mrs McCarthy will have a glass of red wine, Gloria. Thank yo and theamusement deepened as her attention jumped to me, her eyes widening Alright, she hadn't noticed the rings.

to face She nodded and turned away quickly. I watched as she rushed up and hisother attendants. Their heads bowed together as they whispered a themselves. Every couple of seconds, one of them would glance at ispered.puzzlement or surprise written across their faces.

is?" He "See, that wasn't so hard, was it?" Finn asked, his voice lazy, alm he'd also felt the drugging effects of that kiss.

I nodded, glancing back at my book before he could question me I failed to block out the way he'd played her.

l of my **

ne and

ether to FINN

worked

We followed the hotel concierge across the boardwalk. He list information about the hotel, the amenities, and the restaurant hours couldn't concentrate on a word he said. Abit walked by his side, realong, absorbing every word. She appeared happy, and given she had gentled, poker face, I was inclined to believe it.

n sense Yet, she'd barely said two words to me since we'd kissed on the pl

"I can't believe how beautiful it is here," she said, her voice fillewaiting awe as her head swivelled around to take in the open blue water an water bungalows lined up in front of us.

The concierge opened the door to our villa and waved her in befo She gasped before I'd even set foot inside. u." His "This can't be right."

The man assured her she was in the right villa and her jaw poppe
The bungalow didn't contain more than the necessities — b
to thenecessities, but still. A huge bed sat opposite open patio doors that st
mongst the entire length of the bedroom. A glass cutout at the base of the bed
us with view straight into the glistening blue waters below. One look at it and
where I'd be the moment we got rid of the concierge. Honeyed wood of
ost like the floors and vaulted ceiling, adding warmth to the neutral whites and
of the furnishings.

further. "Did you arrange this, Finn?"

For some reason, I kicked myself for not taking an interest in the p of it all before.

"No." I shrugged before wandering out onto the patio.

The damn thing had an infinity pool and a hot tub. How ridi considering the ocean was a mere foot beneath my feet. Still, I would ted off patio a thing of beauty. Steps led down to another platform and the into the water.

a shite "Well, I think it's gorgeous," she continued to gush.

After giving her a quick tour of the suite's amenities, the co ane. abandoned us. I tuned it all out. You'd seen one five-star exclusive you'd seen them all. The fact *Married Blind* had got them to allow filn the premises surprised me more than the opulently-decorated villa.

We had five minutes of peace before someone knocked on the do went to answer it, glancing at me quizzically. I collapsed into a chair patio instead of following her. *Probably just the eejit producer*.

"Abi, hi. I hope you're settling in okay," Tyler said, his voice

excited and far too loud for our tranquil surroundings.

d open. "Well, we only just got in, so I'll let you know."

eautiful My brows rose at the bite in her tone. Had yesterday's timid act be retchedthat?

"Of course. We just need to grab some reactions to the suite."

I knew voice grew closer. "Where's Fi...ah, there you are. Welcome to Bora I covered

He joined me on the patio, two cameramen trailing him with a wh lbeiges each, full of equipment.

"Everything alright with the flights?" he asked, twitching slightly silence.

lanning

"The flights were fine," I muttered, keeping my tone bland.

"Great, great."

I glanced around the perfectly normal bungalow, my eyes natural culous, searching for the slightest suggestion of hidden cameras.

I found none. That didn't mean they weren't here. I gestured at the decorated bungalow. "Is this room rigged? What about the patients bathroom?"

Tyler's eyes widened, and then his expression shifted.

ncierge

resort, I clocked the moment his shrewd producer brain kicked in, connecting on dots between my past and my questions. If he thought I'd talk about it show, he had —

or. Abi "The only cameras we use are the ones the guys are holding."

on the I nodded, unexpected relief rippling through me.

"So the interviews..."

far too

"Give us a chance to settle in first," Abi said as she joined us on the Her hands landed on her hips, declaring business, while she smiled a seen just confusing the entire image. My girl needed tips for playing intimidating. She's not your anything.

Tyler's "I'm sorry. We need to stay on schedule."

3ora." "But if we're both bleary-eyed from a nine-hour flight, what d eel bagschedule matter?"

Tyler glanced between us, his brow furrowing with indecision. T *y* at the cameramen covered their smirks, rubbing their jaws or flat-out turning What were the chances they found this plonker annoying, too?

"I mean, we can do it, but I *know* I've got black circles under n right now." Her brows rose. "Doesn't the camera emphasise those thin

rrowed, If kissing her hadn't already gotten me into trouble, I'd have again. The timidness at the wedding must have been nerves. No way

have rubbed off on her in a day. Either way, I liked what I saw, and I crisply more of that snarky fire in my life.
o? The

Except she's only your wife for three months.

Why did I keep forgetting that part of the plan?

"Decide whatever you want," I said as I stood. "I'm going for a sw t on the I wandered inside, leaving Tyler to splutter his displeasure and it the thrill that the shift of Abi's expression from stern to triumpha through me. I'd let them figure their own shit out. I needed to pu distance between us before I did something more stupid than teasing I kissing me.

I bit back a groan as I dug out my swimming trunks. If the flight at

e patio.hadn't returned, I don't know what would have happened. I'd like to t Tyler,wouldn't have dragged her into the bathroom to join the Mile Hig g. there and then, but I didn't have that much faith in myself. I wasn't known for being sensible.

Abi might be attractive, and I might be craving her something field she was off limits.

oes the

*

'he two

ABI

3 away.

Somehow, I got Tyler to agree to give us the rest of the day. No th ay eyes Finn. I couldn't believe it when he ducked out.

gs?" I rushed out the back, instantly spotting him face up, floating on h done it with his eyes shut.

would I "Way to show a united front," I called to him.

needed He peeled an eye open. "You had it handled."

I had, but that shouldn't have given him permission to just abandor

"They're gone for the day." I crossed my arms. "But we have I them tonight for dinner with the other couples."

im." "Okay." His eyes shut again and he spread his arms out.

gnoring He looked so relaxed.

I took a seat on a cushioned patio chair, sinking deeper into the some With the sun kissing my face and the cool breeze tickling my skin, I to her into first deep breath in months.

I lasted a glorious five minutes before worries wormed their way tendant forefront. The most pressing of them: our one-bed situation.

think I Unlike the hotel room, it didn't look like we were going to escape the Cluba bed. Not unless he agreed to sleep on the floor and I just couldn't exactly happening.

Water cascaded from him as he lifted himself out of the water rce, butlower deck. My eyes took on a life of their own, devouring every gli inch of him as he walked up the stairs back to our patio. For an Iri he'd definitely embraced the LA lifestyle. I couldn't see an inch of pa on him.

My gaze dipped to the waistline of his shorts. *I wonder if his tan r* anks to *entire length of him.*

He collapsed into the chair next to me, a grin toying with his lips.

is back "What was the serious expression about?"

For a second, he lost me, and then I remembered.

"How are we going to deal with the bed situation?"

He glanced back at the giant bed framed in the doorway behind us.

1 me. "I'm not sure we have a choice."

to meet "That's what I was thinking." I covered my face, groaning into my "I bet Tyler set this up."

"I don't doubt it," Finn said, amusement dripping from his voice.

I glanced at him sharply. "If you'd just answered his question e chair.morning..."

ook my "We'd still have one bed. My answering inappropriate questions w have changed anything." Finn chuckled. "*Dotey*, they want us to fuck to thedrama."

I didn't know what to focus on first: the nickname slipping p

sharingdefences again or the fact that one muttered fuck tripping off his tongut see itme squirm in my seat.

"It's a massive bed. We'll be fine." He bit his lip and fixed wide on theme. "Unless you're a cuddler?"

stening When I didn't answer, Finn grinned at me. "This is going to be fun ishman, ale skin

runs the

hands.

ns this

'ouldn't

. Better

oast his

defences again or the fact that one muttered fuck tripping off his tongue made me squirm in my seat.

"It's a massive bed. We'll be fine." He bit his lip and fixed wide eyes on me. "Unless you're a cuddler?"

When I didn't answer, Finn grinned at me. "This is going to be fun."

CHAPTER SEVEN

ABI

omehow, we avoided each other for the rest of the day. It investigate the spa offerings on site and booked myself in for a pampering before we were forced to report for dinner with the other participating in the show. Despite my brain's refusal to let me forget be sharing a bed with a man who could make me ache with just a enjoyed myself. I'd never been pampered before.

My phone pinged as I wandered back to the room. Our group chat across the screen and I stopped in my tracks. Would it be bad of me to their texts?

ROS

Bitch. Spill all the deets. How big are we talking?

My cheeks heated.

ROS

Don't leave me on read and stop blushing.

Share with your bestie.

EVA

She might be busy, Ros.

ROS

Yeah, deep-throating her Hollywood hunk.

Eyes widening, my fingers flew over the screen.

together.

Αŀ

*w*ent to

day of

ROS

couples that I'd

Why the hell not?

look, I

ΑI

flashed dodge

Because I've known him for a day and I'm

Oh my god, stop, Ros. We haven't slept

pretty sure he hates me.

EVA

He doesn't hate you.

ROS

You don't need to know him to enjoy that ride.

EVA

That's true.

Αŀ

My phone continued to ping but I ignored it. I didn't need somec filling my head with ideas. When it came to Finn, it seemed I could 1 perfectly fine alone.

When I returned to the bungalow, Finn had made himself scarmuch as the silence felt weird, I relished the space and focused on pick my dress for filming. I might have taken a little extra care than I nowould, plotting all the ways I could get back at him for tricking I kissing him on the plane.

I could get lost in his kisses.

Just get the money, pay off Eva's debts and enjoy the thrill of it all. Except that wasn't all I wanted. I wanted him.

With my hair and makeup already done, I was dressed and read pretty fast. Left to tap my foot and wonder if Finn would actually n appearance before we had to leave. At least if he walked through the could bury the overthinking again and go back to living in the moment

My cell pinged ten minutes later with a new message. I fished the from my clutch, still frowning at the blushing horizon as the sunset.

FINN

I'll meet you at the restaurant.

I waited, my breath held as if another text would load and explabsence. It didn't. We were meeting all the other couples and he war to walk into dinner without him like it wouldn't immediately scream tr

Despite my burning cheeks and the ache in my chest, I push shoulders back and made my way up to the restaurant. By the time I

31

31

31

N. to land, the cool breeze had soothed away the sting of abandonment.

me else Tyler frowned at me as I walked into the hotel lobby, my heels of manage against the marble floor.

"Where the hell is Finn?" he asked.

rce. As My acting skills must have improved. I didn't so much as flincling outaccusation in his tone.

"He said he'd meet me here." I shrugged, working to keep my von ne intopleasant, but emotionless.

No one else loitered in the lobby so I could at least take a second they pointed a camera at me. Tyler pulled out his cell and lifted it to hi

"I swear he'll be the death of me before this show wraps." He away from me, focusing his glare on the front doors.

y to go I chewed my lip, liking that he'd moved on from blaming me but I nake andirection all the same. Delaying in the lobby like a chicken didn't seed door I with me. I never would have hesitated before. In New York, I would into places alone, never waiting for permission or company. Why he device changed now?

"What do I need to do?" I asked, ignoring his grinding jaw. He face me, his brows rising while the cell blared a dial tone in his ear. "E walk in there and get mic'ed after I sit down?"

"You can't go in there without Finn." Tyler's eyes widened in horr lain his

Ited me his cell, taking a couple of steps toward me. His eyes scanned the lobby he were checking for eavesdroppers.

made it "I take it he hasn't told you he didn't want anything to do w

show?" He quirked a brow. I shook my head and he grimaced.

clicking My gaze flicked to the open restaurant doors, beckoning me with light and murmuring music.

"If you go in without him, we have to cover why he's not there at the edit." Tyler crossed his arms. "The last thing his fans would want to him standing you up..."

ice flat, I hadn't thought of how they'd put the story together. Or how control Tyler had over how the viewers saw our relationship. The tho lbefore anyone misunderstanding it sat weirdly on my chest. All the same, I no sear. "He didn't say anything about his plans for the day?"

turned "No. He was there when I left for my appointments. We didn't tal tonight."

Before Tyler could voice his annoyance, Finn sauntered through the sit right his hands in his navy dress pants pockets, his trademark smile curling labreeze He'd a couple of his shirt buttons undone, teasing bronzed skin that mouth water. His hair was slightly mussed, like someone had dragge hands through it while he made them scream. The perfect picture spun to unaffected playboy.

No I just My gut twisted at the thought of him fucking someone else.

Why my mind went there, I had no idea. I didn't want to know why send a flicker of hurt through me. I smothered it fast and focused on tocketed at hand.

by, as if "Where the hell have you been?" Tyler exploded before Finn could his mouth.

*i*th the His brows rose at the bite in Tyler's voice.

"Out," he bit out. He turned his attention to me, tuning Tyler's m the softannoyance out. "Why are you standing out here? I said I'd meet you in

"He wouldn't let me." I tilted my head toward Tyler.

in the "And why is that?" Finn eyed Tyler. I caught amusement fli o see isacross Finn's face before it settled back into the blank mask.

"Go." Tyler threw his hands up, then turned his back on us. He ⁷ muchaway, muttering to himself. "Fucking celebrities and their overinflated ught of should quit."

odded. I stared after him, wide-eyed and mildly concerned.

"C'mon, let's get this over with."

k about Finn brushed past me, heading for the restaurant like we shouldn't the weirdness.

ie door, "Where were you?" I asked, rushing after him.

his lips.

He stopped outside the door, rolling his shoulders back and stretch ade my his neck.

ed their

"Diving." of an

> He held out his hand without even glancing at me. I took it threaded our fingers together, a new familiarity that shocked me. I s that connection for far too long.

y I let it

"Why didn't you just say that earlier?" the task

Finn tugged my hand and my focus snapped to his face. He stare ld open at me, his lips pinched.

"I didn't realise you needed to know my every movement."

"I don't, but the production..."

nuttered His shoulders dropped and his blue gaze softened. "Sorry, I didn side." of that."

He glanced toward the bustling restaurant. Glasses clattered, piance ckering drifted in the air, and guests chattered loudly, laughter reached us with the was too much noise for us to be filming in the main dining room.

walked "Ready to face the land sharks?" Finn asked.

egos. I I grinned. Maybe he knew the other celebrities.

I nodded and we walked into the room. The cameras were easy Six cameramen surrounded a table on the patio, shielded by a living vines between them and the busiest part of the restaurant.

discuss "I'd heard rumours that they'd talked you into doing this," a man s

British accent making me work to understand him. He chuckled. "V

they have on you?"

"Casey Jackson," Finn growled.

For a man with a perfect poker face, he directed a lot of open hos the man. *Is he acting even now?* I narrowed my eyes on Finn, taking burn of red on his neck and the crush of his hand in mine. *Maybe not*.

and he "Didn't think I'd have to deal with your ugly mug tonight."

His mousy brown hair stood on end, in desperate need of a cut or a Even so, between his chiselled cheekbones and teasing smile, he command the attention of everyone in the room.

d down

His wife shifted uncomfortably in her seat, her gaze fixed on beyond our table where one of the cameramen stood. Her shoulder hunched and if her ash-blonde hair hadn't been pulled back in a bun, I feeling she would have used it as a shield.

't think She didn't look happy. Maybe she wasn't adjusting to the show? disagreed. Casey towered over her. I frowned at the sight of it and sc of music Finn's hand. He caught my eye and I tried to silently communicate to be the ease. Tyler appeared before I could figure out what to do.

"Oh great, you're all together, at last." He clapped his hands whi and I took our seats as far from the Brit as we could get. "Why don't start with introductions? You could compare notes on how things are to spot. Your food will be along shortly and your server here will grab more do spot. wall of

Tyler backed away and Liam, the cameraman who filmed our waid, his

"Anyone else feels like we've been set up?" A woman with jet-bla asked from the end of the table. She glanced around the table, we huge, welcoming smile. Her navy-blue halter-neck top hugge emphasising her tan. "Like by compare notes does he mean our relation or this godawful show?"

3 in the

Finn snorted, but he otherwise didn't react, his focus attached couple opposite us. A hulking man with white-blond hair I recognised as a professional hockey player and a beautiful woman will brush hair and lavender tips. They were absorbed in each other, their faces could close together while they murmured to each other, completely lost own world.

a point I want that.

It didn't look like they were acting, either. Maybe the got the matchmakers did know what they were doing.

"They'll want relationships, but we could dissect the show and

My gutTyler's face turn red." Casey twisted a glass of dark liquid.

jueezed Everyone chuckled at that.

im. "How about we start with introductions before we wind him u

American guy sat next to me suggested. He looked like your typical b le Finndoor — If the boy next door were a surfer with long hair and a swee you all "I'm Kyle. Not sure if Aria actually needs an introduction." He gest going the jet-black-haired woman next to him.

rinks in She chuckled. "Not everyone likes country, Sweetheart."

Casey looked her up and down, his smile turning my stomach ye edding, "I could learn to like it."

Aria stared at him, her eyes narrowing. "I don't think that hat hairnecessary."

aring a The hockey player introduced himself as Anders Olafsson, goalie ed her, Los Angeles Stingers and his wife Haley, another New York girl. (onships wife introduced herself with a tentative voice that set me on edge. I should they have paired Nicole with a man like him.

to the While they all chatted, Finn turned toward me, leaning into me, leavely hovering near my ear. Every nerve ending in my body froze, despetch dark waiting for him to touch me. *What an idiot*.

"I didn't tell you where I went because I didn't want you to frea in their

His breath caressed my neck, ruffling strands of my hair. I braced against a shiver.

"Why would I freak out?" I asked, turning my face towards his.

show's

To anyone else, we'd look like the picture of a loving couple. M squeezed tight with want. That just wouldn't do.

l watch

"It was a shipwreck in open water," he whispered.

Finn pulled back enough to assess my expression. Whatever he save p?" Anhim shut down. Shit. Despite it, he didn't pull away. He pressed his for oy next to mine, maintaining the picture for the cameras.

t smile. "I didn't want you to worry."

Logically, I shouldn't have believed him. My heart shouldn't have happily. Nope. That would have been crazy when I knew better that soft for a playboy actor. Especially with a camera pointed at us.

t again. But we were being filmed and we were meant to be playing a couple.

"I get it," I said, deciding to play along. "But I worried."

Finn's jaw slackened. "Really?"

for the My eyes roamed his face and I barely restrained myself from frow Casey's him. For a second, I could almost convince myself his surprise was rea No way

I nodded. "Yes, but I also thought you were avoiding me."

"Ah." Finn tilted his head, his focus turning inward. He winced. "N nis face was. Sorry."
Derately

"It's fine." I shrugged. "It's not like you need to explain it to me."

Finn pressed his lips together and for a second I thought he would myself Then he nodded, straightening up in his chair to face everyone else.

"Can you stop looking at Aria like that?" Kyle asked Casey, hi wavering. "She's not a slab of meat."

y heart Casey chuckled. "Nice one."

"Why are you even here?" Aria asked. She scowled at the musicial heard about you."

- "Aria's making a very good point." Finn shifted in his seat w $_{\rm w\ made}$ glared at Casey.
- "Where did Tyler run off to? He should be explaining this choice." gaze roamed the restaurant.
- sighed "I already tried," Aria sighed. She crossed her arms, locked in a n to gocontest with Casey. "They didn't realise he had a history of sexual when they locked him in."
- happy That got the attention of Anders and Haley, opposite us. They apart, glancing around the table with furrowed brows.
 - "What the hell are you talking about?" Anders said, his voice lilting a foreign accent.
- 'ning at "Allegedly," Casey spat through bared teeth.
- d. "Only because your Daddy paid off the victims and forced ar company to sign an NDA." Finn's voice vibrated with anger.
- Nicole stiffened, and her wide eyes flew to one of the cameramen. "Allegedly," he repeated.
- "You can say the word as many times as you like," Finn snap_l argue.doesn't change the fact your label dropped you last month after you pass at the wrong person."
- s voice Finn's knee bounced and his fist pressed against my back w gripped the top of my chair. One wrong move from Casey and I co him exploding.
- n. "I've "How the hell would you know that?" Casey leaned forward, any and he'd be mounting the table.

hile he "It's not exactly a state secret any more." Finn shrugged, f nonchalance, but the action was far too strained to be truly careless. "on the wrong band manager's girlfriend."

'Finn's I placed my hand on his thigh, squeezing to get his attention. Hi dropped to the contact. He released the chair and smoothed his hand down my back as if soothing me. All around us the outrage continue staring tuned it out, focusing on only Finn's sapphire eyes.

"Are you okay?" he asked, his voice low but deep with concern.

I almost laughed. I wasn't the one losing my shit.

"Yes. Are you?"

ng with He blew out a shaky breath. "I don't like people like him."

I smirked. "I got that." The lightness faltered a little inside of m can talk to Tyler about it later? I'm worried about Nicole."

1 entire Finn nodded.

"Hey Finn, how'd you feel about sharing?" Casey called across to of noise surrounding us. "I hear you like that sort of thing."

Finn stiffened beneath my hand. His gaze turned cold within the loed. "It an eye and his touch fell away from my back. He looked away from made a shooting daggers at Casey.

"Stay the fuck away from her," Finn shouted, his voice shaking.

hile he Casey grinned. Mark hit.

uld see "It's okay, Finn," I whispered, pressing a hand to his chest.

"Yeah, listen to your woman, Finn." His voice grated against me, 7 closer me sick. "She wants it."

Finn shot to his feet, his intent clear. I scrambled up, stopping him

eigninghe could get too far.

You hit "Can one of you put your fucking camera down and go find 'Anders demanded.

s focus Someone rushed past me, but I couldn't take my eyes off Finn to up andhis progress.

d, but I "Move out of the way, Abi," Finn whispered through grinding teet

I shook my head. "He's not worth it. Especially not in front of cam stepped into his body, pushing myself against him and wrapping m around his waist.

A small part of me worried that he'd reject me in front of the c when he wasn't thinking straight, but I had to try something.

e. "We I smoothed my hands up and down his back. "You're not the viole Finn. Don't let him get to you."

Casey kept talking, his voice rising over the group, trying to dig de he wall Finn. The longer he went on, the crasser his comments became, be didn't move, just kept watching me with a question in his eyes.

olink of "You seriously expect me to let him keep saying this disgusting shom me, you?" His brows rose, but then he noticed the camera pointed at expression shifted as soon as he clocked it. His hands moved up my caressing my bare skin like he could protect me from Casey.

He'd just shifted into actor mode faster than I could blink.

"No, I want you to keep looking at me like that." I smiled expression softened even more.

turning

His arms wrapped around me, squeezing me to him.

"I'll look at you any way you want," he whispered, the sound alm

with the ruckus at the table.

Tyler?"	He lowered his	s head, h	is intent	clear	in his	sapphire	eyes.	Surpris
me	to the spot.							
follow								
h.								
eras." I								
ıy arms								
ameras								
nt type,								
eper at								
ut Finn								
it about								
us. His								
y arms,								
_								
as his								
ost lost								

with the ruckus at the table.

He lowered his head, his intent clear in his sapphire eyes. Surprise froze me to the spot.

CHAPTER EIGHT

FINN

" ight, what did I miss?" Tyler asked, raising his voice to crack the arguing at the table.

His appearance snapped some sense back into my head. I'd nearly Abi with the cameras rolling.

What the fuck was I thinking?

Clearly, I hadn't been. With all the adrenaline firing through molest in her kind eyes, lost in the fact someone had tried to put n interests above themselves.

I released Abi and stepped back, turning to find Tyler poised at the the table wearing a deep frown. As if the wanker hadn't expect explosion when he left us at a table with Casey, the serial abuser.

"Why does the show think it's okay to pair a sex offender vinnocent woman?" Aria demanded, her tone scathing. "I'd wager you feel the need to fill Nicole in on his history."

Tyler spluttered, his eyes going wide.

Anders' voice was quiet but seething. "My agent definitely didn'

to my taking part in a show that would damage my reputation. I'm contract renewal." He gestured down the table at Casey. "Being in a with him will destroy my community credibility."

"Yeah, they sold me this stupid thing on the basis that it would t for me." Aria glared at Casey. "That is not good for anyone."

"Fix it, Tyler," I said, far too much joy in the words. "Or we'l calling our agents and heading home in the morning."

"Now wait a minute," he sputtered.

All of us settled back against our chairs.

Abi slid back into her seat, her head high but tension radiating 1 ∢ above her shoulders.

I liked her. Lying to myself wouldn't achieve anything, but it c ⁷ kissed change anything. Abi Johnson would be better off without me. B escape before I got attached to it all, to her.

"Alright then." I took my phone out of my pocket and hit speed dia e, I got The others followed suit before I walked a couple of paces away fi ny best table. I turned to watch the chaos while the phone rang. Charlie cou been asleep for all I knew. I didn't know what the time differen end of between Bora Bora and LA.

cted an

"Wait, you don't need to do this," Tyler shouted, absolutely shaking his voice.

*w*ith an

"Then fix your mess and get rid of him," Anders demanded. ı didn't

"And make sure Nicole gets therapy," Aria snapped before he gentled, a mixture of horror and sadness clinging to her. "I can't i what she's had to deal with sharing a room with him."

't agree

up for "Finn, my man, I wasn't expecting a call from you," Charlie solineuptypical cheerfulness blaring in my ear. "What's up?"

I filled him in while Tyler continued to panic, and Casey started shoe *good*For a man who prided himself on being so suave and charming, he cool quickly. It served him right.

I all be He'd worked for his father's record label five years ago, taking adof any woman he could in the office. When his father's company crassinvented himself as Casey Jackson, a singer-songwriter who required too much legal attention. From what Shaun had told me, he'd graduate sexual assault to outright attempted murder before it all blew up in he'd tried to put a guitar tech through a window at a soundcheck.

The sight of him made me sick. His name alone silenced Charlie.

"You're bullshitting to get off the show, right?" All the cheer from Charlie's voice. "Finn, please tell me you're bullshitting?"

ıl. "Can't."

"For fuck's sake," Charlie groaned. "I put you on *Married Blinc* ld have your shit. How do you find trouble where there shouldn't be any?"

ce was "Hey, I didn't know he was on it until tonight."

Tyler gave up trying to reason with the others and made his owr paniccall. All the while, Charlie swore up a storm in my ear.

"What a fucking mess." Something clattered on the other end of t "You know the paps will eat this up, yeah?"

r voice I frowned. "The fact the show picked him or...?"

magine "If you divorce Abi before the show concludes, no matter the re won't look good."

aid, his "Charlie," I said, a clear warning in my voice.

"I'm just saying the better option for you is getting rid of that piece nouting. Englishman and staying on the show." Charlie blew out a shaky lost his "Fuck. Don't do anything drastic right now. Let me make some calls if I can fix it from my side. Leave it with me."

vantage With that, he hung up, leaving me even more agitated than I' hed, hebefore.

ired far I stalked back to the table. Tyler talked in a hushed voice with ed fromlooking cameraman while Anders and Haley had moved to an is face separate table with Aria and Kyle.

Casey paced next to the table while Nicole stared at the tab pretending to be transfixed. Christ, we were all so focused on saving c drainedskin, only Aria had even considered Nicole's feelings in all this chaos.

I stopped behind Abi and placed my hands on her bare shou shouldn't have done it, but the need to keep her safe overruled log 1 to fix startled before tilting her head back to catch my eye.

"Do you want to get out of here while they fix this mess?" I asked.

"Sure." Abi smiled, but then it collapsed. She stood, turning to gl phoneme as she chewed her lip. "I'm just not sure we should leave he whispered, leaning toward me.

he line. "Nicole, why don't you come and join us at another table?"

Her gaze snapped to us, surprise breaking through her fragile ma focused furious eyes on Casey. He had all of his attention on his phone

ason, it Nicole collected her bag and edged around the table, keeping her c from him. Abi threaded her arm through hers and led her towards th

couples. I collected our drinks and followed them. When Abi wen e of shit down opposite her, I bumped her shoulder before pressing my mouth breath. ear.

and see "Why don't you sit next to her?" I whispered, working hard to k suggestion light and not the protective measure it really was.

d been With Haley to her right and Abi to her left, Casey couldn't v himself next to her to scare her anymore. It might loosen her up.

a livid- "Great idea." Abi turned around, smiling up at me.

entirely One piece of praise from this woman and my heart jolted. I new work harder at keeping her at arm's length.

lecloth, She settled down next to Nicole and I slid her drink across the tat our ownturned in her chair to face Nicole, that easy, friendly smile of hers plas her lips, brightening her entire expression.

lders. I They'd given me my perfect woman.

Tyler approached us, his panic replaced by a sheepish expression. turned to him, brows raised in expectation. Mine were at least.

"The series producer extends his apologies. The background lance atweren't updated before filming began and the news about Mr Jackson r," shethrough the cracks." His gaze moved between Aria, Anders at completely ignoring our spouses. "We'll remove him from the sho immediate effect and we won't use any of tonight's footage. How sk. She you'll all agree that we acted swiftly."

call. "Try it again and talk to everyone at the table and we might acce listance said, my blood boiling once again. "You put Nicole in danger."

e other "Finn's right, of course." Tyler nodded. His attention fixed on N

t to sitlast. "I've already arranged for Casey to fly out tonight. The staff are I to herhis belongings now. It was a huge oversight, we never should have you with him."

eep the Nicole nodded, moisture glistening in her eyes. Abi laid a hand shoulder in quiet support.

vheedle "Can I move rooms too please?" Nicole asked, her relief palpable voice catching.

"I'll arrange it." Tyler's focus turned to everyone else. "I'm sc eded towasted your time tonight. We'd like to try again tomorrow night. If yo for it, we'll just grab some quiet moments of you all while you eat ole. Abi

tered to "I don't think that's a good idea." Anders settled back in his scowling at Tyler. "I think we all need time to process."

"Yeah, everything we talk about is going to involve this instance.

We all just waste more of our time." Kyle pushed his chair back and Aria for him. "We'll make our own dinner plans, thanks."

checks The pair stalked off ignoring Tyler's protests.

slipped "My agent is going to want all of this in writing by the way." nd me, stood too, his hand gravitating to Haley's lower back as she joined have withhe doesn't have it by tomorrow morning, I'm walking and taking Halpefully, me."

Hayley smiled at Nicole. "Do you want to eat dinner with us?"

pt it," I She quickly agreed and the three of them left, leaving me to stare a Any moment we shared on camera needed to be a conscious one.

icole at Abi is off-limits. Do not get attached to her.

oacking If I needed to make it a daily mantra, I bloody would. paired on her but her orry we u're up dinner 3 chair, You'll ollowed Anders ıim. "If ey with t Abi.

If I needed to make it a daily mantra, I bloody would.

INTERVIEW IV

Question: How did it feel watching Finn get angry on your behalf?

Abi: I thought you weren't using that footage.

Tyler, Producer: We aren't.

Abi: So why are you asking me about it?

Tyler, Producer: It seemed like a pivotal moment in your relationship

Abi: It might have been, but this interview will be pretty pointless with the footage or story to explain it. So, again, why are you asking me about something you agreed to cut?

INTERVIEW IV

Question: How did it feel watching Finn get angry on your behalf?

Abi: I thought you weren't using that footage.

Tyler, Producer: We aren't.

Abi: So why are you asking me about it?

Tyler, Producer: It seemed like a pivotal moment in your relationship.

Abi: It might have been, but this interview will be pretty pointless without the footage or story to explain it. So, again, why are you asking me about something you agreed to cut?

CHAPTER NINE

ABI

'd taken my time brushing my teeth, washing the layer of mak my face, and changing into a pair of pyjama shorts and a tank to I eyed the bed from the bathroom doorway, out of delaying tactics and to ignore the ball of nerves twisting in my stomach.

"C'mon, Abi," Finn said, exasperation mixing with his tiredne pulled the covers back and patted the expanse of the empty mattress him. "I won't bite, and there's plenty of room. You won't even kneer."

He leaned against the headboard, cushions propping him up and l chest on display while the sheet pooled in his lap. My gaze wandered my brain begging for control, tracing the lines of muscle down to his l a

"I could make a bed on the floor." My cheeks burning, I glanced closet where I'd found a pile of blankets and extra pillows where unpacked. "Couple of layers, and I'll barely tell the difference."

"Abi," Finn groaned. He rubbed a hand across his face. "I'm not c to manhandling you if you don't get in this bed right now."

Finn slid down the bed as I climbed beneath the sheets. I caught hi satisfaction from the corner of my eye and instead of calling him turned away from him, settling down against the pillows to preten wasn't a mere two feet of distance between us.

"Thank you for earlier," I whispered into the silence of our room.

"What for?" he asked, his voice hoarse with tiredness.

"Take your pick." I shrugged, smiling into the darkness.

Finn sighed. "You don't need to thank me."

I pressed my lips together and didn't respond. He could deny in eup off liked, but he'd played the perfect husband tonight. Laying in the dar p. Now no one to scrutinise me, I could acknowledge how nice it had felt.

unable



FINN

ess. He

besideWe'd started on opposite ends of the bed. Loads of space between us.

And then I woke at 3 AM. Rock hard with her body against minimus pressed, she'd flung a bloody leg across my waist and her head his barechest.

despite My gaze fixed on the ceiling, jaw clenching, and my cock throbbia.

ap. a need I had no intention of fulfilling. It felt like torture.

1 at the I needed to move her.

ile we

My limbs had other ideas. My arm wrapped around her and my smoothed down her arm. I'd sworn to keep her at arm's length.

opposed

I hadn't thought resisting her would be hard, but I'd been very wro She sighed, and I lifted my hand, bracing myself for her shocke is smugInstead, she snuggled closer. Her thigh grazed lower, and my breath ex on it, Ifrom my lungs.

d there Fuck.

Even in sleep, she teased me. No woman had ever wound me so that an innocent touch set me off. Evidently, I'd underestimated Abi.

I should have fucked a bunch of women before this all started...

As sensible as the idea would have been, I didn't believe it wou helped. I'd lost interest in casual flings nearly a year ago. None c t all he actually wanted me. Just the money, fame, and connections that k, with

I shifted until Abi settled into the crook of my shoulder and I coul her face. She looked so peaceful in sleep. All of that fire hidden. I didr to believe she would be like the rest of them, but why else take part in like *Married Blind*?



ne. Not

ABI

on my

I groaned, coaxed from a deep sleep, interrupting the best dream. Flic glistening skin and an intense sense of satisfaction clung to me. Brig filtered beneath my lashes, chasing away the vague memory of it.

"Turn the heating off, Eva," I grumbled.

Oh, no.

fingers

Smooth skin pressed against my palm. Hard muscles tensed bene thigh. *Please tell me I didn't...*.

ng.

My eyes popped open, and horror sunk like lead in my stomach. T d gasp.

cplodedbelonged to Finn.

I scrambled upright. The sun blazed in through the patio doors intense thanks to the water glistening beyond our terrace. I slid across tightly slowly, eying Finn for the slightest hint of movement. Instinct said he' let it go if he caught me cuddling up to him.

Better if I made myself scarce.

I rushed into the bathroom and focused on showering. Or tried to.

of them Despite the shock, the dream still clung to me, a toe-curling, t camegrasping sheets kind of heated.

I had five minutes to develop a poker face before he saw straight 1 d studyme.

i't want Shit.

a show

Ten minutes later, I tiptoed back into the main room, a towel w around me and another pressed to my hair. My pulse beat intensely throat despite my constant reminders that it would all be fine. He' asleep.

I didn't want to look at the bed. Or more, I was too much of a cockers offace him in the intense silence. Only the sound of the water lapping ht lightthe bungalow's struts filled the room. I would have found it sooth hadn't been so high-strung.

"Why are you sneaking about?"

I jumped out of my skin, dropping the towel in my hand and spin that my face him. The picture of sneaky. He lay in bed, propped up againg pillows, watching me with what I was coming to see as his trademarker expression.

"I — I'm not."

s, extra His brow rose and I blew out a shaky breath.

the bed "I thought you were still asleep." I picked up the towel and rushed d never my suitcase. "Didn't want to wake you."

Deafening silence followed me. The skin on the back of my neck as if he were watching me.

"Are you going to shower?" I asked as a way of breaking the inte handsbut also gauging my next move.

I turned to face him, clothes clutched to my chest, and my eyes throughwide to not be suspicious.

"Maybe," he said, the word popping as amusement danced acr face. "You're very tense this morning. Didn't you sleep well?"

rapped My heart leapt into my throat again.

or in my Do not react. He doesn't know.

"I'm just trying to get ready before the crew comes knocking ag you're not showering right now, then?" I rushed past the bed, expeward todenial

against
"No, I think I'm going to cuddle in a bit more." His voice dipped ing if I cuddle. "It's cosy in here, don't you think?"

I kept my mouth shut, fighting the urge to not chew my lip. I mi have a good poker face, well, any poker face, but I would not be the ning to volunteer embarrassing information.

The amusement slid off his face, and his brows drew together. H k blank fixed on me intense enough to make me squirm. I tensed every mu prevent that.

"If I have to restrain you to keep my personal space, I will."

His tone dropped, grating over me deliciously while convincing over to the threat in his voice was no joke.

It should have horrified me. Instead, my core clenched.

and not think about in his presence.

nse air, "I don't know what you're talking about."

"Sure, you don't." Finn threw back the covers and stood. "Next t far toowake you up and you can make your denials while your legs are w around mine." He stopped in front of me, lowering his face to mine 'oss his whispering, "I'm sure you'll be able to sell it, love."

He vanished into the bathroom, leaving me to shake off the p warmth in my core.

If only he weren't so hot and cold, I'd —

Something black caught my attention in the glass on the floor at ecting a of the bed. When I looked properly, my blood ran cold.

"What? What is it?" Finn shouted, rushing back into the bedroom lon the towel wrapped around his waist. I stared at him in wide-eyed panic shrieked, Abi. What's wrong?"

ght not I pointed down at the shark thrashing around less than two feet I one tomy feet. My vocal cords had frozen up. Finn padded across to me, his furrowed. The concern faded into annoyance as soon as he looked dow lis gaze "It's just a shark." When my panic didn't ease, he shook his head Iscle to Blacktip reef shark. It's not aggressive, and you aren't in the water wit "I'm a New Yorker. We don't do marine life." The longer I watche

more the blood drained from my face. "You were in the water yes me that What if it — oh my god."

"Christ, Abi, save the drama for when the cameras are on." Finn so a hand across his face.

k away

That one sentence cut through my panic better than a cold sp water. So I hadn't been imagining his odd shifts in behaviour. On Finn was nicer, but it set me on edge every time. I much preferred to Finn, biting tone and all.

"It's a shark. It lives here," he continued, his voice dry and so vrapped "You aren't a fish, and man-eating sharks aren't common in Bora Bora before

"How do you know that? It could be one."

ulse of I barely heard myself speak. Which Finn was real?

Finn growled. "I live in California. I know what a man-eating shar like and that is not it." He turned his back on me. "Pull it togeth muttered before disappearing into the bathroom. the end

The glass door shut, snapping my focus from the reality adjuunfolding in my head.

with a

*

ith an hour to spare before the crew collected us, we rust breakfast in what I'd like to call companionable silence. If I is beneath the way Finn kept his eyes on anything but me, turning away or gruing brows response to any of my attempts to lighten the mood.

The longer it went on, the more my stomach knotted up.

h it."

When one of the cameramen wandered into the dining room, trailing and Kyle, his foul mood dissolved. They headed straight for us, smed it the their faces mirroring Finn's. He turned into the perfect husband, reach

sterday.my hand across the table, coaxing me into the conversation with light t

My head hurt trying to see through it.

They stopped to chat pleasantries for a couple of moments before l to their table at the far end of the room.

lash of The second the camera left Finn, his scowl came right back.

camera "What's wrong with you this morning?" I poked at my eggs, pee the real his scowling face from beneath my lashes. He grunted but otl continued to ignore me.

"Seriously, Finn? You're making me think you're pissed at me, l would be ridiculous. I can't control my body when I'm asleep."

Again, he grunted.

"Stop acting like a sulking child and talk to me." I pointed my k lookshim. "And if you grunt at me again, I swear I'll drive this fork in ler," hehand." I wouldn't, but he didn't need to know that.

"I need to grab something from the room." He pushed his chair bastment stood, avoiding eye contact. "I'll meet you out front before we leave."

He stalked off, blazing across the open restaurant with his head do shed to Oh, no you don't.

nting in I abandoned my half-eaten plate and rushed after him. My clattered against the boardwalk as I struggled to catch up. The m almost a foot on me. I didn't stand a chance.

"Will you just talk to me?" I called after him.

ng Aria
niles on
He glanced over his shoulder, a scowl marring his gorgeous face.

ing for "Go back to the restaurant, Abi," he snapped before continuing t

easing. our bungalow. "There's nothing to talk about."

I continued after him.

neading The bedroom stood empty, so I continued on to the patio, follo hunch. There I found him collapsed in a deck chair, staring out at the s

His gaze met mine as I approached, and his jaw tensed.

king at "I'm not in the mood to play nice right now. Go."

herwise I shook my head. Call me stubborn, but we had spoken vows promises.

but that "Talk to me. I can help."

His hands stilled where they drove through his hair. Something expression shifted, chasing away the agitation and replacing it with fork atdetermination that made my body tense up.

to your "I'd rather not."

He shot to his feet and stormed inside. I paused for a second on th ack and shut my eyes and took a deep breath. Logically, I should have left hin have toSo why did I feel compelled to do the illogical thing?

I followed him inside. "Then tell me what's wrong."

When to face me, growling under his breath. "For Christ' woman, can't you leave me alone for five minutes? I'm stuck with sandalsthree months. Isn't that enough?"

an had I crossed my arms and glared at him. "I was trying to be nice," I "You don't need to be an asshole."

"I told you to stay away. Did you listen?" he shouted. "No. Wh refuse to listen, I'm allowed to be an asshole." He dragged a hand thro towards hair, lowering his voice. "Sweetheart, I'm Hollywood's biggest play

ring isn't going to change me."

My mouth snapped shut. Both surprise and shame hit me in the wing abecause he was right. As legit as our marriage looked on paper, we we ea. a relationship.

I shouldn't have expected anything from him. He didn't need to sl feelings with me and I didn't need to make allowances for him.

"You're right." I nodded, my hands falling to my side. "We do each other anything but to put on the right face and say the right thing camera." A smile claimed my lips for the first time since I'd woken u meet you at reception."

"Wait. That's not what I — fuck."

a hard

Eye on the prize, Abi.

e patio, 1 alone.

s sake, you for

hissed.

en you ugh his boy. A

ring isn't going to change me."

My mouth snapped shut. Both surprise and shame hit me in the chest, because he was right. As legit as our marriage looked on paper, we weren't in a relationship.

I shouldn't have expected anything from him. He didn't need to share his feelings with me and I didn't need to make allowances for him.

"You're right." I nodded, my hands falling to my side. "We don't owe each other anything but to put on the right face and say the right things to the camera." A smile claimed my lips for the first time since I'd woken up. "I'll meet you at reception."

"Wait. That's not what I — fuck."

Eye on the prize, Abi.

CHAPTER TEN

FINN

 \int should have been happy.

Yet I couldn't stop studying her while she stared out the wir the back of the minivan. Guilt gnawed at my gut, directly contradict elation I should have felt.

What the fuck is wrong with me?

Agreeing to *Married Blind* in the first place had been a huge mistal

We stopped at the marina and Abi flung her door open, a excitement brightening her expression.

If we'd met under any other circumstance, I might have tried...

No, I couldn't lie to myself. Had I met Abi outside of the show, I have sweet-talked her into bed and left the next morning. No attachmes smiling at her singing in the shower or kissing her in public place wondering if there might be something real to unearth.

I would have played the perfect, unattached playboy.

Life was safer that way.

"So, what are we doing?" Abi asked as I climbed out of the car.

I slid my sunglasses on and turned my face up to the sun, absorbione pleasure without hesitation.

"We'll tell you once we're on the boat," Tyler said.

He ushered us towards a waiting catamaran and the request t swimwear started to make sense. For once, the crew didn't mess They loaded us onto the boat and headed out to sea.

I tried not to watch Abi soaking in the sun and sea breeze, but we auburn hair flying behind her and her head tilted back, I couldn't ke eyes off her. At some point, my goals and my body had to get on the page. I needed to stop feeling guilty, needed to stop appreciating he her wild hair complemented her face or how stunning her blue eyes we sing the needed to become just another woman, and one I didn't want to sleep verified to become just another woman, and one I didn't want to sleep verified to become just another woman.

About ten minutes later, the easygoing atmosphere changed. Tylei out his notebook, and I knew our time to relax, and wallow, had ended ke.

"Okay, so we've got something exciting planned for today. A genuineready?" Tyler flashed a smile that failed to be infectious. Abi and I shim, the silence stretching between us. "You can strip down to swimsuits and we'll get started. This gentleman is going to outfit you would some snorkel gear, and show you how to use it." He gestured to a tall, ents, no man with a captain's hat perched on his head.

les. No "What are we doing?" Abi asked again.

"You're swimming with sharks!" Tyler's enthusiasm made a resu and he flung his arms out at the glistening ocean.

Abi's face paled. I unbuttoned my white shirt, eying her all the whi

"Do we have to?" She almost squeaked.

ing that "Fun, right?" Tyler said, totally missing the shake in her hands.

Stick with the programme, Finn. Do not engage.

"I wouldn't have used those exact words," Abi muttered. She tur to wearback on the swim deck and crossed her arms, almost hugging herself.

around. "Once you're in your swimsuits, we'll ask you a couple of questic

this should just be natural." Tyler glanced between us, a slight frown vith herhitting as he studied Abi's back. "This is a bonding exercise, so rela eep myfun and stick close together."

He caught my eye and tilted his head toward Abi. The message construction will be clear. What the fuck is her problem, and why aren't you fixing it?

Pere. She

Sighing, I approached her.

with.

I tapped her on the shoulder. "What's up, *dotey?*"

r pulled

I needed to *stop* using that word with her.

She turned toward me and my breath caught. Moisture shimmered you eyes. She bit her lip as she studied me. Indecision flickered in her eye tared at so, she leaned towards me. o your

ou with "I can't go in there," she whispered.

tanned "Why not? These people do things like this daily. We'll be posafe."

She pressed her lips together and shook her head.

rgence, "What is it about this that you don't like?" I resisted the urge to provide into my chest. She kept rubbing her arms, seeking comfort where the life. "The swimming in the sea? The cameras? The sharks?"

She squeaked. I'd forgotten her reaction in the bungalow to t

shark.

"You're afraid of sharks," I said, purely to get a confirmation out

At her nod, something in me relaxed. "What sharks are out there?"

the skipper.

ned her

"Some Lemon and Whitetips, and the Blacktips of course," he sawords lilting over a French accent. He glanced at Abi and his expons, but softened. "No reason to worry. They're used to humans, and it's unus finally them to bite. Just keep your eyes open, don't splash around and don't provided the same and the same accent. He glanced at Abi and his expons, but softened to humans, and it's unus finally them to bite. Just keep your eyes open, don't splash around and don't provided the same accent.

"What if I *do* panic?" She stepped closer, staring up at me with op in her blue eyes.
couldn't

"Just keep hold of me." I threaded our fingers together. "Tap my you panic, and I'll bring you back to the boat."

For a couple of moments, Abi studied my face, a guarded light ϵ her eyes for the first time since we'd met. That pang of guilt resurfaced

"How are you so calm about this?"

1 in her

"I told you, California has a lot of sharks. Surfing and diving, I'v
s. Even
lot of them." I smiled, squeezing her hand. "A couple of reef shark
scare me."

"Okay, but if I can't handle it..."

erfectly

"We'll get out."

"Wait —" Tyler snapped his mouth shut at my glare.

He wanted me to be a good husband and handle her. If he want bull her continue, he needed to shut up and back me up.

ere was

"Yes, of course."

he reef "Okay." She nodded and released her death grip on my hand. "I

Her hands still shook as she tugged her summer dress over her head.

of her. My eyes had a mind of their own. My gaze dipped, tracing the line I askedbikini, absorbing details to haunt me later. Her full breasts, slightly r stomach, and toned thighs. Add in her long, wavy auburn hair, and if aid, the any concept about my type, Abi had bulldozed it in less than a minute. The ression Abi approached the swim deck with a determined step. It cracked sual forskipper started his safety briefing and she turned to search for me. My panic." itched to touch her and despite knowing I shouldn't, I gave her w en trust wanted. I stopped at her side, my fingers pressed into her waist, ren her I'd be by her side through it all.

hand if The cameramen went in first, their cameras locked inside underwater casing. One stayed on the surface, while the other disapplead below. Then I jumped off the back of the boat.

1. When I surfaced, Abi still hadn't joined me. She stood on the staring at the spot where I'd dived.

"Are you coming in, Abi?"

She paused on the last rung, her fingers clenching around the metal. to her, closed my fingers over hers, wrapped an arm around her was pressed my front to her back.

"I've got you, *dotey*," I whispered in her ear.

With a deep breath, she let go of the ladder and allowed me to ped it to away from the boat. For a couple of minutes, we trod water whe adjusted. Her blue eyes shone brighter with the water reflecting snorkel mask. She kept trying to adjust it.

'll try." "Stop. The mask is fine." I caught her hand, pulling it away fr

mask before she could dislodge it. "Take your time. Putting these thing s of her the water is a nightmare, so don't play around too much."

ounded Abi nodded, but beyond treading water, she felt like an empty v I'd hadspun her to face me and she gasped. With her chest pressed agains close enough that I could feel her nipples pebbling in the water, I l as the tongue.

y hands "Just breathe, Abi. We don't need to go under until you're ready."

hat she She stared into my eyes while her fingers dug almost painfully i nindingforearms. Nearly every inch of her brushed against me. Keepi expression calm and pleasantly blank took more work than it should hat plastic "Ready?" I asked when her breathing evened out.

"You'll stay by my side?" She chewed her lip, staring at me vulnerable light in her eyes.

e deck, "Right next to you." I took her hand and lifted it out of the water. hold of my hand. Squeeze it when you need to, tug on it when you n attention. I promise you'll have fun if you can relax."

ladder. With one last deep breath, she nodded. Then we were off. She so I swammy hand the second she spotted some Blacktip sharks swimming in a last and of a black shoal of fish. Others patrolled the sandy seabed.

The fish engulfed us, and after a moment of stunned panic, Abi down. Her shoulder periodically brushed against mine, as if she neede pull herthan my tight grip on her hand for reassurance.

off herby without so much as a pause. She loosened up, tugging *me* in wh direction she wanted.

om the

3s on in The heady rush of relief hit me.

"That was incredible," she shouted when we surfaced at the back ressel. Iboat. "Thank you, Finn!"

t mine, She threw her arms and legs around me, hugging me as she presse bit my to my cheek. One impulsive move, and she unravelled all of my ef ignore her body. Holding her felt right, and my dick couldn't agree which was a problem considering I wore swimming trunks, and I still nto myget out of the water.

ng my "Told you you'd enjoy it." I smiled before disentangling us.

Giddy, she spun around and reached for the ladder without prodding cameraman had stayed on board. He stood poised and ready to capture with athe most inappropriate shots of the show as Abi climbed back on board

"Hold on, Abi." I swam to her, and she turned, her brow furrowin "Keepedge in my voice. "Let me help you."

eed my She stared at me for a couple of seconds, confusion clouding he Then I tilted my head slightly towards the waiting camera, and how the lueezedwidened.

and out "Oh. Thank you."

She placed her hands on my shoulders and her foot on the bottom settledthe ladder. With a firm grip on her waist, I lifted her onto the swim de ed moreback to the camera. Her expression softened.

I'm my own worst enemy.

sed her

ichever

The heady rush of relief hit me.

"That was incredible," she shouted when we surfaced at the back of the boat. "Thank you, Finn!"

She threw her arms and legs around me, hugging me as she pressed a kiss to my cheek. One impulsive move, and she unravelled all of my efforts to ignore her body. Holding her felt right, and my dick couldn't agree more, which was a problem considering I wore swimming trunks, and I still had to get out of the water.

"Told you you'd enjoy it." I smiled before disentangling us.

Giddy, she spun around and reached for the ladder without prodding. One cameraman had stayed on board. He stood poised and ready to capture one of the most inappropriate shots of the show as Abi climbed back on board.

"Hold on, Abi." I swam to her, and she turned, her brow furrowing at the edge in my voice. "Let me help you."

She stared at me for a couple of seconds, confusion clouding her eyes. Then I tilted my head slightly towards the waiting camera, and her eyes widened.

"Oh. Thank you."

She placed her hands on my shoulders and her foot on the bottom rung of the ladder. With a firm grip on her waist, I lifted her onto the swim deck, her back to the camera. Her expression softened.

I'm my own worst enemy.

INTERVIEW V

Question: Why are you so resistant to the show?

Finn: Why do you need to ask loaded questions?

Tyler, Producer: Why do you think it's loaded?

Finn: Because you'll twist any answer I give.

Tyler, Producer: We're not a gossip show, Finn. Your words are you words.

Finn: *Snorts* As if. If you could splice a chunk of an interview speci to sensationalise the drama on this show, you would. And don't say *yo* would never do something like that. You're not the editor or the edit producer. You won't be in the room.

Tyler, Producer: That's true, but it doesn't change the fact that these interviews are here for you to get out any feelings you're not ready to t Abi about.

Finn: Why would Abi care if I hate this show?

Tyler, Producer: You're not that obtuse. If someone you were involve hated the thing that brought you together, wouldn't you wonder if they you too?

ľ

ifically

и

alk to

ed with

hated

CHAPTER ELEVEN

ABI

he crew packed up once we returned to the hotel, freeing us to off the salt water and enjoy the rest of our afternoon. With drying on our skin, Finn and I spent it in comfortable silence on the pa the first time since my parents died, I could actually relax, guilt-free.

I embraced the good life between the sun, the surrounding comfortable position on a lounger with a book, my phone on silent to blushing at Ros's inappropriate suggestions. And, of course, the odd the pool.

Maybe this is why people chase fame.

The one blip in my relaxation plans came in the form of six-form inches of pure muscle. Seriously, had Finn McCarthy never eaten a butter cup? The abs on the man made my mouth water, and don't even started on the bulge I couldn't help ogling every time he climbed ou pool or ocean.

Flashbacks wouldn't stop hitting me. Him pressing against me water. His long fingers wrapping around my hand. The way he'd lif

out, his biceps straining, just so I wouldn't flash my tits to the came. The *feel* of his hardness pressed against me when I wrapped my legs his waist.

He was hard...

Because of *me*.

That still boggled my mind. If there hadn't been cameras pointed might have tried my luck.

"What time is it?" Finn asked from the pool, pausing in yet anothe of laps. The man couldn't stay still.

shower I glanced at my phone. "Nearly six."

the salt He studied me for a second, his expression perfectly blank tio. For something shifted. A small smile curled his lips, setting my heart of patter. What did that smile mean, and why did I wish he'd direct it gs, my

"Do you want to get food?" He stopped at the edge of the polition of the polition of the polition of the polition in pressed his hands to the deck. "You probably need a drink after today,

He lifted himself out of the pool as he spoke. My mouth dried an control of my eyes. Who wouldn't when confronted with that body:

cascaded from him, sliding down his skin in tiny rivulets, taunting follow their path.

get me "Abi?" he asked, amusement audible in the one word.

t of the My gaze shot back to his face, eyes widening while my mouth shut. He smirked at me, his brows rising, knowing exactly where m in the had gone.

fted me "Yup, sounds like a plan." I nodded, my cheeks burning and my s

eraman.twisting with a mixture of need and mortification. I gestured to the saround "You can grab the first shower."

Finn picked up a towel and patted it against his chest. His blue remained fixed on me, mirth dancing through them. He glanced outdoor shower and his expression turned devious.

at us, I "Or I could just shower out here..." He stepped towards it, a mischief curling his lips.

r round I shot to my feet and squeaked: "Then I'll use the one inside."

His laughter followed me inside. I shut the bathroom door with a shand while my heart made a bid to escape my chest. I leaned again forcing air into my lungs and begging my core to stop clenching at the finto a him touching himself as he showered....

t at me Shit, I meant washing.

"Fuck." My brain short-circuited and threw up a very enticing pic ool and Finn masturbating.

right?" With the cold water turned to full blast, I braced myself for the d I lost shower of my life. Something needed to shock some sense into me.

' Water

the to fter a pleasant dinner, I climbed into bed, the tension unwriseveral cocktails. I might have giggled a bit and sighed over when the cool sheets covered me.

popped "I need to know where they buy these sheets," I muttered into my 1 head "They're so soft."

"You can ask in the morning," Finn said from the other side of the tomach

I frowned as I lifted my head from the pillow, tracking his move

shower.He kept walking back and forth to the bed, dumping more and more on it.

ie eyes "What are you doing?"

at the Finn flashed me a smile but didn't answer. Instead, he started pillows down the middle of the bed, forming a barrier.

ibsolute I chortled at the sight of it and his determined expression.

"You really don't like cuddles."

He glowered at me. "I like my personal space."

shaking "Ooookay. You must be fun after a night of fucking."

ainst it,

His fingers stalled and I should probably feel embarrassed about words.

I didn't.

Finn recovered fast, continuing to pile the pillows down the entire of of the bed. Satisfied, he settled under the sheet without comment, away from me.

e worst

I frowned at the wall of pillows.

For a couple of seconds, only the sound of the air conditioning u tten by the waves lapping the struts below us filled the room. Altogether, I f ly loud oddly soothing. My eyelids drooped.

"Thank you for helping me today," I whispered, losing the silenc pillow. fast.

"No problem."

room. I chewed my lip, wishing I could see his face. Did he mean it? "I didn't think I'd freak out that much."

pillows He sighed and the sheets rustled. Rolling over?

"I thought you were brave," he said, his voice so low I had to s hear him.

I piling Heat burned my cheeks and the biggest smile claimed my lips. you."

Silence descended again, but words clamoured through my desperate to get out. My tongue pressed to the roof of my mouth as I stem the flow. Whose idea has it been to have four cocktails? I could hold my liquor.

ıt those

"I promise I won't cuddle you tonight." Even if it felt amazing.

"Good," he huffed. "Goodnight, Abi."

Why couldn't they have paired me with someone resistible?

*

e length

turning

FINN

The next morning, I woke to heat and the gentle weight of Abi cudd unit and my side again.

found it The pillows lay all over the place, my barrier absolutely decimat again, she'd wound herself around me, her leg hooked with mine, he e battle pressed to my hip and her head resting in the crook of my shoulder. *P* point, I'd wrapped my arm around her again, holding her to me.

I rubbed a hand across my face and groaned. How could I keep hε from me when I couldn't trust myself?

Biting at her yesterday had been hard, almost painful, and I'd blethe effort up within an hour. I was running out of options. If I were

honest with myself, I didn't have any to begin with. Abi needed to be train to to quit.

I needed to get my head on straight and fast.

"Thank Abi stretched against me, and her thigh moved higher up my leg, my morning wood with very little effort. I gritted my teeth against the mind, sensation. The intense need I felt for her could not be normal.

tried to Maybe she'd go for a one-time thing...

d never Talk about stupid ideas. Those kinds of arrangements never endo one night and they never ended well. Mona and Shaun had starte relationship as a direct result of the "get it out of our system" lie.

Nope. I could hold on.

I just needed to last five more days. Then we'd be in my massive sleeping in separate rooms and hardly seeing each other. I could de wait.

"Sorry," she mumbled. Her fingers skittered across my nipple and bolt of need shot through me. led into

Fuck.

ed. Yet A second later, Abi tensed. She lifted her head from my chest and repelvis gaze with horror widening her eyes.

"I'm so sorry." She untangled our legs and sat bolt upright, tur check out her destruction. "I don't know how I..." She glanced back ar away her teeth sunk deep into her lower lip. I couldn't tear my eyes away feel my grip slipping on my self-control. The need to kiss her burned sown all

I hadn't craved someone since Natalie.

the one "I really am sorry."

My restraint snapped and I reached up, smoothing my thumb ald lip, freeing it. Her eyes widened again, but this time, they darkend grazing desire. Her tongue darted out, unintentionally caressing my skin. I froz rush of my thumb against her soft lips as my cock ached and my brain caught my wayward hands.

"It's okay," I said, surprising myself.

ed with I dropped my hand and sat up. She watched me, the need warring ed theirher face.

"Try not to do it again," I muttered before climbing out of bed.

Heading for the bathroom, I didn't look at her. One glance house, confused face, her hair mussed from sleep, and I might crack. B finitely wouldn't be good for either of us.

another

met my

ning to

at me,

', could

trong. I

"I really am sorry."

My restraint snapped and I reached up, smoothing my thumb along her lip, freeing it. Her eyes widened again, but this time, they darkened with desire. Her tongue darted out, unintentionally caressing my skin. I froze, with my thumb against her soft lips as my cock ached and my brain caught up with my wayward hands.

"It's okay," I said, surprising myself.

I dropped my hand and sat up. She watched me, the need warring across her face.

"Try not to do it again," I muttered before climbing out of bed.

Heading for the bathroom, I didn't look at her. One glance at her confused face, her hair mussed from sleep, and I might crack. Breaking wouldn't be good for either of us.

CHAPTER TWELVE

FINN

he production kept us busy for most of the day, shadowing ou move from breakfast to lunch. Then they bundled us into minivan with more secretive smirks, predictably keeping their mout whenever we asked for clues about the day's torture.

The minivan wound up into the mountains, bracketed by thick fol each side. Abi sat next to me, chewing her lip, while Tyler nattered tuned him out pretty fast.

Half an hour later, we stopped in a gravel car park with a steel stru the bottom end. The team filed out of the minivan. Their camera straight onto their shoulders, ready to catch our "surprise" at the activity

The urge to roll my eyes bit at me hard, but then I'd be b character, and I had no intention of giving Tyler an inch of ground.

"Okay, Abi, Finn, can I get you to stand here, please?" Tyler sa tone would have been perfectly pleasant if not for the glimmer in his e guided Abi to me, turning us until our backs were to the building. "Ex Now, do you know where you are?" He stepped back, outright grinning as if his excitement would catch.

Abi shook her head and his focus shifted to me. I just glared at him

"You're going to tell us, so quit the theatrics and get on with voice dropped, hardening with my annoyance.

"Right enough." Tyler smirked and rubbed his hands together. you're zip-lining over the gorgeous Bora forests. Isn't that cool?'

He paused, expecting something more than the stone-cold silence I "I said, isn't that cool?"

"Do we have to?" Abi squeaked.

r every "It'll be fun, I promise." He grinned, his eyes on fire with excitem anothermissing the fact we weren't mirroring him.

hs shut Abi paled and took a step back, bumping into me. Her back against my arm, the heat of her body burning against me despite the iage onafternoon. My fingers itched to touch her, to wrap my arm around lon. I'dconsole her.

"Are you afraid of heights?" I asked her, keeping my voice lov cture atTyler waxed poetic about some psychological mumbo jumbo theor wentcouples who took part in terrifying situations forming tight, lasting bor

I knew the answer before she turned her fear-ridden gaze on me.

reaking Who was I fucking kidding? I didn't stand a chance faced with her blue eyes.

iid. His I wrapped an arm around her, tugging her against my chest. Her yes. He_{curled} in my shirt, white-knuckling it.

cellent. "We're not doing this, Tyler." I kept my voice firm and stared hin ag at us "I'm pretty sure you have a duty to not traumatise your contributors."

Tyler offered Abi a sympathetic smile. "It's perfectly safe. You'll strapped in and it'll be over faster than you can say acrophobia." He cl it." My at his joke. "This is part of the show." He held his hands out, tryi failing to claim his helplessness in the face of the system. "This is thing on the list for the day. We get through this and you'll be able to without the cameras."

"You can't be serious with that bullshit."

"I'll do it," Abi croaked. She pushed away from me, turning her pato the cameras.



ent and

ABI

As sick as I felt at the thought of being thousands of feet in the air e warm

grateful when they strapped us together. *At least I don't have to face n alone.*

That didn't mean I relaxed though.

Oh no, the closer they tied us, the harder I clung to Finn. He continues.

The continues of the closer they tied us, the harder I clung to Finn. He continues the countinues of the countinues o

"Thank you for trying to stop them," I whispered, my throat far to project my voice.

fingers "There's still time for me to try again." He squeezed me against he my heart fluttered. "If you want."

Oh, how I wished it were that straightforward.

"Thank you, but no." I shook my head, forcing a smile to my lip

be wellfrowned at me, seeing through my bravado. "I'll just hide my face nuckledchest and hope it ends quickly."

ng and The instructor appeared at our side. "Okay, Abi, turn around and I the last clips in place."

Every muscle in my body locked up. He gripped my arm, possuming the harnesses made moving difficult rather than seeing to crippling my body. I shuffled around, my heart pounding at an alarmin

ale face "Can't she stay facing me?" Finn asked, fighting for me still.

The instructor smiled kindly. "Sorry, it's safer this way."

Resigned to my fate, I let him strap me in. In any other situation, t of Finn's body cupping mine would have made me feel safe. Fac endless run of a zip-line and a metal platform that did nothing to h , I wasdrop, the close press of our bodies barely registered.

ny fears "Close your eyes, okay?" Finn said, his breath caressing my ear. H wrapped around me, squeezing tight around my waist. "When we get this, I'll book you into the spa for the rest of the afternoon."

nued to I smiled at the promise but kept my mouth shut.

ıld. My "And the production will pay, won't they, Tyler?" His tone pr painful consequences if he denied it.

oo tight Tyler readily agreed.

They strapped the cameramen into their own harnesses and rigge nim and cameras around them, ready to catch every second of my terror viewing pleasure of millions of strangers.

The instructor called something, and we started moving. The edge something that I could handle. I squeaked and the air lodged in my t

in yourslammed my eyes shut before we could get too close, leaning into F putting my faith in his promises.

'il lock Air blew through my hair and my stomach dropped. The scream to my throat, resisting my every effort to squash it.

robably Finn's grip never faltered, even when the drop jostled us pathe feartogether.

g rate.

*

inn smoothed my hair down as we stood by the minivan, wait the camera crew to decide their next move. He tilted my forcing me to meet his concerned gaze.

he heat

ing the "Are you okay?"

lide the I blew out a breath. "I think so."

My heart still pounded wildly and my pulse throbbed in my temp is arms I'd survived. I needed to lie down for a week to recover.

t out of "A stiff drink would be good about now, right?" His lips qui glimmer of the real Finn shining through. He coaxed a breathless agr from me. Then the tiny glimmer of amusement faded, replaced with 'omised look that made my stomach drop for an entirely different reason. "I have any other fears I should know about?"

I bit my lip.

ed their "You told them you were afraid of sharks and heights, right?"

for the I nodded. I'd given them every detail. They'd said I should be hone it might affect the results if I wasn't.

flew at He glowered at Tyler's back, swearing under his breath.

hroat. I "It's okay." I stepped closer to Finn, placing my hand on his fore

inn andgot through it."

"Yes, you did. After they scared the shit out of you." Finn frowned re fromthat unusual concern darkening his eyes. One look and my heart w "You don't need to accept that shit, Abi. You can put your foot c ainfully they're pushing you too much."

"Honestly, I'm past it now." I squeezed his arm, smiling. "Thank looking out for me again. Next time, I'll push back." Then I rol ting forshoulders and winced. "Although I'm definitely going to need a mas ace up, feels like I went a full-on hour at the gym.

What are you afraid of?" I asked, catching Finn off guard.

Something about our closeness made this moment seem private, of time just for us. Probably thanks to adrenaline from the fear I'd ju les, but forced to face.

Finn's expression shut down, the light and concern slowly fading \boldsymbol{u} rked, $\boldsymbol{a}^{\text{robot}}$ of an actor stared down at me.

"eement "So we know what else they might throw at us."

a dark Finn nodded and his face smoothed out. "They can't throw my Do youyou. You'd have to learn to dive first."

He took a step back. I caught his arm, following him. "What is it?" He studied me with a critical eye, assessing me for something, but knew what.

est, that "Drowning," he finally said. "And I don't mean simply losing cothe water."

I frowned. "Then what do you mean?"

arm. "I He sighed, rolling his eyes to the clear sky before narrowing them

"This stays between us, right?"

l at me, "I promise."

Despite my reassurance, he still hesitated. His fingers twitched lown ifbody twisted away from me, bringing us closer but also convincing n turn away from me.

you for "I'm scared of *something* drowning me." He glanced towards the led myagain. "There's no logic to it, and the animal doesn't matter. It's just to sage. It of control. Tyler and his accomplices have no way of manufacturi situation to put us through it, which is why he's focusing on you sapphire gaze pierced through me.

a grain "Why do you dive and surf if you're scared of that?"

"Why do you get in a car if there's a chance it'll crash?" He she staring into my eyes with a singular focus. "Fear is no reason to miss intil thelife. I love diving and surfing. I'm not going to avoid the sea becarrational fear."

It made a twisted kind of sense. Not a sense I had any intenfear at applying to my fears.

Finn stepped back, breaking my hold and our close connection. See passed and already I missed our little bubble of trust. We stared at each hell if I an awkward air weaselling its way between us.

What the hell just happened?

ntrol in

on me.

"This stays between us, right?"

"I promise."

Despite my reassurance, he still hesitated. His fingers twitched and his body twisted away from me, bringing us closer but also convincing me he'd turn away from me.

"I'm scared of *something* drowning me." He glanced towards the crew again. "There's no logic to it, and the animal doesn't matter. It's just the lack of control. Tyler and his accomplices have no way of manufacturing that situation to put us through it, which is why he's focusing on you." His sapphire gaze pierced through me.

"Why do you dive and surf if you're scared of that?"

"Why do you get in a car if there's a chance it'll crash?" He shrugged, staring into my eyes with a singular focus. "Fear is no reason to miss out on life. I love diving and surfing. I'm not going to avoid the sea because of irrational fear."

It made a twisted kind of sense. Not a sense I had any intention of applying to my fears.

Finn stepped back, breaking my hold and our close connection. Seconds passed and already I missed our little bubble of trust. We stared at each other, an awkward air weaselling its way between us.

What the hell just happened?

INTERVIEW VI

Question: How do you feel about Finn now?

Abi: I'm not really sure. It's all a bit muddled.

Tyler, Producer: In what way?

Abi: One minute, he's snapping. The next, he's... sweet. I don't know real, I guess.

Tyler, Producer: That's understandable when you meet someone new You don't know how to read him yet.

Abi: Yes, but it's also the actor thing. Or more, I can handle his game now, I can almost see it coming. But when the cameras are around, he' different, and I can't tell if that's real either sometimes.

Tyler, Producer: Have you talked to him about it?

Abi: Why on earth would I do that?

Tyler, Producer: Communication is kind of important in a marriage,

Abi: Yeah, but I've known the man for less than a week. In the real we this point, we might have gone on one date, and I'd be sat at home seed guessing whether I should call him or text to arrange a second. None o normal, so why would the normal rules of marriage apply?

Tyler, Producer: It's a sped-up process, granted, but every relationshi

apart when communication breaks down, no matter how progressed it : **Abi:** *shakes head* He was a sweetheart when I needed him to be. Wh question that and he never does it again?

what's

⁷, right?

face

S...

Abi.

orld, by

ond-

f this is

p falls

apart when communication breaks down, no matter how progressed it is.

Abi: *shakes head* He was a sweetheart when I needed him to be. What if I question that and he never does it again?

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

FINN

ours later, we'd nearly escaped when they pulled Abi back for on-one interview. I couldn't stand being alone in the bungalc my thoughts.

The call connected before I could formulate any kind of rearringing. The Welshman loaded on my phone screen, wearing a massir Shaun Martin and I had become friends very early in our careers. I'm I how I would have turned out without him acting as my sounding board

"Hey, mate. How's the honeymoon?" Shaun asked. Amusement shis green eyes while his dark brown hair looked unkempt for once.

I twisted my lips into a wry smile. "A little more challengir expected."

Shaun snorted, dragging a hand through his hair.

We all had problems, secrets whispered to the wrong person at the time that could destroy us. Shaun had gotten out in front of his before him down. It probably helped that he had sweet, smiling Mona on his distract his fans.

Unfortunately, I hadn't needed to develop a problem for someone advantage of me. I got good at being the honey-lipped player who color any woman into lifting her skirt no matter where we were or who could

"Wow. That's..." Shaun shook his head, shock and mirth shining eyes. "Unexpected?"

"Laugh it up, asshole," I grumbled, shifting further back on the know you're all enjoying my pain."

"You make it too easy." Shaun shrugged without so much as an o apology. "But in all seriousness, maybe you should just give it a chanc

"Give it a... Bloody hell, what have you been smoking, and doe not a one-know?"

w with

"It's not crazy to suggest you give someone a chance, Finn."

glanced behind him and then lowered his voice. "What do you have son for by giving Abi the benefit of the doubt and putting some faith in the ve grin.

systems?"

"A renewed media shitstorm. The loss of my remaining shone in credibility. Studio execs being reminded of the 'reputation' my ex gibbone in before fucking off with a boatload of money for selling me out. The future jobs." I ticked them off on my free hand, tapping my fingers and through the list. "And maybe a bit of heartache," I whispered.

"I agree, it's a hell of a list, but what if Abi is different?"

"Shaun," I groaned, covering my face. "I. Don't. Want. To." I bit 'wrongwords, acting every bit like a petulant child.

"I didn't want to stop drinking, but I did it." His face hardened. "arm to want to go back to acting, but you lot forced me. You can't just hide for

to take Why the hell not?

uld talk "We're worried about you, man."

d see. "Beyond my current situation, there's nothing to be worried about.

Shaun stared at me, his deadpan expression telling me exactly how he believed me.

bed. "I "I need a drink." I dragged a hand across my face.

"Alcohol's not the answer, Finn."

unce of

"Yeah yeah, I know, but it's at least fun for a couple of hours."

Shaun frowned at me, and I bit back the apology before it could my tongue. He hated it when we apologised for living. Besides, his fro nothing to do with my talking about drinking.

Shaun

"Look, at least if I'm in the bar, she's nowhere near me, right?"

show's "You're lusting after her and you don't want to." Concern de Shaun's Welsh twang, making his words trip over themselves. "I getting drunk going to help the situation?"

fted me "I'll forget for a couple of hours."

loss of "It's not a good idea."

as I ran I nodded. "Possibly."

"No possibly about it. All common sense goes out the window whether."

out the "I don't want to think so much anymore."

"Think! For a second, just think." Shaun growled, his expression I didn't frantic. "Where will you go after you get drunk, Finn?"

orever." I'd go to bed.

"You'll go back to your room where Abi'll be waiting for you and make a fucking mistake."

"That won't happen."

w much Shaun snorted. I shook my head. "Christ, have some faith in me." glanced over his shoulder. He leaned forward, almost like he hid the from someone.

"I'm getting married in a couple of months," he whispered. "*A* wife-to-be seems to be attached to the idea of *your* wife."

I stopped, my head spinning with all the unconnected shit.

slip off

"She has her heart set on befriending her, Finn. I'm under strict ord
to get involved."

"Mona is choosing my wife over *me*?" I shouted, absolutely or "Put that bloody Scot on the phone."

epened

How is Shaun chuckled. "I've tried. Don't waste your breath."

I sat back on the bed, the blood draining from my face as my sh sagged. "Okay, so I've lost Mona... I think I can deal with that?"

Silence followed my question and I glanced down at the screen, ex the connection to have dropped. Instead, I found Shaun staring at me lost my mind.

"Some wingman you are," I grumbled. "Clearly, I should have Jackson."

"Good luck with that. Pretty sure he's busy trying to talk his law turning fucking him." Shaun tilted his head, realisation flickering through his "On second thought, yeah, call him."

I'd hoped talking to Shaun would help clear my head, but m

1 you'llconflicting wants still confused the ever-loving shit out of me. Shou known calling the sensible one of the four Kings of Screen would back me.

'Shaun "Thanks for nothing, asshole."

phone "Don't be a reckless tosser, Finn." With that parting warning, Shauup.

and my I stared at the glowing patio and setting sun for less than ten setting before the devil on my shoulder chipped in.

Fuck it.

lers not

*

"()) hat is an Irish coffee?" Abi asked, her nose scrunching up.

Abi leaned against my side, almost falling off her stoo bar. Don't ask me how it happened. I'd been on my third glass of when she walked in, looking far too delicious in her low-cut sundre sandal heels.

oulders

"Dotey, you don't like coffee."

pecting She grinned up at me, her head lolling against my shoulder. A like I'd slipped past her lips.

The barman might have surrendered the bottle to us and we mig emptied it. Distantly, I knew tomorrow would be painful, but I couldn myself regret it when that happy buzz thrummed through my veins.

yer into "So not a good idea?"

is eyes. "You'd hate it, so definitely not."

"Okay," she sighed.

uddled, How a sigh could sound happy, I had no fucking clue, but I ne

ld havehear it again.

Instinctively, I wrapped an arm around her waist, saving her from a fall to the marble titles. I could just imagine the accusations of ab in hungtabloids would levy at me if a photo of her with so much as a bruise arm surfaced.

Seconds No negative shit allowed.

I squeezed her against me, enjoying holding her far too much. Too I'd blame the booze.

"Abi?"

"Hmm?"

l at the "This isn't the best place to fall asleep."

whisky "Okay," she sighed again as she turned her face more firmly i ess and shoulder.

I blinked at the row of brightly lit liquor bottles lined up on the front of me. All of them danced.

giggle Maybe Abi has the right idea.

I gestured for the bartender's attention. He wandered over, his broth have as he spied the empty whisky bottle.

't make

"Can you add this to our room?"

At his nod, I slid out of my seat carefully, turning to catch Abi bef face-planted into my seat. She groaned as I slid an arm beneath her leg "Where are we going?" she mumbled, one word flowing into the n "To bed."

eded to

"Hmm... yes, please." Her voice deepened, grating across my sl st me.nails down my back.

painful Two words and she had me hard. Un-fucking-believable.

use the I carried her back to the room while her fingers toyed with the but on her my shirt and she pressed open-mouth kisses to my neck and she Concentration eluded me, putting one foot in front of the other difficult.

morrow "You need to stop, *Dotey*." I frowned at the boardwalk leading ou bungalows. I remembered it being wider. "We'll be going for a swin not careful."

Mercifully, or unfortunately, she stopped. Her fingers dug into her hunting for what I hoped was our room key. The reprieve didn't last She clutched the old-school key in her hands and went right back to not my my neck.

"Abi," I groaned.

wall in

I knew this was a bad idea. Now if only I could remember why, so reason with my idiot self.

"Yes?" she hummed against me.

ws rose

Our bungalow appeared out of nowhere. Grateful, I stopped at the and waited for her to unlock it. She didn't even notice that we'd stopped teeth and lips continued wreaking havoc on my shredded self-control.

"Can you get the door, Abi?" The words came out strangled.

ext.

Just like my cock felt. It pressed hard against the zipper of my Every step I took, bumped Abi against me, both teasing and torturous.

She lifted her head. Her lust-filled gaze met mine and she licked h

kin like The final thread snapped on my control as her focus dropped to my don't know who moved first, but our lips crashed together, need ove everything else.

Our tongues duelled. Teeth nipped. Her hands roamed. Desperation out over sense and sensations overloaded me.

proved "Open the door," I panted, breaking the kiss long enough to present the door. She dragged her kiss-swollen lips between her teeth and I go "Abi. Open the door before I fuck you right here for anyone to see."

in the lock before my whisky-addled brain decided a little exhibitely.

clutch, would be a good idea.

st long. The door swung open and she wrapped her arms around my necluibblingHer sinful mouth returned to torturing me before I'd even taken a step.

"About time you carried your bride over a threshold," she mumbl lips caressed my neck again, grinning I assumed.

I could I snorted. "That a secret kink?"

"Nope," she said before sucking on my throat.

I almost doubled over as lightning shot down my spine. *One foot* ne door of the other.

bed, her Kicking the door shut, I rushed across the room and lowered her bed. She sprawled across the sheets, a dazed look in her eyes and curling her lips.

shorts. "The tying me up thing though..." Her eyes fluttered shut on "That might be one."

1er lips. "That can be arranged," I said, my voice hoarse.

r lips. I I lay down on my side next to her. She rolled into me, her fingers erridinginto my hair. Her lips crashed against mine, stealing my breath w eagerness. My hand rested on her hip, clutching her dress in a tig on wonbefore gliding down her thigh, searching for the hem.

"Please," she whispered against my mouth as I grazed her bare skii s her to Before I could follow through, Abi threw her leg over my hip and roaned me back against the mattress. She shifted until she sat on top of me, h able ass resting against my cock and her hands holding me down. She the keyagainst me, unleashing a strangled gasp. A knowing grin overto tionism features.

"Fuck," I gasped as she did it again.

c again. My fingers pressed against her hips, urging her on. Her sundress of nearly every inch of her, but I couldn't make myself care when ped. Herthrummed along my nerve endings. Then I blinked and missed the respective she tore it over her head and launched it across the room.

She giggled at my slack-jawed expression.

"Careful, Finn. You'll make me think you genuinely like me in front grinned before rolling her hips again.

"Can't have that," I ground out while my gaze dropped to her puss; r to the That should have been my cue to stop.

a smile I didn't. Need bit at me, urging me to move the show along, bu wanted to revel in the feel of her soft skin beneath my fingertips. The a sight twisted her hips and robbed me of the ability to breathe.

I shot upright, pulling her tighter against me. Her gasp turned to a sigh, skittering across my neck while my hands roamed her body. I

drivingher lips, enjoying the way she melted against me far too much for nation hersanity.

the fist, Thankfully, the buzz of whisky masked the warning inside my head With a quick snap of my fingers, I freed her from her bra and lear

teasing her. I traced a line from her lips to her nipples, taking great p pushedin every quiet cry to fall from her lips. Her fingers tightened in my her bite-her back arched as I sucked on a nipple.

rocked "Finn, please. Oh my god." Words spewed from her lips, almost look herstring of gasps and moans.

I grinned, my lips curling against her tit. If she never stopped those sounds, I'd...

covered Do nothing. Because we shouldn't be doing this.

The warning bounced off me and I turned us, lowering Abi onto t nomentHer grip on my hair loosened as I kissed my way down her body, l every inch of her like a starved man. I slid off the bed, my fingers hoc her lacy underwear and dragging them down her legs without delay.

- e." Abi She draped her legs over my shoulders, her toes curling into me before I could do more than skim my hands up her thighs. After near
- y. days of resisting her, all of my chill evaporated. The teasing had gone enough.

I grazed a knuckle through her wet folds and her hips jolted.

hen she "Careful, Abi. I'll think you're eager for me."

Her head thrashed to the side as I circled her clit. I licked my lip pleasedwetness coating my fingers, her folds soaking for me.

caught "You'd be right," she whispered, a vulnerable edge to her voice

ny ownhave imagined.

I lowered my head, desperate to taste her.

d. I'm in perfect control. I can stop whenever I want.

ned into Then I tasted her.

She writhed beneath me at the first lap of my tongue, her hips s nair and both trying to escape and urge me on all at once. My fingers delved in her, crooking to drag against her inner walls. She clenched arou ost in aflooding my mouth with more sweet liquid. Her fingers twisted in n but I could barely feel the painful bite.

making Her hips rocked against me and I pressed a forearm across her st holding her down while I tortured her with a mixture of slow ar strokes. My cock strained against my shorts, begging for release he bed.couldn't make myself rush. I enjoyed the sounds of her cries, my earning falling from her lips, one minute an expletive and the next a benedional next in worshipped her, taking her to the brink of orgasm twice before letting over the edge, craving those little sounds far more than sober Finn wor

ly back She cried out, her hips bucking against my hands. Then she relax rly fourthe bed, sighing with a sound of contentment I could get addicte on longcouldn't get enough of her sweet taste, couldn't stop lapping up at her.

Her tight grip on my shoulders relaxed. I pressed a soft kiss to before climbing back onto the bed and laying a trail of kisses alc stomach, her breasts, her neck as I went. She hummed and stretche every caress. Each sound shot straight through me, teasing me with s at the feeling I craved far more than I'd ever let anyone know.

Her long lashes framed her closed eyes, the picture of perfect inr I must and not the woman who effortlessly rammed at my defences to keep

arm's length. Her lips parted slightly, making me want to devour her again. Then her breathing evened out and my stomach sank.

"Abi?"

No response came.

hifting, My gaze roamed her face, finally taking in the sight of her wild side of hair sprawled out beneath her, haloing her sweet sleeping expression.

nd me, would suspect her of being an addictive hellion when she looked lil
ny hair, My cock ached, but I ignored it and tugged the sheets back. I picked
again, tucking her into bed and kissing her forehead like the sappy, c
omach,

nd hard Tomorrow I'd slam myself over it.

, but I

y name

ction. I

her fall

ıld.

ced into

d to. I

her hip

ong her

ed with

a light

ocence

) her at

arm's length. Her lips parted slightly, making me want to devour her all over again. Then her breathing evened out and my stomach sank.

"Abi?"

No response came.

My gaze roamed her face, finally taking in the sight of her wild auburn hair sprawled out beneath her, haloing her sweet sleeping expression. No one would suspect her of being an addictive hellion when she looked like that. My cock ached, but I ignored it and tugged the sheets back. I picked her up again, tucking her into bed and kissing her forehead like the sappy, drunken idiot I was.

Tomorrow I'd slam myself over it.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN

ABI

stretched in bed, a sense of relaxation filling me. I almost m under the screaming headache stabbing behind my eyes. It had while since I'd felt so relaxed. I soaked it in, enjoying the caress of the against my bare, sensitive skin.

Then the memories crashed in, flickering before my eyes and heat face.

I turned my head slowly, grateful that for once I hadn't woken w around Finn. He lay on his side, facing me, his eyes thankfully cl didn't know what I expected to find: the spitfire glaring at me or a schooled expression. I'm not sure which would have been worse.

Five days ago, Finn wouldn't have let me maul him, drunk or not. even sure he would have carried me back to our room or sat in the b me for hours sharing a bottle. He would have turned his back on me I'd even sat down. Well, at least that's what I thought he would hav Aside from a couple of weird moments, he'd never actually been mean

Maybe we did have a chance after all.

Before I could get too comfortable, his eyes snapped open, fixing Pinched lines formed on his forehead and around his eyes. He cove face, groaning at the light streaming in.

"Should have shut the fucking curtains," he growled into his pill voice strangled with pain.

My head hurt, but I could stand the light without it making it all we "I can grab some painkillers."

"No, I don't need your kindness right now."

I frowned at the brutal snap of his voice. After last night, I expecte issed it kind of shift.

been a "I don't mind," I said despite the urge to press my lips together a sheets no more.

Why does he have to be so confusing?

right now, aren't you?" He turned his head slightly, catching the strappeddancing across my face. He frowned. "We were drunk. It didn't losed. Janything."

a blank Something in my chest squeezed painfully tight at those words. what you say to every woman you share a bed with?"

I'm not Despite a slight tic of his jaw, his gaze roamed my face perfectly be ar with I didn't have memories of him desperate beneath me, I'd think he'd use before I couldn't believe that he had, even though it would make resisting e done.much easier.

Silence stretched between us, filled only by the rocking of the beneath us. I stared into his sapphire eyes, refusing to be the one who

on me away. If he wanted to pretend he'd felt nothing, I'd make him work for red his "Let's forget it happened," Finn said, his voice sharp in the t silence of the bungalow.

ow, his What if I didn't want to forget?



"()) here are we going now?" I asked, barely restraining a pained orse. The fact they'd loaded us into four-wheel drives didn well, honestly.

A guide drove the car while Tyler chatted with him in the front sea d some sat in the row in front of us, his camera resting on the seat next They'd rigged GoPros around us to capture who knew what. Finn hac and say looked at me since this morning. Nothing but awkward silence filled tl seat.

Then again, after Finn's suggestion that the show intended to ing shit fears to heighten the drama, I couldn't help but look for the possible surprise points.

t mean

water

What do I fear that could come from remote, bumpy terrain?

Turned out, I didn't need to think hard. They pulled off the mai "Is that taking a narrow lane buffered by trees. Branches slapped against the sides as we barrelled down a dirt path. Some might have called it a rc lank. If seriously, if another car came at us, we'd all be screwed. sed me.

"There's a private beach at the end of the track," Tyler called bac him so He turned slightly, grinning at us. "Finn's taking you for a sunset picni

I sided-eyed Finn. "Is he now?"

Finn rolled his eyes. "Sure," he drawled. "Because I get any say looked

r it. farce."

ranquil I chuckled and Finn smiled. It lit up his sapphire eyes and gifte very real peek into the real Finn. My heart warmed at the sight.

Then a small black and red bug landed on the ledge of my door moment passed. I squeaked. For a second, it was nothing but a bug. T groan. brain caught up and I scrambled into Finn's lap with a barely muffled s

't bode He stiffened beneath me, but I didn't care, I wrapped my arms aro neck and tucked my legs tight to my body.

t. Liam "Get it away from me," I cried. My eyes widened as it crawled al to him.door. It got no closer, but it was already too close for comfort. "Finn, I l barelyI didn't even care that I sounded whiny and pitiful, begging him to reshe backfrom a tiny bug.

"Get the camera on her, Liam," Tyler snapped from the front seat.

use our Liam scrambled for his camera, shifting in his seat. Not an easy fe le stingthe car jerking down the dirt path.

I really fucking hate spiders.

Finn's arms wrapped around me at last. He rubbed my back, squan road, me to his chest.

ie open "Shh, Abi. It'll go away now."

"No, it won't." I whimpered as the spider crawled towards Liadidn't pay it any mind. Tears burned my eyes while my heart pound k to us.looks venomous"

Finn placed a finger beneath my chin and forced my head back his gaze. It freed me from staring at the spider, but equally, it made in this spiral.

"How do you know that?"

d me a "The hourglass. Know thy enemy," I muttered, surprised Finn had I'd always thought it was common to learn everything you can ab and thethings you feared. How else was I meant to avoid them? "I've hated hen mysince I was six, when one bit my mother in our kitchen. I developed a shriek. obsessive interest in learning about them after that."

und his I shuddered at the memory of the false widow climbing out of a bananas while I distracted my mother with some inane question or an ong the couldn't even remember the question.

please." Finn studied me, his expression softening in complete contrast scue merock-solid tension riding my body and face. He smiled, his sapphi shining with something gentle for the first time all morning.

"You're full of surprise, *Dotey*."

eat with I frowned at that but a motion in the corner of my eye caught my a before I could figure out his meaning.

"Finn," I whispered, his name drawn out as horror stabbed at me.

ueezing "You might want to move, Liam." Finn continued to stroke my baarms, despite the spider crawling towards the cameraman. "Of cour could get the shots but I'm pretty sure even you value your life abcorchestrated bullshit."

am. He

ded. "It "I resent that," Tyler shouted from the front.

"Oh really?" Finn drawled.

to meet If I turned my head, I'd find him smirking. I didn't look to confirm my fearfroze me in place while Liam hadn't so much as shifted away from door. He continued to lean against it, his face pressed against the view.

"Yes. I didn't orchestrate anything."

to ask. "Oh, so you aren't knowingly bringing Abi into a mountain out theknowing she's terrified of spiders?" When Tyler didn't answer, Finn's spidershardened. "Yeah, that's exactly what I thought." He patted me on the slightlyI'd assumed he meant to comfort me, but then he turned my face t

him. "I'm going to have to put you down on the seat for a second."

bag of I shook my head hard. The urge to beg and plead with him the other. Ithrough me.

"You don't want anyone to get bitten, do you Abi girl?" Finn asl to thevoice low and honey-sweet. I shook my head. "Good, then let me ge re eyesthe spider and then I'll put you back in my lap, okay?"

Finn broke my grip on his neck with ease. He gently placed me in next to him and then he unclipped a GoPro, over Tyler's protests. I s ttention into his seat, getting as far from the spider as possible. My entire body and my breathing started to hurt. I couldn't take any more of these exercises.

"Shut up, jackass. I'm not touching the thing with my hand."
se, you A clunk sounded followed by the plop of something hitting the ove this front and clattering to the ground.

Then Finn's spicy scent engulfed me again.

"It's gone," he whispered near my ear.

His hand forced its way under my clenched legs and his arm came m. Fearme back. I released my death grip on my legs and glanced around. H the carme with ease from the next seat, then shuffled us into the middle, press finder. to his chest.

Liam still had the camera pointed at us. Honestly, I couldn't tell range even reacted to the spider. The spot for the second GoPro stood empt s voice wasn't surprised Finn hadn't put it back. One less camera to capt e thigh. meltdown.

thrumming through the words. "We need to have words about your tactics, Tyler," Finn called, thrumming through the words.

numbed Despite the anger vibrating in his voice, he smoothed a hand do hair and back with gentle care. I lay my head against his chest and s sed, his eyes, exhaustion sweeping over me.

t rid of Just take a minute.

I sagged against Finn, trusting him to look after me.

the seat

*

huffled

v shook

FINN

e fright

For the first time since we'd turned off the main road, Abi relaxed. Dic she'd relaxed in a seat on her own and not curled up on my lap w irresistible heat burning against me and her head in the crook of my seat in Abso-fucking-lutely.

Would I move her?

Listen, I wasn't that much of a jackass. I knew my strengt abandoning her when terrified was not one of them.

around "It needs to stop, Tyler. You're dancing dangerously cle lifted psychological abuse here."

Abi shifted, her head tilting back until she rested against my sh Her previously panicked expression smoothed out, relaxing in sleep. V if he'dthinking, my hand rose from her side, gliding along her jaw and i y, but Iauburn hair, clenching. The strands wrapped around my wrist, silky so ure my I couldn't tear my gaze from hers. Tyler shouted at me from the fi I barely heard him, too focused on the sleeping woman in my arm a threatcould she sleep after the fright she'd had?

Why couldn't I push her away? I felt like a broken bloody wn mypushing her away and caving the second she showed me even an thut myneed. With the dinner, the sharks, the zipline and now this.

I needed to be stronger.

And then she smiled, nuzzling her face against my shoulder like I only person she trusted to keep her safe. My chest squeezed tight, a forming that I had never experienced with a woman. Not even my fam

Forget stronger, I needed to be careful.

1 I wish tith her the neck?

hs and

ose to

ioulder.

*W*ithout

thinking, my hand rose from her side, gliding along her jaw and into her auburn hair, clenching. The strands wrapped around my wrist, silky soft.

I couldn't tear my gaze from hers. Tyler shouted at me from the front but I barely heard him, too focused on the sleeping woman in my arms. How could she sleep after the fright she'd had?

Why couldn't I push her away? I felt like a broken bloody record, pushing her away and caving the second she showed me even an inch of need. With the dinner, the sharks, the zipline and now this.

I needed to be stronger.

And then she smiled, nuzzling her face against my shoulder like I was the only person she trusted to keep her safe. My chest squeezed tight, an ache forming that I had never experienced with a woman. Not even my family.

Forget stronger, I needed to be careful.

INTERVIEW VII

Tyler, Producer: Things looked very cosy in the back seat today.

Finn: Is that why you keep exposing Abi to her biggest fears?

Tyler, Producer: That was only a coincidence.

Finn: Nice line change. It was a purposeful action that could have rest your cameraman going to the hospital or Abi hurting herself while she freaked out. If you keep going, Abi'll be able to sue you for psycholog damage, you do realise that, right?"

Tyler, Producer: How about we talk about you instead? You're very to comfort her. I'm surprised.

Finn: Unlike you, Tyler, I'm not an unfeeling asshole. Stop trying to h her, or I'll make sure any line in your contract you think protects you ξ voided.

Tyler, Producer: Before you go, you might like to know that there are venomous creatures in Bora Bora.

INTERVIEW VII

Tyler, Producer: Things looked very cosy in the back seat today.

Finn: Is that why you keep exposing Abi to her biggest fears?

Tyler, Producer: That was only a coincidence.

Finn: Nice line change. It was a purposeful action that could have resulted in your cameraman going to the hospital or Abi hurting herself while she freaked out. If you keep going, Abi'll be able to sue you for psychological damage, you do realise that, right?"

Tyler, Producer: How about we talk about you instead? You're very quick to comfort her. I'm surprised.

Finn: Unlike you, Tyler, I'm not an unfeeling asshole. Stop trying to hurt her, or I'll make sure any line in your contract you think protects you gets voided.

Tyler, Producer: Before you go, you might like to know that there are no venomous creatures in Bora Bora.

CHAPTER FIFTEEN

FINN

"Oh, Christ!" I shouted the moment I opened my eyes the next m My entire body jolted at the surprise. "Abi, why the fuck a staring at me while I sleep?"

She sat beside me, her legs crossed and her hands pressed together restraining her excitement. That grin did not help the whole look. Eve blue eyes looked incredible, lit up with that much joy...

Or was it mischief?

"I had an idea and I think you'll love it."

"That does not explain the staring." I rubbed my heavy lids and s up to lean against the headboard. "Seriously, it's bad enough we're together. Don't make it creepy."

Her grin collapsed.

It was just a smile on the face of a woman who shouldn't still be m. What did it matter in the grand scheme of things?

Still, I missed it.

"Do you want to avoid the crew or not?"

My brows rose. The distracting war for logical action inside m quieted.

"How?"

"Exactly as I thought." She nodded, her excitement slipping 1 again.

Abi scrambled off the bed and started pacing. I bit my lip on a when my gaze tracked down her body. She wore an oversized white shirt, *my shirt*, buttoned to her cleavage, and nothing else. It barely a her ass and her pacing did not help the material stay in place.

My eyes narrowed on the shirt. Why is she wearing my shirt? The thing looked good on her.

, barely Or maybe it wasn't the way she looked but the fact she'd dressed n if her clothes, *my* scent. My cock hardened at the sight of it.

She stopped pacing at my silence, turning slowly to study me arched brow. "Are you listening, McCarthy?"

No. Who the hell would be able to?

"Carry on," I said, forcing the gravelly notes of arousal from my voor living My gaze tracked down her shapely legs while she continued to caught snippets, but not enough to make any of it make sense.

"You have a serious attention problem, don't you?" Abi may wife. exasperation reducing her voice to a growl.

She glided towards me, those intense blue eyes fixed on me wl little minx swayed her bloody hips. I swallowed, my mind well and the gutter while the voice of logic faded.

Her fingers gripped my chin, forcing me to meet her gaze as she y mindover me. Amusement clashed with annoyance, her lips pinched but h smiling— if eyes could even smile.

"Are you going to listen to me now?"

through I nodded and her fingers danced across my skin.

"They want us to be intimate, so let's make them believe we an a groankept her voice low and soft, barely above a whisper. "If we stay man's bungalow, they can't force a camera in our faces. If they knock, we covered them think we're...engaged. We'll order room service for every mactually enjoy a day without Tyler questioning us or forcing adre e damn producing activities on us." Her brows quirked when I said nothing questions?"

d in *my*"You want us to bunk off filming together?"

She tilted her head, confusion scrunching up her nose. "Bunk off?"

with an "Skip."

"Oh! Yes, that's exactly what I want to do." She frowned. "Don't y

A day locked in a bungalow with the woman turning my commo

to mush? Sure. What could possibly go wrong?

lking. I

ABI

uttered,

For a moment, I didn't think he'd agree. He seemed reluctant and hile theskittish. He gave in with a tight nod and then vanished into the ba truly inwithout another word. For all of ten minutes, I worried that he'd rath the cameras than be trapped in the bungalow with me all day.

leaned Then the first knock came.

I sat up straight in bed, panic squeezing my voice box. Finn's broat me when he stepped out of the bathroom, water dripping from his has towel wrapped around his waist. His sapphire eyes seemed to dark follow through.

e." She My eyes dipped, tracing the glistening lines of his six-pack.

in the Follow through with what?

e make He cleared his throat, and then I remembered.

eal and
I'd said we'd make noises. I'd meant sexual noises and, by the enaline-curling his lips and the glimmer of a dare in his eyes, I was pretty s. "Any knew that.

Our gazes locked and my face heated. Another knock, and thi Tyler called our names.

Finn crept towards me, indecision warring across his face.

I'd wanted the experience of the show, a break from my mundane l'ou?" I'd also been hoping for more. It would be far too easy for me to fall for n sense

He almost reached the bed, and panic gripped me.

A loud moan fell from my lips and the knocking stopped. Finn's g to my lips, avid interest in his eyes. I did it again and again, louder, the in his name for good measure. Through it all, our gazes locked, his leavith what I hoped was desire.

a little His hands clenched at his sides, almost as if he wanted to reach throomgrab me... maybe he would if the expanse of the bed didn't separate us ler face It could have been a trick of the light, but I thought his towel tented None of it helped keep my mind from replaying our short-lived ni

way he'd held me, watched out for me and then made me come all c ws rose face.

nair and Minutes passed before we heard the distant sound of the boards be me toon the boardwalk. By the time they gave up, my face burned and my ached while Finn's eyes had darkened.

I scrambled off the bed and into the bathroom, shutting the door of before he could say anything.



e smirk

FINN

sure he

I'd been wrongfully sceptical. I'd expected a day of boredom and stime, agreeing to remain locked in the bungalow with Abi. Instead, we sp time on the patio, reading in companionable silence, laughing over c thing or another.

After five days of second-guessing and stressing about how I'd ap life, but camera, I could relax for once. Maybe that would come back to bite day soon, but in the moment, I couldn't care less.

"Why would you get up that early for a show?" I asked, wincing at aze fell

A tingle of laughter escaped her, the sound wrapping around more three of them would be on Jimmy Michaels's show that week, I didn't hope in hell of escaping." Her lips twitched and her eyes shone out and lounged back on the sun lounger, stirring her rapidly melting daiquit asked my boss for time off before I even knew about it. I had zero to left."

ght, the I shook my head. "I've never been that dedicated to something."

over his "Yeah, I'm not surprised." Abi snorted. "You don't look ling fangirling type, Finn." Her brows rose and she leaned towards me, houncingsweeping up and down my body. "Or are you hiding it?"

y pussy I swirled my beer bottle, watching the dregs of the liquid dance. At to avoid her eyes and keep the grin off my face.

on Finn "Oh, you're so hiding it." She chortled, throwing her legs over the her lounger and shifting onto mine. She bumped against my thigh, pur aside to make room for herself on the edge. "Out with it. What or whyou fangirled over?"

I sighed, throwing my head back like she'd forced it out of me. "
torture first got to LA, I might have lost my cool when I bumped into Bryce ent our a restaurant." I grimaced, remembering how out of control and crime tiny been. "He was great about it, but I can't look the man in the eye feeling a trickle of mortification now."

pear on "That's brilliant." Abi slapped my thigh, her face lit up with amus me one "So you are human like the rest of us. Good to know."

Before I could comment, a knock sounded at the door. I groaned ther.

my head fall back against the lounger, biting my tongue again profanities desperate to slip out.

out the After hours locked in, we had a routine by now. If we were ex : have a food, one of us would get almost completely undressed and muss up o as she If the knock was unexpected, we faked sex that left me hard, aching, i. "She the very edges of control.

excuses "I'll go," I sighed when the knock came again.

"Let me." Abi patted my chest, pushing me back down.

She climbed to her feet, silencing my protests with a look and a fi

ike theher lips. I couldn't sit still when she disappeared into the bedroom.

er gaze I followed her in, catching her as she tugged her dress over her stumbled in the doorway, breath trapped in my throat.

nything "Just a minute," she called to whoever was beyond the door.

All the while my gaze devoured every bare inch of her body, fit side ofblack lace cupping the firm ass I'd had my hands all over days ago shing itsmooth, bare back. How hadn't I noticed her lack of a bra?

She scooped my shirt off the unmade bed and shrugged it on, buttoning it up on her way to the door. She glanced over her sh When Icatching me staring with a smirk.

Reid at "Hide," Abi mouthed.

Then she gave me exactly two seconds to follow her command. without

away, racing towards the bathroom just as she pressed down on the ha

"Hi, Abi. Everything alright?" Tyler asked, his voice slow and too sement.

A jolt of possessiveness shot through me. No one else would be her bare skin today. Roughly, I shoved the shorts off my hips and tug and let t-shirt over my head.

Before I couldn't stop to think, I rushed back into the room. I so my features into the smarmy look of a well-satisfied man.

"We're great," Abi said. "Just a little busy." Her voice rose, taking and at giggly edge.

"And we're not done yet," I growled as I wrapped my arm arouwaist and pulled her into my side.

Abi shivered, glancing up at me with wide, lust-filled eyes that perfectly to the image of two people completely lost in each other. inger to

"I'm glad to see you're making progress." Tyler grimaced. "But v head. Ito film."

His gaze raked down Abi's length as he spoke, pausing on her bate for far too long. It made my blood boil and my fists clenched with the rom the break his fucking nose.

to her "Sorry, mate, we've got other plans." I grinned at him, forcing the back and the lust forward. "Excuse us."

quickly I bent and threw Abi over my shoulder. Before he could do mo loulder, splutter, I had the door shut. The second it clicked shut, Abi giggled.

"That was incredible, Finn," she huffed around her laughter.

Her fingers skittered across my back, searching for somewhere t I joltedReally I should have removed my hand from her ass and put her ndle. Instead, I found myself standing in the middle of the room, breathing rough.

"Finn?" Abi asked, her giggles dying and her tone turning tentativ ged my you alright?"

Abi wiggled in my grip and my hand tightened on her ass. She schooled in surprise, but she didn't fight again. No, instead the little minx let he drift to my ass, gripping me in what could be an innocent move.

ng on a My body didn't care.

And that was a problem.

Ind her With jerky movements, I paced to the bed and lay her down. Her father flushed, her auburn hair sprawled out on the white sheets, and her black added sparking with desire I had no business feeding.

"Sorry," I muttered, backing away. I made a beeline for the bathro

of need to fade. "Wait," she cried. are legs "I need a minute, Abi." urge to Whether she heard the struggle in my voice or not, I couldn't say. e anger re than o hold. down. ; a little e. "Are Jueaked er hand ace was ue eyes om and

ve needmy abandoned clothes, squeezing the nape of my neck and willing tl

my abandoned clothes, squeezing the nape of my neck and willing the burn of need to fade.

"Wait," she cried.

"I need a minute, Abi."

Whether she heard the struggle in my voice or not, I couldn't say.

CHAPTER SIXTEEN

ABI

alf an hour later, I heard the bathroom door click Unfortunately for Finn, he'd given me twenty minutes too soak in my confidence.

Room service delivered our food and drinks, and the blush burn cheeks chilled out. I took the executive decision to set everything up hot tub we hadn't used once.

It would be a shame to leave without testing it out...

I repeated that line to myself as I changed into my bikini, turned on, and slipped into the heated water.

At no point did I think it would be a bad idea. That is until Finn onto the patio and froze.

"What are you doing, Abi?" he asked, suspicion rife in his tone.

"What does it look like?" Somehow, I pulled off nonchalant.

Or I thought I did. Finn didn't relax and he didn't climb in.

"Drink?" I pushed his new bottle a little closer to the hot tub entrar

His jaw ticked and his fists clenched at his sides. The actor b character.

"I'm not getting in there."

"Okay." I picked up my refreshed cocktail and took a sip, watchi all the while over the rim.

"I'm serious."

"Okay."

Amusement bubbled beneath the surface but I held tight to it. No let him know I didn't believe him.

open. He spun on his heel, stomping back inside with a huff. My sh long to shook with silent laughter. I didn't want to question why I enjoyed him. He rarely reacted so it couldn't have been because I enjoying my reaction.

by the When he returned moments later wearing swimming trunks, jo through me and I barely restrained it. I bit my lip, sinking lower benewater.

the tub He climbed in, grumbling under his breath and glaring at me. I just back at him sweetly. *Nothing to see here*.

stepped "Happy?" he grunted.

I lifted my brows in question, keeping up the innocent routine. I beneath the water, glaring at me, and my grin broke free.

"At least I know you're not acting with me now."

"Is that right?"

"In front of the cameras, you're all lovely and sweet. Perfect husband material." I chuckled to myself, thinking about the shocked

reaking Tyler's face when I opened the front door. "I don't think you convincing to the crew as you think you are. But I can tell." I gesture scowling face. "This is the normal I expect when we're alone."

ng him

I eyed him with suspicion, searching for clues as to whether he'd back into character.

"Don't shut it down on my account." I feigned boredom and sip drink.

need to

"What does that mean?" His eyes narrowed on me, scanning eve he could see both above and beneath the bubbles.

oulders

Playing with fire would not keep my heart safe from Finn McCart testing then safety was wildly overrated. I'd joined the show for a break from the mundane. Maybe I needed to take a couple of risks along the way.

Finn lifted his head, catching sight of me next to him. He studied y burst sapphire gaze darkening the longer he traced my features. His focus ceath the to my lips and I instinctively dragged the bottom one into my mouth.

His hand coasted out of the water and up to my jaw. He rubbed a smiled across my lower lip, freeing it from my teeth.

One second, he stared at me with indecision. The next, our lips sl together. His arm wrapped around my waist, tugging me into his straddle him. I jolted at the hard press of his cock against my eager coother hand slid from my jaw and into my hair, gripping it tightly and my head to his liking.

Nerves fluttered in my belly, but they had nothing on the empty cl dotingmy pussy.

look on Five days in close proximity to Finn had not been easy on me.

u're aspush the need away when I thought he didn't want me, but he kissed *m* d at his Our tongues danced and my hips jolted almost with a mind of the We groaned at the delicious motion. His fingers gripped my hips, urg water.to keep grinding myself against him.

slipped Time lost all meaning. Dolphins could have jumped from the v front of me and I wouldn't have noticed. Every fibre of my being focuped mythe enigma of a man beneath me.

Finn's hands coasted up my torso, cupping my breasts. He tea ry inchthrough the bikini top, toying with my peaked nipples through the famy top, tearing another groan from deep in my throat.

thy, but The strings loosened and the top went flying to who knew wom the couldn't focus on anything more than the thrum of pleasure coasting to me, chasing the buzz of pressure against my clit.

me, his Then he broke the kiss, his head dipping. His bearded jaw grazed lroppedmy skin, scattering goose bumps across my chest. The heat of his latched onto my breast and any air I'd pulled in exploded from my lung thumb. As delicious as the friction felt, it wasn't enough.

"Finn," I moaned. My fingers delved into his hair, holding him ammeddesperate for more and for nothing to change all at the same time.

lap to He hummed, the sensation vibrating through me as he sucked ha ore. His my nipple. His free hand glided down to my ass, palming me more l tilting against him.

"It's not enough." I hated how needy I sounded, but fuck.

ench of Finn lifted his head, smirking at me before capturing my lips aga not what I needed.

I could

Then he shuffled forward. I frowned, confused by the movemed ir own unwilling to break from the kiss. His rock-hard heat pressed against making meburning through the bikini bottoms, unhindered by fabric.

When the strings on my bottoms loosened, it all started to make se vater in I wasted no time, teasing him as I rubbed myself along his cock. The pused onbuilt fast, coiling until I couldn't feel much more than a mindless sensa

Finn gripped my hips, forcing me to rock faster and faster again sed mewhile his tongue danced with mine, stoking the fire.

abric of My release snapped into place, locking up my muscles until I coul more than cry out. Finn didn't stop. He pressed me harder again there. Irocking his hips and dragging me against his cock. He broke the kis throughfell forward, burying my face in his neck.

With each glide of him against my swollen clit, little flut againstaftershocks went off, stealing my breath and making me groan aga mouthburning skin.

gs. "Oh, fuck," he grunted as his body tensed up beneath me and he sti Finn's fingers dug into my hips, holding me still. His heart beat to me, against my chest, almost matching my own.

For countless moments, neither of us moved or spoke. My rrder ontrembled against him while the shock of what we'd done settled in my firmly At least he got off this time.

He released a ragged breath and stiffened beneath me. The tiny flu happiness fizzled out, replaced by trepidation that turned my st in. Still Hesitantly, I straightened up, leaning back to assess his face.

My heart dropped at the sight of his closed-off expression.

ent, but "This can't happen again," he whispered, his voice devoid of feelir ^{1y core}, I could only nod as he pushed me away from him and scrambled the hot tub. He rushed inside, leaving his shorts floating in the hot tub.

nse and Mindlessly, I gathered our discarded clothing and climbed out. My ressureshook as I wrapped a towel around myself.

Rejection stabbed at my heart and for a second self-doubt crept in nst him*did I do wrong?*

Cold logic slapped me and my jaw clenched.

Idn't do

He knew what he was doing when he reached for me. Yes, I tempt nst me, but he didn't have to say yes, he didn't have to strip me bare and dry fuss and I

ters of

inst his

illed.

wildly

nuscles

y mind.

ıtters of

omach.

"This can't happen again," he whispered, his voice devoid of feeling.

I could only nod as he pushed me away from him and scrambled out of the hot tub. He rushed inside, leaving his shorts floating in the hot tub.

Mindlessly, I gathered our discarded clothing and climbed out. My hands shook as I wrapped a towel around myself.

Rejection stabbed at my heart and for a second self-doubt crept in. *What did I do wrong?*

Cold logic slapped me and my jaw clenched.

He knew what he was doing when he reached for me. Yes, I tempted him, but he didn't have to say yes, he didn't have to strip me bare and dry fuck me.

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

FINN

"Solutely not," I growled at the producer. "It's five fucking don't care what you have planned. We're not doing it."

I went to shut the door, annoyance swirling dangerously inside After screwing up with Abi last night, I was already on edge. Didn't how many times I reasoned with myself, it didn't change the fact I'd ξ to the allure of her again.

And we weren't even pissing drunk.

"Wait, Finn."

Tyler placed his foot in the doorway, catching the door before i slam shut. It bounced back, slamming against the wall. The noise c disguise Tyler's wince of pain. *Serves him right*.

"I'm sure Abi will love it and you're already up," Tyler said, his to and pleading.

He smiled and I narrowed my eyes.

"Will she actually love it, or is that code for another hell trap desi force her to face yet another fear?" Tyler shrugged. "Her questionnaire suggested she'd enjoy it."

The need to slam the door in his face again stabbed at me, but if sh would enjoy it... I owed her.

I couldn't explain my actions without giving her more of myseli wasn't willing to do that.

I still couldn't say for certain that she wasn't after my money. W would someone agree to marry a celeb and bare their lives to the criti strangers? Surely it wasn't just for the thrill of it all.

The faster we got home and I could put space between us, the r control I'd be. It wouldn't matter how much she drew me in, there we AM. I plenty of things to distract me, plenty of distance.

I sighed. "Fine, but you're going to have to give us a minute." I pof me.
over my shoulder, taking in Abi's serene form. "Abi's still asleep."
matter
given in

ABI

"Next time you knock on my door at stupid o'clock in the morning, I it harder," Finn muttered, his tone low and threatening as he glared at a could "I don't know what you're talking about." Tyler's barely restrained belied his nonchalance.

one soft "Fucking couples yoga." Finn fumed as the instructor told us to positions.

I could understand Tyler's smirk. Finn McCarthy doing yoga was to behold. For someone with so much muscle, he couldn't balance for gned to "None of your training for action films involved yoga?" I asked,

my head away so he couldn't see my gleeful amusement.

e really "No," he ground out. "Surprisingly, bending at inhumane angles requirement."

f, and I I chuckled at his pained groan as his hamstrings stretched out wobbled.

hy else "Laugh it up, sweetheart." He glared at me. "You're never getting cism of do this again."

"Well, I didn't ask you to, but sure, let's point the blame at me."

nore in For the next thirty minutes, I blocked him out and focused on m ould be and our incredible surroundings. The pink of the rising sun painted t glistening and bouncing off the open water before the patio. An exp glanced lawn swept up to the main hotel building set on the hill behind us.

Aside from the rustle of the crew's clothing, Finn's occasional gr Tyler's muttered orders, peaceful silence surrounded us. With mor time being so tight in New York, it had been a while since I'd done a yoga session. I'd forgotten how much I enjoyed it. How much I'd m and the myriad of other hobbies I'd had to sacrifice when Eva got sick 'll slam

Tyler. When the instructor called time, I stretched out, my body deli loose. Finn straightened up with a pained groan. d smirk

"Where are you going?" I shouted after him.

change He ignored me and continued to stomp across the lawn. I threw T apologetic smile before racing after him at almost a dead run.

a sight "You know, this doesn't look good, right?" I asked as caught up, shit. and puffing.

turning "I don't care."

"I don't believe that." I gripped his arm, throwing all of my body isn't ainto making him stop. He spun around, shaking me off as if the touch "Wipe that look off your face. You're the one who doesn't want the cand he to see the real you. You care about how the show makes you look American public." I pointed at his glare. "That does not give the impof a man falling for his wife."

"I'm not," he growled.

My brows rose. "I know! But you want *them* to think that." I ja finger towards the film crew gathered on the waterfront patio. "W body hell's gotten into you?" he sky,

anse of "Nothing." He crossed his arms.

"Try it again without the scowl."

unt and His agitation melted away before my eyes. His brow smoothed ley andhis lips curled into a pleasant smile. If it weren't for his sapphire eyes lasunsetwith annoyance, I'd think he'd morphed into a different person.

issed it "Okay." I blew out a breath. "Do you want to give them the unite they expect today?"

ciously I held out my hand. He stared at it, making no move to get closer. of reaching for me as I expected, he took a step back, and then anot another.

'yler an "I can't, Abi."

My brows shot up. "Let me get this straight." My voice rose as ann huffingand embarrassment twinged in my gut. "Grabbing me in the hot perfectly fine, but god forbid, you have to hold my hand in front cameras?"

weight A flicker of true emotion sparked in his eyes. Regret.

burned. "Don't push me, please? I can't do this right now." He backed a cameras pleading light entering his eyes. "I'm sorry."

With that, he took off and this time, I let him go. I could feel the ression Tyler's gaze against the back of my head. He'd ask me a thousand que and demand an explanation. What on earth would I tell him? I cexactly admit that yesterday had been fake...until it wasn't.

abbed a

hat the



FINN

I'd like to say I didn't know what had gotten into me, but that would b

Abi had gotten into me, and I needed to get far far away from her l ^{out and}made more bad decisions. Guilt, lust, and annoyance mingled insi burning churning together until they created a volatile mixture.

Even free diving couldn't quiet the chaos inside my head.

ed front

Over a hundred and fifty feet below the surface, surrounded by sha the calm of the sea and I couldn't push her out of my head.

Instead her and

By the time I walked into our bungalow after 5 PM, I felt more hop

It quickly died when I caught sight of Abi standing before the wearing a dress that flared out at her hips. Sunlight danced around he she brushed out her auburn curls.

ioyance

For a second, words caught in my throat and the awkwardness re tub is head again. I squashed it fast. "Why are you dressed up?" I asked, I of the my voice neutral.

She met my gaze in her reflection, her eyes narrowing as she assess

"You ran off before Tyler could drop his latest task in our laps."

away, a My muscles twitched, ready to tense up at the thought of experiment. I couldn't honestly say I'd keep it together and th burn of concerning.

lestions I forced my shoulders to remain relaxed as I walked past her, ain couldn'tthe shower. Salt coated every inch of my skin and hair.

"We're meeting all the other couples on a sunset cruise. You have hour to get ready." The whip of her voice snared me and I turned aga will to find her watching me with her hands on her hips. She looked to fuckable with her blue eyes spitting fire and her body bristling argument.

e a lie.

"Don't worry. I'll be ready."

de me, An apology formed, desperate to get out, to smooth the tension bus.

I bit it back.

rks and

**

ABI

eful.

mirrorForty-five minutes after departure, the yacht weighed anchor as the lear while began to blush with the setting sun. Soft pastel colours lit up the sky, presented the setting sun. Soft pastel colours lit up the sky, presented the setting sun.

ared its
If not for the changeable actor, I'd miss Bora Bora.

reeping I couldn't lie to myself. I'd miss it because I got to be so close to h
"Abi, hey," Haley said. She and Anders gathered around me with s
sed me.

She'd restrained her black lavender-tipped hair in a tight top knot.

of envy hit me in the gut for that speck of foresight. I'd taken extra ca another my curls, but the moment the yacht got underway all the effort went was window. If I could avoid the bathrooms, I wouldn't have to know how the wind had destroyed it all.

ing for "No Finn?" She glanced around the deck as if he would mirac appear.

half an "He's inside grabbing a drink."

inst my I sipped my champagne and tried not to think about the fact he'd o damnfor a drink as soon as we boarded and hadn't come back.

for an "How have you found it all so far?" Haley chuckled, the sound strained. "We heard whispers about you and Finn playing hooky yes. Tell me you got to have your way with that fine man."

"In a manner of speaking."

"Did they push you as hard as they did us?" Haley asked, chang subject with an awkward smile.

"In what way?"

im.

She shrugged. "They just seem to relish orchestrating situation hate."

horizon "Like things that would terrify you?" My head tilted, scrutinisir painting reactions.

"Exactly that." Haley's eyes widened. "Did they do it to you too tapped Anders's arm, inexplicable excitement dancing across her face. you it was planned."

Finn chose that moment to put in an appearance. He settled at my tentative arm around my waist while he greeted Anders and Haley. A pang

are with I snuck a glance up at him, working hard to keep the surprise frout the expression. He smiled and laughed with them, sharing notes about ow badly brushes with my fears.

The perfect image of a happy couple.

- ulously Then I caught sight of Tyler, watching us through a window. H were crossed and his focus drilled into Finn. *Had something ha between them?*
- gone in "We should ask Aria and Kyle too," Haley said, the excitement of from her face and voice. "We're already in a high-stress situation. Sure a littlecan't knowingly add to it like that."
- sterday. "As if they'd care." Finn snorted. His fingers twisted in the mat my dress, grazing my hip in distracting circles. "But you'd be surprise they can get away with. We signed contracts."

ing the Anders and Haley paled.

Anders tugged Haley closer to his side. "I'm going back to LA wit training schedule. Life is going to be stressful enough without our property we'd manipulating us like that."

"It'll be okay." Haley patted his chest. "At least we know ng their coming."

Anders hummed in agreement but he didn't look too convinced. Anders hummed in agreement but he didn't look too convinced. Anders hummed in agreement but he didn't look too convinced. Anders hummed in agreement but he didn't look too convinced. Anders hummed in agreement but he didn't look too convinced.

- , "I told I dreaded to think what would happen to us once real life ente picture.
- Anders's hand. She rocked back on her heels, her balance shot w

om myshifting of the yacht. "Maybe they've had a different experience."

ur own The hope leaking from her voice made me wince. I squashed it wh said goodbye and turned to head down the side deck.

For a second, I enjoyed the peace and the heat of Finn's body is armsmine. Then I remembered we hadn't started the day well and I was ppenedpissed at him.

Maybe I should go inside too...

lraining I pushed away from him, took a tentative step, and the boat rocked by they hard. My heels slipped out from under me with a ripple of sharp pagaze locked on the darkening waves. Other than a thin rope, there erial of much to stop me from going overboard.

ed what I threw my arms out and squeezed my eyes shut. *Please be strong to hold me*, I silently begged the rope.

Heat engulfed me, a hard band wrapping around my waist and the hafullme backwards. My eyes flew open as I slammed into Finn's chest. Haroducertightened painfully around me, but I had no interest in complaining.

I smoothed a shaky hand along his forearm, patting it while m what's pounded, and a wave of gratitude shook me to my core.

"Are you okay?" Finn asked, his voice hoarse.

At least "Only thanks to you." I tried to regain my feet and a shot of pain v my leg. I whimpered, returning all of my weight to him without a mc red thethought. "Or maybe not."

He swore and then swept me into his arms without so much as a atchingHe took off down the side of the boat, more surefooted than I would the thebeen. I scrambled to wrap my arms around his neck. He might be fear

the face of the moving yacht, but I really didn't want to take that dip.

ile they "Get me some ice," Finn shouted the second he swept inside. He sofa, holding me in his lap. "Where does it hurt, Abi?"

against His fingers stroked down my calf, brushing lightly over my are stillfrowned at the side of his head.

"Abi," he growled, cutting me a dark look. "Tell me where it hurts.

Anders dropped a bucket of ice on the sofa and started piling cube ed extratea towel.

in. My "It's just my ankle." I wiggled my toes experimentally. No pa wasn'tsecond I rotated my ankle, I winced. "Yeah, just my ankle."

Finn's strong fingers engulfed my foot, holding me still. Anders *enough*him the makeshift ice pack and he gingerly rested it against my skin. I at the sudden cold but held still.

Concern burned in Finn's eyes, his brow creasing with it. I couldn is arms any of it was real. Hope that he meant it, that he really did care, bit is digging its claws into my heart, determined to never let go.

y heart He held me against him, his free hand gripping my side tight tightly, I could have sworn I felt him shake.

"You could have gone overboard," he muttered, emotion riding his went updeepening his Irish accent. "There are sharks beneath us. You would oment'spanicked."

I narrowed my eyes at his disturbed yet accusatory tone.

pause. "I didn't make the boat rock, Finn."

Id have "I know." He blew out a harsh breath and pressed his forehead to rless in "You scared me," he whispered.

I studied him, the single grain of hope tangling with suspici sat on awouldn't say these things to me now if he truly meant them.

Would he?

nkles. I The cameras were rolling. The show would milk every second display of weakness. I barely watched TV, and I knew viewers would situation up.

s into a But I couldn't tell if he was real.

Swallowing the need to question him, I relaxed in his grip a in. Theenjoyed it. If it all flipped again when we got to LA, at least I h moment to hold on to.

handed

[hissed

't tell if

nto me,

ıtly. So

s voice,

ld have

o mine.

I studied him, the single grain of hope tangling with suspicion. He wouldn't say these things to me now if he truly meant them.

Would he?

The cameras were rolling. The show would milk every second of this display of weakness. I barely watched TV, and I knew viewers would eat this situation up.

But I couldn't tell if he was real.

Swallowing the need to question him, I relaxed in his grip and just enjoyed it. If it all flipped again when we got to LA, at least I had this moment to hold on to.

INTERVIEW VIII

Question: What did it feel like playing Finn's damsel in distress?

Abi: I wasn't playing.

Tyler, Producer: Oh, I know, love.

Abi: And I resent the implication.

Tyler, Producer: Sorry, but for the show, what did it feel like?

Abi: It felt like my ankle was on fire.

Tyler, Producer: Right. You're focusing on the wrong thing.

Abi: Am I?

Tyler, Producer: Yes. Tell me how it felt to have Finn sweep in and r you. How did it make you feel having his muscular arms wrapped arou you?

Abi: I have a better question. Why do you insist on forcing me to do the made very clear in my application that I don't want to do?

Tyler, Producer: Uhm...

Abi: Not so fun when it's turned back on you, is it?

escue

ınd

ings I

CHAPTER EIGHTEEN

ABI

he flight back passed slowly while I wallowed in the postblues. Although, I guessed the holiday wouldn't end for anotl and a half months. It wasn't like I'd be living my normal life in LA.

Finn barely said a word to me the entire time, absorbed in one s another. I'd tried to get lost in a book, but no romance could he attention. Not when the star of my own sat so close, a total enigma have a hope in hell of keeping.

I didn't know what his normal looked like, but I couldn't imaincluded women like me. Eva had sent me a couple of photos from l carpet walks, and I looked nothing like the leggy blondes he paraded Especially not with my swollen, bruised ankle.

All the more reason to forget about it ...

We passed through the airport quickly, with Finn hiding his face be dark-tinted sunglasses and a baseball cap pulled low over his face. Where the celebrities pulled that move in movies, I always laughed, but it got us pick-up without anyone hassling us, so maybe I'd need to rethin

opinions.

The second we turned the corner to what I assumed would be house, chaos broke out. A herd of cameras surrounded the guard gate crowd of young girls with signs declaring their love to Finn lined the s

Flashes went off. People shouted and rushed the car.

I jolted back as a sign hit my window. It went by in a blur, but I'n sure it said 'Marry me instead.'

Who the hell were these people?

I tried to calm down, knowing there was a camera in the front and cameras rigged all around us.

her two Another took its place. 'I'll love you better than her.'

Then the cameras came. The flashes blinded me. The window cript or tinted, but did that matter with a bright light going off that close?

old my "Shit," Finn muttered before his hands landed on my face. "Look I didn'tAbi." He gripped my chin, forcing me to focus on him. "Ignore eve out there."

agine it Staring into his eyes didn't make them all disappear, but it helped, his red-the banging got worse behind me and people crowded in on his side to around. "Is this normal for you?" I asked, my voice weak.

"Sometimes." He grimaced. "Normally when I've screwed up and a scandal. I guess they consider us getting married out of the blue a screweenMirth creased his eyes. "Might be the first positive media fren: nenevercaused."

The car moved through the gate and the noise died away.

"That's better." His hands fell away and he settled back in his seat.

being one of those Hollywood assholes living in a gated community, Finn's worth it for the peace when they're like that."

while a His voice drifted around me, registering but not. I couldn't shake treet. he'd assigned the word *positive* to us. The man could give me w sometimes.

n pretty We stopped outside a massive grey stucco single-storey house to could shake the optimistic haze from my mind. Finn threw his doc while the cameraman worked his way out of the front seat and the driving to mine.

smaller

I winced as I stepped out of the car but smothered it quickly. The been enough pitying glances at the party and the airport as I hobbled the refusing to let Finn help me. I could look after myself, I'd done it for your were

My eyes must have been round as saucers as I stared up at the because Finn chuckled at me.

"It's monstrously big, I know."

"Uh Finn, give us a second to catch up," Tyler called from his window. Their car had barely stopped when the second cameraman fl though door open.

"If you want the shots, you move at my pace," Finn said, scov
Tyler. "We already discussed this after your screw-ups in Bora Bora."

caused
Tyler wisely kept his mouth shut. Finn had taken great del andal."
throwing the show's errors back at him the last few days. I couldn't agree with him.

Finn's eyes narrowed on me. I had a second to feel the pres concern before he came straight at me. He scoped me into his arms l'"I hate could question him.

but it's "I can walk you know," I muttered, indignation dripping from my

"I'm aware." Finn continued towards the house at a clipped the factassuming the cameras would follow.

hiplash "Then put me down."

He ignored me and kept moving forward. Scowling, I gave pefore I wrapped my arms around his neck. No point making myself feel uns or open he wouldn't see reason.

∕er beat

"What about the bags?"

"Frank will handle them."

ere had

hrough, The driver popped the trunk just as Finn reached the door. He unload and whisked me inside within seconds.

I gasped the moment he crossed the threshold. The ceilings stret least nine-foot. White walls contrasted with dark mahogany floors and prints on the walls. The front door led into an open plan living room, room and kitchen, flowing straight out to a full wall of glass doo is open framed the Hollywood Hills. It might have been luxe and ridiculousl ung his for one man, but no one could argue that it wasn't beautiful.

It didn't escape my notice that he'd unintentionally carried me o vling at threshold like a normal married couple might have done. I squasl flutter of softer feelings the unconscious gesture inspired. Bora Bora ight inhave taught me not to read into the small things. I'd learn one day.

't say I "There's not a lot to explain. Main living area." Finn gestured expanse of space five times the size of my New York apartment.

sure of "Is that a fireplace?" Awe overtook me as I caught sight of the pefore I standing, oval-shaped black iron. The chimney corkscrewed into

words. ceiling, drawing the eye out the doors to the patio and view.

"Yep," he muttered, his tone rushed and void of emotion. I mu 1 pace, missed him shutting down.

He gingerly put me down, keeping a hand close while I found n in and An ache twinged in my ankle but I ignored it. Liam used the opporti stable if get in front of us. Then Finn wandered off down a hallway leading living room without checking that I'd followed.

"All the bedrooms and bathrooms are down here." He stopped at 1 door, flinging it open. "This is your room."

A pang of loss that we wouldn't be sharing a bed anymore stabbed ocked it but logically I knew separate spaces would be better. Better for my he my resistance.

ched at

I wandered in, mindful not to move too fast for Liam who had t 1 bright backwards to catch my reaction. dining

The walls in the bedroom were as white as the main space. All ors that ly large furniture carried a shade of deep blue that reminded me of Finn' Almost like the designer loved them as much as I did. A huge woode poster bed stood proudly in the centre of the room.

If I have to restrain you, I will. ned the

Finn's words echoed in my head while I took it all in. My face should but I still turned back to him, smiling.

"I love it." at the

"Great," he said, his voice soft while he schooled his reactions le free-cameras. "You've got your own bathroom and those doors open." He the tallto the wall of glass behind me.

I spun around, my eyes widening at the key feature I'd missed bey st havelittle sitting area. I had a view! The doors opened directly onto the pathe pool, stretching out over LA. I resisted the urge to pinch myself. It nay feet. It could be real. First Bora Bora and now this? And they were paying unity to had to be dreaming.

off the "I'm glad you like it," Finn said. He scratched his neck and toward the door. "I'll let you get settled in. I need to..." He glanced ar the first the cameras focused on us. "I have a meeting with my agent. I'll be b dinner. Order anything you want."

l at me, He rushed out of the room.

eart and Liam lowered his camera, frowning at the door. "That wasn't schedule."

to walk



FINN

of the

s eyes. "You need to help me," I shouted the second I walked into Shaun's ho en fourShaun stood in the kitchen, stirring a pot while Mona chilled breakfast bar surrounded by frilly things.

"How did you even know we'd be here?" he asked, incredulity sburned, his tone.

"Where else would you be when your next project doesn't stal week?" I rushed across the open space, dodging the sunken lounge. I for thethe whole thing away. "None of that matters. Help me."

nodded Shaun sighed. "I'm not helping you chase Abi off."

Mona gasped. "Absolutely not."

ond my "See?" Shaun pointed at her. "I told you you'd piss *my* wife off."

"She's not your wife *yet*." I collapsed into the seat next to her. "None of rate, you'll have to make Abi a bridesmaid."

g me? I I covered my face when Mona squeaked excitedly at the idea.

"Christ woman, it wasn't a suggestion."

backed

"But it's a good suggestion."

ound at

ack for

Pen scratched across paper.

"What the hell is that?"

"My wedding journal."

on the I glanced at Shaun, horror widening my eyes. "Tell me she's jokin{
Shaun shrugged.

"Sweet Jesus, I'm friends with mad people." The two of them jus at me, enjoying my pain far too much. "Abi can't be a bridesmaid, She'll be back in New York by the time you two tie the knot."

use. Mona laughed.

at the "I'm serious."

"Sure you are." She went back to glueing things together.

soaking "She can't stay."

like to admit.

"Didn't she move in today?" Shaun asked.

rt for a "Yes. That's a problem too."

waved

"I have a perfect idea," Mona said without taking her eyes off the l "To help me get rid of her?" The words came out a little breathier t

"Of course not." Mona frowned at me before turning her atter

Shaun. "Put that in the fridge. We're having dinner at Finn's tonight."

'At this "You're what?" I shook my head hard. "No. Absolutely not."

Mona smiled.

Shaun turned the stove off and focused his full attention on me. "I what, I'll help you—"

"Shaun," Mona growled.

"Under one condition." Shaun paused, raising his brows at his fian "Anything."

"Give us a good reason why you can't see it through."

g." I stared at him. He couldn't be fucking serious.

"You're not even going to try?" Shaun asked, shock raising his voi t stared "Just give me a bloody minute." I held my hand up, staving of Mona.questions.

He knew my history with Natalie, he knew what she'd done to m the hell wouldn't that be enough?

"She's only involved with me for money. She probably wants sor of fame, they all do." I ticked them off, becoming more and more de as Shaun's face remained blank. "I'm not a Hollywood whore, even the press like to believe it."

"None of that is why she scares you," Mona said, dead serious.

"She doesn't scare me."

"Yes, she does." She grinned at me. "You're terrified she's per than I'd you and you'll have no way to stop yourself from falling for her over the few months."

ition to

Shaun's eyes widened. "Is that true?"

"Definitely not."

He frowned. "She's not Natalie, man. If she were, we would have "ell youat the wedding." He smirked. "She would have dumped your ass bef bouquet toss for one of the Sanderson brothers."

I scowled at him. My mouth went dry at the very idea.

cée. "See you don't like the thought of her with someone else, do you?"

I gritted my teeth, but kept my mouth shut. I'd underestimated the them.

"So, you're not going to help me?"

ce. Shaun snorted. "Come back to me when you fuck it up and you ne learning how to grovel."

"That's not going to happen." I pushed out of my seat.

e. Why "Suit yourself." Shaun straightened up, shrugging.

"I'll call Nathan next time," I muttered, stalking towards the door.

ne kind "She's not Natalie, Finn."

esperate "Yeah, yeah, you keep saying that," I called over my shoulder. "I thoughnot believing it."

"Natalie would have sold photos of you in Bora Bora to the pap words stopped me at their front door. A cold sweat broke out on the my neck at the reminder. "You've been off the radar for a full seven do fect for new pics until you landed today."

he next "That doesn't mean anything." I turned to face him, my skin "Maybe she's waiting until I get comfortable."

Mona glanced between us, confusion screaming on her face. "Wh missing?"

seen it Shaun rose a brow. "Do you want to tell her or shall I?"

fore the "Neither of us will." I shot a warning look at Shaun.

"That's not how it works in this house." He shook his head. "Mar time you stopped hiding from it."

Easy for him to say. "No, I think I'm good."

pair of I rushed out of the house fast, grumbling to myself with every step knew better than to force that fucking topic on me.

Twenty-year-old Finn trusted far too easily and didn't bother to ched help cameras where there shouldn't have been any.

The thought of Abi knowing I'd been stupid enough to let a sex t out into the world made me sick. I had no plans to figure out why.

'm still

s." His

back of

ays. No

itching.

Mona glanced between us, confusion screaming on her face. "What am I missing?"

Shaun rose a brow. "Do you want to tell her or shall I?"

"Neither of us will." I shot a warning look at Shaun.

"That's not how it works in this house." He shook his head. "Maybe it's time you stopped hiding from it."

Easy for him to say. "No, I think I'm good."

I rushed out of the house fast, grumbling to myself with every step. Shaun knew better than to force that fucking topic on me.

Twenty-year-old Finn trusted far too easily and didn't bother to check for cameras where there shouldn't have been any.

The thought of Abi knowing I'd been stupid enough to let a sex tape get out into the world made me sick. I had no plans to figure out why.

CHAPTER NINETEEN

ABI

he doorbell rang almost two hours after Finn left. I dithere couple of seconds, wondering if I should answer it. What if a flash went off in my face or one of the fans at the gate had come to ma they got their shot at Finn?

But then I remembered I lived in a gated community now and to people able to get to the door had clearance.

Plus, I didn't exactly have anything else to do with my time.

Maybe I should ask Finn for a sewing machine.

I chewed my lip as I padded through the sprawling lounge to th The idea had merit, but it felt weird to ask him for things. I could ju until my first pay cheque from the show and buy my own.

A screen next to the door lit up with a greyed-out video image of a on the other side. A short woman smiled into the camera, making it recognise her and the hunk of a man behind her.

Why are they here?

I opened the door tentatively and Mona's smile went up a notch.

"Hey, Abi." She asked, her accent just as interesting as it'd beer wedding.

"Yes. Finn's not here."

She turned to Shaun, frowning. "He left ages ago."

"Probably sulking in his car somewhere." Shaun shook his head.

Why would he be sulking? His panicked expression when he'd rus came to mind. Clearly, I'd done something. I couldn't say what walking into a bedroom he directed me to.

"Oh well, can we come in and wait?" Mona asked. "Since it's yo d for a night, we thought we could have dinner together."

camera I opened the door and gestured them in. "I don't know where anyt lke surebut make yourselves at home."

"Tell me he didn't duck out on you without a proper tour?" Mona he onlywhen I hesitated. "Shaun."

He sighed. "I'll talk to him."

Mona wandered into Finn's kitchen, her black halter skater dress s with each step. She opened a drawer and pulled out a pile of takeaway he door. while Shaun opened the fridge and unearthed a big bottle of water.

pants, almost casual but not when combined with his perfectly stylec couple guessed it came with the territory.

easy to It shouldn't have surprised me that they both knew their way Finn's kitchen. They were his friends, not interlopers like me.

"What's your favourite kind of food, Abi?" Mona asked as she s through leaflets. "We can order while we wait for the Irish sod to turn 1 at the face the music."

I hesitated. Something I'd never do over ordering food, but wordered something Finn hated? Should I even care?

"We should wait. I don't know what Finn likes."

"That's his fault." Mona shrugged. "No reason for us to suffer bec hed out can't communicate or be present."

besides I studied her smiling face as her logic sank in. If he'd cared, he have shared the mundane basics of his life. He hadn't. He'd also ditc our first in a massive opulent house with nothing to do, but even if I had somet do, I probably wouldn't through fear of ruining something.

hing is, "Do you have a menu for Mexican there?"

"Of course." Mona grinned. She pulled a yellow leaflet out with t gaspedglance at the pile. "This is the best one in the area."

"That sounds great." I bit my lip on the urge to ask if Finn liked Market Marke

waying "Shall we grab a seat while we decide?" Shaun placed a glass of we menusthe counter in front of me. He nodded towards the plush deep blue framing the fireplace.

n linen "Yes, sorry." I flushed as I picked up the water. "I'm a terrible hos l hair. I Mona laughed. "I would be too in your situation."

"We know our way around better than you do right now." Shaun aroundbefore collecting his and Mona's drinks. He led the way to the livin area. "I promise we won't hold it against you."

huffled We settled on the sofas opposite each other, sipping our waters up and scanned the menu. Nerves twisted in my stomach. We hadn't talked,

the couple of minutes I'd spent with them at the wedding.

hat if I What if they didn't like me?

I took a deep breath and pushed it away. It didn't matter. They'd or they wouldn't, and there wasn't a lot I could do about it aside from ause hemy normal self.

And my normal self would not be worrying her lip over other p e couldopinions.

hed me "How did you both meet Finn?" I forced my shoulders to relax and thing toback against the sofa.

Making myself feel comfortable in this place went against the grain I didn't start now, I never would. I tucked my feet under me, settling parely acorner of the sofa with a huge pillow at my back. Much better.

"On the set of an action film. He was the cocky fucker the a exican. director spent a lot of time manhandling back to his mark." Shaun g his blue eyes shining with remembered mirth. "Considering he went to school, he should have known better."

7ater on

e sofas

I considered Finn's relentlessness with Tyler, he fought to never gemuch ground and always with such a serious expression. I couldn't i him being cocky, but it was an image I liked far too much.

t."

"Was that here in LA?"

Shaun shook his head. "Nevada. All of us were just background a smiled that point, finding our feet in Hollywood." The amusement fadec g room replaced with something close to wonder. Appreciation maybe. "Sor we stood out in that film. All four of us started landing bigger and while Iroles. Always together." beyond

I needed to do a deep internet search on Finn.

"By all four, you mean the other guys who were with you like mewedding?" At Shaun's nod, I tried to recall their names. "Jackson and. n being "Nathan." Shaun grinned. "The Kings of Screen. A weird title American industry to dub four Brits but we're not going to complain a eople's soon."

"I still find it weird how that happened," Mona said, settling back settledShaun. He wrapped an arm around her, his fingers smoothing slowly down her arm.

1, but if His expression softened as he gazed at her and a pang of wa 3 into athrough me. Not for Shaun obviously, but for the look.

"Americans love our accents. Of course, they'd keep us together ssistantcould."

yrinned, He couldn't be more right. Everyone I'd ever known had been fas actingby a foreign accent. I hadn't plucked up the courage to ask where their from.

ive him "You can ask, you know?" Mona smiled at me. "We won't bi magineScottish and Shaun's Welsh. Our accents have probably gotten a bit n though living together and over here." She winced at that, and I ch relaxing even more.

rtists at "Jackson is Scottish and Nathan's English too."

1 to be "Except Jackson's from Aberdeen so his accent can be a lot strong nehow, mine when he's had a couple of drinks or just isn't thinking straight." biggerleaned forward, reaching for her phone. "Let's get this order in befo comes back and demands we change our minds."

"Order him the spicy soy tacos. It'll serve him right." Shaun smi at thehe sipped his water. He had a devious glint in his eyes I recognised ..." well. Ros regularly flashed it at me before she got herself into trouble. for the Despite my nerves, I found myself liking them both. Enough to m ny time gigantic house feel a little homier.

*

against e were just making a start on our tacos when the front door up and almost an hour later. Finn sauntered in, his eyes on the instead of us. I studied him, searching for signs of whatever he'd spant last few hours doing. His hair stood a little on end, but otherwise, he normal.

He puttered around the front hall, putting this jacket and shoes aw the while Shaun, Mona and I shared incredulous looks. How in yo head could you be not to notice a second car outside or the extra eyes contained.

Finn paused in the entryway, his eyes on the hallway leading rescame bedrooms. His brow furrowed and I found my gaze glued to him. Why he hesitate to walk to his own bedroom?

Shaun cleared his throat and we all chuckled as Finn startled. He was around to face us, a light flush burning into his face. Fascinating uckled, always been in such control, his mask either firmly in place or drop design. I'd never seen him blush. Or jump. It almost made him more than celebrity for once.

"Mona "Finn scowled at him. "I said no to this."

"About time you turned up," Shaun called across the open plan sparse."

Finn scowled at him. "I said no to this."

I turned back around in my seat, sharing a grin with Mona.

"Too bad. Abi's been enjoying our company." Shaun flashed

rked asmischievous grin. "Haven't you?" His eyes urged me to play along, b far toospending an hour with them, I didn't need the encouragement.

"Definitely. We should make this a weekly thing."

ake the I could feel Finn's gaze itching against the back of my head. The turn around and soak in his reaction burned through me but I held firr see the teasing immediately and ruin the fun.

opened "Oh, we'll need more than a weekly catch-up." Mona grinned a ground "Abi's agreed to be my bridesmaid. Isn't that great? You can walk do nent the aisle together again."

looked

I bit my lip. We had talked about it and I agreed. With one cave couldn't rely on me. Their wedding would take place after the show e ray. All couldn't delude myself enough to think Finn and I would still be toget ur own the idea of having something solid like that in the future felt amazing. on you?

"Mona," Finn groaned.

to the I glanced over my shoulder.

would

"We talked about this." He stomped towards us, dragging a hand this hair.

/hipped

"And I ignored you." Mona smirked at him before picking up he Besides, I don't think you'll be divorcing in three months."

human Finn spluttered. She took a bite of her taco, her eyes dancing with Mona enjoyed torturing him and I could get on board with it. Mayl think twice before abandoning me in a strange place next time.

"We're not talking about that," Finn said. His sapphire gaze drill her.

"No, we're eating." She pushed his container across the table. "Sill me a

out afterEat. Show us the nice guy you've been trying to hide from Abi."

His jaw shifted but he pulled out a chair all the same. He sat nex while Shaun covered his lips with a hand, but not fast enough. He c need to disguise his smirk.

n. He'd "He has a nice side? I thought it was an act." I tried to keep it seric couldn't stop a chuckle from slipping out. I'd seen plenty of evident Finn. prove Finn could be more than a nice guy. It always made me crave more than a lice guy. It always more than a lice guy a lice guy. It always more than a lice guy a li

eat: she Mona's eyes widened before she burst out laughing. "I can see why ended. Ithink that. I can't imagine what he tried on you." She hooked a fi her, butShaun. "This one dragged me running at sunrise on my day off."

"I didn't do that to chase you away," Shaun muttered. His amu vanished as he turned in his seat to face her.

"Oh really?" Mona's brows rose. "Shall we ask Abi how she wou throughreacted?"

"No need." He shook his head.

er taco. "No, no. We should settle this argument." She glanced at me, smile curling her lips. "Abi?"

n mirth. "If a man makes me run, period, I'm out." I could feel Finn be he'dburning against my skin. I turned my head, narrowing my eyes pointedly. "Don't get any ideas."

led into "See!" Mona shouted.

"Hey! I also took you to aerial silks and flat hunting." Shaun's voi t down.but he couldn't quite pull off the annoyed demeanour. His expression softening every time he laid eyes on Mona. "Neither of those things t to me have chased you away."

absolute gem if he wants to be. When I first moved out here and Sha ous, but busy on a film, he took me to get all my paperwork sorted. He sat ence to DMV with me for six hours! Would an asshole do that?"

ore. "Mona," Finn groaned again. "Can we just eat?"

with a He tucked into his food while Mona and Shaun frowned at him. So neither of them believed his denials. If I thought too hard about vou'dhoneymoon, I wouldn't either.

nger at And that would be a massive mistake.

How could I keep my distance from him if I thought he could be g sementme?

"Are you going to Jackson's premiere tomorrow night?" Shaun asl ld haveplaced his arm along the back of Mona's chair, a shadow of a smirk face.

Finn nodded. "As if I could get out of it."

a small "Have you sorted Abi's stylist yet?"

Finn eyed me from the corner of his eye, freezing with a taco cl 's gazebetween his fingers.

on him "You can't go alone, you plonker." Mona tutted at him. "It would good if you turned up to your first red carpet since getting married your wife."

ice rose "I don't need to go. I'm sure it'll be fine."

on kept Mona shook her head. "You do not want that kind of speculation

woulddoorstep." She shuddered. "Trust me. The less we do to draw the atter rabid paparazzi the better."

n be an "You're right." Finn's shoulders sagged.

"I'll text Marie and get her to pull some things together for Abi."

t in the pulled out his phone. He glanced up at me from beneath his lashe going to need your measurements, though."

Mind spinning, I rattled off the details. Finn continued to eat his to Seemedentire body tense. Within five minutes, I had an appointment with M out ourwell as a hairdresser and makeup artist to make a house call, and a deli jewellery because my lack was apparently bad for the wife of an A-list

It felt like I'd stepped into a new world, where diamonds were the ood for and people waiting on you hand and foot should be expected. I guess i new world. The Hollywood world.

ked. He

lenched

n't look without

on the

doorstep." She shuddered. "Trust me. The less we do to draw the attention of rabid paparazzi the better."

"You're right." Finn's shoulders sagged.

"I'll text Marie and get her to pull some things together for Abi." Shaun pulled out his phone. He glanced up at me from beneath his lashes. "I'm going to need your measurements, though."

Mind spinning, I rattled off the details. Finn continued to eat his taco, his entire body tense. Within five minutes, I had an appointment with Marie, as well as a hairdresser and makeup artist to make a house call, and a delivery of jewellery because my lack was apparently bad for the wife of an A-list star.

It felt like I'd stepped into a new world, where diamonds were the norm, and people waiting on you hand and foot should be expected. I guess it was a new world. The Hollywood world.

CHAPTER TWENTY

ABI

R elax.

No matter how many times I muttered that word to my couldn't do it.

I'd been plucked and waxed to within an inch of my life. My sl tingled. The hairdresser and makeup artist had made quick work tam frizzy curls and covering the spattering of freckles on my nose. *A* dress...

Sigh.

All of the fashion magazines had been plastered in the same basi since multiple designers presented their takes on it in Paris in Januar gold with vertical lines of narrow sequins and a cape. *A cape*! I fel princess. Material pooled at my feet, making me sweat ever so slightly thought of tripping over it on the carpet.

The neckline plunged though, making a bra impossible. For the time in a month, I found myself strapped up with boob tape. I'd he never experience someone else putting the stuff on me again, but the stuff of the st

evidently been wishful thinking. It didn't get any less awkward. At didn't have Eva and Ros smirking at my squirming.

I looked incredible though, and I should have been brimmin confidence.

Even so, nerves plagued me. I guess it made sense. First red carpe knew about them came from movies. I'd prepared myself for a rucku of noise and bright lights—but my hands shook and the longer the dri the more I started to freak out about the stylist's choice of shoes.

I didn't do heels often. With my ankle recovering from the sprain, shouldn't have agreed, but Marie had insisted and, sure, it made ser me next to six-foot-three Finn in flats and we'd look odd. I'd argue yself, Ileast an hour over the need for them to be four inches.

It seemed like overkill.

Country to see.

I lost that argument and Marie handed me a bottle of painkillers she strapped my ankle up tight.

"Stop fidgeting," Finn said, his voice harsh in the silence that conce style, us.

y. Rose He sat beside me in the limo, pinching the bridge of his nose. t like a

y at the "Sorry."

I pressed my shaking hands hard against the leather seat at my same focused on taking a deep breath. Nothing bad could happen. I just second walk. Didn't need to answer a single question.

hat had "It'll be over in a flash, I promise." His fingers glanced over m

least Isoftest of brushes that sent tingles up my arm.

His tone had gentled, and I dared a peek at him from the corner g witheye. He'd turned his head, his frown smoothing out in favour of a rea smile.

et. All I Why did he have to be so handsome? It's not fair.

Ve took trimmed. His black baby curls rested against his shoulders, slightly tamed than usual. Add that to his grey tailored suit, emphasising his I really shoulders and the hands that made me whimper in Bora Bora and had use. Puttrouble concentrating.

d for at "I only need a second to fall." Despite the horror of it, my twitched at the thought of proving him wrong, resisting the smirk tr take over my lips.

entire "It won't happen. I'll be holding onto you the whole time."

I studied him, hunting for signs of the guy who snapped at me beforehoneymoon or abandoned me in his house. He appeared earnest. I appr his reassurance, but the pang of happiness in my chest concerned me.

"And you didn't need to wear heels," he grumbled. His eyes narro my hidden feet. "It must be agony."

"I'll be fine." I suppressed the smile itching to break free.

"Fine, but if it becomes too much, tell me. We'll leave." His ide and clenched around mine. "I'll bloody carry you out if I have to."

had to I lost the battle with the smile.

The noise level exploded, even with the car door between us a ine, theoutside.

"Are you ready?"

of my His gaze roamed my face. At my nod, he squeezed my hand and ssuringanother of those calm, suave smiles.

"It really will be fine."

His expression morphed before my eyes, smoothing into the d been collected smile. The picture of beautiful and unaffected. The actor y moreout to play.

The driver opened the door, and a wall of noise hit us. Lights flast a bit of people screamed. White spots danced before my vision, and I hadn made it to the carpet yet.

cheeks Finn got out first.

ying to

He waved at the crowd of fans gathered near the car. Then he turn to me and held out his hand. With a tremor, I took it, sliding out to jo grateful that the length of my dress made it impossible for me to flash on ourthe onlookers. I did not need *that* photo on the front page of any gossig reciated With a firm grip on my hand, he led me down the carpet. Snip questions emerged the further we went. Reporters eagerly waved to wed ondesperate for an interview.

"How did you meet?"

"Why was it a secret?"

fingers "Are you in love?"

"Is it a publicity stunt?"

"Give us a kiss?"

and the

"Finn! Look this way."

On and on they went. I very quickly tuned them out. I didn't

know what they were speculating about me. I'd already had to field que flashed from Eva almost daily, and that would only get worse once I convince visit.

At some point, I got too comfortable. I could see the end of the car elation at my lack of embarrassing stunts overtook me.

coming Then it all went to shit.

My heel caught in the train of my dress and I tugged hard at Finn ned and as I tilted towards him. He turned. I had a second to register the wide it even his eyes before gravity took over.

I can't believe I'm going to faceplant on a fucking red carpet.

Stupidly or not, I squeezed my eyes shut. My stomach whoosh ed back eyes fluttered open at the heated press of Finn's chest.

in him, His face hovered above mine. He studied me, concern glimmering any ofeyes. For the cameras or just me? My heart thundered in my chest ev mags. the doubt, and it had nothing to do with my near miss. His fingers to opets of against my back while his other hand gripped my arm.

o Finn, He'd saved me from making a fool of myself. Not that this little would go unnoticed but at least I didn't have a bruise on me or a blood

A chorus of voices rose above the chaos, a chant spreading throucrowd. "Kiss her. Kiss her."

Finn's brows rose. How can I deny them? his expression seemed to

My gaze dropped to his soft lips. The smirk transforming his face my attention before our mouths touched. He wasted no time with a topeck. His tongue swept along the seam of my lips. I didn't have the resist him.

need to

iestions Oh, I should have.

d her to
Instead, I got lost in the taste of him, in the heat of him pressed so
me. I'd missed the feel of his body against mine in the night.

pet and I barely had the presence of mind to hold in my groan.

Finn jolted when someone wolf-whistled. He broke the kiss, sti against me before pulling back. Again he studied me, only this time, 's handparted, his chest rose and fell erratically against my hand, and h ning ofdarkened with desire.

I watched as his mask slid back into place, replacing the real, ra with an artificial smugness. I missed the glimpse of the real him, but ed. Mymany cameras around, I couldn't begrudge him wanting to hide bef rest of the world.

g in his With a graceful move, he righted me. My breath caught as my feet en withleft the ground and then his arm wrapped around my waist, his hand g witchedmy hip firmly. With that smug smile in place, he urged me back into n

Tomorrow, there would be pictures of Finn kissing me plastered displaythe internet and every newsstand in the country.

ly nose. When I agreed to *Married Blind*, I hadn't prepared myself for t ugh the course, I knew I'd be participating in a tv show and strangers would face and watch my every reaction to this strange situation, but this,

say. felt like another level.

caught It could roll out of control so fast.

entative **

will to "thought for sure he'd hide you from us," an English accent s behind me, cutting above the chatter of guests.

After the premiere, we moved on to an exclusive afterparty. I'c close to been ushered past a red rope before. The night held so many firsts, I c take them all in.

Tiny lanterns hung from the ceiling of an otherwise black venue frening burgundy and royal purple cushions decorated every seating option, barstool or an overstuffed sofa. A rich dark oak wooden floor blanke room while huge copper drop lights illuminated the bar.

The place screamed expensive just as much as the perfectly \boldsymbol{n} w need people surrounding me.

with so Despite my incredible dress, I couldn't help but feel out of place fore the with Finn's hand resting lightly on my hip.

Finn turned at the sound of that voice, spinning me with him. His almost up at the sight of Jackson Levi, decked out in his deep blue three-pie ripping Unlike at our wedding, he'd tamed his dirty blond surfer locks, tyin notion. back at the nape of his neck. Despite the four-inch heels, he still man across tower over me.

"I'm not a monster," Finn said, amusement curling his lips. He shis. Of Jackson on the back. "Nice showing tonight, man. I did not think you see my

all of it "That's me. A natural talent." Jackson grinned, his gaze jumping b me and Finn. "Whether you need a battle-hardened soldier, a investigator, a vampire, or a love interest, I can do it all."

Finn snorted. "Easy there. We don't want your head exploding."

ounded "Too late." Jackson chuckled. Then his eyes sharpened on mischievous smile tugging at his lips. "I hope he's been treating yo Abi. You can tell me if not, and I'll use it to drive him off his rocker."

1 never "Stop being obnoxious, Jackson." Finn shook his head. "He's couldn'tdrive me insane every single day since we met, and fails every time."

"Maybe I haven't had the proper ammunition." Jackson lifted . Plushbottle to his lips, smirking as he eyed us both. "My luck might be a be it achange."

eted the I chuckled at the devious mischief painted across his face.

He reminded me so much of Ros. She could be just as unpredicta nade-upenjoyed teasing me whenever the opportunity arose.

"We're figuring things out," I said, bringing them back to the $\mbox{\rm e.}\ Even \mbox{\rm question}$ but dodging it all the same.

A handsome older man passed behind Jackson, his grey hair st face litcontrolled waves. He glanced at us and away quickly, then stopped ce suit tracks to look again. His eyes widened with recognition.

"Finn McCarthy! I was hoping I'd run into you here," he said, hi aged to soaring above the chatter and low-level music. "I know I thanked you the phone, but with the size of that donation, I have to do it in person slapped stopped at Finn's side, slapping his hand down on his shoulder.

Finn shifted, his neck flushing as he snuck a glance at me. "
problem at all. The least I could do."

"Don't undervalue it, my boy." The man boomed happily. "That private will do incredible things for the Institute. There are so many selfish pet this business, it's a pleasure when I come across gems like you." He me a smile, beaming with an inexplicable pride. "You've got a gome, ahere. Hold on to him."

u right, With that, he patted Finn on the shoulder one more time and vainto the crowd, leaving me with a swirl of questions. Jackson and I tu

tried to Finn with raised brows almost at the same time.

"Finny boy, when did you do it, and why didn't you tell me?" a beerasked, his face lighting up with delight.

bout to "It's not that big a deal."

"Don't play me. We both heard the man." Jackson shifted into the position, wrapping an arm around Finn and pulling him into a sidew ble and "How much did you give away?"

Finn glanced away, shifting in absolute discomfort. "Quarter of a priginal cancer research charity," he muttered, his lips barely moving.

Jackson whistled in appreciation. "My best friend, the yled inphilanthropist. Did not see that one coming."

l in his Neither had I.

Did he do it for me? No, he couldn't have.

s voice I hadn't told him about Eva.

ou over

on." He

'It's no

money

eople in

flashed

od one

anished

irned to

Finn with raised brows almost at the same time.

"Finny boy, when did you do it, and why didn't you tell me?" Jackson asked, his face lighting up with delight.

"It's not that big a deal."

"Don't play me. We both heard the man." Jackson shifted into the man's position, wrapping an arm around Finn and pulling him into a sideway hug. "How much did you give away?"

Finn glanced away, shifting in absolute discomfort. "Quarter of a mil to a cancer research charity," he muttered, his lips barely moving.

Jackson whistled in appreciation. "My best friend, the secret philanthropist. Did not see that one coming."

Neither had I.

Did he do it for me? No, he couldn't have.

I hadn't told him about Eva.

CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE

FINN

every glitzy name in Hollywood. He left us grinning like the C Cat with his new fodder. I'd never hear the end of it.

I'd donated anonymously on purpose.

I didn't want people to know.

You'd think people knowing would elevate it somehow, magnitude of it hit harder. It didn't. Somehow, it cheapened the whole People would just speculate about my motives.

Christ knows, I needed all the help I could get with my image hadn't even told my agent about it.

With Jackson escaping, I collected more drinks for us and led Ab darkened corner. We settled on a sofa in an alcove, sheltered from the of the party.

I sank into the cushion, letting my head fall against the sofa and n shut.

"Are you okay?" Abi asked. Her thigh brushed against mine, teas

with things I couldn't have.

"Fine," I sighed. I didn't open my eyes. Didn't need to kn probably chewed her lip. One look and I'd kiss her again. "These thin take more energy than I have sometimes."

"I can understand that."

Silence lapsed between us while I focused on relaxing. How enjoyed our quiet moments, breathing in her floral scent, feeling the her body next to mine.

That could get addictive fast.

ars and My eyes snapped open at that. Addictive? No, thank you.

heshire "You did well tonight."

She sniggered. "At which point? When I tripped on the carpet or dropped a glass of red wine in your lap?"

I rolled my head to look at her, soaking in the carefree smile ligh her entire face. They had to pair me with an absolutely stunning and the the woman. Couldn't give me a grain of a chance at keeping her at arm's lething.

"I think the carpet one worked out well."

for it. The shock and wonder in her eyes had been too much to ignor the flush creeping into her cheeks and her parted lips, I didn't stand a control in into a

ruckus Weak. That's me. Too fucking weak to stay strong.

"You didn't even tense up when I kissed you."

ny eyes Why the fuck am I praising her?

Abi glanced at the couple leaning against the wall next to us. She sing metoward me and my gaze dropped to her lips without thought.

"How much chaos will that cause?" she asked, her voice low and c ow she "There's probably already some articles up and maybe a segment 1 ngs juston a celebrity gossip show about my sudden behaviour change." I too of beer, shrugging the whole thing off. "Honestly, it's nothing new. A the world knows right now, we're happily married. That kiss probably estly, I^{my} image."

heat of She dipped her chin and the tension drained from her. She relaxed the sofa cushions, her body irresistibly close to me. If I shifted across or two, my arm would brush against her tit.

"Finn!" An eerily familiar voice shouted from across the room.

Heads turned toward our alcove while a raven-haired viper be across the room at us, dragging along a scowling guy who looked lil when I stepped out of a GQ magazine. The fakest smile I'd ever seen stretchips.

"It's been ages," Natalie said as she stopped in front of us. "
1 sweet
believe we ran into you."

Why the fuck did she look happy about it?

"You look great." She raked her gaze over me, unmistakable inthanting her eyes.
re. Add

hance. I ground my teeth. "What do you want, Natalie?" I asked, m making it perfectly clear her latest game wouldn't work.

The heat faded fast, her pleasant socialite mask slipping into plaguy wrapped his arm around her, laughably trying to stake his claim.

"This is my fiancé, Zeke." She tilted her head towards him, that leaned fake smile fixed in place while her eyes hardened. As if I cared.

areful. amazing that we both got engaged at the same time."

running A click sounded in my head and a smirk claimed my lips. I slid ok a sipalong the back of the sofa, resting it on Abi's neck.

s far as "What a coincidence." I closed the remaining inches between us, particles helped Abi tight to my side and resting my other hand high on her thigh. She

it, twining our fingers together. "But Nat, you've got your facts wro againstmarried." I picked Abi's hand up and pressed a kiss to it, the emeral an inchglinting beneath the club's low lights.

Natalie's gaze dropped to the rock. I took great joy in watch nostrils flare. I needed to send Charlie a thank you card for the beas arrelled engagement ring.

ke he'd She recovered fast, moulding herself to Zeke, the poor guy. Her hed hersmile slammed back into place. Apparently, we'd gone from people wl each other to people who had a pissing contest over jewellery.

'I can't "I heard." She puckered her brow, tutting as if she truly cared ab "Didn't think you were dating anyone seriously."

I shrugged. "I haven't heard any more scandal about you stealin erest in people and leaking their personal shit for a quick payoff, so I guest even."

1y tone Zeke stiffened next to her, and a thrill of triumph rippled through n
"What is he talking about, Nat?"

ce. The She patted his chest. "Oh, nothing. Nothing at all." She shot me a v look and led him away. "He's only joking."

t sickly "Am I?"

"How She took a panicked step back. "We'll leave you to your ev

Another step.

a hand "Good idea." A menacing grin overtook me. I didn't consider my vindictive sort, but I would gladly tear her to shreds in front of an audi ressing would be a public service. "Wouldn't want me to spill too many caught secrets."

ng. I'm She spun on her heel, tugging her frowning fiance after her. My he d stoneslowed as she vanished into the crowd. I hadn't seen her in years, pretty much assumed she'd quit LA.

ing her What were the fucking chances?

st of an "Who was that?" Abi asked, her tone tentative.

Christ, I didn't want to get into it.

plastic "No one important."

ho sued

She scanned my face, hunting for a truth she wouldn't find. If she wanted, she could find all the sordid details online. The fact she out me. recognised Natalie suggested my wife hadn't gone digging into my pasome reason that filled me with hope.

ig from "An old girlfriend?"

s we're "Unfortunately," I grumbled.

Abi continued to stare at me, her scrutinising expression gr softening.

"There you two are," Mona shouted before collapsing onto the varning opposite us, freeing me from Abi's attention. "For a minute, we prove you'd skipped the party."

Shaun sat down next to her, eying me with a guarded look. "Di ening." see..."

"Yep." I nodded. "Don't ask me why."

self the "You can't be that oblivious." Abi's brows rose at my blank explence. It "How could you miss the 'my achievement is bigger than yours' vibes of your Shaun chuckled. "Remembering how artificial Natalie was, your got a point."

Despite the amusement creasing his face, Shaun watched me with and I'd in his eyes. Anticipation rolled off him in waves, and I could understar That one word would have been enough to send me to the bar a we Add in the run-in with Natalie and I should definitely be deep into a b whisky by now.

Nothing but calm rolled through me. Calm and an insane aware Abi's skin beneath my fingertips and the pads of her fingers grazing around my knuckles.

e really

hadn't

So no, I didn't rise to the bait. I also didn't shift away from Abi.

ast. For "How's your sister doing with you away?" Mona asked. She forward, her gaze avidly fixed on Abi. "Did you ask her about visiting"

"Not yet." She shook her head. "I'm going to wait until the first payment comes through and book the flight for her. Flights aren't che don't want her to be able to say no."

"Good idea. I didn't think about that." Mona nodded, sinkii
Shaun's side. Her eyes narrowed as she stared off into the corner. "I be
ne sofa
be relieved when it's all paid off."

I glanced between them, the dread eating a hole in my stomach.

all of what is paid off?"
d I just

Please don't say debt.

If I couldn't spot the money-hungry whores, how could I avoid the ression. Abi hesitated, her mouth opening and closing. My heart sank.

?" "My sister had cancer," she said, her voice cracking. She clea wife'sthroat while my brain scrambled to adjust. "She's in remission now, wracked up a pretty hefty medical bill getting treatment."

a glint "Did you know Abi worked three jobs trying to help her pay and why. Mona asked, the awe in her voice merging with the devious glint in he ek ago. as she studied me. "Honestly, you're so brave, taking on the show to hottle of You must have been terrified."

My eyes narrowed on Mona while my grasp on reality shifted.

ness of "I think Finn's got the point now, Sparky." Shaun laughed as he so circlesher hand. He shuffled forward on the sofa and for the first time desperately hoped that my best friend would leave. "You've hit Fine enough of a bomb, let's get a move on."

leaned They abandon us as fast as they appeared, leaving everything ?" down.

st show "You didn't tell me about your sister," I said, my tone soft... and n eap so Ilittle miffed.

Would I have treated her differently had I known?

ng into Possibly, but I couldn't say for certain.

et she'll "I didn't think..." She trailed off, chewing her lip.

"What?"

"When

She sighed. "We're having a good time, let's not ruin that with this I stilled, my gaze roaming her pale face. "Why would telling my your sister's cancer ruin this?"

m? "Fine," she muttered, her tone hardening. She pushed her shoulde and locked eyes with me, determination riding her. "I didn't think red her"

This close, I could make out the moment she braced for my n it off?"change. Her cheeks lifted and her lips flatlined. The sight of it drove a ler eyes into my heart.

elp her. Maybe I'd been wrong.

; *,,*

I couldn't get addicted to her because I already was.

I relaxed into the sofa, turning so my body angled toward her. "I queezedfair assessment. I might not have when we first met." My gaze droppe ever, Ilips which parted slightly on an almost inaudible gasp. "No one st in withsame though, *dotey*."

With the tip of my finger, I drew circles around the nape of her upsidegave myself permission to get lost in her eyes for the first time. M pounded as I considered how I could make it up to her. It would take a naybe abut there was one thing I could share, one thing that tore me open, ma as much as her sister's battle with cancer had her, but it felt like a p trade.

"That woman, Natalie," I paused, waiting for her to acknowled change in conversation. When she nodded, I blew out a breath and for words out. "We were together for five months. Not a huge amount of the grand scheme of things, but for the damage she did, it could have decades."

e about As the story spilt from me, I kept my gaze fixed on hers, absorbin wince, grimace and trickle of sympathy.

"I'd just won the first award of my career when I met her. We wer rs back c you'dbonfire rigged with explosives, burning up slowly and explodin thousand directions in a shower of debris when it ended." I toyed w ring, circling the emerald and dragging the straight edges along the par finger. "I didn't sense a shift. She went from being all over me to a nood to my calls and messages in the blink of an eye. I couldn't figure out w then my agent called..."

I thought I'd put it all behind me, but the shame rose, ramming i Abi squeezed my hand and her quiet support messed with my voice.

"She's the reason I don't trust people," I said, my voice gruff. "I That's a the time, she pushed me out of my comfort zone, ready with one d to her reasoning or another for why there'd be no consequences." I winced ays the memory of Charlie's scathing voice rang in my ears. "She worked m pro, urging me into incriminating positions and then she... then she so neck. I_{the tabloids."}

y heart "Oh Finn, I'm sorry," Abi whispered. Moisture shimmered in her ϵ a while, "She took advantage of me. Used me to orchestrate a huge payybe not herself." My face hardened. "And in the process, she convinced anyo would listen that I had forced her into half the shit. That I," I swa "manipulated her, hurt her. Didn't matter that she lied, didn't matter dge the thing she sold showed that she knew what she'd done."

ced the

"What did she sell?"

time in

"Doesn't matter." ze been

Christ, the idea of Abi *knowing* terrified me more than it should ha "It took years to rebuild and at some point, I stopped trying. I lear g every the playboy image the media had forced onto me." I shrugged. "Why

e like awhen everyone wanted something from me anyway? The studic g in awanted the cash my face would generate. The women wanted to but her they'd fucked me or try to take my money. The media wanted anothed of mymore eyes on their pathetic gossip rags."

voiding "So you shut everyone out," Abi whispered.

She watched me with more sympathy than I deserved. I'd perpetuation myth, fed it, rolled around in it until the real me couldn't be seen. Even nto me.I'd done since that moment had been a choice. I didn't deserve her syn

Most of

line of

l as the

e like a

old it to

yes.

day for

ne who

llowed,

that the

ve.

ıed into

bother,

when everyone wanted something from me anyway? The studio execs wanted the cash my face would generate. The women wanted to brag that they'd fucked me or try to take my money. The media wanted another story, more eyes on their pathetic gossip rags."

"So you shut everyone out," Abi whispered.

She watched me with more sympathy than I deserved. I'd perpetuated the myth, fed it, rolled around in it until the real me couldn't be seen. Everything I'd done since that moment had been a choice. I didn't deserve her sympathy.

CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO

ABI

e left the party early.

I sat next to Finn in the limo, my hand still locked with thigh pressed to mine. I'm not sure I could have let him go even if I't thought about it.

It felt natural.

And after he opened up to me, showing me the soft, scared man his facade, every defence I had against him crumbled.

That should have scared me, but I felt curiously hopeful.

And filled with a need that burned.

First, I wanted to jump his bones, but after that? Then I'd convir that not everyone wanted to use him. I didn't. If I could make him s maybe he'd never look at me with that gut-punching sadness again.

The limo pulled through the guard gate, making the ascent to the through the quiet, tree-lined streets.

I tugged on Finn's hand when the car stopped outside his front de

he didn't react. His sapphire gaze clashed with mine for the first tim we left the club. My breath caught at the intensity of his focus.

Something had changed between us. The walls he forced between dissolved somewhere between the club and his house.

Before I could react, the driver opened his door. Finn squeezed m and slid out of the car. He hovered outside, waiting for me.

He held his hand out to me when I cleared the car, clear experiments painting his expression. He didn't expect me to hesitate or refuse. If ago, he wouldn't have opened himself to the rejection.

I slid my hand into his and let him lead me into the house. He c 'thank you' to the driver but didn't turn around. He also didn't incre his, hispace, seeming content to take our time. Another shift.

"I'm absolutely knackered," Finn mumbled after he locked the do stay up but I think I'll fall asleep on you." His expression turned shee he silently apologised.

beneath "That's okay, I'm going to head to bed too."

We walked across the foyer, hand-in-hand still, nothing but the silence of the house surrounding us and the tap of my heels on the hard

When we reached my door, he turned me to face him. Muted mo ice himcast his face in shadows, but I could still make out the spark of hesitate that, his eyes.

"Thank you for tonight," he whispered, swallowing hard. "I houserunning after I told you about Natalie."

"I couldn't blame you for one woman's vindictive actions." I oor andrising a hand to rest on his jaw. "It wasn't your fault."

e since He nodded, but he didn't believe it, which saddened me. One convince him.

us had "Well, good night."

He leaned down pressing a kiss to my forehead. My stomach tw 1y handthe chaste move after our scorcher of a make-out session on the carpe I firmly shut the worry down. I couldn't coax him into giving us a real ectationif I didn't take risks.

A week Finn stepped away, trying to release my hand. I held on tight, with him.

called a "Wait, Finn. I..."

ease his "What do you need, *dotey*?"

A shiver ran down my spine as that word tripped off his tongue. or. "I'd he wanted me.

epish as

So ask.

"Will you stay with me tonight?"

"Okay," he whispered, his voice hoarse.

ne dark

lwood. Words froze on my lips. I scanned his face, both surprised and elat

onlight Smiling, I led him into my room, nerves babbling away in my ston ation in the while. I couldn't look at him while he stripped and turned my back out a pair of pyjamas and unhook my dress.

For not The whoosh of the fabric sliding off me screamed in the silence catch of breath in his throat shot through the room, ringing in my ears.

smiled, I tugged the oversized t-shirt over my head, smirking to myse dropped the leggings back into the drawer.

Slowly, I made my way to my bed. Finn already lay beneath the

lay, I'dfacing me. His gaze roamed my body with the help of the moonlight through the open curtains. The cool air burned against my bare skir touch.

isted at I lifted the covers, sliding under to lie facing him. A couple of et. Then separated our bodies and nerves began to own me.

chance Calm the hell down.

I hadn't been nervous about sleeping with a guy since I lost my vi movingWhy the hell should this time be different?

Finn's fingers grazed across my cheek and goose bumps prickled my skin. From an innocent caress.

Fuck.

I knew He leaned forward, brushing his lips against mine in a swee completely at odds with our unstable beginnings. I kissed him ratcheting up the pressure and coaxing him into giving me the den guy I'd glimpsed in Bora Bora.

His fingers delved into my hair as he shuffled closer. As his invaded my mouth to tease mine, his solid chest pressed agair ed. engulfing me in the best kind of heat.

rach all Finn broke contact and I moaned. He leaned away, smirking we to pull studied me.

"Not going to fall asleep on me this time, are you?"

ce. The "Definitely not." I shook my head, then grinned. "Are you?"

"Nope, you've woken me right up," he whispered, lowering his head of the grazed his lips along my jaw, then mercifully returned his mine. Our hands wandered, learning every divot and crease. His fing covers,

shininglightly down my torso while mine mapped the lines of his back and sid

like a Finn made circles against my hip, the gesture so soft it focused al attention, anticipating the next brush.

inches "Open for me, Abi," he whispered against my lips. He tapped I pushing a little to force me onto my back before his hand red skimming across my stomach.

rginity. I rolled onto my back and Finn followed, closing the gap betwoed bodies. Wasting no time, his fingertips danced down my outer thigh. No lacross ached with pulsing need and my hips shifted restlessly.

He scattered kisses across my jaw and down my neck, swirling his and scraping his teeth until I wasn't sure which torture affected me mot fingers continued to tease, running up the inside of my thigh and standard short of where I desperately needed him.

nanding "Finn," I groaned. My hips lifted, chasing his retreating touch, de to urge him on.

tongue "Yes, Abi?" he asked, his voice gravelly but filled with laughter.

ist me, "Stop. Torturing. Me."

He smiled, his lips curling against my collarbone.

'hile he "Are you sure that's what you want?"

"Definitely."

His touch shifted, running light circles around the lips of my sex, touching but setting off pulses of pleasure all the same.

ad. "Better?"

lips to "Finn," I growled.

ers slid "So needy." He chuckled.

le. "Stop teas— Oh!"

l of my He dragged two fingers through my folds, circling my clit with a determination that made my head swim. Leaning up on his elb ny hip, watched me as he drove me out of my mind with nothing more th irected, digits.

When I came, a smug smirk claimed his lips, only this time, I didr $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face. Floating in bliss, I decided it looked $_{2en\ our}$ the urge to slap it off his face.

"Going to let me take all the time I want in the future, aren't you, I tongueHe slammed his lips down on mine, stealing my breath for a second be Dre. His started moving down my body. "You're going to trust that I know wh topping body needs, aren't you?"

The way he said it, sugary sweet, but coated in no-argument steel. *sperate*heat flooded me and my core clenched, desperate for round two.

"Yes," I hissed on a breathy sigh.

He worked his way down to the bed, nipping, kissing, licking... s He latched on to a nipple, bathing the taut nub in the warmth of his My breasts had never been particularly sensitive, but with all of attention fixated on them, I didn't stand a chance.

He hovered above me, the hard tip of his erection grazing agai core, tantalisingly close. While Finn drove me out of my mind, roll, barely nipple between his fingers and lips, I rocked my hips up, pressing firmly against him. His tip dragged through my soaking folds, sk against my clit and making my eyes roll back at the tiny flutter of pleas

"Patience, Abi," Finn growled. He pulled away, sitting back hunches. "If you want my cock, you need to be a good girl." He grip length, pumping his hand up and down, captivating me. With his smou focused gaze taking me in, he smiled and released himself.

ow, he He reached into the bedside table, his gaze never leaving mine we can twofelt around inside the drawer. While he retrieved a condom, I propped up with my elbows as I watched him with bated breath.

"To you have any idea how much you've messed with my head good onasked as he rolled the condom on, slow and torturous, winding much as he did himself. "I was meant to hate you."

Dotey?" His sapphire eyes darkened and cleared in the blink of an eye. I fore hecurled, smug and knowing, making me want to wrap my hand around yournape and drag him back down to me.

"But how could I resist you when you look at me like that?" He ..liquidforward, leaning over me again, holding himself up with his foreatither side of my shoulders. Minuscule inches separated our bodies, te close. He ghosted his fingers across my jaw, smoothing a thumb acr lower lips. "Such sweet, innocent trust. It's bloody addictive."

mouth. My stomach flipped while my heart took a lap of victory. *Finn Mc*Finn's thinks I'm addictive. It filled me with a strong sense of control. Feeling

I darted my tongue out, swirling it around his thumb. His eyes darkene and this time, I wanted them to stay that way.

ing my "You're my good girl, aren't you, Abi?" he whispered, dragging myself^{along} my jaw to my lips.

ittering I nodded and he tutted.

"Say it." His cock pressed against my pussy, achingly close.

on his I studied his hard, watchful face, chewing my lip. It seemed I ped his endless list of firsts for Finn to claim. My cheeks burned at the tho

lderingsaying something like that to him. Yet, as foreign as it was, more clenched.

while he "Abi," he whispered, a warning in his hoarse voice. He rocked myselfme, teasing us both and making my body shake with need.

"Yes. I'm your good girl."

?" Finn His sapphire eyes lit up and his expression softened. I had a see a up astake in the sheer beauty of him, the unbelievable fact I had all of his a focused on me and me alone.

His lips Then he pushed forward, filling me inch by inch and my ability t und his straight evaporated. Within seconds, he reduced me to nothing mo moans, groans and whimpers. His measured, slow thrusts stretch shiftedbrushing against all the best places.

At some point, he pinned my arms above my head, gripping my asingly with one hand. Something about the action wound my body tighter, oss mymy back as shivers of pleasure danced up my spine.

"Fuck, don't..." Finn trialled off with a breathless sigh as n carthyclenched around him.

His fingers dragged down my thigh, a soft caress against feverise dagain. Then he hooked my knee and tugged it up. He pressed it into the me forcing me wider. At the first stroke, my eyes fell shut, soaking in the his lips numbing fizzle of pleasure winding me tighter and tighter.

Finn picked up speed, pounding into me, grinding against my ceach thrust. My toes curled into the mattress and my fingers hun something, anything to hold on to. He released my wrists and wear had an fingers together, filling my chest with the warmest sensation.

ught of "Eyes on me, Abi," he ground out, his breathing laboured.

ly core I forced my heavy lids to lift, meeting his intense sapphire gaze.

"Good girl," he muttered as the pressure spiralled, tightening against didn't matter how hot those two words made me.

The coil snapped and my muscles locked up, squeezing tight as light shot up my spine and consumed everything. Finn swore as he came, locked tohis face in my neck, sucking in deep shaky breaths.

on my hands and knee, caressing my face, hair and arms with soft to think that heated my blood for an entirely different reason.

re than In the silence of my room, shadowed in the soft glow of moonligl ed me,his body cradling mine, I felt loved. The words rushed to the tip tongue.

wrists I bit them back and relaxed into the mattress.

iy core

sh skin.

lattress,

e mind-

lit with

ited for

ved our

I forced my heavy lids to lift, meeting his intense sapphire gaze.

"Good girl," he muttered as the pressure spiralled, tightening until it didn't matter how hot those two words made me.

The coil snapped and my muscles locked up, squeezing tight as lightning shot up my spine and consumed everything. Finn swore as he came, burying his face in my neck, sucking in deep shaky breaths.

Minutes ticked by as we came down from the high. He released his grip on my hands and knee, caressing my face, hair and arms with soft touches that heated my blood for an entirely different reason.

In the silence of my room, shadowed in the soft glow of moonlight, with his body cradling mine, I felt loved. The words rushed to the tip of my tongue.

I bit them back and relaxed into the mattress.

CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE

ABI

woke to the press of Finn's chest against my back and sigh smoothed circles on my hip, rising goosebumps and awaker insatiable need for more.

"How are you feeling?" Finn asked, his voice groggy behind me.

"A little sore, but otherwise great." I turned over, sighing happily delicious ache in my body. I dragged a finger down his chest, scr slightly with the nail. I bit my lip for a second before shoving the he away. "How about you? Still happy with your choices?"

He cupped my jaw, a soft smile brightening his eyes.

"Not a single regret." Finn pressed a chaste kiss to my lips.

I recoiled.

"Maybe I should be asking you that question." He chuckle scrambled out of bed.

"Sorry, I just have a thing about morning breath." I raced towa bathroom. "Go brush your teeth and we'll try this again."

His laughter followed me. I rushed through brushing my teeth, s_j water over my face and jumped back into bed.

I lay there, grinning like a loon at the ceiling. Of all the ways I'd exyesterday to end, that wasn't it. A giddy feeling of triumph trickled to me.

My bedroom door shot open. Finn laughed again as he wal carrying a tray.

"That was quite the shriek, *Dotey*." He grinned as he approached t "I'm not that scary, am I?"

He placed the tray between us and lay down next to me. I slapp led. He lightly on the arm, my heart still racing.

"You scared me."

"I couldn't get the handle." Mirth danced in his eyes. "Sorry."

y at the I didn't believe him.

"atching "Can I bribe your forgiveness with waffles?" he asked, a sly look ϵ sitationhis eyes.

He knew full well he could. I'd made no secret of my love for wa Bora Bora.

My brows climbed as he tugged the tray closer. A pile of syrup waffles sat on a plate.

d as I "How did you make those so fast?"

He'd only been gone for ten minutes at most.

rds my "I might have put an order in with my chef last week. He left then fridge for us last night." He scratched his scruff-covered jaw, the lightly blushes colouring his cheeks. "I remembered you saying you loved the

plashedI wanted to help you feel comfortable. This was all I could come up wi "Rewind." I circled my fingers. "You have a chef? No wondownectedkitchen is spotless."

I caught his chin, turning his focus back to me to study him. Funny ked in, went weeks accepting his controlled mask of emotions and now I c shake the fascination every time he let me see the real him.

he bed. Finn stared back at me, patiently waiting for my next move.

"You're not even slightly comfortable with showing off wealth, are hed him He shook his head, a small smile curling his lips. He seemed... I But with me or the question?

"I grew up in an Irish Catholic family. Having money is like sin."

"Is that why you donated as much as you did?"

His mouth opened and then his gaze sharpened on me. "I don't knownteringwhispered, his tone mildly freaked. "Shit. Maybe." Guilt flashed acu face. "Christ, that sounds terrible."

"Why? The charity doesn't care why you did it." I shrugged. "All care about is how it'll help people. It's not like you announced it to the -coatedand made a big deal out of it."

Although, he probably hadn't because of his Catholic guilt. Oops.

"You're right." The concern faded from his blue eyes and he grime. "Thank you."

n in the "For what?"

htest of "Take your pick." He lifted a shoulder, his gaze glued to me. "em andsense into me. Not caring about the money. Not pushing me when

ith." ready to talk about something."

er your "You don't need to thank me for that, Finn." I shifted onto my kn pressed a quick kiss to his lips. He chased me as I pulled away, elic further. giggle. "It's what you do for the people you..." I swallowed, halting ', how I before 'love' could traipse off my tongue. Far too early for that kind 'ouldn't "Marry. It's what you do for the people you like."

He scanned my face, scrutinising the blush working its way up n and the panicked flare of my eyes.

I can't believe I nearly let that slip out.

"If I can't thank you, what can I do?" His expression morphed in of an eye.

The calculating gleam faded, replaced by a mischievous int couldn't look away from. His voice dropped, dragging over sensitive endings, reminding me of all the ways he'd made me scream his na Dw," he night. He pushed the tray away and pressed a hand to my shoulder.

"Or shall I surprise you and we can compare notes later?"

My core clenched as he shifted towards me. He pushed me back they'll onto the bed, tugging the covers out of the way until he straddled me world my hands gathered in his, he pressed them to the pillow above me flared in his eyes and a wicked smile curled his lips.

"Definitely need to tie you up sometime," he muttered under his br nned at

Then he kissed me and I forgot about everything else. I focused press of him against me, the heat of him hovering over me, the comm sweep of his lips and the tight pressure of his hands around my wrists.

Falking Fuck, I could get addicted to him. I'm not

ees and omehow, the waffles escaped destruction. We moved into the before I dared try one.

myself They were the fluffiest, softest, most delicious things I'd ever eate of talk.bite turned into a religious experience, coaxing moans from me.

"If you keep that up, I'm going to fuck you on the breakfast bar 1y neckwarned, his voice low and deadly serious.

He stared at me from the other side of the counter, a cup of coffee to his chin. His smouldering gaze devoured me.

a blink I should have been sated. The thought of more sex should have sex running for the hills. Instead, my clit throbbed and the need we'd terest I intensified. How we'd resist each other until now, I had no clue.

e nerve It took effort to swallow the waffle in my mouth without choking.

me last "Put it on the to-do list," I said, my voice thick with want.

His jaw slackened.

"I want to be all in, give our marriage a real shot. What do you we know down willed myself not to chew my lip while I anxiously waited for Finn to a e. With Thoughts danced across his face, I couldn't read any of them. Damn ace. Heat "I want to try too," he said, his voice hoarse.

"Terrifying, isn't it?" I flashed a sympathetic smile. "Opening you to another person." At his nod, I pushed the waffles aside. "Come over on the

He tilted his head for a second, trying to work me out. When he standing in front of me, open curiosity shone in his eyes. I glided my hands chest, trying to soothe any doubts.

"We can pretend we aren't married, if that makes it better." The id

put a lump in my throat, but I could get on board if he needed it. "Tak kitchenof the pressure off and just be a normal couple getting to know each ot

He shook his head. "No. I don't want that." His hand captured n. Eachplaying with the rock on my finger. "As bizarre as it seems, I've gotte to our weird beginnings. I don't want to brush it under a rug."

"," Finn My heart swelled as I stared into his eyes. Oh yeah, I needed to be if I didn't want to fall head over heels for him.

pressed "Okay, so we're doing this. A real relationship." I couldn't stop from repeating it, the words wouldn't sink in.

sent me "A real relationship," he repeated, grinning at me. Then his expectated to the mischievous one that set my heart racing and lique flooding through my core. He leaned forward. "Starting with me eation out on the breakfast bar."

I clenched as heat spiralled through me. *Fuck*. The mouth on needed more.

My fingers gripped his t-shirt, tugging him forward. His lips sl down on mine, coaxing groans from me in less than five seconds. Los pressure of his kiss, I missed him picking me up. Only the cold prarble against my bare legs clued me in.

I gasped and he swallowed it. He forced my thighs wide open, reself up between them and closing the distance between our bodies and tugging there." the edge of the counter. My core pressed against his taut stomach we stopped fingers danced down my thighs. He teased me with light caresses up his mouth devoured me.

Finn's hand slipped beneath my panties, grazing my slit. I g lea of itbowing my back to give him better access. He swiped a finger throu

te somefolds, gliding through the wetness with ease.

her." It felt like seconds passed, but already the pressure built. He circ 1 mine, clit, applying delicious pressure that made my eyes roll back and r en used curl. When his fingers retreated, I whimpered.

"Do that again, Finn," I groaned. "Fuck, please, do that again."

careful Then the doorbell rang.

"I'm going to fucking kill whoever that is." He pulled away, so myself"Don't move. I'll get rid of them."

He stomped into the foyer. I heard the front door open and then pression voice hardened. I couldn't make out the words, but he'd definitely got id heat annoyed to furious.

My chair sat two feet away. Finn had kicked it out of his way to me. My feet dangled miles off the ground. With my ankle still he him. Ididn't want to have to jump, but I couldn't exactly stay put while Fin meltdown at the front door. Who knew what horrors waited out there?

ammed Voices grew closer and then Finn emerged, his face shut down it in the trademark clean slate. It flickered when he spotted me, panic flickering

"We can set up in the living room if you'd prefer, Finn?" Tylei shifting from down the hall.

me to
My stomach hit the ground. No way in hell could he find me like his did not want to be on TV wearing nothing but an oversized t-shirt.

as his

Fuck it. I'd jump. Screw the sting.

ress of before he rushed towards me.

I shuffled towards the edge of the counter, pressed my palms to to roaned, edges. Finn caught me, his arms wrapping around me while his gaze agh my

into mine. It could have been my imagination, but I could have sw :led m_V eyes screamed at me to be quiet.

ny toes I glanced at the hallway, expecting Tyler to appear at any moment. didn't. Neither did the crew. Rather than question my good luck, I w my legs around Finn's waist and zipped my lips. He carried me bedroom door on swift feet, setting me down and gently shoving me room.

owling.

Finn's

"Shower, take your time," Finn whispered. "I'll keep him busy."

With that, he turned away, a grim twist to his lips.

ne from I shut the door and took a second... to catch my breath and mo loss of what would have been the hottest head I'd ever experienced.

get to Damn tv crew.

aling, I

n had a

ı in his

3 across

1 called

e this. I

he hard

e bored

into mine. It could have been my imagination, but I could have sworn his eyes screamed at me to be quiet.

I glanced at the hallway, expecting Tyler to appear at any moment. But he didn't. Neither did the crew. Rather than question my good luck, I wrapped my legs around Finn's waist and zipped my lips. He carried me to my bedroom door on swift feet, setting me down and gently shoving me into the room.

"Shower, take your time," Finn whispered. "I'll keep him busy."

With that, he turned away, a grim twist to his lips.

I shut the door and took a second... to catch my breath and mourn the loss of what would have been the hottest head I'd ever experienced.

Damn tv crew.

CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR

FINN

"Couldn't help but notice your family weren't at the wedding. walked into the kitchen, a smug smile plastered to his face.

"It was a bit far for a farce wedding." I crossed my arms and star down.

The crew set up around us, adding LED lights on stands here and Overkill, considering the entire back wall consisted of wall-to-windows.

"So." Tyler clapped his hands. "Where's Abi?"

I scrambled for an excuse. Call with her sister, shower, sl Thankfully, she appeared before I settled on anything plausible.

"Right here," Abi said. She turned the corner, her eyes casting acı setup, and joined me at the breakfast bar. "What are we up to today?"

Tyler frowned at her hair. She'd thrown it up into a messy bun, s the auburn strands escaped the hold and cascaded around her face. I she looked gorgeous, especially with the morning sun setting her paglow. Tyler evidently disagreed.

"What did you do to your hair?"

I fought every muscle in my body to prevent it from stiffening, my mouth shut. Abi and I might now be on good terms but that didn't wanted the show to catch the real me. Any more than they had anyway

"You didn't exactly warn us of your plans." Abi smirked at him, en his annoyance. "Washing my hair is a luxury you didn't afford me. I take an hour showering and styling it if you'd prefer?"

Watching her sass Tyler, I couldn't say why I ever believed we w fit together.

" Tyler

He grumbled to himself but dropped it. Shame.

"Go ahead and mic them up." He nodded to the crew.

"No need to be cryptic, Tyler." Abi held her arms out while Ian her radio mic on, her expression much gentler than mine. "Just tell us happening."

-ceiling "All in good time." He turned away, surveying the room, tha expression returning.

"Christ, you're annoying," I muttered.

eeping. "Is that why you didn't tell us about the film premiere?" For a seccessmarmy calm facade cracked and he glared at me. "You knew we'd capture Abi's first red carpet."

So that's what's got his panties in a twist.

ome of "There were fifty cameras." I shrugged. "I'm sure you could sou thought footage."

ale skin "That's not the point," Tyler ground out through a clenched jaw.

"No, you just wanted me to mess with my friend's premiere so yo

go right back to manipulating us." I grinned, enjoying his annoyance to keep know the rules, Tyler. You're on *my* schedule now."

mean I He spun away, grumbling under his breath. I wasn't fooled, he'c way to pay me back.

njoying Once we were fully mic'ed up and Ian had his camera pointec can goTyler's grin returned, growing until it set me on edge. *Maybe the pa already coming*. I watched him like a hawk as he pressed his phone to ouldn't never taking his eyes off me.

"Send them in, Ethan."

Four simple innocent words and yet my stomach churned.

"Send who in?"

clipped The front door opened and he turned, his arms open in welcome.

what's "Fiona, Saoirse, welcome." Tyler stepped out of the way, give camera trailing my smiling smirking mother and sister a clear birth.

t smug If not for my training, my jaw would have hit the floor. Ty surprised me. My mother, to her credit, didn't look pissed. Her pale, f face bore nothing but excitement, not a red tinge of annoyance in sight ond, the mercies.

want to "Finn McCarthy! Don't just stand there gawking." My mother towards me, her arms open and a stern gleam in her blue eyes. "Get ov and hug your Ma."

my sister snorted as I followed her orders, old habits quickly falli place. I barely stopped my eyes from narrowing at her.

Arms wrapped around me, squeezing tight. "You got married telling me?" Ma asked, her voice deathly low. "You'd better have u could

2. "Youbloody reason, child-o-mine."

Then she released me, brushing me aside to engulf Abi in a hull find asqueaked in surprise but sensibly didn't resist. Caught in the wrong my mother liked to do the opposite of what people wanted. The wind at us. always knew how to get a rise out of me.

yback's So can Saoirse.

his ear, I eyed my sister from the corner of my eye, awaiting her reaction from the twenty-five-year age gap, Saoirse and my mother were al mirror image. Both had short, raven hair flowing down their backs, pa and piercing blue eyes.

Even as she hugged me, I moved with suspicion. I studied her fr corner of my eye, waiting for her happy smile to snap. My sister and I perfectly well, but I'd know she would be the wild card when I chose the tell them about the show.

"You robbed me of a Grecian bridesmaid's dress, Finn," she murn ler had my ear, her voice low and hissing. She pulled back, her eyes narrov reckled me. "Grecian!"

:. Small

"I got married without telling you, and you're pissed about a drasked as she released me, my voice climbing with shock. "Christ. " walked how you really feel."

ver here

"You're my only brother." Saoirse's hands landed on her hips.

"Still doesn't explain the outrage over a bleeding dress."

Saoirse tutted. "Of course, you wouldn't get it." Her gaze settled "I bet Abi would get it." without

a good Saoirse had always had a penchant for the dramatics. "How the he

the actor in this family?" I muttered to myself as I tugged at my hair.

ig. She *I'll kill Tyler. And then Charlie for putting me in this shitty position* mood, "Now, don't read anything into his secrecy, Abi." Ma mostly r -up sodAbi, holding her away by her shoulders. She grinned from ear to enever did learn from every other one blowing up in his face."

Abi smiled at me, her eyes far too wide. That distracted me fr . Asidedownward spiral of the day. My wife, scared of my mother. Someholmost afit. I bit down hard on the grin tugging at my lips.

alle skin "Stop overwhelming her, Ma." I swept in, brushing my mother's away and tucking Abi beneath my arm. "Give her a minute to catch rom theglanced towards the empty foyer, finally seeing what I missed when the I got onwalked in. "Da didn't come with you?"

e not to "I'll make tea," Abi whispered. She pulled from my grip and "Tea's right, isn't it?"

She glanced up at me, worrying her lip. I squashed down the urge ving onit with the caress of my tongue. Even if she did look adorable uncertainty.

ress?" I "Yes, love. Tea would be brilliant," my mother said before I co rell memore than smile at her.

Then she latched onto the subject change, just as I knew she w guided her and my sister to the sofa while Abi pulled tea bags fr cupboard and set the kettle to boiling.

on Abi. "Your Da couldn't get off work." Ma sat, her gaze sweeping o modern open and airy room like she'd never seen it before. She had. ell am Ispent every single Christmas with me here since I bought it.

"He's what?" I asked, caught by surprise. I scowled. "Why ha retired? I thought we agreed—"

eleased "I tried, love. You know how stubborn he is." Her head tilted ar. "Hestudied me. "Where do you think you got it from?" Abi snorted in the and my mother grinned. "Looks like your wife knows what I'm om the about."

ow that Saoirse chuckled. "Of course, she does." She shifted on the sofa, so she could watch Abi moving around the kitchen with uncertainty hands long did it take Finn to kiss you, Abi?"

1 up." I She stiffened, her hand hovering over the wheezing kettle.

iey first "I kissed her within half an hour of meeting her."

"Other than the required marriage kiss?" Saoirse's brows rose. paused.wasn't for days."

Only the buzz of lights drifted around us, as Abi and I stared at each to freelike deer caught in headlights.

in her "That's exactly what I thought." Saoirse frowned at me, the judgement arriving right on cue.

ould do "Oh, let's hear it." Resignation dripped from my voice. I leane against the cushions, rubbing a hand across my face.

The shuffle of movement drew my attention to the watching cr om the worked so hard at keeping the real me from the show, but how continue that with my family? They'd call me on my shit if I hid be ver the facade.

They'd Tyler watched me, not even bothering to smother his smug smirk.

"What? I'm just saying I'm not surprised." She shrugged, brush

imagine all of this,"—she gestured at Ian, holding a camera within factor as she of us— "is enjoyable for you."

kitchen Thankfully, Abi saved me from having to justify my caution v talkingcame to women. She held a box of tea bags in her hands, her eyes na on the tiny instructions.

turning "See this right here," I said as I stood, gesturing at myself and . "Howpointed eye contact with my wind-up sister. "This is me being husband. Can we move on?"

Saoirse grinned at me and nodded. I rescued the tea bags from Abi
With tea made, we both settled on the sofa, braced for my mother
"Bet it of many volleys. She smiled at us, her gaze softening for all of a set
Abi settled against my side.

"Now Finn, how's about you tell us why you kept Abi a secret assessed Abi, her eyes shining with approval. "She's lovely."

sisterly How many times... *Remember there are cameras.* I bit back a grant frustration.

ed back "I didn't keep Abi a secret." I forced my voice to assume perfectly content tones. No expiration here. "I kept the show a secret."

ew. I'd Saoirse's brows rose. "Aren't the two mutually inclusive?"

could I "Unfortunately," I grumbled.

ehind a "He tried to keep defined lines." Abi patted my knee, grinning up and making my chest ache. I'd ignore the mischief in her eyes. "Bu out, he's not great with lines." She chuckled and my sister joined in.

ing her "Oh, I can imagine." Saoirse leaned forward, resting her elbows

- . Can'tthighs. "Tell us about Finn's avoidance tactics. We could compare notive feet "No need for any of that right now." My eyes narrowed on Saoirs I frantically searched for a way to change the subject.
- when it "Yes, let's leave that alone." Ma sipped her tea, her gaze fixed "rrowed over the rim. "Finn's finally come to his senses and given his heat woman. We shouldn't question it too much, Saoirse. He might use u making excuse to change his mind."
- a good Saoirse grunted in agreement, picking up her own cup. My mouth to deny them, but then I caught the glint in Ma's eyes and shut it a would not get sucked into leading questions.
- r's next "Just so we're clear, though." Saoirse held her cup to her lips, he cond astilting as she considered me. "You didn't invite us to the wedding becthe show?"
- et." Ma "Yes." My hand unintentionally gripped Abi's. I squeezed hers, she'd believe that my feelings had changed.
- rowl of "So, I get to be involved with a second wedding?" Saoirse lowe teacup, her face lighting up. "Like really involved? Bridesmaid, bache natural, and wedding planning involved?"
 - I stiffened, my grip on Abi's hand reaching painful. "Let's not ge of ourselves."
- "I agree with Finn," Abi said. She smiled up at me but wigg p at me fingers. I loosened my grip before they could turn blue from lat turns circulation. "We've only just moved in together. We've still got ages show. Best not jinx anything."
- on her "Agreed," Ma said, placing her teacup on the coffee table. "And n we've got that all cleared up, why don't we skip to the part you

es." you'd escaped?" She pulled her handbag onto her lap, patting it e whilegrinned at me.

"Sweet Jesus woman, tell me you don't have what I think you have on me Tardis handbag?"

art to a "I know you weren't planning to rob me of my right as your mous as anembarrass you, Finn McCarthy." Ma popped the clasp and started into the contents. "I raised you right, boy."

opened "Abi doesn't want to see pictures, Ma."

again. I "Of course, she does. Besides, it's a rite of passage." She smirked patted the sofa cushion next to her. "Come sit next to me, dear. Better er headto see all the embarrassing pictures of Finn as a boy."

ause of Abi stood, and my gaze caught on Tyler, his entire face lit to laughter at my expense. He'd probably talked my mother into bringing hopingpictures with her.

"Before we dive into these." Abi tapped the huge photo album in red the "Can I ask you a question?"

elorette, "Of course, dear." My mother shuffled around to face her, a delight plastered across her face. "We're an open book for you."

t ahead "Yes, we are." Saoirse leaned around mother, grinning as her gaze to me. "Especially when Finn tenses up like that."

led her I released the tight clench of my fists as Ma chuckled.

"Go ahead. What do you want to know?" Ma patted Abi's arm.

"What does dotey mean?"

"It depends on the context," Ma said. Her eyes flicked between ow that head tilting as suspicions danced across her face. My mother was no fo

as shemight stall but she knew the context.

"It means adorable," Saoirse chimed in. Amusement lit up her face e in thatwatched me fight to keep my mouth shut. "Has my brother been usin you?"

other to "Yes. He didn't want to tell me what it meant." Her lips pursed wl diggingstudied me. "He said it meant short."

"That's one definition." Ma smiled before she flicked the photo open. "I'm pretty sure he means adorable though. His Da gave las shenickname after we met." She ducked her head, leaning close to At for youmarried two months later. You might have skipped the courting, but you're right on track for the speed McCarthy men move at."

ip with "Ma!"

ig baby "What?" she cried. Her eyes widened with faux innocence. "Both uncles married their girlfriends within six months of meeting them the her lap.don't even let me start on your Granda."

I scrubbed a hand across my face, barely restraining a grabsolute frustration. Time to prepare for this meeting would have been nice, be then, I'm not sure I would have escaped unscathed.

flicked "Abi doesn't need to hear about that."

"Is that so?" Ma's brows rose. "I'd think *Abi* would like to kn situation isn't that bizarre in our family, and I'm sure *Abi* can sp herself." Ma squeezed her arm, smiling at my smirking wife. "Shall v at some photos and watch Finn squirm?"

Abi eagerly agreed and I spent the next hour eying the three of the us, her growing trepidation. *Good thing I got my shit together and decided* pol. She *Abi*.

My enabler wife made all the right noises as my mother flicked the asshephoto after photo. Even Saoirse's face turned red as she got cauging it on couple.

By the end of it, I could say one thing for certain. My mother had hile she head over heels in love with Abi. If we didn't survive the show, I'd hear the end of it from my family.

album Touche, asshole. Touche.

me the Time flew by, and before I knew it, my mother and sister were l pi. "WeThey gathered their handbags, muttering promises from Abi to cal I'd saywhenever she needed a sympathetic ear — I took offence to that one she'd stay with them the next time I went home to Belfast.

"Where are you staying?" I asked as I led them to the door.

of your "We're flying out today, love."

oo, and I stopped in my tracks, turning to face my mother with confused pumping through my veins.

owl of "Tell me you didn't fly across an entire ocean just for this bloody ut even I stared at my mother, fury quietly licking up my spine when she only

"You have got to be kidding me." I turned the full brunt of my ire or "You forced them to travel for more than half the day for three h ow herfootage? What kind of twisted bastard are you?"

eak for "It's okay, Finn." Ma caught my wrist, turning me away from Tyle we lookwanted to meet Abi, and we're glad we came. Right, Saoirse?" She my sister's shoulder, her stern expression urging her to agree.

em with My sister grimaced instead. "I mean, a video call would have su to keepShe shrugged. "I could have made you a slideshow of embarrassin photos and not had to leave my flat."

through Ma shook her head at Saoirse, tutting. "Well, it wouldn't hav ht in aenough for me."

"You could stay," Abi said, weaving her fingers through mine.

d fallen I met her gaze and read the tight press of fingers for the restraid never truly were. So maybe my wife could read me better than I thoug shrewd blue eyes begged me not to throttle Tyler as I desperately itche

"Unless you have plans," she added, never breaking eye contact wi eaving. "Unfortunately, we do." Ma edged towards the door, snaggi ll them attention. "You remember Enid, right? Her baby shower's tomorrow — that need to be home for it."

I frowned, searching the recesses of my mind for anyone called En "She's your cousin's sister-in-law." Ma's brows furrowed. "She the summer BBQ. Don't you remember?"

l horror Couldn't say I did, but that wasn't the point.

"You'd rather get on back-to-back flights for a stranger's baby show." than spend a week with the daughter-in-law you claim to already love? smiled.

Saoirse chuckled and Ma scowled at us both.

1 Tyler.
ours of "That's not what I'm saying at all."

"You kind of are," Saoirse said, amusement making her Irish acc ${\rm er.}$ "We further.

nudged "Christ, there's no reasoning with the pair of you when you're lik
Ma dragged a hand through her hair. "Call us on Sunday, Finn, or nex
fficed." get on a plane, I'll stay for my full visa allowance and drive you insand
My jaw slackened as she flung the front door open. She couldn't p
mean...

'e been "And drop that terrible tan," she shouted over her shoulder. "You'ı Look it."

She left us gaping after her. Saoirse stepped in, throwing her arms nt they^{me}.

ht. Her "You should be impressed," she whispered in my ear. "Ma's adal d too. the Hollywood lifestyle better than you are. Swanning across the hought."

ing my One way of putting it.

and we Saoirse released me, grinning as she turned to Abi. "And you, number from this one, and text me. We can start planning you id. renewal." She clapped her hands together, glancing between us. "The with you two is clearly going to be around for a long time.

With those shiver-inducing words, she rushed after Ma. If I hadn camera fixed to me, I would have slumped against the wall and hugg to me. The pair of them always could sweep in fast, all smiles, an shower chaotic wreckage in their wake.

I studied Abi, trying to be subtle about it. I couldn't see any si they'd scared her further than the fear of wanting family approval.

After last night, I couldn't deny it anymore. I wanted her to stay. I cent lilther as much as I needed my next breath.

te this."
t time I

ossibly

"And drop that terrible tan," she shouted over her shoulder. "You're Irish. Look it."

She left us gaping after her. Saoirse stepped in, throwing her arms around me.

"You should be impressed," she whispered in my ear. "Ma's adapting to the Hollywood lifestyle better than you are. Swanning across the pond without a thought."

One way of putting it.

Saoirse released me, grinning as she turned to Abi. "And you, get my number from this one, and text me. We can start planning your vow renewal." She clapped her hands together, glancing between us. "This thing with you two is clearly going to be around for a long time.

With those shiver-inducing words, she rushed after Ma. If I hadn't had a camera fixed to me, I would have slumped against the wall and hugged Abi to me. The pair of them always could sweep in fast, all smiles, and leave chaotic wreckage in their wake.

I studied Abi, trying to be subtle about it. I couldn't see any sign that they'd scared her further than the fear of wanting family approval.

After last night, I couldn't deny it anymore. I wanted her to stay. I needed her as much as I needed my next breath.

INTERVIEW IX

Question: Did you enjoy meeting Finn's family?

Abi: It was a pleasant surprise.

Tyler, producer: You can be more specific than that.

Abi: Fine. Fiona made me feel like a part of the family and... I didn't how much I'd missed that. Of course, I have Eva and Ros. They've be only family for years and they're always there when I need them. But I just something about having a mother pushing you, teasing you... lovin I missed it.

Tyler, producer: Does it make you feel hopeful for things to come? A the show?

Abi: I think it's still early days to make plans for after the show. Finn need to settle into daily life. We need to figure out how we fit together weird world of fame... but yes, knowing his mother likes me, it feels lift of the battle has already been won and I'm... cautiously optimistic.

Tyler, producer: Perfect.

INTERVIEW IX

Question: Did you enjoy meeting Finn's family?

Abi: It was a pleasant surprise.

Tyler, producer: You can be more specific than that.

Abi: Fine. Fiona made me feel like a part of the family and... I didn't realise how much I'd missed that. Of course, I have Eva and Ros. They've been my only family for years and they're always there when I need them. But there's just something about having a mother pushing you, teasing you... loving you. I missed it.

Tyler, producer: Does it make you feel hopeful for things to come? After the show?

Abi: I think it's still early days to make plans for after the show. Finn and I need to settle into daily life. We need to figure out how we fit together in this weird world of fame... but yes, knowing his mother likes me, it feels like part of the battle has already been won and I'm... cautiously optimistic.

Tyler, producer: Perfect.

CHAPTER TWENTY-FIVE

ABI

yler and his crew cleared out soon after Finn's family. I kept grip on Finn's hand while Tyler waltzed away, a smug glean eyes. When the door closed on him, we both relaxed.

One glance at the other and we both chuckled. Finn collapsed o sofa, sagging into the cushions.

"Not how I expected the morning to go," Finn groaned into his han

"I had other ideas too." I joined him on the sofa, fitting myself i side, hooking a leg over his.

He wrapped an arm around me, pulling me closer, smoothing his hand down my bare arm. I pressed my face into his chest, smiling 'walking on air' feeling something so small inspired in me.

He hummed in agreement. "Did yours involve the kitchen counter,

"Maybe." I drummed my fingers against his chest, enjoyi momentary peace.

"Nothing stopping us from picking up where they rudely interr Finn sat forward, taking me with him, his eagerness making his Irish more pronounced.

I laughed. "There's no rush, McCarthy."

"I just suffered through my mother's best efforts to embarrass n tucked an arm under my legs. "I need to prove to you I'm still in charg

"As if you were ever in charge."

My chuckle died as he speared me with a dark, heated look. It pr retribution for the lie. *Would he tie me up?* Liquid heat flooded me idea.

"A reminder it is." He stood, scooping me up with him. I square scrambling for a grip, throwing my arms around his neck.

n in his I squeezed my thighs together, trying and failing to quell the accaused.

with his eyes fixed on me, he forced my legs open and wedged himsel gap. He slid me towards the edge of the counter, dragging me forwat my breasts pressed against his chest and the bulge of his shorts grainto his core.

His gaze fixated on my mouth, darkening as I licked my lips. He l nand up his head, his intent clear. I held him off with a hand to his chest. at the

Questions first, then fucking.

"How old is your dad?"

Finn groaned. "I'm about to fuck you and you're asking me ab dad?" He dragged a hand across his face. "What the hell am I doing with you?"

upted."

I smiled, channelling my inner vixen. "Answer the question and

you do whatever you want to me."

Finn eyed me, clear interest slackening his expression. "Anythir ne." Hemy nod, he gave in. "Fifty-five."

e." "You looked shocked when your mother said he's still working." I hands smooth down his chest to play with the edge of his t-shirt. "I'n romised to figure out why."

e at the Finn bit his lip, and I decided waiting for him to answer my que before I got my hands on his skin would be a waste of time. I tugge shirt over his head. He didn't resist, lifting his arms and helping me.

He placed his hands on the counter at either side of me and he he'd forward, his lips teasingly close. My fingers took on a mind of the ghosting over his pecs, blindly mapping out the lines of muscle. I she head, fighting the lust-filled fog.

"I paid off all of their debts when I made my first million — my rd until too." He pressed his forehead to mine, his nose brushing against mine zed my I set up investment accounts for them so they could comfortably draw interest for the rest of their lives. He doesn't need to work. I guess I do the idea of him putting unnecessary stress on himself and..."

His entire body tensed as he paused, peeking at me from bene lashes. Something about his watchful tension made me think he'd nea something bad... or bad in his mind.

I turned his words over again, searching for the meaning that vout myhim.

"I'm sorry, I didn't mean to..."

I dropped my hands from his glorious chest, placing them ove I'll let squeezed, willing him to relax.

"It's okay to say the word, Finn." I smiled at his hesitation. "Dying?" Atjust a word."

"I don't need to." He shook his head. "You got the picture, and I let mymean to remind you that your parents..."

1 trying Warmth flooded me. I wrapped my arms and legs around him, him tightly. He patted my back, the gesture tentative and uncertain.

iestions "I'm so sorry, Abi."

"Shh, Finn. I'm okay." I leaned back, smiling softly at the surprisi "My parents died five years ago, and I miss them. I've still got Eva, leanedIt hurts sometimes, but it doesn't cripple me anymore." I caressed hir own,dragging a finger along the crease between his brows. He relaxed bene book mytouch. "You can talk about death. You can talk about my parents."

sister's Finn nodded, his gaze softening on me.

"Then "I think I'm done asking questions," I whispered. My brow off the suggestively, but Finn continued to stare at me like he'd gotton't like cataloguing me. I reached up, snagging a hand behind his neck, and chis head down. "Kiss me, Finn." I ghosted my lips over his. "Remeath his who's in charge."

rly said

His lips crashed against mine, snapping out of his daze and goir zero to eighty. He devoured me. His tongue warred with mine wl worriedfingers bunched in my shirt. The material went flying over my hea little preamble.

"I hope you weren't hoping to leave the house today," Finn mutt $r \, \text{his.}$ Ihis head dipped back to mine.

The doorbell chorus floated around us.

ng. It's "Fuck off!" he shouted at the door.

Ding. Dong.

I didn't "I need to disconnect that fucking doorbell," he growled. He pulle from me with a severe look. "Do not move an inch. I'll be back."

breath. The door opened and closed quickly, with nothing more than murmur of voices.

ing lug. Then Finn returned, carting a heavy-looking black box. He place though the counter beside me. A sheepish edge entered his eyes as he rub is face, beard, glancing between the box and me.

eath my "What is it?"

I won't

"I got you something." He stared uncertainly at the box. "Ros said wedding that you'd like it, and I ordered on our way to Bora Bora grimaced when he met my curious gaze. "Now I'm thinking she cout vs rosebeen pulling my leg."

en lost "What did you get?" I asked as I shuffled along the counter towalraggedbox. A flutter of excitement settled in my chest.

ind me Finn McCarthy bought me a present. A non-TV show exploited pr could scream.

He kept his lips tightly sealed while I tore open the box. When I hile his laid eyes on the gift, I didn't stop to wonder if he'd be ready to cate ad with just trusted and launched off the counter.

Air exploded from his lungs as he caught me.

ered as

"Thank you. Thank you." I pressed kisses to his face, l his neck. "Ros wasn't trying to wind you up. I love it." He set me back on the counter, a cautious smile curling his lips. "
sure?"

I glanced at the white sewing machine nestled in its box, waiting to put it to work. "It's the best gift you could have ever given me."

ing for His shoulders sagged. "Thank Christ for that." His smile fell a briefglanced between the box and my excitement. "You don't want to play now, right?"

ed it on I snorted, then tucked a finger into the loop of his belt, tugging hir bed his closer.

"You need to punish me first, remember?" I whispered, my voice l sultry.

d at the Finn's eyes darkened. "What am I punishing you for?"

ra." He Words collided in my throat as nerves got the better of me. I'd ne ld havetried to be open to anything with him, but all the sex I'd ever experienbeen very vanilla. Finn awakened kinks for me I never knew I had.

ards the I swallowed. "For questioning your control."

His lips curled and then his mouth slanted across mine. I handed esent. Iover to him, not caring what he did, as long as he made me feel half of did last night. Thankfully, I had total faith in my surprise of a husband finally. He made quick work of my clothing, but each time I reached h me. Ijeans, he slapped my hands away.

"Lean back on your elbows, Dotey."

Once I obeyed, he took a seat in front of me and my legs autom his lips,tried to close. My cheeks burned, but he forced my knees open. He my clit with his thumb without warning, and then his fingers dragged to

'You'remy wet folds, forcing the slight sting of embarrassment out of my mine

He leaned forward, ducking his head. His shoulders pushed n for mefurther apart and then his mouth latched onto my clit, and I shut up.

Between his mouth and his fingers working me, my body started to as heas an impending orgasm gripped me. At the first twitch, he pulled bat with it fingers continued to caress my pussy, but the pressure wasn't enough me over the edge.

n *much* "Finn," I begged.

My hips shifted, shamelessly chasing his mouth. He didn't <code>gow</code> and Instead, he held me down with a powerful forearm across my stomal heat of his arm across my abdomen and my over-sensitised body, co with the freezing cold slab of marble beneath me made for an intercontrast.

ver... I

ced had "What are you doing?" Nerves thrummed in my throat, making m breathy.

Finn glanced a finger over the lips of my soaking pussy, barely to but my core clenched all the same.

"Yes, but this isn't what — Oh!" I moaned as he circled my clit ag for his head falling back and my eyes fluttering closed.

"I'm going to take you to the edge of orgasm," he whispered, hi deep and gravelly. "And then I'm going to stop."

atically My eyes flew open to assess him. He couldn't be serious. Only, or circled into his sapphire gaze and I knew he was.

through "Finn, no." I frowned at him.

d. He smirked. "You asked for punishment."

ny legs "Yes, but I didn't mean..."

He lowered his head and dragged the tip of his tongue through my to tensethought he'd finally given me what I wanted, and I sighed as p.ck. Hisunwound again. I'd been wrong.

to push *Intense pleasure and no reward? Okay. Carry on.*

I don't know how long I lay there, or how many times he stop from going over the edge. What I do know is that, by the time he stifive in every muscle in my body shook with need. Sweat glistened on my rosch. Theskin and my hair had worked its way out of my bun to flow acr mbinedworktop, no doubt leaving a tangled mess for me to fix later.

"Finn, no," I whimpered. I watched him stand through hooded lids
"On your hands and knees," he said, surprising me.

y voice "What?" Through some sheer miracle, I managed to lift my head.

I frowned at him, but it had no effect. His sapphire eyes burned wi uching, and his jeans stretched taut with his constrained hardness.

"On. Your. Knees," he ground out.

Gingerly, I shifted, following through without another question ain, my moved further onto the counter, Finn unzipped his jeans, pushing the his boxers to the floor with a relieved sigh. His cock hit him in the st s voice rock hard and dripping with pre-cum. My mouth watered as he rollo condom.

"Be a good girl, Abi, and turn around." Finn wrapped a hand aro base of his cock, stroking once as he stared at me. "You've done taking your punishment. Don't spoil it now."

My core ached at the feverish light in his eyes. I turned around, registering the warning note in his voice.

folds. I Despite technically obeying, I kept my head tilted in a directi pleasure would let me watch him. He climbed onto the counter behind me. His coasted across my ass and lower back, gentle and loving even as he me.

ped me I jolted slightly when he notched his cock against my opening. Nood up, automatically rocked back, desperate to feel the stretch of him insetinted again. I expected him to stop me, even braced for a reprimand.

oss the Instead, his fingers dug into my hips and he finished the job, filling the hilt. We both moaned at the tight fit. My arms gave out as he pull and lightning bolts of pleasure shot through me. I collapsed onto the case in the air and only my elbows stopping me from falling face first counter. Every inch of me shook.

"You're so fucking tight," Finn groaned as he thrust back into me. th need

Somehow, his thrusts went deeper, stealing my breath along w strength. The hard surface bit into my knees but I couldn't care less, as he kept driving into me... like... that.

1. As I Finn picked up the pace, slamming into me until only the sound em and gasps, moans and bodies filled the house. Everything tightened inside comach, and then the coil snapped, finally tipping me over the edge and into the edge on a of an orgasm.

"Christ." Finn's arm wrapped around my stomach and a hand land und the to my head as he leaned over me. "You're going to be the fucking d so wellme, dotey. All I'm going to want to do after this is draw those m sounds of need out of you."

barely He pressed his forehead to my heated back, holding still while m settled down from the high of coming. Finn pressed a kiss to my neck on that and tentative. The complete opposite of the determined way he hand s hands body.

owned Then his fingers slipped between my legs and any thoughts of ger evaporated.

Ay hips He swirled his fingers around my clit and I couldn't bite back I side meAftershocks danced through me, forcing my pussy to tighten around hardness. He nipped my shoulder, groaning as my inner walls tried g me to him along with me.

lled out "Next time you want to question control," he whispered, pressing counter, to my ear. "Remember how helpless you are right now."

into the He rocked his hips, barely leaving my body but still sending shock of pleasure through me. My knees shook and if not for his arm warround my waist, I'd slid to the counter in a graceless heap.

rith my "It's too much, Finn." I pressed my face into my forearms, crying as longhe grazed my g-spot on his next thrust. "I can't..."

"Yes, you can, dotey." His teeth grazed my neck, making me of our "You're taking it so well. You don't want to stop yet, do you, baby?"

of me My eyes slid closed as he rocked back into me, lighting me up fi he blissinside out. Teeth gritted, I shook my head.

Finn pressed a kiss to the nape of my neck. "Words, Abi. Tell $\mathfrak m$ ed nextyou want."

leath of "Don't. Stop," I groaned as he retreated.

"Good girl." His lips curled against my neck and then he pulle

ly bodystraightening up again.

, gentle I let him manhandle me, pumping into me faster and faster whil lled mymuscle in my body tensed up from fatigue and pleasure. A litany c words flew from Finn's mouth as my next orgasm crested. This time ntlenesscame, he let go with me.

I must have blacked out, because the next thing I knew I was lying ny cry.chest on top of the counter. His fingers smoothed up and down my baund histhrough my hair.

to milk "What have you done to me, dotey?" Finn whispered, his voice r open. I held still, getting the distinct impression he didn't think I'd he his lips"I wasn't meant to let anyone get close to me and here you are, steal heart. Should fight you. Instead," he pressed a kiss to the top of my he kwaves my chest squeezed. "I'm handing it to you with a smile."

/rapped

१ out as

shiver.

om the

ne what

d back,

straightening up again.

I let him manhandle me, pumping into me faster and faster while every muscle in my body tensed up from fatigue and pleasure. A litany of curse words flew from Finn's mouth as my next orgasm crested. This time when I came, he let go with me.

I must have blacked out, because the next thing I knew I was lying on his chest on top of the counter. His fingers smoothed up and down my back and through my hair.

"What have you done to me, dotey?" Finn whispered, his voice raw and open. I held still, getting the distinct impression he didn't think I'd hear him. "I wasn't meant to let anyone get close to me and here you are, stealing my heart. Should fight you. Instead," he pressed a kiss to the top of my head and my chest squeezed. "I'm handing it to you with a smile."

CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX

FINN

few days later, I led Abi out to the patio, finally showing her aro house properly. She gasped at the pool, and one thing led to anoth the next thing we knew, I was throwing her in.

Fuck.

I wanted her anywhere, anyhow. She'd walked onto the patio skimpy bikini, and I felt things I hadn't allowed myself to feel in Bor Arousal being the biggest of the lot, followed quickly by the intense hold onto her and not let go.

So I did just that. Until we were both shaking and moaning w releases.

"Hold on." I caught her waist before she could climb out of the poyour bikini back on first."

"Why?" Abi's brows furrowed. "It's just a quick run to the towels.

"We don't know if someone's watching." I grimaced

Despite the silence, I glanced up, checking for helicopters. The ski clear but that didn't mean a pap hadn't set themselves up with a long

lens and a clear view of the property.

"I should have waited until we were inside." I dragged a hand throsoaking hair, a ball of lead forming in my stomach. "I'm sorry."

I readjusted my shorts, covering myself while Abi wriggled back i bikini. She bit her lip, throwing me suggestive looks.

"It's okay. I enjoyed it."

"You wouldn't if they had your sex life on replay for millions of ϵ across the world," I grumbled mostly to myself.

"Is that what happened to you?" She climbed up the pool ladder, und the glances over her shoulder. "Did someone catch you in the act?" ler, and I huffed. "You could say that."

Abi wrapped a towel around herself, watching me with raised bro a quiet determination. I studied her, the need to keep my mouth shut in her

a Bora. But she's your wife...

need to "Let's go inside and I'll tell you." I wrapped a towel around my walled the way, psyching myself up all the while.

rith our It would be okay. She'd given me enough of herself for me to tr And if I wanted this relationship to last, I needed to be open with her.

ol. "Put We walked down the hallway towards my bedroom. Abi paused door, her hand hovering over the handle.

"I'll just grab a shower and then we'll talk?"

"You can—" The words died as my throat closed up. *You're* es were serious, remember? I shook myself and tried again. "You can showe g-range room if you want."

My gaze bore into hers while I silently communicated what my ugh mywouldn't let me. *Me, nervous over a woman?* The thought of it m scoff. I didn't do nerves. I faced difficult situations head-on an into her confidence.

"Move into my room." I winced at my commanding tone. "Please."

For a second she stared at me, shocked and my stomach tied its sawkers knots while I wondered if I'd completely misread her. Then she unearthing my own.

"You want me to stay in your room?" she asked, her voice tentative "Only if you want to." I scratched my beard, feeling oddly sheep even asking.

ws and "I'd love to."

driving In my room, she settled on the edge of the bed, a white towel w teasingly around her damp body. My cock hardened but she continustare at me with a raised brow.

"Well?" She patted the space beside her. "Spill the details."

"Didn't you want to shower first?"

ust her. "That can wait." Her gaze roamed my face, eyes narrowing. "Y sharing mood won't."

l at her "Okay, fine." I sat next to her, stiff at first while reality hit me. *WI* agree to this?

"Why are you hesitating?" she shuffled around until she faced m getting not going to judge you. No promises I won't get angry on your r in my though."

I chuckled at the fierce burn in her eyes. "What Natalie did to 1

nervesworse than a pap catching sight of something they shouldn't have." I ade medeep, shaky breath and reached for her hand, needing support for t did withtime in my life. "Without my knowing, Natalie filmed us having sex don't know how long it went on."

Abi paled. "Is that what you meant about her stealing from people?"
elf into I nodded. "She sold it exclusively to one gossip site, but once sor smiled, hits the internet, it's uncontrollable."

Her eyes widened. "And then it spread and damaged your reputatic "Bingo." I smiled, not an ounce of happiness on my face.

pish for "Is that why you needed to do the show?"

I chuckled, indecision racing through me at the thought of being with her on that. Never mind the fact it felt weird to share my sexual s rappedwith the wife I wanted to keep.

nued to "No, I recovered from that donkey's years ago." I chewed my ultimately caved to the inevitable. "You could say having the we thought I loved betray me like that for money and fame made me bitter." I winced. A lot bitter. "They wanted me to be the playboy, so I into it."

ou in a

Abi tilted her head, her eyes narrowing as she tried to follow. "Whether that have to do with the show then?" by $did\ I$

"I got caught on camera in a public bathroom with the studio daughter."
e. "I'm

behalf I studied her closely, braced for the moment she recoiled. Inste laughed.

me was "So your agent thought marriage would make for suitable punish

took ashe asked through peals of laughter. Her eyes started to water. "Charle he firsta sense of humour, huh?"

a. I still "If you say so," I grumbled.

That only set her off more. Watching her take my failings in s couldn't help but loosen up. I revelled in the feeling, smiling at her nethingwhile.

A month ago, I vehemently refused to get attached to anyone. on." could feel the first glimmer of hope.



ABI

honest

candalsWe didn't make it to the shower. Finn's secret sharing devolved into out his bed which devolved into... well, you know. I had to test the r lip butout. What if I hated it and need to change rooms again?

oman I "You must see some bizarre things on sets," I said, my voice over a littlein the silence of the room.

I lay against him, drawing random patterns on his chest while he same to my back. It felt... almost too peaceful. Like at any moment lat doeswould drop and we'd revert to bickering with and resisting each other Bora.

head's "Hmm, you have no idea." Silence fell and that was all I'd get, surprised me. "On my... I think it was my third feature film, we — tl ad, shewere on it with me — were all excited to be working with this incredi director. He was award-winning, a true powerhouse in mainstream filment?" the job offer fulfilled an unexpected bucket list item for me."

ie's got I smiled as he raced on, his Irish accent rising and falling at spee talked with excitement. I could happily listen to him read the phonebook

"Good things aren't always what they seem though." His exc stride, Ifaded and I lifted my head to study his downturned expression. "Non all theknew that Mike Lewis spent his off moments coercing and blackmail female staff into his bed." He whispered the words with such vehemen

Now I A twinge of unease hit me in the gut as I absorbed his sudden tenderely followed names in film and TV, but even I knew Mike Lev directed some of the biggest movies on screen. How could that be if he

"No one knows, do they?"

"Some do." Finn's lips curled in a sad smile. "But he paid his victi and the rest of us liked our lives too much to go up against Holly nattress golden goose without proof."

My eyes widened. "That's why you jumped to get Casey off the shall loud." Finn nodded. "I might have been powerless back then, and I minhave the ability to out Mike Lewis, but things are different on A did the Blind." His fingers toyed with my hair while he focused on the ceiling a shoe brown creased with concentration. "I knew I could count on everyoin Bora being outraged by the potential image damage. If they lost all their just as they invested hundreds of thousands into weddings..." He shappen, even if Tyler had."

ibly hot If he trusts me with this, does that mean he's finally on board vilm and long-term?

And if so, why did that thought fill me with unease?

My phone pinged before I had to figure out my feelings or

d as herespond to Finn. I shuffled across the bed, grasping for my device ok. bedside table. A message from Eva lit up the screen and I smiled, the itement momentarily forgotten.

ie of us EVA

ling the Talked to my boss. Can't make it to LA.

I missed my sister. I knew she wouldn't want to waste money on nsion. Ibut the show paid me more than enough to cut a decent chunk out of the vis still and fly her to LA for a visit.

; · · ·

Αŀ

Why no

ms off,

wood's EVA

It's just a busy period. I'll try to make it out next

.ow." month.

ght not I should have been happy with the promise. Instead, I could only for Married the first half of the text. Pre-cancer, my sister had been a workahor ng. His hoped remission would have changed that. Sometimes, it felt like she ne else harder than she did before. Yes, I realise that's hypocritical of a work celebs, three jobs.

rugged, It still hurt even knowing we were both working our asses off to be relet itfrom debt. Like did she not want to see me? We hadn't spent this lon since I left for college.

with the "Everything, alright?" Finn asked, tone careful. His fingers danced back.

Five minutes ago, I would have stretched into the feel of them gra how tomy spine. I would have enjoyed the affection.

on the Now, it felt stifling. Like a touch could be responsible for the \mathfrak{c} uneasefrom my sister. Or the weight of Finn's trust resting on my chest.

It was all too much.

airfare ier debt

31

t?

ocus on

olic. I'd

worked

an with

free her

ıg apart

l up my

zing up

Now, it felt stifling. Like a touch could be responsible for the distance from my sister. Or the weight of Finn's trust resting on my chest.

It was all too much.

CHAPTER TWENTY-SEVEN

ABI

ey Abs," my sister said, her smiling face filling my laptop on the coffee table. "I miss you."

"I miss you too."

"I can't wait until you get back."

My stomach dropped as her face lit up.

"Did you think about coming out for a visit?" I slid off the sofa, on the rug so I could be closer to the laptop and at the same eye level.

She winced. "I don't think I'll be able to get time off, I'm sorry."

My gut twisted with disappointment, but I fought to keep it off my didn't need to make her feel guilty.

"It's okay. It was a long shot, right?" My smile felt brittle.

Things had been incredible with Finn in the last few weeks. I'd into his room after he fucked me senseless on the kitchen count glimpses of his kind heart I'd seen in Bora Bora had come out shadows. Unexpected flower deliveries, surprise dates in the most ran

places. He made me feel spoiled, and I couldn't get enough of him.

But I missed my sister. We hadn't been apart this long since I'd let for college.

"Has Ros been driving you crazy?" I asked, changing the subject either of us could dwell on the situation more. "She texts me like fifty day."

"She spends nearly every night at my place." Eva chuckled. "I go last night and she announced we were having a movie night. Can y these dark circles?" Eva leaned closer to the camera, pointing at he "She picked the Lord of the flipping Rings. For a Wednesday night!"

screen

I snorted. "Were they the extended versions?"

"Thankfully not." Eva shuddered. "The sooner you get back, the l can't handle all the attention."

What if I don't want to come back?

A pang of guilt hit me hard in the gut. Things were going so we settlingweren't pretending anymore and, every day, I could feel myself so further and further down the rabbit hole. I think I already loved him could I leave him?

face. I "A month to go." Eva grinned, excitement setting her expression "Are you counting down the days?"

"I haven't thought about it," I lied.

moved Another pang hit me. Lying to my sister. Who had I become?

er. The Honestly, you're missing—" A deep cough cut her off, shaki of the shoulders and turning her face red.

dom of Panic flared inside of me, tightening my chest. We'd been so

while she went through chemo, terrified that she'd catch something through the bear able to fight it off. That pressure had eased once she got the all-claseing her doubled over and not being able to touch her? Hell, pure help

before "Eva! Are you okay?"

times a She held up her hand, urging me to wait as the coughing fit continu how could I? Once it stopped, she lifted a tissue to her nose and blev homethen did I truly see the signs that she'd caught a cold.

you see "Is Ros there with you? How long have you been sick?" Quer eyes.spewed from me in a stream of gasping panic. "You should be in bed,"

"I'm fine, Abi." My sister grimaced. "Seriously, it's just a normal little fever and a cough. Everyone gets them."

better. I "You have a fever?" I cried. "Where the hell is Ros?"

I scrambled for my phone, opening the text box with my best frie shaking fingers.

ell. We "She's at work. Leave her alone, Abs." Eva's brow furrowed as slippingto wave me off. "It's a busy week for her with preparation for Paris 1 n. HowWeek. She doesn't need the extra stress."

Αŀ

alight.

Did you know Eva's sick

"Look at me, Abi," Eva said, her tone stern. I glanced up at I fingers tapping on the table while I waited for Ros's reply. "I've go It'll clear just like it does for everyone else."

ing her "Not everyone is a year into remission. Everyone else has a network to fall back on." A network that went beyond an uber-busy l vigilantflaky friend and a sister who stupidly thought she could leave the s

and notthree months and not worry about her only remaining family member.

lear but I scowled at her. A voice deep inside acknowledged that scowling ll. sister for being sick probably wasn't the sanest thing, but at that mo was beyond logic.

ied, but "How long have you been sick?"

v. Only My phone pinged while she dithered over a reply.

ROS

iestions

Eva."

Yeah, she's been spluttering every time I've

seen her in the last two weeks. She says she's

cold, a fine.

I glared at the text as my fingers flew over the screen at a furious p

Αŀ

nd with

And you believed he

he tried "Eh, a week or so." She waved her hand, brushing it all off Fashion harassing Ros. She's our friend, not my keeper."

No, that had been *my* job.

"A week? Have you seen your doctor?" My voice rose, the spiralling it higher. "Does she think you should be working?"

"I'm working from home. Hardly dangerous." Eva smiled, a look ner, my patience she'd learned from our parents. Oh, how the tables had turn t meds. patience role had been assigned to me. I was the eldest after all.

"She thinks I'm recovering fine." Eva leaned forward, a serior support entering her eyes. "Listen to me, Abs, I'm okay. It's just a cold. It will tate for I chewed my lip, unconvinced.

"I need to go, Abs. Work calls. I'll text you later." She flashed g at myand killed the call before I could even say goodbye.

ment, I My gut churned.

Mona sat down opposite me, picking up her cup. She didn't say an just sipped her tea and waited me out.

Eva might have recovered from the cancer, but she clearly need Someone with her health conditions should not be working while Logically, I knew avoiding a cold in New York was difficult with closed-in spaces and crowds of people, but we'd managed it. For the dot of her treatment, we'd managed.

Staying in LA would mean not being there for her when she need never going to hers on a random evening, never getting a last-minute meet her for lunch, or spending an entire weekend, with takeout r? endless binge of Gilmore Girls.

. "Stop "Are you okay, Abi?"

I nodded. "Great."

Mona continued to study me. She didn't believe me. Hell, I didn't panicme.

"It's hard, isn't it?"

of pure "What is?"

ed. The

We'd been having so much fun, chatting about Mona's weddin

and the vintage pieces I'd found in a thrift store in Hollywood. The

Is light deepened. How could I be this happy having tea with Mona when I

clear." seen my sister since the wedding?

"Being away from your family." She smiled when my eyes widene

a smileparents live in Cornwall, my sister is in Glasgow, and my brothe London. I haven't seen any of them since we moved out here in Janual months with just calls."

rything, "How do you handle it?"

"I'd already been pretty separated before I got here so I don't th led me. situations are identical." She bit her lip, her gaze dropping to her cup. le sick. be hard, I won't lie. We do a weekly group video call and have all the planned. They'll all be here for the wedding. But I do miss my sister. So luration an hour away on the train before I met Shaun." She shrugged. "I we change a thing. I love Shaun. Before him, I was lost and pretty flipping I've never been as happy as I am with him."

"So you think I'd adjust?"

and an "That depends on whether you want to." She leaned forward, he fixed on me. "If you love Finn, you'll do anything to stay with him. As me, it's not simple with an actor." She smirked, her shoulders a slightly as amusement creased her eyes. "Shaun only accepts role where I can work on the production team. He's very forceful about believe something his agent was not prepared for when she hired me. It matter where in the world the job sends him, we'll always be together."

"And you don't mind moving about for him?"

"We haven't had to yet, but I'll jump at it when the time come g planstilted her head, a thought flickering across her face. "But I always wa ne guilttravel. The way I see it, I'll get two of my favourite things. The love hadn't life and the excitement of seeing new places."

It all sounded perfect, but guilt still gnawed at me. The other thing ed. "Mywas pretty fixed in her location. Eva loved her job. She'd never quit t

er is inout West. Rosaline might. She'd always been changeable with her wary. Fiveinterests.

Two choices sat before me and neither of them made me feel great. Lose Finn and get unlimited time with Eva. Or only see Eva ink our couple of months and commit to a life with Finn, whatever that looked "It can "You don't need to figure it out, right now, Abi," Mona said, he visitsgentle. "I'd be sad to see you go, but you have to do what's best for yo he was I chewed my lip. "Even if it hurts Finn?" ouldn't Her sadness swept across her face, but still, she smiled. "Someting sad. can't avoid hurting the ones we love."

And I did love him.



er gaze " bi, are you here?" Finn called from the hallway later that day.

I released the pedal on the sewing machine and glanced shaking closed bedroom door. I rarely came in here anymore, but after Mones now couldn't face sitting in the cavernous living area alone with my couldn't too, thoughts.

thoughts.

My fingers ached as I pushed back from the machine. What time is

I clicked my phone to life and my eyes widened. I'd been work
two hours straight without a break. No wonder everything hurt.
s." She

Finn called again, an edge to his voice that made my brows rise.

e of my

he thought I'd go without him, I couldn't say. I didn't have a car a

thought of using his car service like he told me to, made me uneasy

rich people used chauffeurs and I was not one.

I loved

o move I opened the bedroom door just as he rushed back. He spun on hi

nts and absolute panic on his face.

"There you are," he said, his voice breathy.

all that "Are you okay?" I stepped into the hall towards him. Concern bea a everypulse in my mind. His hair stood on end and his sapphire eyes wer like. "Did something happen?"

"No, no. I just..." he trailed off, his gaze roaming my face as the "u." gradually receded. "I don't know what I thought." He chuckled, shak head. "I've got far too active an imagination."

mes we Finn caught my hand, tugging me into his chest. He wrapped h around me and rested his chin on my head while his heart pounded l my ear.

"What did you think had happened?"

"I don't know." He blew out a breath. "Too many terrifying thing at mythrough my head. The front door was unlocked and..."

a left, I I pulled back, staring into his exhausted expression.

nflicted "You thought someone had taken me."

He pressed his lips together but didn't deny it.

it?

"Is that even a real possibility?" It seemed insane, but what did ting for know about his life? "There's a guard at the gate, and the house is play with alarms and cameras."

Where "The alarms only work if you turn them on."

and the Which I hadn't.

y. Only "And the guard?"

s heels, He shrugged before a sunny smile swept over his expression. I namy eyes at him.

"I told you, I'm being irrational." He broke from my arms, gripp hands, he led me down the hallway, towards the main room. "I at like a surprise for you."

e wide. I let him guide me into the room. How could someone go from pexcitement so fast?

e panic Someone sat on the sofa, their back to us. Finn just grinned at me ting histried to silently demand answers. Short white-blond hair and broad should be that's all I had. And Finn's ridiculous excitement. Curious.

is arms The guy stood when we were closer to the sofa. He turned, a conneath smirk on his lips. Icy blue eyes, striking enough to rival Finn's, fixed connected at Finn, my mouth working but no words coming out.

How had he — why had he — Shit, was it real?

gs went Had I fallen asleep at the sewing machine?

"Abi, meet Owen Parry. The —"

"Lead singer of Marable." I blinked at him and gawked like a stun might. *Because you are a stunned fan, dipshit.*

Owen Parry was waiting for me to be normal.

I really "Why couldn't you warn me?" I slapped Finn on the arm. "I wou lasteredchanged."

Finn chuckled. "That would have ruined the surprise. Plus, Owen care what you're wearing. Right, man?"

"Definitely not," he said, that melodic Welsh accent sweeping o better than any recording could.

"I'll grab us some drinks." He pressed a hand to my back and sho forward. "Why don't you and Owen chat, *dotey*?"

ing my I went without protest and miraculously avoided chewing my lip.

he didn't expect that. We arrived in LA around the same time. It's panic torunning joke between us that our girlfriends always loved the other."

"Only because you're a careless flirt," Finn said, amusement soften when Iwords. He handed Owen a glass before joining me on the other sofa. "Dulders, got stadiums of screaming fans, you can't leave me one person?"

The longer we chatted with Owen and Finn ribbing each other, the careless the surprise and awe cleared. I tried to focus on the press of Finn's on me. I against mine or the way his fingers toyed with my hair. Anything to k focus away from his panic when he couldn't find me.

Unfortunately, it didn't work.

New York had its issues. I knew that, but New York had never true me despite all the sketchy corners and crowds of people. Stupid of ned fan knew that devil and it had my back.

Whereas here, nothing felt familiar. Not LA, not the culture, not glamorous life. Eva would have rolled her eyes at his flash of wealth put her in a private helicopter or whisked her into an uber-expension exclusive restaurant at the last minute. And if someone did break ir have said he brought it on himself, flashing his cash the way he did.

doesn't

But what if someone attack

But what if someone attacked her to get to Finn?

Nearly losing her once was bad enough and with our parents gover me were all the other had. We didn't have any other family.

If I decided to stay, she'd smile and pretend to be happy for moved me knew her too well not to read the truth in her eyes. She'd be heartbroke

And if I left, Finn might be too.

l. "I bet Fuck, would the negatives ever stop?

been a

ning his

You've

ie more

's thigh

eep my

ıly hurt

r not, I

Finn's

if he'd

ive and

ı, she'd

one, we

e, but I

en.

And if I left, Finn might be too.

Fuck, would the negatives ever stop?

CHAPTER TWENTY-EIGHT

FINN

SHAUN

When's Abi free for dress fittings?

FIN

I don't know. Why isn't Mona asking he

SHAUN

Because I'm asking you.

FIN

The wedding's in Decembe

SHAUN

Answer the question.

I sighed and let the tablet drop to my chest. "Is Mona pressuring you wedding?"

Abi puttered around the kitchen area, making something despite of prepared meals in the fridge. Her hair was piled on top of her head wore tiny, lacey shorts, and a tank top that left nothing to the imagin

cherished the sight.

Abi glanced at me, brows drawn and a question in her eyes.

"Shaun's bugging me to get you to a dress fitting or something?" I the tablet back up and flicked through his latest messages. "I keep telli the wedding's months away and he should chill out. Have you heard a about this?"

Her eyes widened a fraction, and she went pale. I watched he second, mapping my fastest route to her if she passed out.

"Are you okay?"

Ν

"I'm fine," she squeaked. She cleared her throat. "No, no pressi this end anyway. Maybe Shaun's the bridezilla in their relationship."

r? ABI

I spent two days avoiding Finn. Guilt consumed me— for avoiding heven considering staying in LA when my sister needed me. Take your reasons, I felt guilty for it.

Hell, I wanted every ounce of attention he threw at me. But every tried to get close, every time he mentioned an event or plan in the future, my body froze up.

I needed to be careful or he'd realise I had doubts. Why I thous on the would be a bad thing, I didn't know, but the fear of it consumed me.

A knock sounded on my door frame, distracting me, and I jolted, r the pile up the stitch on my latest creation: a pleated tartan skirt. I might hav and she inspiration from Jackson's kilt at our wedding.

I glanced over my shoulder to find Finn smiling at me with that so that both made me ache and squirm uncomfortably.

picked "I was thinking, we haven't been out in a while," he said as he saing himtoward me. His skin glistened and his t-shirt stuck to his body, highly nythingevery divot and ridge of his abs. "After I shower, do you fancy going a picnic or something?"

er for a My tongue glued itself to the roof of my mouth.

It sounded incredible.

"Or we could do something else?" He edged towards me, a ful ure. Onconfusion marring his brow. "A sunset stroll at Venice Beach. You so want to check out Santa Monica Pier."

"Won't you get mobbed?" I asked, desperation leaking from my vo "Probably not, but I'll wear a hat and glasses just in case." He g "C'mon, dotey, bunk off with me for a couple of hours."

iim, for My mind raced, fighting for a logical way out that would stop m pick of from pining for the picture he painted.

"I already have plans with Mona." I grimaced then pushed my chatime heand shot to my feet. "In fact, I'm late."

distant He frowned, crossing his arms. "And you just remembered?"

"Yep. Sorry." I race around the room, collecting things. "I lost t ght thattime," I said before slipping into the attached bathroom to change.

His scepticism haunted me as I called a taxi and texted Mona to w nessing of my imminent arrival.

e taken A hard pressure formed in my chest, settling against my lun restricting my ability to breathe freely.

oft light I couldn't keep this up.

It tortured me just as much as it confused Finn. I missed relaxing unteredhim on the couch. Waking up wrapped up in his arms without feeling l lighting betraying someone else. Letting him spoil me with unexpected trips ou out for I'd have to make a decision soon. My heart couldn't take the ten of having him so close when the guilt begged me to stay away.



FINN

row of

aid youCharlie had argued his case and I conceded defeat. I couldn't put at and meetings off any longer.

Abi sat at the breakfast bar, an orange juice and her laptop laid ou grinned.counter. I wrapped my arms around her, squeezing her back against my

"Good morning," I whispered in her ear before placing a kiss y heartcheek.

"Morning," she said, her tone hesitant as she patted my arm in a sir backawkward manner.

Yet another oddity in a long line of oddities. I shook it off and r her.

rack of "I'm heading into Hollywood for an audition." I slid into the seat her, smiling despite the strangeness. "I thought you could come with rarn her I'll show you around some after I'm finished with business."

She stared at me, chewing her lip. A ball of lead settled in my st and What going on with her?

"I'm sorry, I can't." She glanced away, focusing on her laptop

instead. "I have a call with my sister."

against The hesitant note in her voice made me frown. "Can't you reschecike I'masked, now forcing the sunny upbeat note in my voice. "It's not event. you get a guided tour around a Hollywood film studio."

iptation She grimaced and shook her head. "Sorry."

For some reason, I didn't think she meant it.

I might have taken my time opening up to her, but now that I ha had no intention of beating around the bush. Some people might have away and left her to it. Not me.

I scooped her out of her chair and into my arms. She protested lou carried her to the sofa, but I ignored it.

t on the "What's going on, Abi?" I asked as I settled on the sofa with her v chest. lap.

on her She squirmed, trying to get away. Why? She'd been almost glued nearly a week ago.

a rather "Stop it. Just talk to me."

She stopped squirming, but it didn't get better. Instead, she glarec 'eleasedSo that's how people feel when I do it to them. The pang of hurt in m fascinated me for all of a second.

me and This time, when she pulled away, I let her go. She rushed away, up her laptop and disappeared down the hallway.

omach. I stared after her with a perplexing feeling of loss jabbing me in the *What had I missed?*

screen

lule?" I ery day

d her, I backed

dly as I

r in my

1 to me

l at me.
y chest

,,

picked

e chest.

INTERVIEW X

Question: How did it feel meeting your favourite singer in Finn's li room?

Abi: Incredible. Shocking. Unreal.

Tyler, producer: full sentences, remember?

Abi: It felt incredible to meet Owen Parry. I didn't even know he and I were friends. It still feels unreal, like I'm dreaming and going to wake any moment with a smile on my face.

Tyler, producer: how do you feel about Finn pulling strings for you?

Abi: I never would have asked him to arrange that meeting. I can't ren even telling him that I love Marable. I'm not sure how I feel about the personal aspect though. It's not like he took me backstage at a show. H brought Owen freaking Parry into our living room. There's something insanely privileged about that I can't quite wrap my mind around y

Tyler, producer: *Our* living room? So you've accepted your part in hi

Abi: I meant his. Slip of the tongue.

INTERVIEW X

Question: How did it feel meeting your favourite singer in Finn's living room?

Abi: Incredible. Shocking. Unreal.

Tyler, producer: full sentences, remember?

Abi: It felt incredible to meet Owen Parry. I didn't even know he and Finn were friends. It still feels unreal, like I'm dreaming and going to wake up at any moment with a smile on my face.

Tyler, producer: how do you feel about Finn pulling strings for you?

Abi: I never would have asked him to arrange that meeting. I can't remember even telling him that I love Marable. I'm not sure how I feel about the personal aspect though. It's not like he took me backstage at a show. He brought Owen freaking Parry into our living room. There's something insanely privileged about that I can't quite wrap my mind around yet.

Tyler, producer: *Our* living room? So you've accepted your part in his life?

Abi: I meant his. Slip of the tongue.

CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE

FINN

fter a week of script reading and Abi dodging me at the stran moments, I'd reached my limit. Something had changed.

Something had upset Abi. She needed to confide in me so I could but I'd barely had half an hour alone with her in days. I needed to take measures.

"Did you know there's a helicopter in the backyard?" Abi asked stopped in front of me, her brow furrowed as she glanced betwee perfectly calm expression and the patio doors.

I sat at the breakfast bar, drinking my second cup of coffee morning and trying to ignore the nerves twisting my gut.

Just taking my wife out on a day trip. No need to worry.

"It's our ride." I pushed a to-go cup towards her. She picked it furrow deepening. "It's hot chocolate."

"Thanks." Uncertainty stretched out the word. "Where are we goin

"You've been in LA for two months now and I haven't tak sightseeing." I emptied the dregs of my coffee into another to-go cu

she watched me with narrowed eyes.

See? Not normal.

"I hate the place at the best of times, but it does have some pretty a stood, collected my cup and rounded the breakfast bar to drop the coffee mug in the sink. "Figured not many people get to see it by he and what use is my money if I can't give you exciting experiences?"

I eyed her, keeping my expression pleasant. Not an ounce of su here. I'd overheard her telling Mona more of her reasons for joining th and excitement had been high on her list. If she denied me now, I'd had How I'd get the information I wanted out of her, I had no idea.

"That sounds great," she said. To the untrained ear, her enthusiasm have sounded genuine. I knew better. She couldn't hide that little h d fix it, uncertainty.

drastic "Glad you think so. Shall we go?" I gestured to the back door as I up our hoodies. "The pilot's probably finished his coffee by now."

Abi followed me outside without a word of complaint. She shruggen my her hoodie and sat through the safety briefing with avid attention. I v her surreptitiously through the visor, taking in her growing excitement of the

When the helicopter lifted off, she let out a tiny squeak and scraml my hand. A shiver went through her and I tensed, expecting her to relegrip. She'd done it enough times over the last week that keeping my up, thehad felt like slow torture.

For an hour, we flew over LA, taking in everything from the Hol g?" sign to the Santa Monica Pier, and more. Every now and again she'd sen you'arm, excitedly, pointing at something below us.

p while After ten years, LA bored me. It was a stifling place I had to endu

seen and rub elbows with the right people to secure roles.

Watching her bouncing around in her seat, muttering in my ear tareas." Ithe built-in radio system, something eased in my chest. Even wher empty arrived, I hadn't enjoyed it. Too overwhelmed, too anxious, too palicopter about making the right impression. For the first time ever, I could loo landscape below us, bathed in sunlight and see beauty in it.

spicion When the helicopter began to make its descent over South Pale showtensed next to me.

ears. "Where are we going now?" she asked, practically breathless again

1 would "It's a surprise."

One helicopter ride and all my worries about her distancing be pickedevaporated. At last, I could breathe easily, shrug it all off as a figmen imagination.

şed into You did just spend a week reading psychological thrillers.

vatched We landed on a rooftop and quickly disembarked, ducking bene spinning propellers. I lead Abi through a doorway and down a floled forservice stairs. I'd expected a stream of questions, but apparentle ase heraccepted the surprise part of the equation. Nothing but the sound tongue footsteps on the concrete echoed around me.

I'd expected a gasp at least when I flung open the unlocked securi lywoodand ushered her inside. She stared around the room, her eyes wide slap mylips firmly sealed. Mannequins dressed in fabrics from almost ev surround us. None of it meant anything to me, but I knew it would r re to be for her.

Only that silence didn't break as she spun on the spot, and concern throughto needle at me. *Had I gotten it wrong?*

I first "It's not Paris or Milan," I grimaced, taking in her slack aranoidexpression, "but I thought you might enjoy a few hours soaking it k at the favourite things."

She stopped spinning. A smile slowly bloomed, lighting up her rk, Abiexpression.

"I love it. Thank you." She glanced around the empty room. "Winst myeveryone?"

"It's just us."

Her brows furrowed and her lips flatlined. "Are they closed?"

helmet. "In a way. There are staff here if we need anything." I shrugged. "haviour think you'd want people gawking at us or asking for pictures." t of my

She took another look around, the tension in the air seeming to Then it snapped just as quickly. Abi sank into the quiet atmosphologan to survey the exhibitions.

"It's not ridiculous unless you want it to be."

"I didn't even know this was here. How ridiculous is that?" she chu
"It's not ridiculous unless you want it to be."

of our Her blue gaze assessed me, and she sobered. Nodding, she co down the line of displays, reading the plaques and exhibition notes.

ty door "Why don't you do more of this?"

but her "What?"

ery era "Go out. Enjoy the city." Her brows rose and she smirked. "Yo esonateseem to leave the house if it's for a job commitment or one of your forces you out the door." She continued down the line, her head tilting

startedgasped over a piece of stitching or a button. "You haven't even gone or diving since we got back from Bora Bora. Didn't you say you lov c-jawed that?"

in your "You've seen the line of cameras waiting at the gates." I took a see bench in the centre of the room, content to let her wander and take her entire "Why do you think?"

The media circus around our marriage hadn't lessened. The the returned to normal levels. Cars still tailed us and I lived on edge most waiting for the first sprig of gossiping lies about Abi to drop. None had but it was only a matter of time.

Tyler forced me out of the house whenever he could with inane I didn't for domestic shit that made no sense. Why would anyone want to grocery shopping together? My chef handled all the ordering, I didn't 9 grow-set foot in the overly lit and overly priced places anymore.

"That's no way to live surely." Abi's gaze snapped to mine, her focus shifting to me and only me. "Locked away, hiding from the ickled. unless duty calls."

"I like my house." I waved it off. "Besides, I'm never usually hontinuedmuch. I need to pick the next project and get a move on."

"Why haven't you?"

My brows rose. "In a rush to be alone for days at a time?"

"Of course not." Her cheeks flushed scarlet. The paranoid corners ou onlymind tried to convince me it was out of guilt. I squashed that. "I just friendsdon't need to turn down work because of me. I can keep myself compage as she *I noticed*.

surfing I bit my tongue.

e doing "I'll accept one when the right project comes up." I stood, clapp hands. "Shall we go to the next room?"

I wandered towards the door, working hard to keep my pace mer time and not rushed. Desperate to push her focus away after spendin wishing for it. *Geez, my head is fucked*.

oand of "What about all those scripts you've been sent?" she aske hadn't seemingly genuine interest. "None of those interest you?"

Now that my reputation was on the mend, the producers and stude and yet, started warming up to jumping on the tail end. I'd joked to Charlie they could make and edit a film in under a month, they'd do it just outings could release it during the airing of *Married Blind*. Every single one could see us called me with an eagerness for the publicity barely contained in their need to

Each one should have filled me with joy. It had worked. The should my career back on track.

intense

Yet, it only served to drive home how fake the entire industry was.

world :

Nearly three months ago, I'd been persona non-grata in Hollywc one wanted to touch me.

me that

"None of the ones filming in LA interest me," I said at last, a fri note leaking through.

"But there have been some not in LA?" Abi asked, seeing bene lines. She had a bloody knack for it with me.

of my "Yes."

t... you

Abi wandered around the edge of the room, appearing more interest the exhibitions. She couldn't fool me though. I could read every tense

her back and the sly glances from the corner of her baby blue eyes ing my fixed all of her attention on me. *Why?*

Five minutes ticked by while I pretended not to notice her so easured Eventually, she stopped in front of me, her hands on her hips days determined set to her lips.

"If you had no constraints and you could accept any of them, d $\,$ with would it take you?"

I sighed. "What's the point of this?"

ios had "Answer the question, Finn."

that if "Fine," I growled. "Prague. There's an interesting fantasy film so theyproduction for the winter there."

of them Abi nodded. "Okay. Why won't you go for it?" voices.

I stared at her, my brows rising and a smirk tugging at my lips. ow had dotey, why do you think?

"Because of me?" she squeaked, pointing at her chest. I only r "That's ridiculous. We —" Her mouth slammed shut and she pursed hood. No "We what?" I asked, my tone a little harsher than intended.

She studied me, a silent war waging in her eyes. Rather than con instrated me, she wandered away, pacing around the room in intense silence. I value her, every polarising emotion and thought flitting through my head.

eath the Confusion that my next role meant so much.

Paranoia that her odd answers and reactions meant she planned t me or worse.

Elation that she might want to go with me, stay with me, make sor off our strange beginnings.

. She'd Frustration that she had to stew in silence rather than *talk* to me.

"We what, Abi?" I asked again. I stepped in front of her, stopping crutiny.her tracks.

and a She almost walked into my chest but dug in her feet, leaving mere between us. Tilting her head back, she stared into my eyes with an unrewherelook which deepened the claws of trepidation in my mind.

"Mona and Shaun travel together," she eventually said, tone subdu
I studied her, keeping a careful grip on the hope battering my
"They do."

in pre- She bit her lip. "So, we could do that too."

"Why would you want to uproot your life constantly for my jol brows rose, but playing devil's advocate at that moment might have b *Really*, hardest role of my life. Elation and disbelief fought inside of me. "fakest industry in the world. Every single person you'll ever meet we

nodded. an agenda. You'll never know if they're befriending you for you of er lips. close to me."

I couldn't keep the bitter notes from my voice. The moment I state let it out, it took on a life of its own, digging deep into my darkest for a life ones that haunted me at night, the ones that made me question vatched decision I'd ever made.

"If I didn't already know that you love *what* you do, I'd think you miserable," she murmured. Abi canted her head, her gaze roaming no leave taking in every involuntary twitch.

"I love it when I'm in the role."

nething

"But not everything surrounding it."

I snorted. "Everything surrounding it is a sea of fake. Getting in the producers, auditions, filming." My voice hardened, remembering the everyone handled my temporary exile. "All fake pleasantry and pander inches" get you to fall into line with someone else's agenda."

eadable "Would you ever leave LA?" she asked, her voice quiet, distracted.

ed. "I'm not sure I could."

Thest. I couldn't work out her angle. She wanted me to accept a role, by barely seen each other all week by her own doing. What exactly downant from me?

"Why? If filming is outside LA anyway?" She stood by a display een the broaches, avidly studying each one, tracing a finger over the glass. H

It's the

ill have I bit my tongue on an instant answer and gave it some thought. Mc to getLA had been a dream that, year by year, morphed into a nightmare. I r when I said I'd love to leave, at least some of the time. When I got outside the studios, I could push the fakery to the back of my mi almost forget. Almost.

n every "It's hard to schmooze and be seen when you're not where they w seen."

She glanced at me, her brows furrowed. "What does that mean?"

with name recognition." My gaze panned across the room while m raced to put words to a fact I'd never needed to voice before. "But what get to the point of having that recognition, it's fleeting. You have constantly remind the public of your existence by having more projec

front of up, and being photographed with the right people at the right restathe wayparties, events."

ering to I bit my lip, hesitating over the flood of honesty spewing from n But she'd asked, right?

almost "As much as I despise gossip rags, you can't sell a film if ex forgets your name."

Abi absorbed it all. Yet when she turned away from me, I coul ut we'dsworn a flicker of sadness flashed across her face.

oes she Fuck. What had I said wrong?

That paranoid panic wiggled in my chest, reminding me that the lactors of had not been a figment of my imagination. My wife had started to puter $rigid_{from\ me}$.

We were three weeks away from the end of *Married Blind*. They wing tobe sitting us down separately to question our experiences and dem neant itanswer to whether we wanted to stay married or get a divorce. If the reto filmdidn't match...

nd and She'd leave me.

Or is something else going on?

That paranoid voice whispered through my mind, stroking the me of Natalie and her strange shift in behaviour before her parting gift internet.

While Abi continued to take in the museum, I let silence fall betwe y mind

I needed the time to study her, needed to look at all of our interien you through a new lens. One where I wasn't blinded by my growing feeling ave to

Were they one-sided? Had I tricked myself into believing she lo

aurants, too?
Really, if she wanted me gone, I could give her that space easily. I
ny lips.up my phone and dialled Charlie.
/eryone
ld have
st week
ll away
'd soon
ıand an
esponse
emories
hit the
en us.
actions
gs.

ved me

too?

Really, if she wanted me gone, I could give her that space easily. I picked up my phone and dialled Charlie.

CHAPTER THIRTY

ABI

"For eyou sure this is a good idea, Tyler?" I couldn't hide the hesit my tone as I followed the producer through a line of massive trailers. They towered above us, metal steps pushed up against their callow access. The heat beat down on us, bouncing off the metal, interunrelenting. "He's up here working. I'm sure he doesn't want to I worry about me too."

Never mind that Finn had accepted a sudden guest role in Canada I two days after our trip to the museum. He'd knocked on my bedroor interrupting my sewing, and dropped the news like a bomb. No questi I was okay with it, just letting me know he'd be flying out by the enc week.

Of course, I didn't tell him I wasn't okay with it.

I didn't know how I felt. Too many conflicting emotions hit me a They were still a muddled mess of relief and guilt.

I missed him, but part of me reasoned the separation would be g us. Now with just two weeks left of the show, decision time fast appro Two weeks until they forced me to decide if I could be selfish and a my sister for the love of my life.

I still didn't know the answer.

When Finn had said he hated LA, a flutter of hope hit me hard.

And then he tore it away just as quickly.

I knew one thing for certain.

Tyler flying me to British Columbia would not be well received. end up looking needy and insecure.

"Don't you want to be with Finn?" Tyler asked.

ation in He almost bounced as he walked, vibrating with excitement. I e whitereaction he anticipated no doubt, rather than any concern for what I walloors to I kept my mouth shut, but he didn't notice. We stopped at one nse and trailers. A printed laminated sign had been tapped to the side of it dhave to 'wardrobe.'

"Here we are." He clambered up the steps and through the ope literally "Hello, which one of you lovely ladies is Angela?"

n door, I followed him in at a much more sedate pace. Ian trailed me, his on of if resting on his shoulder and headphone positioned over his ears, ta l of the every blip of my microphone. Thankfully, they hadn't recorded my c protests. Ethan followed closely behind, holding a fuzzy boom mic over

That wouldn't be unusual, but it gave me pause.

The boom suggested they weren't mic'ing Finn up, and all of it w a shock. Dread coursed through me, turning my stomach and mak ood forwish I'd let Finn disconnect the doorbell weeks before so I wouldn bached opened the door and let Tyler steamroll over me.

bandon Reluctantly, I trudged up the trailer steps. Racks of clothing ran in down one side while they'd left a large space open at the opposis bracketing it with what looked like changing rooms. A grey-haired chatted to Tyler quietly while another much younger one watched, he eyes bouncing between them and the crew.

Tyler spotted me and grinned. "There you are, Abi." He waved m "Come and meet your new boss and colleague."

I'd just

My brows furrowed. Boss?

Tyler chuckled. "We got you a trainee position while Finn's on the isn't that great?"

Something about his enthusiasm grated across my nerves. Despite inted.

couldn't deny the pang of excitement waiting for my attention. I'd of the wanted to do more with fashion. Why not wardrobe for films and TV s enoting

Hell, if I went back to New York, why not costumes for broadway.

I let the excitement bloom until it thrummed through me, block n door. everything else. Tyler grinned as I threw myself into introductions, li avidly as Angela, the grey-haired lady showed me around their on-l camera space.

For the first time in years, I allowed the dreams I'd locked away wonstant parents died out of their box.



ould be

FINN

ing me

't have The second the director called wrap on the scene, I let the mind character recede and instantly missed it. For three hours, I'd been fre

n a linemy concerns and worries. Nothing mattered but my lines and my chate end,persona.

woman Greyson didn't care if his wife left or betrayed him. He only care er widecatching up with his high school friends and throwing spanners i carefully laid seduction plans.

le over. I wandered back to the wardrobe trailer, following a production a determined to get me in and out of my costume change. He understated didn't want to be blamed for the schedule running over. If only he kreshow, desperation to sink back into work.

Voices floated out of the wardrobe trailer, but my battle to press do that, I worries captured all of my attention. The second I stepped into the talways knew I'd made a mistake.

shows? How hadn't I recognised Tyler's voice?

? The smarmy asshole smirked at me from across the trailer. Iar ing out camera pointed at Angela and...

stening "What the hell are you doing here?" I snapped.

ocation Abi spun around, her baby blue eyes wide and her vibrant aubt piled on top of her head. I'd have to be blind to miss the flash of then myskittering across her face.

A pang of loss hit me in the chest and I clenched my fists against to sweep it all away.

Abi turned to Tyler, her eyes narrowing on him. I didn't need to he thoughts to know the meddling producer was to blame for her of the appearance.

e of all "Abi's joining you here for a couple of weeks as Angela's appre

racter'sHe plastered a sunny fake-as-shit smile on his lips.

"No."

d about His smile faltered. "What do you mean no? This is a wo in their opportunity for Abi."

I crossed my arms, begging myself to stay strong.

Ssistant Don't need to know if it's true, don't need to see... Fuck.

andably

Her lips curled slightly, a minuscule confirmation. Tyler woul new my missed it. Hell, Ian might have too. But I'd spent months looking learning her every quirk.

ywn my

railer, I How dare he use her against me? He knew I wouldn't say no to matter how pissed I was. I still wanted her to be happy and make at le of her dreams come true.

What a weak fucking sap I've become.

ı had a

"Fine," I groaned. Abi's shoulders sagged and Tyler perked up. I hand out, warding off his next stab at meddling with my life. "But leaving now."

"What — Now, Finn —" Tyler spluttered.

concern

"No. My contract specifically states that you are allowed to film as it doesn't interfere with my job." Despite all of my training, my he need shook. I pointed at the door. "There is a production assistant out there

himself because he has to go tell the director that I'm late. I wouldn lear herbeen late if you hadn't pulled this fucking stunt and wasted the five m suddenhad to change."

"Okay, but that doesn't mean we —"

entice." "Read my contract, Tyler. You are not to do anything that neg

impacts my job." My gaze shot to Abi. Meeting her had been the threat to my job, but I wouldn't mention that now. "Turning u unannounced? Definite damage. Bring the source of my... bring Massive distraction. How the fuck do you think I'm meant to get bas character when I'm furious at you and distracted by all of your manipals shit?"

He had nothing to say to that, but he still hadn't moved towards the d have

"If I have to get security here to escort you off the site, I will." I at her, towards him and he took a step backwards. "Make no mistake, I calling my agent and you will hear from your Series Producer. Now her, no fuck out!"

Distantly, I noted Abi going pale as I shouted at Tyler. I blocked She wanted to use me for her own gain, and I still didn't know what I had planned for me. She didn't deserve my guilt.

Angela handed me my next costume with a nervous smile. Gin *you're* assistant, had vanished into the racks some time ago. Lucky wome could escape the chaos, I would.

"Sorry, love, I didn't think..."

as long "It's not your fault, Ange." I softened my tone before shooting a y voice the producer. "He's got a habit of manipulating everyone. Let me kn shitting need to call security."

She nodded and I closed myself into a cubicle. The fitting room inutes I nothing more than some thick dark fabric on rails. I could hear every whisper from the main area.

The unmistakable sound of the ladder shaking under heavy feet ξ atively through to me and a tiny piece of my control unlocked.

biggest I couldn't do it anymore.

p here, I shoved my shaking hands into my hair and tugged. The pressure

g Abi? my scalp both hurt and gave me something outside of my head to foculock into

Why couldn't things just go to plan for once?

I needed the space. Being trapped in a house with her, seei contorting herself to avoid me, it'd gutted me.

e door.

Now I'd just be trapped in rural British Columbia with her.

stalked

will be Somehow, I'd gone from bad to worse in less than two days.

get the There would be no out now. When the cameras were around, I'd put the mask back on and nothing had changed, but if Tyler wanted t l it out. my life difficult, I'd make his worse. He wouldn't get past the secur nell she again.

I threw back the curtain with a little more confidence in my step. T ny, her fizzled beneath the surface, but it had reached a manageable level. On an. If I back to set and sank into character, it would clear.

"I told him it would be a bad idea to surprise you." Abi chewed staring at me with open worry.

look at "Cut the crap, Abi." I shook my head, tutting in disgust. "You've low if I poker face."

Her brows rose as I stalked past her.

is were "What are you talking about?"

furious "If you truly didn't want to be here, messing with me, you wouldn'

My eyes narrowed on her, shoulders slumped, teeth permanently filteredinto her lip. Where had my spitfire from Bora Bora gone? The wom faked an orgasm to get rid of the cameras? I wanted her back.

Only I really shouldn't.

against "You did everything you could to avoid me in LA and you had a s on. house and a city to work with." I crossed my arms. "Why did you agree from that to a hotel room with one bed in a tiny bloody town when the decided to hate me?"

"That's not true," she said, her voice weak.

"You don't even want to fucking look at me," I shouted. Abi flinch that stupid pang of guilt hit me again, making it all worse. She for eyes to meet mine, fire brewing in their depths. I stalked towards her, have to my face to harden when all I wanted to do was pull her into my chest a o make her. I couldn't stop myself from getting close enough to feel the hearity line body. She tilted her head back, her gaze dancing across my lips before back to mine.

The fury Confusing fucking woman. ce I got

I stormed out of the trailer, stomping towards the set with a fathunder.

her lip,

The urge to do something reckless thrummed through me. Run of the woods and only stop when I hit the coast. Dive off a boat in the mile a shit Great White territory. Something. Anything to redirect the furious poof my heart.

At least then I wouldn't be losing control of myself because of a w

't be."

digging

an who

Only I really shouldn't.

"You did everything you could to avoid me in LA and you had an entire house and a city to work with." I crossed my arms. "Why did you agree to go from that to a hotel room with one bed in a tiny bloody town when you've decided to hate me?"

"That's not true," she said, her voice weak.

"You don't even want to fucking look at me," I shouted. Abi flinched and that stupid pang of guilt hit me again, making it all worse. She forced her eyes to meet mine, fire brewing in their depths. I stalked towards her, forcing my face to harden when all I wanted to do was pull her into my chest and kiss her. I couldn't stop myself from getting close enough to feel the heat of her body. She tilted her head back, her gaze dancing across my lips before jolting back to mine.

Confusing fucking woman.

I stormed out of the trailer, stomping towards the set with a face like thunder.

The urge to do something reckless thrummed through me. Run off into the woods and only stop when I hit the coast. Dive off a boat in the middle of Great White territory. Something. Anything to redirect the furious pounding of my heart.

At least then I wouldn't be losing control of myself because of a woman.

INTERVIEW XI

Question: What are you playing at Finn?

Finn: I don't know what you're talking about.

Tyler, producer: That's a lie, but I'll play. Why did you accept a job i

another country without consulting the production or Abi?

Finn: It was a last-minute thing.

Tyler, producer: That part I can believe. Lucky for you the show's ex connections to the wardrobe mistress. Two weeks in British Columbia without your wife wouldn't have been good.

Finn: Okay.

Tyler, producer: What's changed?

Finn: I don't know what you mean.

Tyler, producer: Hate me. Hate the show. That's all fine and expected you and Abi seemed to be hitting it off— and don't tell me it's an act. little moments I've seen between you two, they're too pure to be faked

Finn: If you want answers, Tyler, I'd suggest you talk to my tight-lipp wife. *stands* and when you find out, do me a favour and keep it to yo I've learnt my lesson.

in

ec has

d. But

The

l.

ed

ourself.

CHAPTER THIRTY-ONE

ABI

", " in sure it's not that bad," Eva said, her voice calm.

Usually, talking to my sister would be enough. I'd take breath and look at the thing bugging me all over again.

"You're not here, Eva. You didn't see him." I shuddered rementhe hardness in his eyes. "He's never looked at me like that, not eve we first met and he wanted to get out of the show."

"Have you asked him about it?" She smiled when I shook my hea amusement and pity in her eyes.

I hated the pity, but I couldn't deny I deserved it.

Three months ago, I would have called Finn on his shitty attitute been done with it. If I didn't like his response, I would have shrugge and left it as his problem.

Now, my strength had vanished on me.

Of course, I had my suspicions about why it had abandoned me. I them good. All of them tied up in guilt and my conflicting feelings.

"You can't keep walking around on eggshells, Abs," Eva said, I tone tugging me from the edges of a guilt spiral. "Talk to him. Maybe a misunderstanding."

Only what if it wasn't, and talking to him made the quiet sim tension between us explode?

Avoidance, of him and my decision, would only make it worse th had to decide which I wanted more. If I choose Eva, there'd be n fighting to get through to him.

Could you live with him truly hating you?

Probably not.

Eva grimaced and I braced myself for the question I'd hoped she' a deep ask. "Is there a chance you're unintentionally pushing him away?"

I bit my lip as the truth tried to bubble to the surface and sho nbering
Evading Eva, with more than four thousand miles between us, wan when
Lying to myself... well that would be pointless because I already kr truth. I'd set it in motion.

ıd, both

I'd been telling myself for two weeks to make a decision. My waking moment had been dedicated to agonising over it.

But I'd made the decision, hadn't I?

I could pretend all I liked that avoiding Finn gave me space to the d it off process my feelings without clouding my judgement.

Unconsciously, it seemed I had chosen Eva.

Only I hadn't expected to be in a hotel room with the man what None of relationship unravelled.



ner soft e it's all

FINN

"This had better be good, Finn," Shaun drawled as he answered the plumering thought you went to Canada to stop being a moody bastard. That fa pointed at me, "says you've graduated to irruption alerts."

ough. I "She's here," I ground out.

Every muscle in my body had drawn tight the moment the director a wrap for the day. Now, sat in the back of a transport vehicle waiting driver, I couldn't ignore the disaster Tyler had dropped in my lap.

Shaun's brows rose, but he shook it off quickly. "Okay, so maybe d never as a sign that avoidance isn't the best move."

"No, avoidance would have protected me."

From seeing her hurt expression every time I bit at her. From feels easy. stab of guilt because in nearly three months she'd softened me, make the complacent, made me love her.

I had ten minutes to shake all of that off. Ten minutes to find the very who sued Natalie and made sure she felt the sting of her betrayal as head. But I'd never been delusional.

"Fuck knows I've said this before, and you haven't listened." ink and sighed, dragging a hand across his face before narrowing his eyes "Abi isn't Natalie. That woman doesn't have a devious bone in her boo

I ground my teeth. "I'm not fucking imagining it."

1en our Shaun held his hands up. "Okay, but remember how you feel about man?" At my stubborn nod, he continued, "Maybe giving her the beathe doubt *until* something happens, will make you happier."

"Happier?" I snorted. "Happier playing pretend, waiting for the axon my neck? No fucking thank you."

"I thought you'd say that." Shaun pressed his lips together, he frustration shining in his eyes. "Just... think before you do something okay? I'm not blind, I can see how you feel about her. You've got two maybe if you're straight with her, the pair of you can patch up th before it's too late."

Shaun hung up and the fizzle of restrained anger and frustration for the abated.

"Jesus. I'm a fucking mess," I groaned into my hands.

take it

I needed to exhaust myself before I faced her. If I channelled the this anger into a boxing bag at the hotel gym, I might stand a chakeeping my head. Might.

ling the

ade me

**

ABI

ne Finn

ard as I Hours had passed since I'd left the set. I'd paced circles in the ca Finn's hotel room, mindlessly flicked through channels and sat starin wall for more minutes than I'd care to count, chasing the threads of my and feelings, struggling with the knowledge that I'd chosen my sister con me. man I loved.

I'd also expected Finn hours ago.

With the mood he'd been in on set, he wouldn't appreciate my clout her, up on him. Even knowing that I couldn't stop worrying my lip. nefit of

Fuck. I'm a mess.

e to fall — Just as I reached for my phone, the door locks disengaged and in Finn, dripping sweat.

is own It glistened on his face, arms and shoulders. He wore a loose-fitti stupid, that did nothing to hide the definition of his abs and pecs from me weeks, patches coated it, sticking the thin material to his skin.

e holes Every doubt and pang of guilt I had whirling around inside of m silent for a couple of glorious seconds. My body forgot we weren't hadn'ttalking — something I no doubt had caused.

He tensed when his gaze landed on me. His jaw ticked and I myself in the leather armchair. My fingers curled around the arms, g burn of them tightly.

ance of Time to put on the best show of my life.

Here's hoping I learned a few things from him.

"How was work?" I asked, the words sounding utterly rid considering the stifling tension surrounding us.

He dropped his duffle back on the sideboard and grunted. *Grunted*.

rpet of "Sorry again about Tyler."

g at the Grunt.

y wants

"When he hijacked me, I said it would be a bad idea, but you kno ver the he's like."

Grunt.

My brows furrowed as I watched him move methodically arounecking room. He emptied his duffle bag, placing items in a laundry bag. T repacked it. All without glancing at me.

"Did he leave the set like you told him to?"

walked "You can stop with the pleasant conversation attempts," he muttered bid he roll his eyes?

ng vest With the sun setting, casting the room in shadows, I couldn't get e. Darkread on him. He tugged the vest top over his head, momentarily disme. I'd hoped we'd have two weeks to make more memories, somet ne wenthold on to when it all came crashing down. Then he scrunched it up exactly fists and waited.

When our gaze finally clashed, he stared at me with a sardoni bracedlifted. Heat burned my face at the realisation that he'd caught me ogli rippingThen the guilt kicked in because despite us being legally married, I'd to throw it away. I needed to get my head and heart on the same pa fast.

"Why are you even here?" he asked, tone dark. "You could have liculous for another room."

Had he expected that? No, he couldn't have. There hadn't been ar of surprise in his expression when he walked in.

But he was right. I could have. I should have.

"I didn't—" I swallowed, giving myself a second to find an expl other than the truth... *I'm selfishly soaking in our last moments*. "I w what think you'd want to deal with Tyler's questions."

Finn snorted. "I'm dealing with Tyler's fucking questions daily eyes narrowed and his entire demeanour shifted. His hands shook and the shoved them into his sweatpants pockets. "What's it going to be this then he Fetishes? Did you record me spilling industry secrets?"

"No." It came out too breathy, too panicked. Instead of reassuring only made his eyes narrow.

ed. "What are you waiting for?" I opened my arms. "Drop your bomb. Don't wait for the show to end on my account."

a clear I stared at him, confusion a twisting, living thing in my gut.

tracting He tutted, cutting me off. "Don't waste your breath. I see you no hing toreached for the hotel phone. "I'll get you another room."

"No!" I should have kept my mouth shut. A separate room wou made my life easier with him in such a volatile and confusing state c browonly had two weeks left with him. I wanted to savour them if I conng him sharing a hotel room would give me room to do that without losing a chosen Maybe I can talk him down.

"You avoided me like the plague at home, you've a bomb hanging o e askedhead, and now you want to spend time with me?" His brows rose silence. "Un-fucking-believable. I did not peg you for a mindfuck, *A* 1 ounceyou're doing a stellar job."

"We only have two weeks left together... maybe we could...?"

I had no clue what I was asking for. Sex? Companionship? Pre anationnothing had changed but keeping our emotions off the table?

I didn't Either way, the moment the words fell from my lips, I knew I shou left.

y." His Finn's expression turned thunderous.

"You want to pretend to be a happy family?" he roared. He visibly s time? and his face turned red.

I tensed, forcing back the flinch that would have given me away.

him, it "I am not a pushover, Abi." He stalked towards me and it tool

bloodyounce of self-control I had to stay rooted to the ground. His face loom mine, seething and hard.

Then it all shifted, gentled as he leaned closer. With gentle fing w." He pushed my hair back over my shoulder and lowered his face. His lips my earlobe, and my eyes fell shut. I clenched my fists, fighting the reach for him.

ld have

You're getting what you want. Just hold strong.

uld and "I hope the payday was worth it, dotey," he whispered, sugary swo ground.voice hardened again as he continued, grating across every nerve. "E you've got all you're going to get from me." He stepped back, glaring

cradle. Payday?

wer my He backed away. I needed to mask the confusion, but my brava at myevaporated at the brush of his lips against my skin. We'd reached the I bi, butno return. He seemed hellbent on hurting me, why the hell couldn't the favour?

"You're being such a dumbass right now." I shook my head, warri tending^{myself}.

Finn's brows rose. "Ready to tell the truth?"

- Id have "I'm not betraying you. There is no bomb." I spat the word at h lips curling in disgust that he could even think that of me. "I can't stayou after the show is over. That's why I've withdrawn."
- I stopped short of telling him exactly why. No need to drag Eva i fight. He didn't speak, just stared at me with unrestrained loathing. He believe me. Why did I care?
- "I love New York. I don't have to worry about being trac

ed overphotographers whenever I leave the apartment." I stepped towarc fuelled by the burn of my anger finally turning up to the party.

gers, he "You want the attention. No one signs up for a show like this if the grazedto hide from the world."

urge to "No one so much as looks at me twice. It doesn't matter what so hair is in. No one gives a shit and they certainly wouldn't snap picture to plaster all over the covers of gossips rags with big red circles highlest. His all of my faults."

Because He crossed his arms. "Then you won't have any problem telling Ty at me. want a divorce, and *you* want to be put on a flight to New immediately."

Ido had Suddenly, the reality of it all crashed into me. Had I really a point of decision? My indecision must have flickered across my face beca I return turned thunderous.

"Don't look at me like that, Abi." He pointed a finger at me. "Yng withthis. I bet you couldn't believe your luck when I fell in love with yo shook his head, his tone dripping with self-loathing.

How could a few words freeze time? I'd known before. Of course But somehow I'd been able to blank it out, put it to one side and prete im, my my love was a one-sided thing.

I'd been prepared to lock my feelings away in a box, but for hi faced with him throwing the words at me like they were no better the our on his shoe, the first stab of pain, the first inklings of regret hit me.

You chose this.

ked by "You screwed us. Now deal with the fucking consequences and fuck out of my life." He pointed at the door, not even an ounce of he

ls him,in his eyes. "Just be aware, that my feelings won't stop me from des you if you leak any of my secrets."

ey want I'd agonised over how we'd separate for a week. Yes, I'd in something a little more...peaceful? But this would do just as well.

tate my Yet my feet remained stuck to the carpet.

s of me I hadn't planned for my racing heart or the pain twisting in r lighting Definitely hadn't expected tears to burn in the back of my eyes.

When I didn't move, he stomped toward the door and flung it ope ^{ler}you on with it. You've got a producer to find."

York I willed my body to move but it wouldn't.

His jaw shifted as he stared at my unmoving self.

made a "Go!" he roared.

This time I couldn't control the flinch. It served a purpose at leas fou did me moving.

my cheeks the second I stepped into the hallway. I took off down to the hallway, I took off down to the hallway. I that, I had, forgiveness.

If I did that, it'd make all the pain I'd caused him fruitless.

m to... Eva would still need me.

ıan dirt



FINN

get the I slammed the door the second she stepped over the threshold. sitationdescended on my room, too stifling as my anger fizzled out. I collaps

troyingthe bed and folded over, burying my face in my hands.

Part of me reeled from how easily she'd given in. The oth naginedreminded me of the last two weeks.

Either way, I should have felt free, and the pressure should hav from my chest.

ny gut. Yet it only deepened.

My face and eyes burned, my head swam and I couldn't stop shakin. "Get She's actually gone.

The first tear shocked me.

I hadn't cried once when Natalie ducked out and betrayed me. Floarage, sure. Never tears.

One led to another and then the floodgates opened until I fell back t. It gotbed, a sobbing mess. My chest hurt like someone had reached insistolen my heart.

d down I'd sworn to never let a woman get the better of me again. When I the hallup to Abi, I never anticipated that this time a woman wouldn't get those for of me. She'd tear me to pieces and leave me broken.

Silence ed onto

the bed and folded over, burying my face in my hands.

Part of me reeled from how easily she'd given in. The other half reminded me of the last two weeks.

Either way, I should have felt free, and the pressure should have lifted from my chest.

Yet it only deepened.

My face and eyes burned, my head swam and I couldn't stop shaking.

She's actually gone.

The first tear shocked me.

I hadn't cried once when Natalie ducked out and betrayed me. Flown into a rage, sure. Never tears.

One led to another and then the floodgates opened until I fell back on the bed, a sobbing mess. My chest hurt like someone had reached inside and stolen my heart.

I'd sworn to never let a woman get the better of me again. When I opened up to Abi, I never anticipated that this time a woman wouldn't get the better of me. She'd tear me to pieces and leave me broken.

CHAPTER THIRTY-TWO

FINN

he next morning, the pressure on my chest hadn't eased, but no the state of my heart, I still had a job to do. 6 AM call time did for a man to sort through his emotions.

I opened the door, blurry-eyed and barely thinking straight. One the grim face leaning against the wall opposite woke me right up.

"I'm not in the mood to deal with you right now." A scowl pincl face as I shut the door. I took off down the hall, not waiting for him to

Hell, I hoped he'd leave me alone.

"What happened with Abi?" Tyler asked, his voice far too loud time of the morning. "She says she's quitting the show."

"I'm not her keeper." I shrugged, clinging to an unaffected air I feel.

I kept waiting for the elation of finally getting my way to hit.

He stalked after me, keeping pace but not really bothering to catch I reached the lifts and hit the call button. The doors opened imme unleashing a slither of relief. So close to freedom.

Tyler followed me in. He positioned himself opposite me, his gaze scanning my face.

I leaned my head back against the mirror and shut my eyes, too a the dark circles beneath my eyes, the red rims making the white bloodshot. Everything ached. My face, my teeth, my chest, my ey another new experience I didn't care to ever repeat.

"Something happened between you," Tyler said, tone hard. His burned against my skin. I didn't give him the attention he craved. "She it's all her fault."

"Again," I sighed. "I am not her keeper. She—" A lump formed n't wait throat, choking me. I pushed past it and speared him with the attentio desperately wanted. "She doesn't want me. I'm not sure why look at surprised."

Even though I stupidly was.

The lift opened and I stormed out. Tyler followed at a much more follow.

pace. I could see my car waiting in front of the hotel and I picked pace, desperate for the distraction of work... even if it meant I had to for the another couple of days in Canada, away from my friends and home.

My stomach sank at the idea of going home. To a house fille I didn'tmemories of Abi. Maybe Shaun would let me stay with him while I house fumigated.

I could sell it.

up. "Despite what you think, Finn, I'm not stupid," Tyler called to diately, voice echoing in the almost empty lobby.

I slowed to a stop, the doors within reach and turned, holding tigh shrewdcontrol. Every single eye in the hotel had shifted to us. Because who to be conspicuous when your life's work consisted of making dramware of $^{\mathrm{Tyler}}$.

es look "There's more to it that neither of you is telling me." Tyler stoles. Yetfront of me, a smirk curling his lips. "It's more complicated than the it?"

s focus I pressed my lips together and glared at him. He could tage claims sympathetic tone and shove it up his ass.

"Are you done? I've got actual work to do."

I in my "Sure." Tyler patted me on the arm and stepped around me. "(n he sowhen you come to your senses."

you're With that, he disappeared through the doors, leaving me blossoming headache.

**

sedate

up my

ABI

I'd never been the type of person to wear sunglasses indoors. That c when I walked into Vancouver Airport n.

ed with

had the

Maybe should have put makeup on before leaving the hotel.

But then Tyler would have more time to try and weasel information me and I couldn't risk it. He'd barely agreed to do a final interview fro York. It was the only option I gave him, not trusting myself to sit in frome, his camera and keep it together without letting the truth slip out.

Something told me if he found out I'd chosen the pain of losin

t to myhe'd dig at me until nothing made sense. I couldn't have that.

needed The damage was done.

Even if Finn could forgive me, he wouldn't leave LA, and I'd leave to choosing between him and my sister. I couldn't do that. Not af pped ingiven me the perfect out. I didn't need to choose between them anymore.

at, isn't I should have been happy.

Why then did it feel like my heart had been split in two?

The plane took off and I waited, my breath held, for the moment in all fall away.

A hundred miles. Three hundred. A thousand.

Call me
It never came.

*

with a

FINN

"Finn McCarthy, get your ass out here right this second!"

Distantly I heard the front door slam open and shut, heard Mona slam for me. I couldn't muster the energy to care that she'd barged into my hanged Instead, I rolled over and buried my head in Abi's pillow.

Christ, I'm pathetic.

Two weeks since she left.

n out of

m New Since you forced her to leave.

ont of a I'd allowed myself to sink into work, finish my scheduled filming *think*. It had worked to a point. I got through the shoots without sl g Finn, more tears and wallowing in what I'd lost and the fact I *cared* that sh

me.

All the work to repair my reputation. All the manipulation. All of i be right be for nothing.

ter he'd And I didn't care.

e. Fuck.

My bedroom door slammed open. Footsteps sounded again hardwood, stalking towards the bed. I didn't move.

t would "What did you do?" Mona demanded, tone hard.

"Sparky, stop," Shaun said, his voice gentle.

"No. Abi called me in tears." Mona got closer and my fists clen the pillow. "What the hell happened, Finn?"

"Take a second, and look," Shaun whispered.

Sighing, I rolled over and faced them. Mona gasped. Yeah, I'd el couple of odd looks on the way home too.

"What happened?" Shaun asked.

houting Mona's eyes widened as she took me in. Sympathy flickered acr house.face.

When Shaun first introduced us, I embraced her friendship. The factipped Shaun out of his shell and forced him to face up to the hard to his life had been a massive bonus.

To have her think that I had willingly hurt Abi stung more than wo and not

nedding I shuffled up the bed and conceded defeat. Avoiding them while 'd left myself under control wouldn't work, and lying to Shaun would never with me.

So I let it all out. From falling for her to the weird changes twouldbehaviour to the disaster that unfolded in Canada. They sat on the edge mattress and listened, shock and pain consuming their expressions.

Only when I got to my suspicions, Mona winced.

"What do you know?" I asked, my voice hardening. My eyes narrough the she glanced away from me and twisted her hands in her lap. "Spit out, If I can get in front of whatever bomb she's going to drop on me, have a chance to at least keep my career."

"Get real, Finn." Mona tutted, her brows furrowing. "You spent three months in close quarters with Abi. You're so consumed wit ched in might be that you haven't stopped to think!"

"What are you talking about?"

"Can you honestly believe she'd do that to you? Sweet, caring Abi icited a "What does it matter what I fucking believe?" I snapped. "Www. would she avoid me like she couldn't face me?" I stared at Mona, will to spill all she knew. Silence. "If you know something, Mona, share it oss hertrying to make me feel guilty for protecting myself."

Mona bit her lip. Shaun studied her, rubbing her back. "Your silen at she'dhelping, love."

She sighed, but finally caved. "All I know is she went from tentalking about a future here to dodging it at all costs."

"Which doesn't reassure me that she's not a snake waiting to ground out. "Natalie played sweet and loving at first too. I refused to le I gotshe'd plant cameras in my bedroom until the security team found them sit right Mona's eyes widened and her head whipped around to get confi

in herfrom Shaun. At his nod, she turned back to me, my pain mirrored in he e of my "I'm sorry, Finn."

"That lapse in judgement resulted in every gossip rag in the world a sex tape." I crossed my arms and my voice hardened. "Abi spent owed ascouple of weeks dodging me, just like Natalie did. Whenever I asl, Mona.where she'd been, she got cagey. Whenever I tried to make plans, I mightaway."

Mona shook her head, tears shimmering in her eyes.

nearly "Alright. That's enough." Shaun stood, dragging Mona up with hi h whatglanced at him, her brows furrowing and her lips pursed. "Give us a cominutes, Sparky."

When the door shut on her, he turned back to me, his disbelief I ?" read. "You're hurting, so I'll give you a pass for talking to my fianc hy else that, but don't fucking push it, Finn."

ling her I dragged a hand across my face, scrubbing hard at my eyes. "I know or stopsorry."

"She won't hold it against you." He sat back down on the edge of t ce isn'tgaze softening.

"I don't want to believe it, Shaun." I stared at my friend, letting t tativelycome through in my eyes and voice. "But how can I not? She's go

knew I suspected her and she took the out." I winced. Rubbing my bite," Icontinued, "Fuck, if you truly loved someone, wouldn't you fight to stabelieve Shaun nodded, every inch of him tense and watchful.

"She kept her mouth shut. If she's innocent, why do that?" My mationcracked.

eyed me, hesitation mingling with determination in his gaze. "So whe sharing this, understand it's because you're one of my best friends, and I don the last to see you hurting. Okay?"

ked her I nodded, my gut twisting with dread.

she ran "You're a fucking idiot."

"What?" I sat up, my eyes widening and my body bristling.

"Mona's right. Abi would never sell you out to make a quick but im. Shegrimaced, then glanced at the bedroom door.

ouple of "You don't know that for sure."

"Seriously? Why would someone who *willingly works three jobs* plain to her sister take the easy route?" His brows rose. "She didn't be like personality transplant in the last month, man. She's still the hardworking, caring woman who married you with a tremor running tow. I'mher hands."

I stared at him, mouth opening and closing as words evaded me. *C* he bed, *be right*?

"Despite her line about the attention, she's brave and strong-will he paincould have handled the paps better than any of us." Shaun tilted his he ne. Shethe real question is, what actually drove her back to New York?"

chest, I Maybe nothing did, but I'd rather believe his version than mine. ay?"

Shaun stared at me, his expression hard, urging me to listen. "It's change your mind. It's okay to love her, even though she's hurt you."

My insides churned and my face burned at the reminder. *The first I hand my heart to in years, and she turns on me. What were the chanc*

"No. It's not," I ground out. *Christ, I sound like a child.* "I can't t ' Shaun en I sayjudgement, Shaun. I fucking *chose* to let her in. She didn't force her i't wantI'd wanted to I could have stayed detached and escaped the entire without a scratch." My voice rose the more I spoke, dripping wi loathing. "I made a choice and it blew up in my face. That is not okay."

Shaun stared at me, sympathy clouding his eyes. "I made a cho backfired on me once too. Do you remember how I dealt with it?"

"You didn't apply for a green card to spite Mona. Don't even c ck." He our situations."

"You're right, but I didn't sit around feeling sorry for myself." patted my leg and stood. "I knew she might never forgive me, but I we to help her and I brought her home."

have a

"Yes, you were brave, but our situations are not the same." I plu same the duvet, resolutely fixing my gaze on the material. *Or are they?*

"Just because Abi fucked up, doesn't mean you can't be the bigger ould he here."

My head snapped back, eyes drilling into him while sudden ange ed. She my hands shake.

"Don't even say it." Horror filled my tone. "Don't you dare tell ad. "So forgive her when she could be on her way to destroy my career."

"What would it matter?" Shaun shouted, towering over me. "You okay to here. You're constantly complaining about how fake LA is. Why w matter if she destroyed your reputation?"

I scrambled out of bed. "Because she'd have betrayed me," I roa woman sound tearing from my throat painfully. "Because she'd be just like es? other piece of shit in this town, using me for the money and the fa rust myI..." My anger fizzled out and my gaze dropped to the ground. "I loway. If because she was nothing like them."

! fiasco Shaun placed his hands on my shoulders, holding me still and force the self-to focus on him. "If your career went away today, would you still was " Would you move for her?"

ice that Yes, my heart screamed.

But my head spoke louder.

ompare I would have altered everything for her if she'd asked. I would hav her anything.

Shaun Instead, she chose money over me.

Even if everything Shaun described happened, and by some mira still wanted me, I'd never trust her again. So no, it didn't matter cked at wanted. We were fucked no matter what.

person

r made

l me to

hate it

ould it

red, the

e every

me and

I..." My anger fizzled out and my gaze dropped to the ground. "I loved her because she was nothing like them."

Shaun placed his hands on my shoulders, holding me still and forcing me to focus on him. "If your career went away today, would you still want her? Would you move for her?"

Yes, my heart screamed.

But my head spoke louder.

I would have altered everything for her if she'd asked. I would have given her anything.

Instead, she chose money over me.

Even if everything Shaun described happened, and by some miracle she still wanted me, I'd never trust her again. So no, it didn't matter what I wanted. We were fucked no matter what.

CHAPTER THIRTY-THREE

ABI

'd experienced my fair share of breakups, some of them deva some of them a blip in time that had very little impact on my life of them plagued me.

For two weeks, Eva and Ros tiptoed around me, letting me walle pleased. Neither of them asked questions and I loved them for it.

That all changed when my final paycheque from the show h notification lit up on my phone, reminding me why I'd put myself position to fall in love in the first place.

I pulled out my laptop and loaded up the billing site for Eva's I loan. If I ticked that massive goal off the list, maybe I'd feel better.

"What the...?"

The balance read zero. I blinked at it for a second, before logging back in again, certain an error had occurred.

Nothing changed.

Two hundred thousand dollars down to zero.

"Eva!"

"What?" She rushed into my room, breathing hard from the sc. "What is it? Are you okay?"

I glanced at the screen again. Just to be sure. Still zero.

"Did — did you pay off your debts and not tell me?" Even as I s knew it would have been impossible. We didn't have that kind of cash.

"No, of course not." She joined me at my desk, glancing or shoulder. "Holy shit. I didn't do that."

"Then how...?" The question died on my lips. I knew how.

stating, I rubbed at my burning eyes, overwhelmed. Disbelief, relief, indigenous NoneIt all rolled through me, a tsunami of emotions I had no idea how with.

"You don't think Finn did it, do you?" she asked, her voice shaking Why would he do it? Especially after I...

it. The Tears slipped down my cheeks. I couldn't tear my eyes away fr in thescreen.

"Abi?"

nedical I shook my head and brushed at my cheeks, desperate for the wate to stop. Instead, I choked on a sob.

"Oh my god, Abs. What's wrong?" Eva knelt beside me. "It's out andknow, but I should be the one crying, not you. Talk to me."

"Why would he do that when I..."

"When you what?" Suspicion hardened her voice and her eyes na on me. "I..." Words failed me, and I sobbed harder.

ramble. I needed to stop crying. This didn't change anything. I'd made the choice. Eva's debts being paid off didn't make it okay for me to aband

"We've left you moping for days." She smoothed a hand down my aid it, I"We've kept our questions to ourselves." She gripped my chin, the edge to her tone fading out. "Time's up. Spill it, Abi."

ver my I released a slow breath, willing myself to get it together. She was couldn't keep it all in forever. It would only fester.

"I couldn't stay there, but I couldn't figure out how to tell F snation."

to deal "What did you do?"

"Avoided him. Made him think I didn't want him." I shut m squeezing them tight as I admitted, "Made him think I didn't love him. Silence.

om the "Why would you do that?" she eventually asked, her voice hoa quiet.

I frowned at her. Why didn't she get it?

erworks "I have to be here for you."

"Just so I'm clear, you love Finn?" She took a deep breath huge, Inodded, releasing it slow and measured. "And he loves you?"

"Probably?"

Only he had said it, hadn't he? The first time those words fell fi urrowedlips and they were in anger. I couldn't help but feel the burn of regre hadn't gotten to hear it in a softer light.

"And rather than stay with him and let him love you," she grim-

she spoke, "you chose to lie to him, break his heart, and come home large right of me?"

on her. I nodded, my gaze roaming her face as confusion stuttered throu reheek. Why did she sound disappointed?

gentle Eva shook her head, a tiny smile curling her lips. "I love you, *A* you can be such an idiot sometimes."

right, I I spluttered at that. "No, I'm not."

"Oh, you definitely are." Eva stood, her grim, shocked exprinn," Igradually lifting as she chuckled.

"Why are you laughing?"

"Because for once, I'm not the fuck-up."

y eyes, I followed her into the hallway. "You were never the fuck-up."

She snorted. "Your memory's not that shit, Abs."

"No, it's not. You were always the quiet, unadventurous chilcurse butglanced over her shoulder grinning at me.

She walked into the kitchen, pulled out a bottle of red and gestured to sit down while she poured it.

"You didn't know about me being grounded for most of my teen when Isniggered when I continued to stare at her in confusion. "Mom was r tear her hair out. Friday nights, I crawled through my bedroom v reeking of alcohol."

rom his Eva had to be joking. I'd left a shy, sixteen-year-old behind. She'd et that I virgin in more ways than one.

"I'm deadly serious, Abs." She pushed a glass of wine towards me aced as down, her eyes twinkling with amusement. "They were very happy

becausemoved out and became your problem." Then her smile faded, and she her head. "Why the hell would you give up a man like that for me?"

igh me. "How can you ask me that?" I cried before gulping down a fortify of wine. "What if you relapse and I'm on the other side of the country hbi, but if you relapse, and I'm on the other side of the world? I couldn't limpself, Eva."

Eva's smile returned. It softened her face and made my heart a pression

"Babe, nothing in life is certain. We, of all people, should know h it can change." She reached for my hand, squeezing it. "With our pare my diagnosis, it taught me not to take anything for granted." Her hea as she took me in, sadness creasing her brow. "I thought you'd lear same thing."

My chest ached. I guess in a way, my decision to do the show hat it." Evaexactly that... Life had gotten stagnant and I had started to take it granted. I needed a shake-up. I just hadn't been prepared to fall in lov for methe way.

It made sense, but it didn't change anything. Even if she didn't n s." $_{\text{Eva}}$ right now, I couldn't live with myself if I couldn't be here for her if an $_{\text{eady to}}$ she did. The fear that her cancer would relapse would never leave me.

window "I appreciate the perspective." I smiled at her, moisture brimming eyes. "But it's too late. I pushed him too hard. He'd never take me bac

been a Eva leaned towards me across our small dining table. Her gaze s as tears rolled down my cheeks unchecked.

and sat "Do you know how many times Mom and Dad fought?" she when Ismiling again.

e shook "I *never* saw them argue."

Eva scoffed. "How? They went at it like cats and dogs every co 'ing sipmonths. Huge blowouts."

? What "How didn't I..."

ve with

"Not the point." Eva brushed it away with a flick of her hand. "I'n to make you see some sense here. Stop interrupting." When I zipped r che for she continued. "They never separated, Abs. Sure Dad slept on the couple of times, but they *always* made up, no matter the size of the figlow fast

I dragged a hand across my face, swiping at the tears. "What and trying to say?"

"Only one person is stopping you from fixing this." She lifted my ned the and pressed my palms to her cheeks, grinning. "And that person, dea is you."

For a second, I let the possibility take root. I imagined what it we all for like to take it all back. We'd renew our vows. I'd travel with him whe along he got a job outside the city. Maybe invest the time I'd lacked for ye building my own career in fashion.

eed me
Then Eva's smiling face swam back into focus.

I'd still be leaving my sister behind. I'd still live on the other side country.

g in my Nothing would change.

oftened "Thank you for the pep talk." I tugged my hands from her grip, softly. "But it doesn't change anything."

asked,

*

uple of

"Mr McCarthy, I'm sorry to disturb you, but there's a lady at the gate an appointment," the guard said when I answered the incessantly a tryingphone

ny lips, Why hadn't he turned her away? I'd put a hard do not disturb sofa ahouse expecting a media-feeding frenzy. Even Charlie had started pr ht." for every eventuality.

are you The guard cleared his throat. "I've told her no one gets in with appointment," he continued when my silence stretched. "But she's a y handsshe needs to speak to you today. What would you like me to do?"

r sister, "Who is it?"

"She says her name is Eva Johnson."

ould be Abi's sister. *Fuck*.

nenever

Before I could think too hard about it, I gave my okay.

ars into

Why is she even in LA?

She'd refused to visit while Abi lived here, but decided our split w
the perfect time for a trip?

The bell rang, echoing through the house and booming in my ear v proximity to the door. I should have taken a moment, composed maybe found a brush to tame the dreadlocks my unwashed hair had be smiling

Instead, I threw the door open, startling the woman who looked labut not at the same time.

"Why did you fly to LA to shout at me?"

She blinked at me, startled.

"I didn't." She winced. "Much. Can I come in?"

without After a moment's deliberation, I gave in to my curiosity. I steppe ringing gesturing at the hallway. She edged inside, taking in the marble flow black ironwork I barely noticed anymore.

on my I led her in and stopped at the breakfast bar.

eparing She sighed. "I'm not here to shout at you. I'm here to talk."

I pressed my lips together. I had nothing to say to her.

nout an "I'm serious, Finn." Her blue gaze fixed on me as her hands lar damanther hips, just like Abi.

Something in my chest squeezed tight.

Eva gestured to the sofas. "Can we sit?"

She didn't wait for my okay, just breezed past me, expecting I'd Just like—

Stop with the fucking Abi comparisons!

"I know you paid off my medical bills," Eva said as she settled g ould beon the sofa.

"Okay."

with my What else was I meant to say? She already knew I'd done it. Der myself, would be pointless, and she hadn't asked for a justification.

"Considering the way things ended between you and Abi, that was ike Abi surprise and an incredible gift. Thank you." Her head tilted as she con me. "There's no easy way to say this, Finn, so I'm just going to word all over you and let you do what you please with the information."

My brows furrowed and I leaned forward.

"Abi's the best person I know. Not many people would work the d $_{back}$, to the bone to keep their family afloat, but that's her, through and the por $_{and}$ She's loyal."

I waited patiently for her to make her point. Inside, I squirmed. C last two weeks, I'd started to let Shaun's words and my memories merge. It hurt, conceding that he might have been right, but reality with him.

No story had dropped. No unflattering videos. No irate phone cal ided on my agent about leaked voice recordings.

I couldn't deny the truth anymore, but if she hadn't betrayed me actively chosen to leave me.

"And that's exactly why I'm here," she said. "I don't fully und follow what she made you believe, but my idiot sister decided that staying he LA, with you... would be as close to abandonment as she could get."

"I'm not following you." Even so, my stomach dropped.

- She chuckled. "Yeah, I had a similar reaction." She studied me, postering far more than I'd like. "Do you love her? A bold question, I knit's important."
- nying it "Why does it matter?" My brows rose, daring her to spew some in the spew some in t
- s both a "And I'll say it again, she's a bloody idiot." Eva shook her head. sidereddoesn't change the fact that she loves you. So I'll ask again. Do you lo I vomitAnswer the question and I'll try to explain."

"Explain and then I'll answer the question," I countered, my to

and unyielding.

nselves "Fine," she sighed. "Abi loves you, but she's terrified. Afraid I'll hrough that she'd be off living her life to the fullest for once and too far away to me."

Over the I cleared my throat, my brow furrowing as I tried to make sense of Abi"What are you trying to say?"

agreed Eva glanced over my shoulder, taking in the sprawl of LA beneat think she believes LA is too far."

ls from "It's a six-hour flight."

"I know." Eva shrugged. "You don't need to tell me. I know she'dbeing rational, but she won't listen to me."

The penny dropped and I shook my head.

"She pushed *me* away, Eva. If she hasn't changed her mind by now re... in makes you think she ever will?" I took a deep breath, suppressing the pain that fact caused.

I refused to latch on to the hope she dangled before me. Oh, I wa robablyBadly. But Abi had made her decision. She'd unwittingly used m ow, butagainst me, forcing me to lash out at her and presenting the perfect out to leave me without a spec of guilt.

fanciful "Only because she thought she had to."

She stared at me, her hope blaring at me from a far too familia "But itEvery muscle in my body strained at the idea of jumping on a plave her? forcing her to see reason. If I were the fanciful optimist, I would have

been in New York days ago. As much as I'd wanted it, one thing stoome hardway...

"She wouldn't forgive me."

relapse, Eva smiled. "I think you're wrong."

y to get "Why?"

Eva leaned forward, her voice dropping. "You didn't hear it from of it all. she's a mess. She's never allowed a guy to reduce her to a mopin before. You, though? She can't shake you off."

h us. "I "I accused her of using me for money, fame, and hatching a destroy me in the process." It hurt to admit it, but it needed to be sai might be upset, but I drove her away just as much as she ran. If the ge's notloved couldn't see through your lies, knowing you had a shitty poker begin with, and blew up on you, would you take them back?"

Eva chewed her lip, her shoulders slumping slightly. "Okay, so w_{N} , what need a bigger grand gesture than I thought."

stab of My mouth dropped open. "I'm not making a gesture when she bloody want me."

nted it. Disbelief flickered across Eva's face. "Stop being a stubborn ass y fearslisten to me." Her jaw shifted and her cheeks reddened. Just like At for herloves you. She made a stupid, misinformed decision and I've corrected

"Then why are you here but not her?" My voice echoed arousnapping in frustration.

ar face. "Oh, give me strength," Eva growled, pinching the bridge of he me and When she refocused on me, her eyes narrowed. "Clearly, you bot alreadyissues, Finn. Abi's dealing with hers. Now you need to fucking de d in myyours and grow a pair. She seems to think you wouldn't take her back she begged." Her brows rose. "Is that true?"

I considered it, let the possibility wash over me.

If I hadn't been blinded by my past and eager to mistrust.... In sank into the betrayal I expected and focused on nothing else.

me, but Abi might have needed money, but she didn't once ask me for it. g messno idea what medical debt equalled in the States.

It would have been easier for her to manipulate me into giving plan tomoney than finding dirt and the contacts to sell it for the right price.

d. "She "What does that look mean?" Eva asked, wiggling her finger in my

"She never intended for me to pay off your debt, did she?"

face to "Of course not," Eva snapped, indignation pinching her lips. "We'

to being on our own. Asking each other for help is hard enough."

e might "Okay."

"Okay?" Eva squeaked, sitting taller. "Does that mean...?" She g doesn't somehow reading the answer on my face.

"I hope you have ideas for this grand gesture," I muttered.

hat and

"As a matter of fact, I do." She pulled a notebook out of her, bran

i. "She it like a trophy. "I made a list on the flight."

and us,

er nose.

:h have

al with

even if

I considered it, let the possibility wash over me.

If I hadn't been blinded by my past and eager to mistrust.... Instead, I sank into the betrayal I expected and focused on nothing else.

Abi might have needed money, but she didn't once ask me for it. I'd had no idea what medical debt equalled in the States.

It would have been easier for her to manipulate me into giving her the money than finding dirt and the contacts to sell it for the right price.

"What does that look mean?" Eva asked, wiggling her finger in my face.

"She never intended for me to pay off your debt, did she?"

"Of course not," Eva snapped, indignation pinching her lips. "We're used to being on our own. Asking each other for help is hard enough."

"Okay."

"Okay?" Eva squeaked, sitting taller. "Does that mean...?" She grinned, somehow reading the answer on my face.

"I hope you have ideas for this grand gesture," I muttered.

"As a matter of fact, I do." She pulled a notebook out of her, brandishing it like a trophy. "I made a list on the flight."

CHAPTER THIRTY-FOUR

ABI

" hanks for coming in today, Abi," Tyler said, waving me i apartment with a smile. "We'll make it as fast as we can, bu said on the phone, we just need you to wrap things up for the show."

I nodded and followed him into the plush penthouse suite. For ceiling windows dominated the living room wall, framing a gorgeous of the Empire State Building uptown. I knew the show had money, always assumed they reserved it for celebrities.

"Okay, so it's been a month since you gave up on Finn," Tyler sa they'd mic'd me up and messed around with the lighting. "Tell me he feel right now."

I drew in a breath. It pinched. No amount of breathing exercises shift the ball of tension in my chest. I'd tried meditating every sing With Eva's debt paid off, I'd quit my third job and taken an extra co weeks off from the travel agency.

The free time allowed me to spend more time doing the things I hanging out with my sister and Ros, scouring thrift shops, going t

classes, and working on designs.

All of it used to feed my soul. I'd expected at least one of them the ache of loss. They never did.

Tyler watched me, that easy smile curling his lips. He held himse ease for once, no tension whatsoever. He leaned back in his chair, presenting from him in waves. I found the change startling.

None of that helped me decide how to answer his question.

"I didn't expect it to hurt this much," I said, at last. "Sure, I join show hoping for more, but I don't think I expected to find it. I de didn't consider the consequences."

nto the
"That's great, Abi." He grimaced. "Not the pain part, of course.
"It like I we go further, I have something to show you, if you wouldn't mind."

"Sure." What else was I meant to say?

view of Tyler nodded and Ethan pressed a button on a remote. The TV fl but I'dto life, displaying the apartment surrounding me, down to the armchain. I snuck a glance at Tyler, confusion hitting me hard. He just smi id once

ow you My brows rose as Finn took a seat and went through the setup.

him in. He looked good, but something about the sight of him sc
would tired... like me.

sle day. "Talk to me about how things ended with Abi," Tyler said, his uple of echoing from the screen. I side-eyed the producer sitting behind the carefront of me.

loved, It felt rather meta to be watching part of the show while someone to yogame for the same show.

"Maybe we could back up a bit?" Finn asked, his voice surp to easetentative. Usually, he'd dictate the direction and breeze over suggestions. My brows furrowed at the change. "I haven't exactly beenth with my feelings for Abi on the show."

nationce "You're right. We've seen glimpses, but"

Finn took a deep breath and rolled his shoulders, then he looked into the camera. For a second, it almost felt like he saw me.

ned the "I took on this project expecting to walk away unaffected after finitely months. I've realised recently that my past relationship history set mexpect the worst from women," he said, his voice gravelly. "Every sin Before of them wanted one of two things from me, and in my experience, they care how they got it. So I just wouldn't take the risk."

He sighed and the sound rushed through me. I couldn't believe n or ears. Finn had spent months working to keep even a grain of his to ickered from the show, and he blew it all on an exit interview?

led and "That all changed with Abi. Despite my best efforts, she snuck l my defences and then bulldozed them to the ground."

I drank I soaked in every word like a dehydrated woman.

reamed "With her, I got a glimpse into what a relationship should be, two equally caring for and loving each other."

s voice He did?

mera in "She made me laugh, she made me burn in all the right ways swallowed hard, hesitation flickering in his gaze for all of a second be filmedstared at me once more, determination blazing in his eyes. "She m *feel*, for the first time in seven years. I can't tell you when it happene fell in love with her."

risingly I sucked in a breath.

Tyler's Finn shook his head, chuckling. "The irony in that, right?" He s en open wincing ever so slightly. "As much as it hurts right now, I wouldn't moment of it back."

He wouldn't?

"I'm not proud things fell apart for us, but I guess it was inevital were incredible together... until we weren't. Abi started pulling away threefelt like my fears were coming to life. It all mirrored my ex's action e up tobefore she leaked a sex tape I had no knowledge of making."

gle one "Oh no," I whispered. Why did he say that? He'd worked so hard y didn'thimself separate from the show.

"For a week, I stewed, believing that Abi would betray me in a ny eyes fashion. I didn't want to be trapped in a house with her, waiting rue self evidence to drop. So I escaped, accepted the first job I could, and got

out of LA. For a couple of days, I could pretend my life wasn't a peneathimplode." His eyes narrowed on someone beyond the camera, plant Tyler. "And then you dropped Abi in my lap in Canada, which by the was a shitty move, even for you."

people "Yes, it was," I agreed in a low murmur.

Tyler handed me a box of tissues with an apologetic smile. I accept offering, but forgiveness would take a while. Without him, Finn and ..." He have coasted to the end of the show. Avoiding each other would have fore he easy. No explosive argument, no gut-wrenching pain.

ade me "It took losing her for me to realise how much of an idiot I'd been d, but Isaid. His jaw shifted and his eyes burned into me, a promise in their c couldn't understand. "I expected everyone to want me for my mon

fame. I was terrified of it, in fact, and refused to let anyone put me obered, position of making the same mistakes again. When you introduced me take a woman in debt, agreeing to disrupt her life for months for mone could I think anything else?"

A lump formed in my throat at the watery glimmer in his eyes. I that. I'd known about his ex, he trusted me with that, and I'd used it ole. We him.

y and it

I pressed a tissue to my eyes, willing myself to pull it together. He be better off without me.

"But you weren't using me, were you, dotey?" Finn asked, startling
His voice hadn't come from the screen. I lowered the tissue, g
similar around the room with pinched brows.

for the Finn stood a couple of feet away from me, devouring me with the hellinterest than I deserved. His curly black hair was perfect, and his beautofinely trimmed, but he didn't look perfect. No, the tiredness I'd been robably to place in the recording clung to him.

Finn took a step, then another and another, until he stopped at my sknelt with a smile. "But first I need to apologise to you."

the "No, you don't." I shook my head hard, reaching for him bef I couldcommon sense could scream at me. My fingers smoothed along his love been jaw and he captured my hand, holding it there as his eyes fell shundidn't do anything wrong."

," Finn Finn's eyes popped open, spearing me with an intensity that melepths Iwant to squirm in my seat.

iey and "I believed you'd willingly hurt me, even though you'd never give

e in thereason to expect it." Finn's brows furrowed. "I'd say that was wrong. I to Abi, fears control me, blind me, when if I'd taken a moment to remember we ye, howwere, I'd have seen right through it all." He grimaced, his hand do from mine and his focus skipping away from my face in shame. "I sai 'd done pretty nasty things I wish I could take back too."

against "But it doesn't change anything," I whispered. I gripped his chin, his gaze back to mine. "I pushed *you* away. I made you feel all of tl wouldnot your fault, but it doesn't change my choices."

Finn studied me, assessing and then he bit his lip, holding back ϵ "So does that mean you forgive me?"

lancing "I don't need to forgive you." I frowned.

"But if you did, you would?"

h more "Yes."

"Good." He grinned as his hands landed on my arms. He shuff unable around to face the camera again. "Tell them you don't want a divorce."

"I can't, Finn." I shook him off and stood.

y feel." Ian huffed but scrambled out of his seat and rushed to unclip the ide and from the tripod.

"Yes, you can." Finn climbed to his feet, determination shining ore my eyes. "You love me, I know you do." pearded

"Of course, I do," I shouted. "But it can't…" I dragged a hand 1 my hair, tugging at the auburn strands. "It's not that simple."

"If being in LA full-time is too much for you, we'll live here."

I stopped dead, sure I'd misheard him. Heart pounding, I slowly tu face him. "You don't mean that."

[let my "I do."

"No, you don't." I stomped back towards him, suddenly angry. "Y ropping you'd never leave LA because you had to be there when you did some working. You can't just decide you're moving to New York on a wheexpect me to..."

forcing To what? Cave? My god, I wanted to cave so badly. Elation nat. It's through me, robbing me of breath and sense.

"I told you I hated LA too, dotey." Finn's voice softened.

His hands smoothed over my shoulders, gripping tight enough to a my attention. I glanced up, meeting his gaze and forgetting how to brea a second. He smiled at me and I swallowed hard at the conviction is line of his expression.

"You mean it?" I asked shakily.

He glanced around the room with a smirk, then nodded. "Yes, I me "You won't change your mind?"

Finn leaned forward until his face hovered inches from mine grir camera_{me}.

"You didn't think the production could afford to rent this apartm; in hisone interview, did you?" He chuckled as my eyes widened and a glin an idea took root.

through "You... you bought it?"

"Do you like it?" he asked instead.

I bit my lip and concern trickled into his gaze.

"I'll sell it if you don't, and we can go flat-shopping together."

I glanced around again. How had he realised...

"I don't understand," I finally admitted.

ou said Finn kneaded my shoulders, smiling despite my hesitation. "You weren'tcame to see me."

"You don't mean she..." My eyes widened when he nodded. "E sister. Took away off from work and went to LA?" Disbelief drippe workedthe words.

She wouldn't take a day off to visit me, but meddling was perfectly "I was shocked too, but she had some convincing arguments." He demandme towards him, his expression turning serious. "Like the fact you

athe foryou'd be abandoning her if you stayed with me." His brows rose, dai

n everyto lie and disagree.

"Yes, that might be true." I winced as he speared me with a sardon "Definitely true. I started to try, but..."

"an it." "I told you I couldn't leave LA, and you gave up."

"Yes," I groaned. "I'm sorry."

I truly felt about the city." He pulled me into his chest, wrapping lent for around me.

nmer of I'm ashamed to say my first instinctive reaction was to breathe
Between his spicy scent filling my lungs and the delicious heat of h
wrapped around mine, the ache started to ease, and I relaxed for the fit
in weeks.

Weeks of pain that I'd brought on myself and inflicted on Finn. deserve his comfort or forgiveness.

"No, it's not this simple." I pressed my hands to his chest and]

Finn refused to loosen his grip, so I leaned back and stared into hur sister expression.

"It is this simple."

va. My "No. It's not." I shook my head hard. "I hurt you. I left you, even and from that?"

He released me to brush them away. "Because I need you more tugged want to live without you, dotey," he whispered, his tone softened but thought he peered at me. "I love you. Don't make me live my life without you, ring me Abi girl."

"You would move to New York for me?"

"I still need to be in LA sometimes." He pulled me back into his "My next project is mainly in LA, so we'd have to spend some of there, but the rest, yes we can spend here if you want. We can go to Paris, wherever you want." A devious glint entered his eyes and I'd will to resist him. "You just have to talk to me, Abi. I want you to be leave how the grazed his knuckles across my cheek. "I can't make that happen his arm don't tell me what you want."

"And if I never want to leave New York again, or I want my s him in. travel with us?" My voice shook as I asked the question.

"Then your sister would travel with us." He lowered his face t rst time mine, the sadness filtering back into his gaze. "I missed you. Pleas make me experience that again."

"Okay," I whispered before sliding my hands up his arms and i hair. "Under one condition."

"Name it," he said without pause.

is grim "I get to keep working. I'd like to keep learning and keep p fashion."

A smug smirk curled Finn's lips. "Your final stipulation is that I thoughjobs on my projects?"

forgive "Not necessarily. I just—"

"I just told you I don't want to be separated from you. If I got yo than Ion someone else's film, how would that benefit me?" Amusement slt sad as Finn's eyes, and I could only stare at him as the realisation hit. "Done please, Now fucking kiss me."

His fingers drove into my hair, tugging me forward but also stopp from dodging him again. His lips pressed against mine, coaxing but it s chest. as he took control. I didn't need the gentleness.

he year I bit his lip, silently begging him to speed things up, and he pulle Milan, grinning like a maniac. He started into my eyes, desire darken lost all expression as the fun and amusement drained away.

happy." "Your time's up," he said, confusing me. Then I realised his for if you shifted to Tyler and his crew.

I shriek-laughed as he scoped me off my fit and into his arms, ister to style.

"See yourselves out," he called over his shoulder.

Finn carried me down the hallway and through an open bedroom e don't the end. This room at least had a bed. He lay me down on it and back, his gaze devouring me.

into his "Stop teasing me, Finn."

"Why? I'd say a little punishment is in order, wouldn't you?"

I groaned, but collapsed onto my back, wholeheartedly agreeir ursuing him. He could do anything he wanted to me, as long as he never let m get you him again. u a job hone in , dotey. ing me nsistent d back, ing his cus had bridaldoor at stepped

I groaned, but collapsed onto my back, wholeheartedly agreeing with him.

He could do anything he wanted to me, as long as he never let me leave him again.

CHAPTER THIRTY-FIVE

FINN

hree weeks later, I'd say we'd finally settled into our Nev apartment. Some things were still a work in progress, li schedules, but the important things were in place. I had Abi with m times.

Between my parents and my friends flying in, I had a matter of hc before I lost my coveted alone time with Abi. And the woman had a she needed to go to the corner shop instead of spending it with me.

Abi wandered towards me with bags of groceries hanging from he The sight of them gave me pause.

"I thought you were going down for a bottle of wine, not to buy shop." I rushed towards her, freeing her of every single one of them should have asked Chris to go if you needed all this."

With things starting to get back on track with my career, Charlie that I hire an assistant. I missed a couple of auditions and forgot to script or two while I focused on Abi. So I conceded defeat.

"I'm not used to having an assistant, Finn." She stole a bag back

brushing past me, into the kitchen area. "Besides, he's your assistamine."

"It's the same thing."

I placed the bags on the island in front of her and started unpacking didn't understand why she needed to go to the shop when we had a turning up in less than an hour.

"It's definitely not the same."

I hummed, refusing to agree but tired of arguing over it. She'd get the lifestyle change eventually.

"I just thought your mother might like the chocolates we talked v York and your sister was desperate to try a cronut."

le at all I stopped with a pack of marshmallows dangling between my fing eyed my wife. "You didn't just go to the corner shop, did you?"

She snorted. "Of course not. I would have been back hours ago."

decided Ordinarily, I'd use this as an opportunity to remind her why she no bodyguard. *Married Blind* had officially aired and half the country now ar arms. her and her connection to me on sight. But with our home being invatible people who mattered most to us in a matter of hours, I took the highest and decided *not* to add more stress.

of the apartment. She narrowed her eyes on a set of chairs she'd repositioned five times.

read a "Leave the furniture alone."

"But maybe they'll look better over there." She pointed to a before framed by windows.

ant, not "You tried them there yesterday."

"I know but—"

I tugged her into my arms and slanted my lips over hers, end g. I stillargument. She moaned, clutching my chest for a second before she caterersme away.

"Don't get me all hot and bothered when we don't have time pouted and I couldn't help but grin.

used to "I'm pretty sure I could blow your mind in under an hour, dotey."

"Doesn't mean I want to rush."

l about, My brows rose. A month in and she turned down sex. *Un-f* believable.

"You dragged me into the bathroom at your sister's for a quic week." Incredulity screeched through my voice. "Why is this any diffe

"Because Eva didn't care if my hair went into a bun." Abi cros eeded aarms and glared at me.

w knew "And I do?"

aded by

"No, but your mother will."

gh road

I couldn't help it, I laughed.

the rest

"That's not helping, Finn."

"Sorry, it's just hilarious." I bit my lip, struggling to stem my amus "My parents can't keep their hands off each other, dotey. Never hav able to. I guarantee you, they'll disappear into the spare room at minutes of making nice."

corner

Her mouth dropped open in shock. "You're joking?"

"Nope." I grinned as her face turned a lovely shade of scarlet. "
we're not going to fuck, how bad's the heat out there?" I nodded
ing the window. "Will I die if I go for a run?"

pushed I had no intention of setting foot outside the air-conditioned apa People could say what they liked about LA, but at least there was a e." She No, I wanted an argument. It had fast become my favourite way to get my way and get Abi off.

She's stressing out over something inconsequential? Start an arg we fuck, Abi has an orgasm, bye-bye stress.

I eyed the tension in her shoulders. If she didn't ditch it before the *ucking*-turned up, she'd get in their way and make her life more difficunecessary.

kie last

"It was fine."

rent?"

I frowned. "My fine, or your screwed-up fine?"

sed her

"My fine is not screwed up!"

"So it's not forty degrees outside masquerading as twenty-nine won't collapse the second I leave the building?"

Abi's brows furrowed. "Jesus, Finn, speak American. It's only three."

"But is it actually?" I barely contained my smirk. "I'm Irish, lo sement don't do humidity, remember?"

A growl of frustration fell from her lips before she launched he fter ten me. I silently congratulated myself on a job well done and then focu getting us to our bedroom before Abi decided she wanted it on the counter. Something I'd ordinarily get behind but with caterers coming

Well ifhad to draw the line somewhere.

to the I rushed into the room, lay her down on the bed and started he around to remove my clothes. Abi laughed at me, a glorious sou ortment.echoed around the room.

breeze. "Stop laughing and get your clothes off, woman." Naked, I reac equallyher arms, tugging her up before I gripped her dress and tore it over her

"I can't help it." She hiccuped, her eyes streaming with to sument, amusement. "You just look so serious while - while... Oh!"

I dragged my fingers through her folds and she swallowed her la e catersHer head fell back on a moan as I circled her clit.

"Now do I have your attention?" I grinned as I lowered myself knees.

"Yes," she moaned.

Satisfied, I ducked my head and focused on teasing an orgasm from might have promised a quickie, but I had no intention of rushing. He and Imuscles twitched at the scrap of my beard against her sensitive skin hips jolted forward at the first lap of my tongue.

driving her higher and higher only to pull back, time and time again.

we, we "Please, Finn," Abi eventually begged. Her fingers drove into n tugging hard enough to lift my head. "I want to come."

"Since you asked so sweetly." I smirked as I lowered my head againsed on My lips latched onto her clit. Sucking. Nibbling. Caressing. H kitchenshifted restlessly until her cries for more soon turned to release.

ng in, I She smiled at me when I climbed onto the bed, a look of pure

moved her into the centre of the bed and sat back on my hunches, s lopping myself. There was something addictive about seeing her boneless and nd that after an orgasm. I'd never get enough of it.

Abi reached for me and I gave in happily, lowering myself on top of hed for dragged the tip of my cock through the folds of her soaking wet head. torturing us both with the smallest flickers of pleasure.

ears of "Finn," she gasped as her hips jolted forward, trying and failing to me deeper. Her fingers clutched at my forearms with desperation. "

ughter."

We both groaned as I sank deep into her tight heat. For a second, clambering for control and patience as her body squeezed and pulsed me.

I'll never get enough of her.

n her. I Her nails dragged across my back, urging me on. I slammed i er thigh again and again, eliciting a chorus of moans from us both, driving us and her edge fast.

Just as the tingling started in my back, I slowed and rolled us until on top of me, gasping and groaning at the sudden position change.

My fingers dug into her hips, encouraging her to rock against m 1y hair, jolt and she whimpered, collapsing against my chest.

"That's not helping." I chuckled, the sound muffled by her hair face.

er hips I continued to rock up into her, dragging an endless stream of nois her.

bliss. I "Do I need to reconsider putting you on top?" I asked, half joking.

troking "Yes," she groaned against my neck, the vibration sending a shive flushedmy spine. "Please."

I grinned, accepting her admission as permission to take control. Jof her. Iliked it. Flipping us back over, I tucked an arm under her knee and lift pussy, leg. My cock slid deeper inside of her. The walls of her pussy for around me, pushing me closer and closer towards the end. I ground to drawher clit with every thrust, determined to make her boneless and incohologiese. I picked up the momentum once again.

This time when I felt the edge coming, I didn't slow down. "I froze, you're close, dotey."

around "Fuck, yes," she panted.

Her fingers dug into my biceps, clinging to me as she shattered cock. I buried my face in her neck and shuddered through my own relento her Satisfaction and gratitude coursed through me as my heart pounces to theour bodies settled down from the high. Abi's fingers grazed up and down back, caressing my heated skin and making me wish we had all day Abi satnight.

I lifted my head, smiling down at her, absorbing every detail—her le. One face, her pleasure-drunk glazed blue eyes and her auburn hair sprawl my pillow.

in my Her lips curled as I caressed her jaw. "What?" she asked.

I shook my head, lost for words for a moment as gratitude overwes fromme.

"I love you, dotey," I said after clearing my throat.

Her smile grew. "I love you too, Finneas."

er down For a second, I gawked at her, not believing my ears. "That happening."

fust as I "Why? You call me dotey. I need a nickname for you too." She posted herme.

luttered "And you can have one. Just not *that*." I shuddered, amusement against_{tone}.

The movement caused my hips to press harder against her. Her fluttered as she groaned and her pussy squeezed me once more.

"Fuck," I groaned. "Do we have to get out of bed?"

Abi chuckled.

"Why am I not surprised?" Nathan's voice cut through the silence.
on my
Abi startled beneath me, squeaking slightly at the surprise. He
tightened around my half-hard cock and I barely suppressed a g

grabbed the sheet and dragged it over us before pulling out of Abi. I will my to the side, making sure she stayed covered by the sheet, while I glare and all friend.

"I knew I shouldn't have given you lot the code."

flushed
ed over
otherwise." He chuckled. "You two might be worse than Shaun and M

"Hey!" A high-pitched Scottish voice shouted from down the resent the implication."

Nathan's brows rose and he shook his head. He had a point, but have to make it standing in our bedroom doorway?

"It's not an implication if it's the truth," he shouted back at Monhe grinned. "Plus, aren't you lucky we turned up early and could l

```
is not caterers in?"

Abi stiffened against me. "Who's out there?"

outed at "Oh, just Shaun, Mona, Jackson..."

She blow out a relieved sigh and sagged again
```

She blew out a relieved sigh and sagged against me. "That's okay t in my "And Finn's family of course."

"What?" She sat upright, clutching the sheet to her chest. I grable eyelids before she could jump off the bed, leaving me naked in her panic. "joking, right?"

Nathan smirked and sauntered away without responding.

"He's joking, isn't he?" She turned to me, her eyes wide with panic "Probably not."

"Finn! I told you we shouldn't have." She slapped my ches roan. Iscrambled out of bed, her eyes wild. "I can't believe I let you talk me shifted quickie. What will your parents think?" she hissed.

d at my I chuckled and didn't move an inch. "I guarantee they won't care."

```
ig you,
ona."
hall. "I
```

did he

a. Then et your

caterers in?"

Abi stiffened against me. "Who's out there?"

"Oh, just Shaun, Mona, Jackson..."

She blew out a relieved sigh and sagged against me. "That's okay then."

"And Finn's family of course."

"What?" She sat upright, clutching the sheet to her chest. I grabbed her before she could jump off the bed, leaving me naked in her panic. "You're joking, right?"

Nathan smirked and sauntered away without responding.

"He's joking, isn't he?" She turned to me, her eyes wide with panic.

"Probably not."

"Finn! I told you we shouldn't have." She slapped my chest, then scrambled out of bed, her eyes wild. "I can't believe I let you talk me into a quickie. What will your parents think?" she hissed.

I chuckled and didn't move an inch. "I guarantee they won't care."

EPILOGUE

NATHAN



The things I do for my friends. No one else could have con me to wear a baby blue tuxedo and walk down a flower-strewn aisle woman on my arm who wasn't Catrina.

Technically, I shouldn't have been going *anywhere* with Catrina, dick wanted what it wanted.

"Smile," Isla whispered, barely moving her lips as she side-ey "Better." She pinched my arm and I just about held back a glare.

"What was that for?" I hissed.

"For potentially ruining my sister's wedding photos." She smiled at an older woman off to our right, tears streaming down her face. " care how you screw up your love life. Keep it away from my baby special day."

The side door opened, and in stepped Catrina, almost like she' summoned. Her golden-brown hair curled into perfect waves tricking into believing her soft-hearted image. If not for her pinched li

narrowed eyes, she'd pull it off.

Of course, those eyes narrowed on me.

What have I done now?

"Stop," Isla growled. She pinched me again and nodded towards approaching alter and my perplexed best friend. "You're an actor. Act.

Cowed, I blocked out the burn of Catrina's gaze against my ne focused on Shaun. The lucky wanker looked normal in his black suit a compared to the rest of us. The only patch of blue on him came from l tie.

Isla left me with a parting warning look before stepping up onto 1 to Shaun's left. The moment I stepped into line beside him, he towards me, a flicker of concern in his gaze.

with a

"I'm fine."

His brows rose. "That's why your lawyer's crashed my we but the Because you're fine?" He nodded to where Catrina leaned against a w arms crossed as she watched me. ed me.

"I don't know what she wants." The lie slipped off my tongue with

Well, partial lie. I had no idea why she'd followed me to Edinbu simple email would have sufficed.

sweetly

Finn and Abi reached the end of the aisle, clinging to the other u 'I don't sister's very last minute.

A couple of months ago, I would have sneered at the sight. I wou had immense fun ribbing Finn for his sappy moments. 'd been

Now, things had changed. My gaze tracked to Cat again. people

At least, for me they had. The damn woman had far too strict a s ps and

propriety for my liking.

All the more rewarding when I finally fuck it out of her.

"I don't want drama at my wedding, Logan," Shaun said, a warni the fast in his voice. "This is a drama-free space. Do not stress Mona out today "What are we talking about?" Finn asked, joining us with cack and painted plain across his face.

nd tails "Nothing," I grumbled.

the dais not whine. Somehow he pulled off the baby blue suit. How? I tongue on the whine of frustration dying to get loose. Hollywood royal the dais not whine.

swayed "Nathan's brought his drama to my wedding."

"Oh, did he, now?" Finn grinned, his brows climbing as utter skittered across his face. "Are we taking bets on how long it takes for edding?fall into bed?"

"all, her "Don't waste your breath." I turned to face the crowded hall.

Ornate, antique chandeliers hovered above their heads. The As Rooms barely needed decorating with their decorative walls and a 1rgh. Afeatures. The place looked like a fairytale come to life.

Shaun had to pull some serious strings to get the venue for New ntil theEve but he'd managed it. Despite the chaos of the annual Hogmana party outside, they made the entire space over into their very own ld haveWonderland, with ice sculptors, faux furs and every white, blue a looking flower on the planet.

They'd even dressed us to look like Jack Frost. Every single one ense of protests fell on deaf ears and honestly, we'd do anything for Shaun,

owed Mona for rescuing him.

bit my A fanciful dream crashed into me, stealing my breath. One where *lty does* watch Cat walk towards me in a flowing white dress and a soft expresutter joy on her face.

Fuck.

delight I never thought I'd be the commitment guy, but for her, maybe I c them to brave enough to feel what Finn and Shaun did towards Abi and Mone endless love.

The thought of it both terrified and excited me.

There was just one problem. We were still client and attorney and priginal my beautiful, fierce and rule-follower Cat — had resisted my every se attempt thus far.

Year's Time to up my game.

y street

WinterLoved Abi and Finn? Annoyed at me for not letting him tie her up? I'n nd icy-sorry! It wouldn't fit in the book, but it makes for an awesome bonus s Sign up for my newsletter and read it now.

• of our If you enjoyed *Married Blind*, please consider leaving a review on you and we preferred platform.

Next in the Kings of Screen series is Acting Counsel (turn the page for ons, the blurb). If you love strong women working their way through complicated all eyessituations, falling in love at inappropriate times with their off-limits actale. client, then this one is for you.

Cat's. books2read.com/ActingCounsel

den had

I got to

ssion of

ould be

a. Pure,

Cat —

duction

n

cene.

ır

Next in the Kings of Screen series is Acting Counsel (turn the page for the blurb). If you love strong women working their way through complicated situations, falling in love at inappropriate times with their off-limits actor client, then this one is for you.

books2read.com/ActingCounsel

ACTING COUNSEL

Catrina

He's the most impossible, difficult, hottest client I've ever had. And clc this deal could make my career. And his, for that matter. So I will remi — and myself — that the line between attorney and client is one I won cross.

And then he kisses me.

Nathan

She's the most beautiful, buttoned-up woman I've ever met. I just want see her a little less put together.

So I kissed her. It wasn't supposed to mean anything — just a way to g under her skin. But it made me think about obliterating that line she's c in the sand between us.

And the tabloids got hold of it.

Now we're stuck doing damage control from our shared hotel room in Scotland during New Year's Eve.

She's determined to keep things professional. And me? I'm determined show her just how good things could be. If she just lets it.

Acting Counsel is forced proximity Hollywood romance with forbidder set in the Kings of Screen world. It can be read as a standalone.

Ready to meet Nathan Logan? Set a date with him for June 6th, 20 preorder now —> books2read.com/ActingCounsel

osing ind him i't

ed to

et

lrawn

Acting Counsel is forced proximity Hollywood romance with forbidden vibes set in the Kings of Screen world. It can be read as a standalone.

Ready to meet Nathan Logan? Set a date with him for June 6th, 2023 and preorder now —> books2read.com/ActingCounsel

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Just as *Between Takes* was very much a book of my heart, *Married* wiggled its way into my head and refused to let go. Let's be hones McCarthy hijacked me and refused ransom. The man was determined his story told and what a story it was.

Without certain people, you wouldn't have met Finn and Abi and to thank them.

To my amazing editor, Dayna, a massive thank you for.. everything. We had a hell of a time getting to the finish line on the Thank you for filling me with confidence, fiercely cutting words, ask hard questions and powering through a terrifying twelve hours of tech failures. You're the best.

Big thanks to Janey for your endless support, daily encouragemhilarious comments whenever I left you hanging in a spicy scene. I'm sorry, but you're the best critique partner a girl could ever ask for. you.

Also thank you to my brilliant cover designer, Kirsty, for surpris every single time you hit my inbox. The way you inadvertently craft scenes for this series is incredible. You're incredible.

To my ARC team and reviewers, your support and love of my boc always be incredible to me. Thank you.

To the readers, thank you for reading this book and joining me and Finn's story.

d Blind

st, Finn

to have

l I need

well,nis one.ting the

ınology

ent and

still not

Thank

ing me

perfect

oks will

for Abi

ALSO BY MORGANA BEVAN

True Platinum Series (Rock Star Romance) (Rhiannon)

<u>Chasing Alys</u> – Ryan (Resistant to Love)

<u>Charming Daphne</u> – Matt (Force Proximity)

Winning Nia – James (Second Chance)

Enticing Mel – Dan (Secret Baby)

Needing Emily – Emily (Accidental Marriage/Runaway Bride)

<u>Defying Ella</u> - Jared (Close Proximity / Snowed-In)

(The Brightside)

Braving Lily - Lily (Feb 2023) (Opposites Attract)

Daring Ceri - Alex (August 2023) (Second Chance)

Kings of Screen Series (Hollywood Romance)

Between Takes (Enemies to Lovers)

Married Blind (Marriage of Convenience)

Acting Counsel (2023) (Close Proximity, Forbidden)

Sign up for Morgana Bevan's mailing list:

https://morganabevan.com/mailing-list/

ALSO BY MORGANA BEVAN

True Platinum Series (Rock Star Romance) (Rhiannon)

<u>Chasing Alys</u> – Ryan (Resistant to Love)

<u>Charming Daphne</u> – Matt (Force Proximity)

Winning Nia – James (Second Chance)

Enticing Mel – Dan (Secret Baby)

Needing Emily – Emily (Accidental Marriage/Runaway Bride)

<u>Defying Ella</u> - Jared (Close Proximity / Snowed-In)

(The Brightside)

Braving Lily - Lily (Feb 2023) (Opposites Attract)

Daring Ceri - Alex (August 2023) (Second Chance)

Kings of Screen Series (Hollywood Romance)

Between Takes (Enemies to Lovers)

Married Blind (Marriage of Convenience)

Acting Counsel (2023) (Close Proximity, Forbidden)

Sign up for Morgana Bevan's mailing list:

https://morganabevan.com/mailing-list/

ABOUT MORGANA

Morgana Bevan is a sucker for a rock star romance, particularly if it is a soul-destroying breakup or strangers waking up in Vegas. Strangers romance author based in Wales. When Morgana's not steamy rock star and movie star romances, she's working in TV production the UK.

She enjoys travelling, attending gigs, and trying out the extreme at she forces on her characters.

Find Morgana online at morganabevan.com.

ABOUT MORGANA

Morgana Bevan is a sucker for a rock star romance, particularly if it involves a soul-destroying breakup or strangers waking up in Vegas. She's a contemporary romance author based in Wales. When Morgana's not writing steamy rock star and movie star romances, she's working in TV production in the UK.

She enjoys travelling, attending gigs, and trying out the extreme activities she forces on her characters.

Find Morgana online at morganabevan.com.